## MCGILL UNIVERSITY

# A study of the Proprotein Convertase Subtilisin/Kexin type 9 (PCSK9) in glucose and insulin homeostasis

by Julie Cruanès

Supervisor: Dr. Nabil G. Seidah

Department of Medicine Division of Experimental Medicine McGill University Montreal, Canada December 2020

A thesis submitted to McGill University in partial fulfillment of the requirements of the degree of Doctor of Philosophy

© Julie Cruanès 2020

#### Abstract

Atherosclerotic cardiovascular disease (ASCVD) is thought to account for >30% of all deaths today. Patients at very high risk, who suffer from ASCVD and comorbidities, such as diabetes, are projected to have 10-year event risks between 26% to 43%. Considering that lowdensity lipoprotein cholesterol (LDLc) is the main driver of ASCVD and that reducing its circulating levels was demonstrated to be beneficial in reducing clinical events, new guidelines required patients to reduce their LDLc levels to very low levels. Therefore, therapeutic agents are currently being developed in order to decrease this societal predicament. One of the very promising agents is directed towards lowering proprotein convertase subtilisin/kexin type 9 (PCSK9) synthesis or circulating levels. Indeed, clinical trials on these PCSK9-inhibitors demonstrated safety and beneficial effects on cardiovascular outcomes. Several research groups are interested in determining whether PCSK9 may be important for other processes than cholesterol homeostasis. Indeed, some groups propose that PCSK9 could play a role in the development of diabetic dyslipidemia. Other groups are concerned over the possibility that targeting PCSK9 could lead to the excessive ectopic accumulation of cholesterol and lipid particles in insulin sensitive tissues, resulting in lipotoxicity, insulin resistance and/or impaired insulin secretion. Therefore, we addressed these questions in this thesis. In the first section we investigated the possible direct effect that PCSK9 could have on the function and biosynthesis of the insulin receptor in cell culture and in mouse liver. In the second section we investigated whether the absence of PCSK9 in mice could lead to impaired glucose and insulin homeostasis. Our main results demonstrate that exogenous PCSK9 decreases insulin receptor signaling and *in vitro* expression leads to decreased biosynthesis likely due to upregulation of acute endoplasmic reticulum (ER) stress. Analyses of pancreatic βcells and hepatocytes further demonstrated that the absence of PCSK9 in 6-month old male mice does not lead to impaired glucose or insulin homeostasis. Our studies provide a new mechanism for the potential role of PCSK9 in lipid homeostasis, suggesting that by decreasing insulin signaling, PCSK9 could promote the development of dyslipidemia, although further investigations are required to validate this hypothesis. Our analysis suggests that targeting PCSK9 in diabetic or pre-diabetic patients would be safe and could even be beneficial, keeping in mind, however, the limitations of our studies which are based on mouse models that inherently have low levels of LDLc.

### Résumé

La maladie cardiovasculaire athéroscléreuse (ASCVD) représenterait plus de 30% de tous les décès aujourd'hui. Les patients à très haut risque, qui souffrent d'ASCVD et de comorbidités, telles que le diabète, devraient présenter des risques d'événements sur 10 ans entre 26% et 43%. Considérant que le cholestérol à lipoprotéines de basse densité (LDLc) est le principal moteur de l'ASCVD et que la réduction de ses taux circulants s'est avérée bénéfique pour réduire les évènements cliniques, de nouvelles lignes directrices ont exigé des patients qu'ils réduisent leurs taux de LDLc à des niveaux très bas. Par conséquent, des agents thérapeutiques sont actuellement en cours de développement afin de réduire cette situation difficile pour la société. L'un des agents très prometteurs vise à abaisser la synthèse de la proprotéine convertase subtilisine / kexine de type 9 (PCSK9) ou les taux circulants. En effet, les essais cliniques sur ces inhibiteurs de la PCSK9 ont démontré leur innocuité et leurs effets bénéfiques sur les résultats cardiovasculaires. Plusieurs groupes de recherche sont intéressés à déterminer si la PCSK9 peut être importante pour d'autres processus que l'homéostasie du cholestérol. En effet, certains groupes proposent que la PCSK9 pourrait jouer un rôle dans le développement de la dyslipidémie diabétique. D'autres groupes s'inquiètent de la possibilité que le ciblage de la PCSK9 puisse entraîner une accumulation ectopique excessive de cholestérol et de particules lipidiques dans les tissus sensibles à l'insuline, entraînant une lipotoxicité, une résistance à l'insuline et / ou une altération de la sécrétion d'insuline. Par conséquent, nous avons abordé ces questions dans cette thèse. Dans la première section, nous avons étudié l'effet direct que la PCSK9 pourrait avoir sur la fonction et la biosynthèse du récepteur de l'insuline en culture cellulaire et dans le foie de la souris. Dans la deuxième section, nous avons examiné si l'absence de PCSK9 chez la souris pouvait entraîner une altération de l'homéostasie du glucose et de l'insuline. Nos principaux résultats démontrent que la PCSK9 exogène diminue la signalisation des récepteurs de l'insuline et que l'expression *in vitro* conduit à une diminution de la biosynthèse probablement due à une augmentation du stress du réticulum endoplasmique aigu. L'analyse des cellules  $\beta$  pancréatiques et des hépatocytes a en outre démontré que l'absence de la PCSK9 dans les souris mâles âgées de 6 mois n'altère pas homéostasie du glucose ou de l'insuline. Nos études fournissent un nouveau mécanisme pour le rôle potentiel de la PCSK9 dans l'homéostasie lipidique, suggérant qu'en diminuant la signalisation de l'insuline, PCSK9 pourrait favoriser le développement de la dyslipidémie, bien que des

investigations supplémentaires soient nécessaires pour valider cette hypothèse. Pour conclure, notre analyse suggère que le ciblage de PCSK9 chez les patients diabétiques ou pré-diabétiques serait sûr et pourrait même être bénéfique, en gardant à l'esprit, cependant, les limites de nos études qui sont basées sur des modèles murins qui ont intrinsèquement de faibles niveaux de LDLc.

### Acknowledgements

I would like to thank Dr. Nabil G. Seidah for giving me the truly exceptional opportunity to do research in his laboratory. Working with Dr. Seidah has taught me to be optimistic, perseverant and enthusiastic about science. This experience has led me to work alongside wonderful people everyday, learn and grow from challenges and failures and travel abroad to meet scientists from around the world, several of which have become close friends. I would also like to thank Dr. Annik Prat for being a strong example of a critical scientist, with immense care for excellent quality science. Annik and Nabil have proven to be essential pillars for this long journey through the thesis and I thank them for being there for me.

I'd like to thank all the committee members as they have shown inestimable help and support throughout these years, Dr. Robert Kiss, Dr. Robert Day, Dr. Jennifer Estall, Dr. Vincent Poitout and Dr. Javier Di Noia.

I thank all the Seidah lab members, present and past, for always lending an ear, a hand or a pipette. Perhaps I'd like to firstly thank those that have shown me how to work in the lab (from the first to the last day), Dr. Anna Roubstova Stepanova, Ann Chamberland, Marie-Claude Asselin, Josée Hamelin, Jadwiga Marcinkiewicz; those that have supported my always pressant requests, Dr. Delia Susan-Resiga, Alexandra Evagelidis and Ann (again). Then I'd like to thank the others that I have incessantly bugged with either scientific or even completely unrelated questions and conversations, Stephanie Duval, Ursula Andreo, Emmanuelle Girard, Sepideh and Sahar Mikaeeli, Yahya Ashraf, Loreleï Durand, Vatsal Sachan, Ali Ben Djoudi Ouadda, Elodie Weider, Valérie Menier, Chutikarn Butkinaree (Pui), Rashid Essalmani, Mouna Derbali and Priyanka Prabhala. Finally, I'd like to thank Brigitte Mary for making everything possible.

I'd also like to thank my other dear IRCM fellows and friends, including Shiva Safavi and Sahar Bagherzadeh Yazdchi, Omar Al Rifai, Mélissa Léveillé and Nathalie Jouvet, Julie Lacombe and Monica Pata, Almira Kurbegovic, Marie Mutabaruka, Andreea Milasan and many others which I cannot list here.

Last but not least, I'd like to thank my friends from outside the IRCM and my family; my dear and loving husband and daughter who have been very patient and understanding throughout these years.

# **Table of contents**

Abstrac	t	i
Résumé		ii
Acknow	Acknowledgements	
Table of	Table of contents	
List of t	List of tablesi	
List of f	List of figures	
List of a	List of abbreviations	
Preface.		xvi
Author	contributions	xviii
Chapter	· I: Introduction	1
I.1 L	iterature review	2
I.1.1.	PCSK9: the 9 <sup>th</sup> member of the family of proprotein convertases	2
I.1.1.1	Discovery of proprotein convertases	3
I.1.1.2	PCs are subtilisin-like proteases	4
I.1.1.3	PC functional diversification	5
I.1.1.4	Origins and preservation of PCs through Metazoa	8
I.1.1.5	PC physiological functions	10
I.1.2.	PCSK9: 3 <sup>rd</sup> locus for autosomal dominant hypercholesterolemia	14
I.1.2.1	Introduction to FH and the formation of atherosclerotic plaques	15
I.1.2.2	Identification of a third locus for FH	18
I.1.2.3	Discovery of the <i>PCSK9</i> gene	19
I.1.2.4	Description of GOF and LOF variants	20
I.1.3.	PCSK9 variants in the study of structure/function	23
I.1.3.1	Extracellular pathway: main pathway regulating hepatic LDLR and LDLc	23
I.1.3.2	LDLR structure/function analysis	24
I.1.3.3	PCSK9 structure and variants shed light on function	25
I.1.3.4	Intracellular pathway: evidence from variants and extrahepatic tissues	28
I.1.4.	Other targets or ligands of PCSK9	29

I.1.4.1	Other lipid receptors (VLDLR, ApoER2, LRP-1)	30
I.1.4.2	Regulation of CD36	32
I.1.4.3	ApoB: extracellular interactions	34
I.1.4.4	ApoB: intracellular interactions	35
I.1.4.5	Modulation of Lp(a) secretion and internalization by PCSK9	36
I.1.4.6	CAP1-dependent PCSK9 activity	38
I.1.4.7	Inhibition by GRP94	40
I.1.4.8	GRP94 and GRP78/BiP: Role of PCSK9 in ER stress	40
I.1.5.	Regulation of PCSK9 expression	43
I.1.5.1	Cholesterol and SREBP-2	43
I.1.5.2	Insulin, glucagon and SREBP-1c	45
I.1.5.3	HNF1α	46
I.1.5.4	PPARa	47
I.1.5.5	Variations with sex and age	47
I.1.6.	Therapeutic inhibition of PCSK9	48
I.1.6.1	ASCVD is largely LDLc driven	48
I.1.6.2	Review of clinical trials outcomes	51
I.1.7.	Insulin receptor	58
I.1.7.1	INSR related insulin resistance	59
I.1.7.2	InsR structure/function studies	60
I.1.7.3	InsR signaling in the liver	63
I.1.8.	Increased risk for diabetes upon LDLc lowering	65
I.1.8.1	Association of LDLc lowering gene variants with diabetes risk	65
I.1.8.2	Cholesterol lipotoxicity to β-cells	68
I.1.8.3 marke		
I.1.9.	PCSK9 and diabetic dyslipidemia	72
I.2	Working hypothesis and research objectives	76
Chap	ter II: Manuscript 1 (To be submitted to the Journal of Biological Chemistry)	77
II.1.	Preface	78
II.2.	Abstract	80
II.3.	Introduction	81
II.4.	Methodology	83

II.4.1.	Animal procedures	. 83
II.4.2.	Cell culture and inhibitors	. 83
II.4.3.	Conditioned media production for media swap assays	. 84
II.4.4.	Plasmids	. 84
II.4.5.	Immunoblotting and immunoprecipitation	. 84
II.4.6.	Antibodies	. 85
II.4.7.	Metabolic labeling	. 86
II.4.8.	RNA extraction and gene expression	. 86
II.4.9.	Statistical analysis	. 87
II.5. F	Results	. 88
II.5.1.	Exogenous PCSK9 decreases insulin signaling in adult male mice	. 88
II.5.2.	Exogenous PCSK9 decreases insulin signaling in immortalized human hepatocytes	. 89
II.5.3. pathway	Overexpression of proPCSK9 induces the downregulation of InsR early in the secret	
II.5.4.	ProPCSK9 interacts with proInsR	. 93
II.5.5.	Natural ER-retained PCSK9 variants decrease InsR	. 94
II.5.6.	PCSK9 <sub>Q152H</sub> decreases nascent receptors in the ER	. 96
II.5.7.	$PCSK9_{Q152H}$ decreases proInsR mRNA levels through the activation of IRE1 $\alpha$	. 99
II.6. I	Discussion	101
<b>II.7.</b> A	Additional Information	105
II.7.1.	Funding	105
II.7.2.	Acknowledgements	105
II.7.3.	Conflict of interest	105
II.7.4.	Author contributions	105
II.8. F	References	106
Chapte	r III: Manuscript 2 (to be submitted to The Journal of Biological Chemistry)	112
III.1.	Preface	113
III.2.	Abstract	115
III.3.	Introduction	116
III.4.	Methodology	118
III.4.1.	Animals, treatments and plasma analyses	118
III.4.2.	Mouse islet isolation	118
III.4.3.	Static islet glucose-stimulated insulin secretion	119

III.4.4.	Immunoblotting and antibodies	
III.4.5.	Gene expression	
III.4.6.	Immunohistochemistry	
III.4.7.	Oil Red O 121	
III.4.8.	Statistical analysis	
III.5.	Results	
III.5.1.	PCSK9 deficiency does not affect insulin homeostasis in 6 months old male mice 122	
	PCSK9 deficiency does not affect peripheral organ insulin sensitivity in 6 months old ce	
	PCSK9 deficiency does modulate liver fatty acid synthesis response to O/N fasting and g	
	An O/N fasting and refeeding challenge does not modulate LDLR expression in contrast	
III.6.	Discussion	
III.7.	Additional Information	
III.7.1.	Funding	
III.7.2.	Acknowledgements	
III.7.3.	Conflict of interest	
III.7.4.	Author contributions	
III.8.	References	
Chapter IV: Discussion and Perspectives		
Bibliography		
Appendices		

# List of tables

Table I.1. 1 Summary of mouse PC knockout phenotypes	12
Table I.1. 2 Evidence for LDL causality of ASCVD.	49
Table I.1. 3 Comparison between the FOURIER and ODYSSEY trial study designs	54
Table I.1. 4 Identified mutations in genes of the InsR signaling pathway and their phenotype	62

# List of figures

# **Chapter I Figures**

Figure I.1. 1 Secondary and tertiary structure of subtilases' catalytic domain	5
Figure I.1. 2 Primary structure of human proprotein convertases	6
Figure I.1. 3 Phylogenic tree of the seven kexin-like mouse PCs	9
Figure I.1. 4 Risk factors for myocardial infarction	16
Figure I.1. 5 Four main plasma lipoprotein particle classes	
Figure I.1. 6 Origin, relative positioning and impact on baseline LDLc of PCSK9 GOF	mutations
Figure I.1. 7 Sequence alignment of PCSK9 CHRD domain with resistin	
Figure I.1. 8 Four LDLR conformations adopted under neutral or acidic pH in the	
presence of PCSK9	
Figure I.1. 9 Tertiary structure of the PCSK9/LDLR complex	
Figure I.1. 10 Structural representation of LDL receptor gene family	
Figure I.1. 11 Structural organization of CD36	
Figure I.1. 12 CAP-1 dependent LDLR/ PCSK9 complex internalization	
Figure I.1. 13 The UPR signaling pathways	
Figure I.1. 14 Efficiency of evolocumab and alirocumab in maintaining sustained re-	
LDLc during the FOURIER and ODYSSEY trials.	
Figure I.1. 15 Insulin receptor signaling pathway in the liver	
Figure I.1. 16 Risk factors and molecular mechanisms leading to $\beta$ -cell toxicity	
Figure I.1. 17 Selective hepatic insulin resistance	

# **Chapter II Figures**

Figure II.5. 1 PCSK9 downregulates insulin signaling acutely in adult male mice	89
Figure II.5. 2 Exogenous PCSK9 decreases insulin signaling in vitro	91
Figure II.5. 3 Overexpression of proPCSK9 induces the downregulation of InsR in the secre	tory
pathway	93
Figure II.5. 4 ProPCSK9 interacts with proInsR.	94
Figure II.5. 5 Natural ER-retained PCSK9 variants decrease InsR	96
Figure II.5. 6 Rapid downregulatory effect of proPCSK9 on newly synthesized receptors	98
Figure II.5. 7 The downregulatory effect of proPCSK9 is likely due to ER stress and acute U	JPR.
	100
pathway. Figure II.5. 4 ProPCSK9 interacts with proInsR. Figure II.5. 5 Natural ER-retained PCSK9 variants decrease InsR Figure II.5. 6 Rapid downregulatory effect of proPCSK9 on newly synthesized receptors. Figure II.5. 7 The downregulatory effect of proPCSK9 is likely due to ER stress and acute U	93 94 96 98 JPR

# **Chapter III Figures**

# **Chapter IV Figures**

# **Appendices Figures**

Figure II.5.S. 1 Exogenous PCSK9 decreases insulin signaling <i>in vitro</i> independently from the LDLR.
Figure II.5.S. 2 Retaining PCSK9 in the ER does not increase the downregulatory effect on InsR.
Figure III.5.S. 1 PCSK9 WT and KO mice showed equivalent body weight, lean and fat mass

## List of abbreviations

- ABCA1: ATP-binding cassette transporter subfamily A member 1
- ACC: acetyl-CoA carboxylase
- ADH: autosomal dominant hypercholesterolemia
- AnxA2: annexin A2
- apo(a): apoprotein(a)
- apoB: apolipoprotein B
- ApoE-R2: apoE receptor 2
- ARH: autosomal recessive hypercholesterolemia
- ASCVD: atherosclerotic cardiovascular disease
- BFA: brefeldin A
- BMI: body mass index
- CAD: coronary artery disease
- CAP1: adenylyl cyclase-associated protein 1
- CETP: cholesteryl ester transfer protein
- CHCs clathrin-heavy chains
- CHRD: C-terminal cysteine-, histidine rich domain
- ChREBP: carbohydrate responsive element binding protein
- CLCs: clathrin-light chains
- CNX: calnexin
- CRT: calreticulin
- CV: cardiovascular
- DNL: *de novo* lipogenesis
- DS: Donohue Syndrome
- EGF: epidermal growth factor
- ERAD: ER-associated degradation
- FAS: fatty acid synthase

FFAs: free fatty acids FH: familial hypercholesterolemia FPG: fasting plasma glucose GOF: gain-of-function GSIS: glucose-stimulated insulin secretion GSK3: glycogen kinase 3 GTT: glucose tolerance test GWAS: genome wide association studies HBA1c: glycated hemoglobin A1 HDL: high-density lipoproteins HEK293: human embryonic kidney cells HepG2: human-derived hepatoma cells HMG-CoA: hydroxymethyglutaryl co-enzyme A HMGCR: HMG-CoA reductase HoFH: homozygous FH HOMA-IR: homeostasis model assessment of insulin resistance IDL: intermediate-density lipoproteins IGF-1 and -2: insulin-like growth factors-1 and -2 IHH: immortalized human hepatocyte InsR: insulin receptor InsR-A: InsR isoform A IPGTT: intraperitoneal glucose tolerance test IR: insulin resistance ITT: insulin tolerance test LBD: ligand-binding domain LD: lipid droplets LDL: low-density lipoproteins LDLc: low-density lipoprotein cholesterol

LLTs: lipid lowering treatments LOF: loss-of-function Lp(a): lipoprotein (a) LPL: lipoprotein lipase LRP-1: LDL related protein-1 LXR: liver X receptor mAb: monoclonal antibodies MRI: magnetic resonance imaging mTORC: mammalian target of rapamycin complex MTP: microsomal triglyceride transfer protein MUFAs: mono-unsaturated fatty acids NAFLD: non-alcoholic fatty liver disease PAD: perigonadal adipose tissue PCs: proprotein convertases PCSK9: proprotein convertase subtilisin/kexin type 9 PDK1: 3-phosphoinositide-dependent protein kinase 1 PERPP: post-ER pre-secretory proteolysis PI3K: phosphoinositide-3-phosphate kinase PIP3: phosphatidylinositol (3,4,5)-trisphosphate proInsR: precursor of InsR proPCSK9: precursor of PCSK9 PTEN: phosphatase and tensin homolog PTT: pyruvate tolerance test PUFAs: poly-unsaturated fatty acids Q-PCR: quantitative polymerase chain reactions RIDD: regulated Ire1-dependent decay RMS: Rabson-Mendenhall syndrome Scd1: stearoyl-CoA desaturase-1

sdAb: single domain antibody

sdLDL: small dense lipoproteins

SH3BD: SH3 binding domain

SREBP-2: sterol-regulatory element binding protein -2

sXBP1: spliced XBP1

T2DM : type II diabetes mellitus

TFRC: transferrin receptor

TG: triacyglycerol

TGN: *trans*-Golgi Network

TRL: TG rich lipoprotein

UPR: unfolded protein response

VLDL: very-low density lipoproteins

VLDLR: VLDL receptor

## Preface

This PhD thesis was written in accordance to the manuscript-based thesis guidelines. It is presented as four chapters including an introductory literature review, two research articles in the process of publication and a concluding thesis discussion.

The work conducted during this thesis pertained to a novel protein, PCSK9, that has immediately upon its discovery gained large interest in the field of atherosclerosis. Indeed, in just over 10 years pharmacological inhibitors targeting this protein were approved in several developed countries in efforts to reduce atherogenic cholesterol to extremely low circulating levels. The societal and economic impact of such a discovery will certainly become obvious in the coming years. The focus of this thesis, however, relates to the possible roles PCSK9 may play in glucose and insulin homeostasis. Several publications in the recent years have associated either increased PCSK9 or absence of PCSK9 with insulin resistance or increased risk for diabetes. The work presented in this thesis provides both new underlying mechanisms for these associations and help improve the understanding for the role PCSK9 plays in insulin responsive tissues.

The elements of the thesis that are considered original scholarship and distinct contributions to knowledge are listed here:

- Identification of a new target of PCSK9 in vitro, the insulin receptor;
- Identification of a new mechanism for PCSK9 in vitro, upregulation of acute ER stress;
- Identification of a new regulatory mechanism for PCSK9 of the insulin receptor signaling pathway *in vivo* and *in vitro*;
- Direct implication of PCSK9 in insulin homeostasis;
- Characterization of *Pcsk9* KO mice glucose and insulin homeostasis in the pancreas and liver in comparison to WT mice;
- Characterization of liver lipogenesis in *Pcsk9* WT and KO mice following a fasting and refeeding challenge;
- Identification that the insulin receptor increases its total and cell surface levels during fasting, irrespective of PCSK9 levels.

List of publications:

- Manuscript 1 "PCSK9 a negative regulator of the insulin receptor: effects on signaling activity and biosynthesis rate" is in the process of submission to The Journal of Biological Chemistry;
- Manuscript 2 "Islet and liver insulin-related phenotypic characterization of *Pcsk9*-/- mice" is in the process of submission to The Journal of Biological Chemistry.

# Author contributions

The experiments were designed, analyzed and conducted by me and invaluable assistance from collaborators is detailed under the author contribution sections of both Chapters II and III. Both manuscripts were written by myself with guidance from my supervisor Dr. Nabil G. Seidah. The overall thesis was overseen by committee members with profound knowledge and experience in the research subject.

# **Chapter I: Introduction**

#### I.1 Literature review

In the study of PCSK9 in glucose and insulin homeostasis this thesis begins with an introduction that includes brief historical overviews of key proprotein convertase (PC) discoveries, most relevant studies elucidating PCSK9 expression, function and main interactors and PCSK9 therapeutical inhibition. Moreover, since the insulin receptor (InsR) was identified in this thesis as a new target of PCSK9, this introduction then overviews the structural and functional properties of the InsR and its importance in diabetes. Finally, the introduction to this thesis overviews the literature related to cholesterol mediated diabetes development.

# I.1.1. <u>PCSK9: the 9<sup>th</sup> member of the family of proprotein convertases</u>

Proteins are the effector molecules of cell biology. They are the end-product of the more stable, inherited, genetic material, DNA, guardian of speciation and evolution. Modifications of the genome through gene mutations, horizontal gene transfer and sexual reproduction, allow for the creation of new pathways and regulatory mechanisms, cell differentiation, cell memory and defense – immunity, or cell invasion. There are  $\sim 20,000$  protein coding genes in the human genome but taking into account alternative splicing, amino acid polymorphisms and post-translational modifications each of these genes could give rise to 100 different proteins (Ponomarenko et al., 2016). It is the post-translational modifications of proteins that drive cell kinetics. The great diversity of these rapid protein modifications enables the regulation of numerous processes including protein quality control, concentration gradients of signaling molecules, membrane tethering of cytosolic proteins, changes in three-dimensional chromatin conformation. Most of these modifications are reversible although some, like proteolytic cleavage, are irreversible and are important for the activation or inactivation of signaling proteins (such as growth factors and hormones). This section will review the mammalian family of proprotein convertases (PCs), their discovery, the regulation of their enzymatic activity, their ancestral origins and preservation across metazoan species.

#### I.1.1.1 Discovery of proprotein convertases

In the mid-twentieth century, extensive peptide sequencing using Sanger and Edman's methods generated polypeptide sequences from purified proteins culminating in the prohormone theory, which was simultaneously and independently enunciated by two teams in 1967, Michel Chrétien with Choh Hao Li (Chretien and Li, 1967) and Donald Steiner with Philip Oyer (Steiner and Oyer, 1967). These two groups studied the pro-opiomelanocortin gene and the proinsulin gene respectively. This theory stated that secretory bioactive peptides are generated from a common precursor propeptide by site-specific endoproteolytic cleavage at paired-basic residues, a new post-translational modification and the first indication of the existence of endogenous proprotein convertases.

Studies in yeast Saccharomyces cerevisiae later identified mutant strains that no longer secreted killer toxin and the biologically active mating pheromone  $\alpha$ -factor (Leibowitz and Wickner, 1976; Wickner and Leibowitz, 1976). The absence of this activity cosegregated with the Kex2 mutants in several genetic crosses leading to the cloning of the normal Kex2 gene and the prediction of its coded protein "kexin" (Julius et al., 1984). Expression of wild-type kexin in yeast mutants restored the proteolysis of the prepro- $\alpha$ -factor and secretion of the biologically active  $\alpha$ factor. This study was the first validation for the biological relevance of a eukaryotic endoproteolytic enzyme (Julius et al., 1984). Hence, the identification in 1984 of the first processing enzyme began with the cloning of yeast Kex2 and the identification of kexin (Julius et al., 1984). Roebroek et al. then identified a fragment of the human Furin gene in 1986 as a protooncogene with putative receptor recognition function (Roebroek et al., 1986). However, it was Fuller and colleagues in 1989 that suggested that "furin" would be the first candidate for a human prohormone-processing enzyme since the catalytic domains of furin and kexin shared 50% identity (Fuller et al., 1989). The recognition that kex2 belongs to the subtilisin-like (subtilase) family of serine proteases was first proposed by Mizuno et al. (Mizuno et al., 1988). This was then rapidly extended in 1990 to furin (van de Ven et al., 1990). The other kexin-like mammalian subtilases were identified in the 1990s by probing cDNA libraries with consensus sequences of the kexinlike and subtilisin-like catalytic domain of subtilases: PC1/3 (Seidah et al., 1990; Smeekens and Steiner, 1990), PC2 (Seidah et al., 1991; Smeekens et al., 1991), PC4 (Mbikay et al., 1994; Nakayama et al., 1992; Seidah et al., 1992), PC5/6 (Lusson et al., 1993; Nakagawa et al., 1993),

PACE4 (Kiefer et al., 1991), PC7 (Seidah et al., 1996), SKI-1/S1P (a pyrolysin-like PC) (Sakai et al., 1998; Seidah et al., 1999), and PCSK9 (a proteinase K-like PC) (Seidah et al., 2003).

#### I.1.1.2 PCs are subtilisin-like proteases

Serine proteases are one of five classes of proteolytic enzymes, which together represent ~1.7% of the mammalian genome (Lopez-Otin and Overall, 2002). Most of the serine peptidases may be grouped into six clans based on the three-dimensional fold of the catalytic domain, the two largest clans being chymotrypsin and subtilisin. Together with the carboxypeptidase C they share a common "catalytic triad" of three amino acids, serine nucleophile, aspartate electrophile and histidine base (Rawlings and Barrett, 1994). Members of the subtilisin clan are further subdivided into six families based on sequence homology of the catalytic domain and are expressed in bacteria, archaea and eukaryota. The bacterial subtilisin-like, bacterial thermitase-like, yeast kexin-like and fungus proteinase K-like families demonstrate a high degree of sequence similarity between family members (from >37% to >64% identity) (Siezen, 1996), whereas the bacterial lantibiotic-like and archaea pyrolysin-like families are characterized by low sequence similarity between members and to other subtilases (Siezen, 1996).

The catalytic core, defined by highly conserved residues and structures, contains  $\alpha$ -helix and  $\beta$ -strand elements, the catalytic triad (Asp, His, Ser) and the Asn "oxyanion hole", which is important to stabilize the tetrahedral transition state (Siezen, 1996) (view Figure I.1.1). The only accepted substitute for the Asn residue is an Asp in the PC2 subgroup of the kexin family. The catalytic domain is always located at the N-terminus of the polypeptide sequence, directly after the prodomain. The majority of subtilases are synthesized as pre-pro-enzymes, with a signal peptide required for translocation of the nascent chain into the ER lumen. Cleavage of the signal peptide generates the PC-zymogen with the prodomain at the N-terminus, and further cleavage results in the mature protease. However, there are examples of subtilases that are not synthesized as zymogens, and while the large majority are secreted, some are intracellular such as tripeptidylpeptidase II (Tomkinson, 1994). Interestingly, in most bacteria, archaea and lower eukaryotes subtilases are active extracellularly, under alkaline conditions. They cleave mostly nonspecifically and are required for defense or growth from proteinaceous substrates. Whereas in higher eukaryotes subtilases are involved in the specific processing and maturation of proproteins (Seidah, 2011).



Figure I.1. 1 Secondary and tertiary structure of subtilases' catalytic domain

Schematic representation of the core subtilases' catalytic domain secondary and tertiary structures. *A*, topologic representation, with  $\alpha$ -helices as cylinders and  $\beta$ -strands as arrows. Are also shown, catalytic triad residues, Ca<sup>2+</sup> binding sites and substrate binding site. *B*, tertiary structure representation of subtilisin, where catalytic residues are shown in ball-and-stick representation (Siezen, 1996).

#### I.1.1.3 PC functional diversification

The mammalian PC-family comprises seven kexin-like PCs: PC1/3, PC2, furin, PC4, PC5/6-A, PC5/6-B (isoforms resulting from alternative splicing), PACE4 and PC7; a pyrolysinlike PC: SKI-1/S1P; and a proteinase K-like PC: PCSK9 (Seidah and Prat, 2012) (view Figure I.1.2). The kexin-like PCs cleave peptide bonds C-terminal to a consensus dibasic motif: (**K**/**R**)-X*n*-(**R**/**K**) $\downarrow$  Pi' where X can be any amino acid except Cys and X*n* = 0, 2, 4, or 6 residues. The enzyme SKI-1 recognizes the motif (**R**/**K**)-X-(**L**, **I**, **V**)-Z $\downarrow$ , where Z is any amino acid except Pro, Cys, Glu, and Val. PCSK9 autocatalytically cleaves itself at the **VFAQ** $\downarrow$ **SIP**. Site-directed mutagenesis suggested that Val (P4) and Pro (P3') are the most critical amino acids in this motif, with lesser contributions by Phe (P3) (Benjannet et al., 2004). In addition, only proPCSK9 containing a P1 Gln, Ala, Met, Asn, Ser, and Thr allow the secretion of PCSK9, with P1 Met being the only amino acid at P1 that behaves like the wild type Gln (Benjannet et al., 2012). More recently, the partial contribution of the Ser at P6 in the sequence SSVFAQ $\downarrow$ SIPWNL was also suggested and the identities of P2'- P6' were shown to have little effect on cleavage (Chorba et al., 2018).



Figure I.1. 2 Primary structure of human proprotein convertases

The nine different human proprotein convertases are arranged into their subclasses, kexin-like, pyrolysin-like and proteinase K-like. Are shown, their respective domains, catalytic residues, N-glycosylation positions, cleavage sites and recognition motifs (Seidah and Prat, 2012).

Achievement of the crystal structure of the mouse furin and yeast kexin ectodomains allowed the structural modelling of the other mouse and human PCs. These three-dimensional models were key to describe the enzyme/substrate interactions, particularly within the active-site

cleft (Henrich et al., 2005; Holyoak et al., 2004; Holyoak et al., 2003). These results revealed an important clustering of negatively charged residues in the substrate binding region of all the kexinlike PCs corresponding to a requirement for positive charges of basic amino acids at the Nterminus of the substrate cleavage site (Henrich et al., 2005). Furin contains 16 acidic residues in that cluster, PACE4, PC5/6 and PC4 have 15 each, and PC7, PC1/3 and PC2 have 13. The surface distribution of these charges is also important to match substrate opposing charges. Interestingly, PC4, PC5/6 and especially furin share a preference for substrate basic residues at P6 and P7 possibly due to the positioning of their negative charges in the catalytic cleft (Henrich et al., 2005). The global charge and surface distributions patterns demonstrate that PACE4, PC4, PC5/6 resemble furin closely, whereas PC1/3, PC2 and PC7 are closer to kexin. Suggesting an early evolutionary separation into furin-like PCs subsequent to gene duplication events (Henrich et al., 2005).

PC functional diversification and specific substrate cleavage is also made possible by tightly controlled enzymatic activity. As described previously, the majority of subtilases are synthesized as proproteins, or zymogens, including the PCs. The prodomain is cleaved by a primary intramolecular autocatalysis in the ER (for all PCs but PC2) and acts as a chaperone required for the folding of the protein into its proper tertiary conformation (Ikemura et al., 1987). Subsequently, the prodomain remains non-covalently bound to the catalytic cleft with nanomolar affinity acting as a competitive inhibitor and maintaining the enzyme in an inactive state until it has reached the subcellular localization where the cognate substrates are required to be activated or inactivated (Anderson et al., 1997; Creemers et al., 1995). The C-terminal domain differs between PCs and may contain a transmembrane domain. Indeed, furin, PC7, PC5/6-B and SKI-1 are type-I transmembrane proteins, whereas the others are soluble luminal proteins. The cytosolic tail then encodes trafficking motifs which will determine their enrichment in different subcellular compartments. Furin, PC7, PC5/6, PACE4 are trafficked through the constitutive secretory pathway and are activated in the TGN/endosomes (or at the cell surface for PACE4, PC5/6). Active furin and PC7 can cycle from the plasma membrane back to the TGN through endosomes (Thomas, 2002). For example, a recently identified motif EXEXXXL<sup>725</sup> in the C-terminal tail of PC7 was found to be critical for the endosomal localization and activity of PC7 mediated human transferrin receptor shedding (Declercq et al., 2012; Durand et al., 2020). PC1/3, PC2 and sometimes PC5/6-A are sorted to immature secretory granules of endocrine and neural cells where they are activated

therein (Day et al., 1992; Lusson et al., 1993). SKI-1 is active in the *cis-medial* Golgi, and PCSK9 is the only PC that remains catalytically inactive due to association of the mature enzyme with its inhibitory prodomain, and for which no enzymatic substrates but itself have been identified. The kexin-like PCs contain a P domain C-terminal to the catalytic domain, which is required for pH and calcium sensing (Henrich et al., 2003; Tangrea et al., 2002). It is important for the activation of the enzyme by inducing the second less susceptible cleavage (only required for some PCs) and release of the inhibitory prodomain in the more acidic endosomes and mature secretory granules (Anderson et al., 1997; Zhou et al., 1998). PC1/3 and PC2 activities are also regulated by natural inhibitors proSAAS and 7B2 respectively (Cameron et al., 2000; Martens et al., 1994). 7B2 is a pan neurosecretory cell protein, a chaperone of proPC2 required for the exit from the ER (Benjannet et al., 1995; Hsi et al., 1982; Marcinkiewicz et al., 1986; Seidah et al., 1983). In the secretory granules lowered pH and increased calcium concentrations induce the release of 7B2 and the prodomain resulting in active PC2.

These mechanisms could explain how the PCs developed substrate specificity in contrast to the more promiscuous prokaryotic orthologues. Limited proteolysis by PCs likely developed with multicellular organisms to enable intercellular communication.

#### I.1.1.4 Origins and preservation of PCs through Metazoa

In order to study the pre-vertebrate evolutionary history of PCs, Tao *et al.* identified the presence of kexin-like PCs in several metazoan (all animals having a body composed of differentiated cells into tissues and organs) genomes (Tao et al., 2019). They demonstrated that the last common ancestor of the modern bilaterian (~650 mya) had *PCSK7*, *PCSKX* (a kexin-like PC that was lost in vertebrates), *PCSK2*, *PCSK1*, *furin1* and *furin2/PCSK5* genes. They suggested that a gene duplication event occurred in the ancestral filosozoan or holozoan (premetazoan, >750 mya) to give rise to *PCSK7*, the most ancient kexin-like PC. Gene duplication in the ancestral planulozoan then gave rise to *PCSK1* and a furin1-like gene. The relationship between the other PCSK orthologue groups was not resolved, however they seem to have arisen from several gene duplication events from *furin1* and *furin2* in the vertebrates forming two sister clans: *furin* (*PCSK3*) and *PCSK4*, and *PCSK5* and *PCSK6*. *PCSK2* may have arisen in the ancestral planulozoan prior to *PCSK1* and the furin1-like genes. These described phylogenic relationships are

very similar to those proposed previously by Seidah *et al.* (view Figure I.1.3). This research group did not study *SKI-1/S1P* (*PCSK8* orthologue group) and *PCSK9* origins, however homologs were reported in *Drosophila* (Seegmiller et al., 2002) and in *Arabidopsis* (Liu et al., 2007) for the former and in a few metazoan species such as amphioxus, sea cucumber and gastropods for the latter (Cameron et al., 2008a; Ren et al., 2016). Suggesting that *PCSK9* was present in the nephrozoan, whereas the report of a homolog of *SKI-1/S1P* in the Kingdom Plantae suggests a premetazoan origin for this gene.



Figure I.1. 3 Phylogenic tree of the seven kexin-like mouse PCs

Mouse PCs' evolutionary tree is represented and complemented with other species' PCs (Seidah et al., 1998).

Tao *et al.* contemplated in their study whether PC diversification may be traced back to their bilaterian ancestors. They studied the leech *Helobdella austinensis*, a spiralian protostome

(common ancestor with vertebrates is the bilaterian). They demonstrated that the *PCSK1* and *PCSK2* homologs displayed tissue-specific expression, where *Hau-Pcsk1* localized to the supraoesophageal ganglion (the leech brain) and where *Hau-Pcsk2* localized to the central nervous system (CNS) and cell clusters of the gut, likely exocrine cells. Therefore, they confirmed that the *PCSK1* and *PCSK2* are likely involved in neurosecretion in the *Helobdella*. Since it is known that the mammalian *PCSK1* and *PCSK2* expressions are restricted to neuroendocrine cells, their data suggests the conservation of an ancestrally acquired functional specialization. In contrast, furin-like PCSKs, *Hau-Pcsk7*, and *Hau-Pcskx* were broadly expressed as is it also true for the mammalian *FURIN* and *PCSK7*.

In summary, Tao and colleagues demonstrated that the kexin-like PCs, the pyrolysin-like PCs and the proteinase K-like PCs have very deep origin suggesting that they have evolved independently in parallel and are characterized by functional convergence of proprotein convertase activity. Moreover, their non-redundant enzymatic activities have been essential for the preservation of their orthologue genes across metazoan species since Urbalateria (Tao et al., 2019).

#### I.1.1.5 PC physiological functions

Studies using gene knockout mouse models have helped identify PC specific vs. redundant enzymatic activities and important physiological roles (Creemers and Khatib, 2008; Scamuffa et al., 2006; Seidah and Prat, 2012). The principal phenotypes are summarized in Table I.1.1. The absence of furin, PC5/6 and SKI-1/S1P is embryonic lethal, suggesting important non-redundant activities and substrates in the developing embryo. Furin inactivation results in serious defects in the cardiovascular system and embryonic death from hemodynamic insufficiency and cardiac ventral closure defects (Constam and Robertson, 2000b; Roebroek et al., 1998). PC5/6 gene knockout results in impaired activation of numerous growth factors required for the normal development of the embryo, such as platelet-derived growth factors, bone morphogenic proteins and Lefty proteins (Essalmani et al., 2008). Conditional knockouts allowed for the determination of a PC5/6 unique enzymatic substrate, Gdf11, shown to be important for the induction of Hox genes and consequently the regionalization of the axial skeleton (Essalmani et al., 2008). PACE4 is critical during the specification of left-right axes and anterior central nervous system development. PACE4 null mice are 75% viable and display complex craniofacial malformations (Constam and Robertson, 2000a). PC4 is predominantly expressed in reproductive organs and its absence results in decreased rates of fertilization likely due to the absence of processing of growth factors required for normal fertility (e.g. PACAP, fertilins, IGF, TGF, etc.) (Gyamera-Acheampong and Mbikay, 2009; Seidah et al., 1992). Knockout mice of PC1/3 and PC2 genes are viable, although PC1/3 disruption results in severe growth retardation where the adult mice are 60% the size of the wildtype mice, which is accounted for by the decreased processing of growth hormone releasing hormone (GHRH) (Zhu et al., 2002). PC2 KO mice have chronic fasting hypoglycemia, accounted for by the absence of glucagon processing (Furuta et al., 1997). PC1/3 and PC2 exhibit impaired processing of various hormonal and neuroendocrine precursors. Lastly, PC7 null mouse embryos show no apparent deleterious phenotype, suggesting redundant substrate processing with other PCs in the embryo (Wetsel et al., 2013). The only PC7 specific substrate known to date is the transferrin receptor (Guillemot et al., 2013), which was identified following a genome-wide association study linking a PC7 intronic SNP with plasma levels of soluble transferrin receptor (Oexle et al., 2011). The mouse transferrin gene cannot be cleaved by PCs, since the P1 site reveals a Lys instead of an Arg, and such a substitution in the human gene abrogates PC7 cleavage.

Thus, even though *in vitro* all PCs can cleave precursors at the consensus dibasic motif, *in vivo*, PCs are implicated in the processing of specific substrates particularly during embryogenesis as elegantly demonstrated by gene knockout studies. Overall, PC redundancy may have served for species' survival, but it is the differentiation in their functions that allowed for complexity.

Convertases	Null phenotype
Furin	Embryonic death at e10.5 due to hemodynamic insufficiency,
	ventral closure defect, axial rotation defect, abnormal yolk sac
	vasculature.
Pcskl	Viable mice of 60% normal size with defects in prohormone
	processing.
Pcsk2	Viable mice, retarded growth, hypoglycemia, defects in
	endocrine peptide processing.
Pcsk6	Embryonic death (e10.5) 25% of mice from abnormal organ
	positioning and/or craniofacial malformations.
Pcsk4	Viable mice with reduced fertility.
Pcsk5	Embryonic death (e4.5-7.5).
Pcsk7	No apparent phenotype.
MBTPS1	Embryonic death (e4), abnormal epiblast formation and
	impaired implantation.
Pcsk9	Viable mice with hypocholesterolemia.

#### Table I.1. 1 Summary of mouse PC knockout phenotypes

Table adapted from (Scamuffa et al., 2006).

Large genome wide association studies (GWAS) have established the association of several non-synonymous polymorphisms in the *PCSK1* gene with a large risk for common and extreme obesity (Benzinou et al., 2008; Choquet et al., 2013; Kilpelainen et al., 2009; Meyre et al., 2009; Speliotes et al., 2010), placing *PCSK1* as the 3<sup>rd</sup> most prevalent monogenic contributor for obesity (Choquet et al., 2013). Indeed, the variant N221D occurs at a frequency of 3-5% and the double mutant Q665E/S690T at a frequency of 24% (Benzinou et al., 2008). These associations are strongly modulated by ethnicity and age. Moreover, rare deleterious variants in *PCSK1* are also found in ~1% of obese individuals (Creemers et al., 2012). Patients with *PCSK1* mutations have enteric endocrinopathies manifested by lifelong diarrhea and impaired nutrient assimilation (Martin et al., 2013), however they develop hyperphagia (Farooqi et al., 2007) accompanied with strong appetite

leading to youth-associated weight gain and obesity (Stijnen et al., 2014). Interestingly, *PCSK1* knockout mice and mice homozygous for N222D LOF mutation do not show comparable phenotypes, where the later resembles the human phenotype associated with deficient PC1/3 (Lloyd et al., 2006). PC1/3 is highly implicated in the regulation of appetite, glucose homeostasis and nutrient assimilation. One example of PC1/3 substrate is  $\alpha$ -MSH (produced from POMC in the hypothalamus), which generates an anorexigenic signal that antagonizes the Agouti-related peptide orexigenic signal. Therefore, the lack of PC1/3 peptide products could lead to an imbalance in appetite signaling. Moreover, several mutants have demonstrated ER-retention leading to toxicity manifested by increased susceptibility to ER stress (Blanco et al., 2015), the latter is a well-recognized risk factor for the development of obesity. Therefore, the pathogenesis of *PCSK1* obesity associated variants could be due to either of the effects or even to a combination of these mechanisms (for review (Ramos-Molina et al., 2016)).

The low-frequency coding variant of PC7 (R504H) was found to be associated with ~30% decreased plasma triglyceride levels in an African American population (Peloso et al., 2014). Since *PCSK7* is localized close to the gene cluster *APOA5/APOA4/APOC3/APOA1* and also because a *PCSK7* locus is in linkage disequilibrium with *APOA5* expression (Pennacchio et al., 2001), Ashraf *et al.* were interested in studying the potential regulation of ApoA5 by PC7 (Ashraf et al., 2020). Interestingly, they demonstrated an ER localized, non-enzymatic mediated degradation of ApoA5 by PC7 in acidic autophagosomes/lysosomes (Ashraf et al., 2020). This regulation was supported *in vivo* by the increased circulating apoA-V levels in WT mice compared to *Pcsk7*<sup>-/-</sup> mice fed a high fat diet (Ashraf et al., 2020). Non-enzymatic regulation of other proteins had only been demonstrated for PCSK9 and is a new finding for kexin-like PCs, opening a new avenue of explorations and discoveries.

In addition, PCs are known to be implicated in various pathologies such as Alzheimer's disease, tumorigenesis and infections (bacterial toxins activated by PCs, viral infectivity by the processing of surface glycoproteins). Understanding the regulation of their enzymatic activity could be advantageous for future clinical applications. An important and extremely relevant example is the new coronavirus (SARS-CoV-2) pandemic responsible for >1.5 million deaths or ~2.4% of infected patients (according to the World Health Organization weekly update). The coronavirus spike protein (S-protein) is a class-I viral fusion protein that in three human-infecting coronaviruses can be cleaved at the consensus kexin-like PC processing motif (K/R)-Xn-(R/K)↓

(Coutard et al., 2020). Cleavage is important for the activation of the S-protein since the S1 ectodomain recognizes angiotensin converting enzyme 2 on the host cell and the S2 membrane anchored protein is important for viral entry into host cells of the lungs and other tisues. Coutard *et al.* suggested that considering its high expression in the lungs, furin is a likely candidate for proteolytic processing of the SARS-CoV-2 S-protein (Coutard et al., 2020). Interestingly, the SARS-CoV-1 from the 2002 outbreak was comparatively less pathogenic and contained a monobasic cleavage site. Importantly, the absence of a second basic amino acid within the motif would abrogate PC cleavage, suggesting that another host cell protease may be responsible for cleavage and generation of the S1 and S2 subunits, although the SARS-CoV-1 has been reported to be poorly cleaved. Alternatively, SARS-CoV-1 enters host cells by an endocytosis pathway that does not require prior priming before infection (Millet et al., 2020). Altogether, these results suggest that inhibition of PCs could be advantageous in reducing the pathogenicity of SARS-CoV-2 by preventing cleavage of its S-protein (Coutard et al., 2020).

## I.1.2. <u>PCSK9: 3<sup>rd</sup> locus for autosomal dominant hypercholesterolemia</u>

Heritability is defined as the proportion of phenotypic variance in a population attributable to additive genetic factors (Hindorff et al., 2009). Cardiovascular disease (CVD) is one of the leading causes of mortality worldwide, accounting for ~31% of all deaths (Roth et al., 2015). Prevalent cases of total CVD cases and deaths are increasing worldwide (Roth et al., 2020). Coronary artery disease (CAD), the most prevalent form of cardiovascular disease, was estimated to be a highly heritable complex disease. Approximately 40% of CAD cases are caused by gene inheritance for both men and women, as determined from a Swedish longitudinal study of over 20 thousand twins (Peden and Farrall, 2011; Zdravkovic et al., 2002). Since genotypes are not confounded by environmental exposures, the identification disease-associated variants will thus help define the true causal molecular pathways, which are in turn crucial for the development of therapeutic strategies. Family-based linkage studies show strength in identifying disease-causing loci for 'Mendelian' disorders but show limited potential for complex diseases, which, we have learned from genome-wide association studies, are caused by modest effects from several variants (1000 Genomes 2015). Although even today with the advent of large-scale collaborative GWAS, only up to 21.2% of CAD heritability is accounted for by 243 identified causal loci (Nelson et al., 2017).

This section will illustrate the use and importance of family linkage studies through the discovery of a familial hypercholesterolemia (FH) causing gene, *PCSK9*, that furthermore, have been substantial in establishing the promises of a new and effective therapeutic target.

#### I.1.2.1 Introduction to FH and the formation of atherosclerotic plaques

Coronary artery disease and stroke are the two most prevalent forms of CVD and are consequences of atherosclerosis. Atherosclerosis is the complex process leading to the formation of plaques in the vessel wall of arteries. Dysfunctional endothelial cells lining the arteries, that no longer mediate proper vascular tone, allow the progressive infiltration of lipoprotein particles. Recruited monocytes differentiate into macrophages which phagocytose the cholesterol-rich particles and propagate an inflammatory signal, including the NLRP3 inflammasome. Other immune cells are involved in the plaque progression process, including dendritic cells, T cells and B cells. Smooth muscle cells will then proliferate and lead to intimal hyperplasia, thickening of the intimal layer of the vessel, thereby obstructing blood flow. Rupture of the plaque creates the formation of a blood clot which may then entirely obstruct a blood vessel and cause extensive tissue damage, or even death in the case of an important myocardial infarct. Several risk factors for CAD and myocardial infarct have been identified and are summarized in Figure I.1.4 (for reviews (Boren et al., 2020; Khera and Kathiresan, 2017; Libby et al., 2019)).



Figure I.1. 4 Risk factors for myocardial infarction

Schematic representation of the various risk factors that contribute to the development of CAD (Khera and Kathiresan, 2017).

There are four major classes of lipoprotein particles that are defined by size and density, which englobe high-density lipoproteins (HDL), low-density lipoproteins (LDL), very-low density lipoproteins (VLDL) and chylomicrons (see Figure I.1.5). Density is determined by the relative protein and lipid content and demonstrates an inverse relationship with particle diameter since the larger particles are enriched in triacylglycerol (TG) whereas smaller denser particles are enriched in cholesterol and protein content (%). Apolipoproteins provide structure to the lipoproteins, they act as scaffolds to regulate enzymes involved in the metabolism of the lipids while in the circulation, moreover, they allow binding to cell surface receptors and internalization of the particles. The backbone protein for chylomicrons, VLDL and LDL is apolipoprotein B (apoB) and is required for lipidation and maturation of the lipoproteins. LDL is a metabolic product of VLDL, which is the primary apoB-containing lipoprotein produced by the liver. In contrast, chylomicrons are synthesized by intestinal cells and contain a shorter form of apoB that does not contain the LDLR binding site present on the full form apoB of VLDL and LDL particles. While the apoB protein remains on the lipoprotein for its full life cycle, other apolipoproteins are exchangeable (AI, CI, CII, CIII, E) which for example activate or inactivate lipoprotein lipase, responsible for TG hydrolysis (for review (Doonan et al., 2018)). LDL cholesterol (LDLc) is statistically the strongest single predictor for CAD and represents 90% of all circulating apoB-containing lipoproteins in the fasting state (for review (Ference et al., 2017)).



Figure I.1. 5 Four main plasma lipoprotein particle classes

HDL, LDL, VLDL and chylomicrons constitute the four main classes of lipoprotein particles of blood plasma. Lipoproteins are arranged by decreasing density and are shown particle content, diameter, density, site of synthesis and associated lipoproteins (Doonan et al., 2018).

Familial hypercholesterolemia is a common genetic disorder estimated at a prevalence of  $\sim$ 1:311 depending on the ethnic group and founder populations (Hu et al., 2020; Sturm et al., 2018). It is characterized by an isolated elevation in LDLc, increasing the risk for CVD by fourfold (Khera and Kathiresan, 2017). Indeed, the cumulative lifetime LDLc exposure will determine the age at which the individual will exceed the threshold beyond which myocardial infarct risk increases exponentially (Ference et al., 2018). FH is the primary monogenic driver of CAD identified to date, characterized by mutations in *LDLR*, *APOB* and *PCSK9* genes, principally. Although, whereas *APOE* mutants are normally associated with an increase in cholesterol and TGs (type III hyperlipoproteinemia), an *APOE* variant L167del, has also been associated with FH, since it causes autosomal dominant hypercholesterolemia (ADH) by downregulating LDLR (Awan et al., 2013; Cenarro et al., 2016; Marduel et al., 2013). Therefore, there are other genes for which damaging mutations that increase CAD risk by affecting other important processes of lipid homeostasis, in particular the lipoprotein lipase (LPL) pathway. Mutations have been identified in *LPL*, *APOA5*, and others with a prevalence of ~1 in 115, and lastly mutations in *LPA* (lipoprotein (a)) occurring with a prevalence of ~1 in 240 increasing CAD risk by fourfold (Khera and Kathiresan, 2017).
Since CAD is a complex disease, ~20% of tested individuals (prevalence of 1 in 5) may also inherit several common alleles conferring a polygenic risk increasing CAD by twofold. Therefore, among individuals with hypercholesterolemia, only 2% harbour an FH mutation, an estimation highly dependent on population study (Khera and Kathiresan, 2017).

## I.1.2.2 Identification of a third locus for FH

Essential familial hypercholesterolemia had been recognized early in the twentieth century, but it was the study from Kachadurian et al. in 1964 that reconciled certain controversies about its mode of inheritance (Khachadurian, 1964). They described the inheritance and penetrance of clinical manifestations of xanthomatous lesions, hypercholesterolemia and atherosclerotic lesions from ten Arab sibships (consanguinity was described in 5 of these families). This allowed them to provide evidence that xanthomatosis may occur in both heterozygous and homozygous patients defining the gene as incompletely dominant for this disorder. In summary, homozygous patients have high levels of serum cholesterol (>500 mg/dL), extensive xanthomas starting in childhood, and frequently advanced heart disease in youth, whereas heterozygous patients have moderate elevation of the serum cholesterol and xanthomatosis may develop later in life. In 1974, Morganroth et al. described hypercholesterolemia in children with a distinct mode of inheritance, whereby increased LDLc and xanthomas were absent in parents and grandparents (Morganroth et al., 1974). The children proved to be extremely sensitive to the cholesterol lowering therapy at the time (cholestyramine) in contrast to the commonly described FH. This disorder was coined "pseudohomozygous type II hyperlipoproteinemia" and defined as autosomal recessive; the responsible gene is an adaptor protein important for LDLR function termed ARH for autosomal recessive hypercholesterolemia (Garcia et al., 2001). Also in 1974, Goldstein and Brown characterized ADH as resulting from defects in cell-surface receptor mediated LDL internalization (Brown and Goldstein, 1974), they then described the first mutations in the LDLR gene in 1977 (Goldstein et al., 1977) and Inneraty et al. described mutations in APOB in 1987 in patients where the LDLR activity was normal but the affinity of apoB for the LDLR was impaired (Innerarity et al., 1987). In 1999, in the context of a French national project motioned for the discovery of genes involved in FH (today is named CHOPIN and led by Dr. B. Cariou), the genetic research group led by Prof. C. Boileau identified a third locus for ADH (Varret et al., 1999). They performed

linkage analysis and exclusion mapping in a large French ADH family in which defects in *LDLR* or *APOB* had been ruled out. This family was clinically and biologically indistinguishable from FH. Co-segregation of genetic markers with the ADH phenotype identified a common region (haplotype) between affected individuals localizing *FH3* to a 9-cM interval at 1p34.1-p32 (Varret et al., 1999). These results were rapidly confirmed by Hunt *et al.* in 2000, a group that studied a Utah pedigree which also clearly excluded linkage to either the *LDLR* or the *APOB* genes, since they were able to map and associate the same region to an FH phenotype in a large family (Hunt et al., 2000).

#### I.1.2.3 Discovery of the PCSK9 gene

The region that co-segregated with the FH3 locus contained 41 genes including a newly identified protein, NARC-1, the 9<sup>th</sup> member of mammalian PCs (Seidah et al., 2003). In the search for an enzyme cleaving precursors at sites not recognized by the known PCs, Seidah et al. identified a yet uncharacterized polypeptide that had been patented by two pharmaceutical companies (Millenium Pharmaceuticals, Cambridge, MA, patent no. WO 01/57081 A2 and Eli Lilly, patent no. WO 02/14358 A2) (Seidah et al., 2003). NARC-1 was identified in the protein data banks by the traditional method of probing for sequence similarity with the subtilase catalytic site consensus sequences and was found to share high sequence identity ( $\sim$ 42%) to the proteinase K family of subtilases. Since the human, mouse and rat amino acid sequences share ~92% identity, they characterized NARC-1 tissue expression in the mouse and the rat during development and in the adult rodent. Importantly, they demonstrated that NARC-1 expression is very high in the developing liver and intestine, which remain the major sites of expression in the adult, but also NARC-1 expression was increased in a similar fashion to apoB during liver regeneration. Since these tissues are the main sites of apoB expression and from the positioning of the gene on the FH3 locus, Dr. N. G. Seidah subsequently collaborated with Dr. Boileau's genetics group in France to confirm that mutations in the NARC-1 coding gene were responsible for the FH phenotype in their affected families (Abifadel et al., 2003). The two identified mutations were missense mutations: S127R in the HC2 and the HC92 families and the second mutation F216L in the HC60 family. The NARC-1 protein coding gene was named PCSK9 and the protein was termed PCSK9

from then on. The affected patients from the Utah pedigree were also shortly after confirmed to carry a missense mutation in PCSK9, D374Y (Timms et al., 2004).

## I.1.2.4 Description of GOF and LOF variants

PCSK9 S127R, D374Y and F216L, were rapidly defined as gain-of-function (GOF) since overexpression of these variants (S127R and F216L) and the wildtype PCSK9 in mice led to hypercholesterolemia (Benjannet et al., 2004; Maxwell and Breslow, 2004; Park et al., 2004). Importantly, these studies revealed that there was a strong decrease of liver LDLR resulting from PCSK9 overexpression with no effect on LDLR mRNA. These results suggested that PCSK9 regulates the LDLR post-transcriptionally resulting in an LDLR dependent increase in plasma LDLc. Furthermore, overexpression in LDLR knockout mice had no effect on plasma cholesterol levels (Maxwell and Breslow, 2004; Park et al., 2004). Several other GOF variants were later identified from various countries (Allard et al., 2005; Homer et al., 2008; Miyake et al., 2008; Noguchi et al., 2010). The identified GOF mutations, the country of origin, their relative position and baseline LDLc are illustrated in Figure I.1.6 (Hopkins et al., 2015).



Figure I.1. 6 Origin, relative positioning and impact on baseline LDLc of *PCSK9* GOF mutations

*A*, Schematic positioning on *PCSK9* gene of identified GOF mutations and their effect on LDLc. *B*, illustration of mutation position in PCSK9 domains and country of origin (Hopkins et al., 2015).

Conversely, there are two genetically distinct disorders characterized by decrease or absence of plasma lipids which are caused by a variety of *APOB* gene mutations. Hypobetalipoproteinemia is an autosomal codominant disorder where the heterozygotes have low concentrations of apoB and LDLc and are clinically asymptomatic, whereas homozygotes have extremely low or undetectable levels of apoB and LDLc (Linton et al., 1993). These homozygous patients have severe clinical manifestations including: 1) fat malabsorption with lipid droplet accumulation in the intestinal and liver cells, 2) acanthocytosis, a malformation of the erythrocytes,

3) retinitis pigmentosa, a diffuse disease of the central nervous system, 4) neuromuscular degeneration, spinocerebellar degeneration and peripheral neuropathy. This severe phenotype is indistinguishable to the recessively inherited apoB deficiency state, abetalipoproteinemia (Linton et al., 1993). Additionally, homozygous knockout of apoB results in embryonic lethality in mice (Farese et al., 1995). Finally, a large number of hypobetalipoproteinemia patients do not harbor *APOB* mutations (Fouchier et al., 2005; Tarugi et al., 2007).

Therefore, it was important to identify whether PCSK9, similarly to the APOB gene, could harbor mutations causing low plasma lipids and possibly any of these clinical manifestations, in the situation of only traces or absence of plasma apoB. In 2005, in the context of the Dallas Heart Study, a large multiethnic population study of Dallas County, plasma samples were analyzed for lipid and lipoprotein content (Cohen et al., 2005). The samples with the lowest LDLc contents were subsequently sequenced for mutations in the PCSK9 gene. The research group was able to identify two nonsense mutations in the PCSK9 gene for plasma samples of African American descent, Y142X and C679X, which result in virtually undetectable circulating levels of PCSK9 due to the absence of PCSK9 protein and to unstable and dominant negative forms of PCSK9, respectively. Further examination of the family members demonstrated that these variants cosegregated well with hypocholesterolemia (Cohen et al., 2005). Importantly, this research group verified that rates of cholesterol synthesis and cholesterol absorption were comparable to noncarriers (measured lathosterol and campesterol, which respectively correlate with biosynthesis and absorption). Furthermore, the sizes of the LDL particles were similar that of controls suggesting that the variants result in a reduction in the number of particles in circulation (Cohen et al., 2005). These results were confirmed in a larger study in the US (ARIC) and a loss-offunction (LOF) variant was identified in individuals of European descent (R46L), although is characterized by more moderate decrease in plasma LDLc levels (21% decrease vs. 40% for the nonsense variants) (Cohen et al., 2006). Finally, since these identified LOF variants are relatively common, (nonsense variants prevalence of 2% in African Americans and missense variant 3.2% European Americans), the researchers were able to demonstrate that a life-long decrease in LDLc is strongly protective for CVD (hazard ratio 0.5 for R46L carriers and 0.11 for nonsense mutation carriers, Y142X and C679X) (Cohen et al., 2006).

## I.1.3. <u>PCSK9 variants in the study of structure/function</u>

There are more than 100 natural *PCSK9* variants that have been identified including 73 missense/nonsense variants (Seidah et al., 2017), where GOF variants may increase the affinity to the LDLR or confer resistance to PC proteolysis, for example. While LOF result in truncations that disrupt proper tertiary folding of the protein and prevent ER exit, or in the case of R46L, for example, result in a protein more susceptible to proteolysis and decreased phosphorylation at S47 (Dewpura et al., 2008). This section will present how the study of these variants has greatly hastened the understanding of how the PCSK9/LDLR complex modulates LDL internalization.

## I.1.3.1 Extracellular pathway: main pathway regulating hepatic LDLR and LDLc

The same year that PCSK9 was discovered and parented to the third FH locus, PCSK9 had been shown to be coregulated with genes involved in cholesterol synthesis (Horton et al., 2003; Maxwell et al., 2003). Moreover, shortly after the PCSK9 gene was associated with hypercholesterolemia, several studies quickly demonstrated that secreted PCSK9, when added exogenously to hepatic cell lines or mouse primary hepatocytes, is able to decrease cell surface LDLR and LDL internalization in 20 min as well as decrease total LDLR levels in a dose dependent manner (Cameron et al., 2006; Lagace et al., 2006; Maxwell and Breslow, 2004). Direct binding of PCSK9 to the extracellular domain of the LDLR at the cell surface is required for uptake, colocalization in the endocytic/lysosomal compartments and for LDLR degradation (Holla et al., 2007; Lagace et al., 2006; Qian et al., 2007; Zhang et al., 2007). Furthermore, parabiosis experiments of transgenic PCSK9 mice and wildtype mice demonstrated that plasma PCSK9 can actively decrease hepatic LDLR levels (Lagace et al., 2006). LDL particle receptor-mediated endocytosis by clustering of the LDLR receptors in small pockets on the cell surface called clathrin-coated pits explain the highly efficient process leading to LDL lysosomal degradation (Brown and Goldstein, 1986). Notably, in hepatocytes and lymphocytes, this process requires the binding of the cytoplasmic tail of the LDLR to an adaptor protein, ARH (but not in fibroblasts) (Eden et al., 2002; Garcia et al., 2001). Studies further demonstrated that PCSK9 mediated LDLR degradation is dependent on clathrin coated pits (Nassoury et al., 2007; Wang et al., 2012) but independent on ARH (Park et al., 2004; Wang et al., 2012) since LDLR lacking a cytoplasmic tail

is also degraded by PCSK9 (Canuel et al., 2013; Strom et al., 2010). Together these results suggest that there is a third protein (or "Protein X") involved in the complex required for PCSK9 function that would be the link to the endosomal system. Furthermore, the complex's degradation is independent from the proteasome and the autophagosome and instead requires lysosomal proteases (Benjannet et al., 2004; Maxwell et al., 2005; Wang et al., 2012). Finally, enzymatically inactive PCSK9 (expression of the prodomain and the catalytic domain in *trans*) demonstrated equivalent efficiency to WT PCSK9 in degrading the LDLR (Li et al., 2007; McNutt et al., 2007).

#### I.1.3.2 LDLR structure/function analysis

The LDLR exhibits an efficient and masterful mechanism for LDL and VLDL extracellular binding, endocytosis, and release (Rudenko et al., 2002). ApoB-100 and apoE bind the ligandbinding domain (LBD) of the LDLR, consisting of ~40 amino acid cysteine-rich tandem repeats. This domain is followed C-terminally by the epidermal growth factor (EGF) precursor homology domain, which contains two cysteine-rich EGF-like domains, EGF-A and EGF-B, followed by a β-propeller domain and a third EGF-C like domain. Then follows an O-linked glycosylated threonine, serine-rich region, a transmembrane domain and the short cytoplasmic tail containing the NPxY motif required for endocytosis into clathrin-coated pits (Jeon and Blacklow, 2005). Clusters of acidic residues in the cysteine-rich repeats of the LBD interact with the negative charges on apoB and apoE at neutral pH. The LDLR requires the EGF precursor homology domain for ligand release and efficient recycling. The crystal structure of the LDLR demonstrated a conformational change between neutral and acidic pH such that the elongated, extended conformation in neutral plasma pH changes to a compact shape under acidic (pH 5.3), endosomallike conditions. Under acidic conditions, the N-terminal ligand binding repeats (modules R4 and R5) preferentially fold back to bind the  $\beta$ -propeller domain of the EGF precursor-like domain releasing the LDL or VLDL in the endosomes (Rudenko et al., 2002). The release through this preferential binding is required for the recycling of the LDLR to the cell surface since the LDLR lacking the EGF-A and -B may traffic normally to the cell surface but is subsequently rapidly degraded (van der Westhuyzen et al., 1991). The histidines at this binding interface between the cysteine-rich repeats R4 and R5 and the β-propeller domain form salt-bridges at acidic pH and are highly conserved between species. Additionally, mutations for these histidine residues have been found in FH patients (Rudenko et al., 2002), consistent with the notion that impaired release of LDL by, or recycling of, the LDLR results in increased plasma LDLc.

#### I.1.3.3 PCSK9 structure and variants shed light on function

In 2007, the three-dimensional structure of PCSK9 was generated synchronously between three groups (Cunningham et al., 2007; Hampton et al., 2007; Piper et al., 2007). The catalytic triad of PCSK9 (D186, H226 and S386) is conserved and the domain structure is similar to that of proteinase K, subtilisin E and furin (Cunningham et al., 2007). However, when compared to the related mammalian subtilisins, the prodomain of PCSK9 seems to have acquired features that would retain the prodomain tightly bound to the catalytic site. As explained in the previous sections, the prodomain of PCs is required for proper folding of the protease. Autocatalytic cleavage in ER of the properly folded protein results in a mature protease inhibited by the prodomain. The adaptations from PCSK9 include: an extra β-strand and helical turn at the Nterminus of the prodomain which forms a "hood" over the active site; hydrogen bonding of the inhibitory P1-P6 residues to the backbone of the substrate groove; and a much shorter L-loop that is important in PCs for the second cleavage and release of the prodomain (Siezen, 1996). Therefore, these structural indications support the notion that PCSK9 catalytically inhibited by its prodomain regulates the LDLR in a non-enzymatic fashion. The C-terminal cysteine-, histidine rich domain (CHRD), consists of three pseudo-β-barrel motifs with the principal fold made of six anti-parallel  $\beta$ -strands held together by three internal disulfide bonds. Additionally, despite poor sequence conservation, the three pseudo- $\beta$ -barrel folds show a clear overall 3-fold symmetry within the domain. The only other protein that matches this distinctive arrangement of cysteines repeated three times as in PCSK9 is resistin. Resistin is an adipokine linked with type II diabetes mellitus (T2DM) and obesity. The CHRD and resistin may share a common ancestor due to the remarkable homology in the pseudo-β-barrel (Hampton et al., 2007) (view Figure I.1.7 for sequence alignment between the CHRD subdomains and resistin). Interestingly, the C679X LOF variant causes a 14-amino acid truncation at the C-terminus and results in a protein that is retained in the ER, likely because this nonsense mutation results in misfolded protein from the loss of a disulfide bond between C679 and C608 in subdomain 3 of the CHRD (Benjannet et al., 2004).



Figure I.1. 7 Sequence alignment of PCSK9 CHRD domain with resistin

The three CHRD subdomains (SD) are aligned with resistin and resistin-like monomers. Secondary structure is depicted as  $\beta$ -sheets (magenta) and  $\alpha$ -helices (blue) (Hampton et al., 2007).

The EGF-A domain of the LDLR binds to the catalytic domain of PCSK9 (Kwon et al., 2008; Zhang et al., 2007). The FH mutation D374Y located at the binding interface results in 10to 25-fold increased affinity to the EGF-A domain (Cunningham et al., 2007; Kwon et al., 2008). Several studies demonstrated that the LDLR binds PCSK9 with increased affinity under acidic conditions, such as in endosomes (Cunningham et al., 2007; Fisher et al., 2007; Piper et al., 2007; Zhang et al., 2007). Indeed, in endosomes an additional binding interaction strengthens the affinity of PCSK9 for the LDLR, where the LDLR LBD recognizes the positive charges of the cysteine-, histidine-rich domain (CHRD) of PCSK9 (Holla et al., 2011a; Tveten et al., 2012; Yamamoto et al., 2011). Therefore, the CHRD acts as a decoy for the LBD preventing its interaction with the  $\beta$ propeller domain of the LDLR required for efficient recycling (view Figure I.1.8). Additionally, three PCSK9 GOF mutations (L108R, S127R, D129G) have been localized to a small binding interface between the prodomain and the  $\beta$ -propeller domain of the LDLR (view Figure 1.1.9), suggesting that enhanced interaction at this site maintains the PCSK9/LDLR complex in an inhibitory conformation preventing LDLR LBD binding to the  $\beta$ -propeller domain in the endosomes (Abifadel et al., 2012; Lo Surdo et al., 2011). Interestingly, the same domain contains an inhibitory segment for the function of PCSK9. Indeed, the deletion of the mobile highly acidic N-term of the prodomain (amino acid residues 31-52) results in >7-fold increase in affinity for the LDLR (Benjannet et al., 2010; Holla et al., 2011b; Kwon et al., 2008).



Figure I.1. 8 Four LDLR conformations adopted under neutral or acidic pH in the absence or presence of PCSK9

The LDLR is depicted with its ligand binding domain (yellow), EGF-A, -B, -C (blue),  $\beta$ -propeller domain (red). PCSK9 is depicted in grey with the prodomain (P), catalytic domain (CAT) and C-terminal domain (CTD). *A*, Under neutral pH, the LDLR binds LDL, internalization into endosomes leads to pH-mediated folding into closed conformation and LDL release. *B*, Upon binding of PCSK9, the ligand-binding domain folds over the PCSK9 CHRD domain preventing adoption of closed conformation (Leren, 2014).



Figure I.1. 9 Tertiary structure of the PCSK9/LDLR complex

The catalytic domain of PCSK9 (red) interacts with the EGF-A domain of the LDLR (yellow). The box depicts the interactions of the pro domain of PCSK9 (blue) with the  $\beta$ -propeller domain of the LDLR where GOF residues of PCSK9 are in red (Lo Surdo et al., 2011).

PCSK9 activity is also regulated by post-translational modifications such as cleavage and phosphorylation. A furin and PC5/6-A cleavage site is located in an exposed and flexible loop of the catalytic domain of PCSK9. Cleavage at this site results in the loss of PCSK9 activity due to unfolding of the protein and detachment of the prosegment (Benjannet et al., 2006). GOF FH variants (F216L, R218S ad R215H) have helped to validate this regulatory mechanism, as impaired cleavage in these patients results in longer half-life of PCSK9. It has been shown that the secretory pathway kinase Fam20C phosphorylates PCSK9 at four identified Ser-residues (47, 666, 668 and 688) potentiating PCSK9 secretion and LDLR degradation. Indeed, mutations at critical residues of the recognition motif reduces phosphorylation and confers LOF to PCSK9, for example R46L, S668R and E670G (Ben Djoudi Ouadda et al., 2019).

## I.1.3.4 Intracellular pathway: evidence from variants and extrahepatic tissues

Some variants (S127R and D129G) confer GOF activity despite poor autocatalytic processing and secretion from cells (Benjannet et al., 2004; Homer et al., 2008), and therefore would seem to indicate the possibility of an intracellular *vs*. an extracellular pathway for LDLR degradation. In contrast to clathrin-heavy chains (CHCs), clathrin-light chains (CLCs) are not required for clathrin-mediated endocytosis but are critical for clathrin mediated trafficking between the *trans*-Golgi Network (TGN) and the endosomal system (Poirier et al., 2009). Since the knockdown of the CLCs results in impaired LDLR degradation (Poirier et al., 2009), PCSK9 could target the LDLR for degradation directly from the TGN to lysosomes.

Recently, a new class of LDLR mutations has been described (Susan-Resiga et al., 2017), pertaining to a defect in LDL delivery to lysosomes and resistance to PCSK9-induced degradation. Accordingly, the FH patient described in the study was resistant to PCSK9 monoclonal antibody treatments. In the study, the R410S variant demonstrated resistance to extracellular PCSK9 mediated degradation but surprisingly intact intracellular mediated LDLR degradation, in turn suggesting differential regulators for both pathways. Interestingly, this mutation is in the  $\beta$ -propeller domain at the interaction interface with the PCSK9 prodomain ( $\beta$ 1- $\beta$ 6 propeller blades) and on the opposite side from the interaction with the LBD of the LDLR ( $\beta$ 3- $\beta$ 4 propeller blades) (Rudenko et al., 2002). The authors determined that there are two principal consequences from this mutation, the first is decreased sensitivity to extracellular PCSK9 and the

second is the impaired LDL release in the endosomes leading to increased "retro-endocytosis" or "regurgitation". The latter was at least in part explained by the loss of flexibility of the  $\beta$ 3 and  $\beta$ 4 blades under acidic conditions, which contain the residues forming the pH sensitive salt-bridges with the LBD of the LDLR (described above), important for the release of LDL (Rudenko et al., 2002). This variant when contrasted with the wildtype LDLR could be a useful tool to identify the interacting partners of the extracellular pathway. Nevertheless, two observations contrast sharply with previous studies. First, it is puzzling that this variant does not allow for the release of the ligand and still is able to recycle to the cell surface. Second, the R410S does not have a modified half-life than the wildtype while previous studies had demonstrated that impaired binding to the  $\beta$ -propeller domain by the LBD and failure to adopt a compact tertiary conformation leads to the rapid degradation of the LDLR (van der Westhuyzen et al., 1991).

The two pathways described preferentially take place in specific tissues, such that the liver LDLR is targeted by the extracellular pathway *vs*. the intestine, for example, where the LDLR is mainly regulated by the intracellular pathway. Indeed, endogenous inhibition of extracellular PCSK9 by annexin A2 (AnxA2) has been described (Mayer et al., 2008). Annexins are receptors that bind membrane phospholipids on the extracellular surface, such that membrane tethered AnxA2 binds to the CHRD of PCSK9 and inhibits its activity on the LDLR (Ly et al., 2014; Mayer et al., 2008). Interestingly, AnxA2 expression is particularly enriched in the intestine, adrenals, lungs, and others but not liver (Seidah et al., 2012), suggesting that this receptor could participate in determining which tissues are susceptible to extracellular PCSK9. Indeed, annexin A2 knockout mice demonstrate ~50% and ~40% decrease in LDLR in adrenals and colon respectively, suggesting functional evidence for this inhibitory mechanism (Seidah et al., 2012).

## I.1.4. Other targets or ligands of PCSK9

PCSK9 has been reported to interact with several proteins and to have several targets for degradation, however, this section will only review those with greater relevance to this thesis.

## I.1.4.1 Other lipid receptors (VLDLR, ApoER2, LRP-1)

The LDLR is the first member of a large and ancient family of receptors divided into subgroups based on structural homology. They are involved in endocytosis of a variety of ligands including lipoproteins, proteases and vitamins, some receptors are also important for signaling events of neuronal development, synaptic transmission, neuronal migration, etc. (Gent and Braakman, 2004; Howell and Herz, 2001). The LDLR family members are type I transmembrane receptors which are characterized by modular domain organisation containing the previously described ligand-binding cysteine rich repeats among other conserved domains between subgroups (view Figure I.1.10). The VLDL receptor (VLDLR) and the apoE receptor 2 (ApoE-R2) share the closest structural homology to the LDLR (59% and 46% identity respectively) while also contain the EGF-like precursor homology domain, the O-linked glycan domain and the NPxY motif on the cytosolic tail. These receptors are involved in the extracellular protein reelin (Reln) developmental signaling cascade and the double knockout of the ApoER2 and VLDLR is essentially identical to that of Reln knockout phenotype, which is characterized by neurological defects of the central nervous system, including the cerebral cortex, hippocampus, cerebellum, olfactory bulb and spinal cord. The giant LDL related protein-1 (LRP-1) belongs to the second subgroup, and contains the EGF-like repeat, β-propeller domain and two NPxY motifs. This receptor is known to bind and internalize multiple ligands and LRP-1 knockout is embryonic lethal in mice (Howell and Herz, 2001).



Figure I.1. 10 Structural representation of LDL receptor gene family

*A*, Core family members. *B*, poor homology of LRP3 and LRP4 with core family members. *C*, LRP5 and LRP6 share extracellular domains with different organisation to core family members (Howell and Herz, 2001).

Several research groups have demonstrated the regulation of ApoER2, VLDLR and LRP-1 by PCSK9, including the ability of PCSK9 wildtype and GOF D374Y to degrade VLDLR and ApoER2 in various cell lines (Canuel et al., 2013; Poirier et al., 2008). This regulation was supported by the demonstration that PCSK9 binds to VLDLR and apoER2 specifically and may be competitively inhibited by EGF-A (Shan et al., 2008). More studies have functionally validated this regulation. Firstly, PCSK9 knockout mice have shown 80% increased visceral adipose tissue, characterized by adipocyte hypertrophy, increased fatty acid uptake, and increased *ex vivo* TG synthesis. This phenotype was accounted for by the increase in VLDLR at the cell surface of adipocytes which is regulated by circulating PCSK9 (Roubtsova et al., 2015; Roubtsova et al., 2011). On the other hand, ApoER2 is increased in neuronal cells upon silencing of PCSK9 expression, further protecting cells from apoptosis, while silencing ApoER2 reversed the protective effect (Kysenius et al., 2012; Wang et al., 2018). Additionally, findings from studies of tumor cells have implicated the regulation of LRP-1 by PCSK9 (Canuel et al., 2013). Interestingly, in these melanoma cells of variable metastatic potential, the LDLR was either resistant or sensitive to PCSK9 mediated degradation, whereas, LRP-1 was sensitive to PCSK9 mediated degradation in both tumor cell lines. The study showed that even though the LDLR and LRP-1 show similar requirement for the catalytic domain of PCSK9, it is suggested that there is a distinct degradation machinery required for LDLR and LRP-1 PCSK9 mediated degradation.

## I.1.4.2 Regulation of CD36

CD36 is a membrane glycoprotein that was initially identified in platelets, then characterized as a scavenger receptor in monocytes, macrophages and other phagocytic cells and as a negative regulator of angiogenesis in specialized epithelia (Silverstein and Febbraio, 2009). It's role in hepatocyte TG metabolism was only revealed relatively recently (Koonen et al., 2007). Scavenger receptors recognize molecular patterns presented by pathogens; in particular, CD36 recognizes specific lipid and lipoprotein components of these pathogens leading to their internalization. CD36 may also recognize and lead to the internalization of endogenously derived ligands including  $\beta$ -amyloid peptide, glycated proteins, oxidatively modified lipoproteins, etc. (Silverstein and Febbraio, 2009), implicating CD36 in Alzheimer's disease and atherosclerosis. CD36 resides in cholesterol-rich lipid-rafts important for colocalization with signaling receptors to mediate downstream effects and may be internalized by both caveolin and clathrin-coated pits. It has a hairpin-like structure that is mainly composed of a large glycosylated extracellular loop domain (the multiligand binding domain), two transmembrane domains and short cytoplasmic domains which are palmitoylated (view Figure I.1.11).



Figure I.1. 11 Structural organization of CD36

Schematic representation of CD36 topology and domains including post-translational modifications (Silverstein and Febbraio, 2009).

Koonen *et al.* demonstrated that CD36 increases in hepatocytes in response to high fat diets, contributing to increased free fatty acid internalization, TG synthesis and subsequent dyslipidemia. Moreover, overexpression of CD36 in lean mice is sufficient to affect hepatic lipid storage and secretion (Koonen et al., 2007). Therefore, CD36 may contribute to the pathogenesis of metabolic disorders, such as insulin resistance, obesity and non-alcoholic hepatic steatosis.

Demers *et al.* studied the potential functional relationship between PCSK9 and CD36 since PCSK9 knockout mice demonstrated increased CD36 levels in visceral adipose tissue (80% increase) and in the liver (300% increase) (Demers et al., 2015). They demonstrated in human and mouse cell lines that PCSK9 can induce the degradation of CD36 through a mechanism involving both the proteasomal and lysosomal systems. Moreover, PCSK9 was shown to interact directly with CD36 within similar binding affinity as PCSK9 binding to LDLR EGF-A domain at neutral

pH. Although this interaction relies on the catalytic domain, D374Y GOF variant does not confer increased activity towards CD36, however, another variant within the catalytic domain does (F379A). Moreover, the monoclonal antibody (mAb) to PCSK9 prevented CD36 degradation. Upon characterization of PCSK9 knockout mice, this research group demonstrated that the long-term resulting increase in CD36 resulted in enhanced hepatic TG content. The authors further suggested that the absence of PCSK9 could confer greater susceptibility to non-alcoholic fatty liver disease (NAFLD). In 2019, Lebeau *et al.* challenged PCSK9 knockout mice with a high fat diet to verify this hypothesis. The mice developed an enhanced NAFLD phenotype in the absence of PCSK9 in contrast to wildtype mice. The study reported increased total protein and cell surface localization of CD36 in the livers of those mice (Lebeau et al., 2019).

## I.1.4.3 ApoB: extracellular interactions

The direct binding of PCSK9 to apoB in serum acts as an important inhibitor of PCSK9 activity on LDLR degradation. LDL was rapidly demonstrated to affect the binding affinity of PCSK9 to the LDLR (Fisher et al., 2007). Shortly after, it was demonstrated that PCSK9 may elute and associate with LDL in normolipidemic subjects (Kosenko et al., 2013) and with both LDL and HDL lipoproteins in mouse serum (Fan et al., 2008; Fisher et al., 2007; Tavori et al., 2013). Indeed, in human plasma, > 40% of PCSK9 is associated with LDL but not VLDL or HDL (Kosenko et al., 2013). These research groups demonstrated direct binding between PCSK9 and apoB (Hori et al., 2015; Kosenko et al., 2013; Tavori et al., 2013). Therefore, it is possible that apoB epitopes in VLDL are masked. Indeed, in contrast to LDL, VLDL binding to the LDLR requires TG lipolysis that decreases particle size and induces a conformational change of apoB (Boren et al., 1998). Moreover, the identified apoB/PCSK9 binding domain is likely to be the same highly negatively charged N-term region of the prodomain of PCSK9 (a.a. 31-52) (Kosenko et al., 2013; Sarkar et al., 2020) previously described in Section I.1.3.3 that inhibits PCSK9 binding to the LDLR by ionic repulsion (Kwon et al., 2008). Recently it was found that this intrinsically disordered region (IDR) may also form a transient  $\alpha$ -helix that however is not critical for the PCSK9 binding affinity to the LDLR (Kirchhofer et al., 2020; Sarkar et al., 2020; Ultsch et al., 2019). The authors further suggested that binding to LDL was stabilized by interdomain interaction of the prodomain and the CHRD (Sarkar et al., 2020). This is functionally supported by the identification of several GOF

mutations that are located at this interface and greatly diminish this interdomain interaction (Sarkar et al., 2020). In summary, the association of PCSK9 to apoB in plasma inhibits PCSK9 activity and mutations impairing this association may result in FH.

#### I.1.4.4 ApoB: intracellular interactions

ApoB is constitutionally synthesized in the liver and intestine and its expression is regulated post-transcriptionally and post-translationally. The rate of apoB-containing lipoprotein secretion is controlled by apoB degradation since the apoB polypeptide provides the backbone structure for lipoprotein lipidation and maturation. Interestingly, the apoB mRNA can be processed into a shorter isoform, termed apo48, that does not contain the ligand-binding domain to the LDLR. This processing is accomplished by the apoB mRNA editing complex-1 (Apobec-1), which is only expressed in the intestine in humans but in both liver and intestine in rodents and makes the chylomicron apoB equivalent. The apoB mRNA is translated by the ER ribosomes where a first co-translational regulation of apoB takes place through ER-associated degradation (ERAD). Indeed, the apoB nascent polypeptide is normally lipidated by the MTP (microsomal triglyceride transfer protein) complex upon translocation into the ER lumen through the Sec61 translocation channel. These lipids confer apoB tertiary structure stability. Therefore, under conditions of low lipid supplies, the protein misfolds allowing for the ubiquitination machinery to bind to the misfolded loops further inducing retro-translocation through Sec61 and degradation in the cytosol by the proteasome. Therefore, apoB-containing lipoprotein secretion is under the regulation of ER lipid content (Doonan et al., 2018), the intracellular organelle responsible for cellular lipid content sensing and homeostasis. The second post-translational regulation of apoB intracellular levels is a specific form of autophagy. It was initially characterized as post-ER pre-secretory proteolysis (PERPP), which sequesters pre-VLDL particles that have not been properly matured in the Golgi to autophagosomes, the contents of which are subsequently degraded by the lysosomes. Acute insulin signaling, increased sortilin expression or activity and a diet rich in fish oil N-3 fatty acids are the main inducers of this pathway and further correlate with decreased VLDL secretion and decreased plasma TG (Doonan et al., 2018). Moreover, insulin resistance, such as in T2DM, results in increased VLDL secretion, likely due to impaired insulin-mediated apoB-degradation by PERPP. Additionally, it is known that the LDLR may target under-lipidated VLDL particles for degradation from the secretory pathway from a post-ER compartment that requires apoB and apoE

ligands on the VLDL particle to take place (Blasiole et al., 2008; Twisk et al., 2000). This was well supported by studies in humans, mice and cell lines demonstrating conversely that the loss of LDLR leads to an increase in VLDL secretion due to a decrease in degradation of apoB (Horton et al., 1999; Tremblay et al., 2004; Williams et al., 1990) and that those particles were small and were poorly enriched in TGs (James et al., 1989; Larsson et al., 2004; Nassir et al., 2004).

On the other hand, very soon after the discovery of PCSK9, several GOF mutations (S127R, D374Y) were associated with an increase in apoB secretion (Herbert et al., 2010; Ouguerram et al., 2004; Sun et al., 2005). This effect of PCSK9 on apoB-containing lipoproteins was further demonstrated *in vivo* and *in vitro* from PCSK9 overexpression systems from hepatocytes (Benjannet et al., 2004; Lambert et al., 2006; Sun et al., 2012; Tavori et al., 2013; Tavori et al., 2016) and from intestinal cells (Levy et al., 2013; Rashid et al., 2014). Decreased biosynthetic rates of apoB accompanied by decreased apoB-containing lipoprotein secretion (both hepatic VLDL secretion and postprandial triglyceridemia), was also observed from PCSK9 knockout mouse models (Le May et al., 2009; Rashid et al., 2005; Sun et al., 2018). Furthermore, direct intracellular binding of PCSK9 to apoB was shown to decrease apoB autophagic degradation in an LDLR independent manner *in vitro* and *in vivo* while negatively modulating the autophagy signaling pathway (Sun et al., 2018; Sun et al., 2012). In summary, these studies suggest that PCSK9 may favor TG-rich, apoB-containing lipoprotein secretion via affecting autophagy and directly binding to apoB, overall unraveling an LDLR-independent mechanism whereby PCSK9 increases TG rich particles in the circulation (view section I.1.9).

## I.1.4.5 Modulation of Lp(a) secretion and internalization by PCSK9

Lipoprotein(a) (Lp(a)) is an atherogenic LDL-like particle characterized by the presence of a covalently bound apoprotein(a) (apo(a)) to apoB. Lp(a) confers an independent risk for CAD (Meireles-Brandao et al., 2019). Apo(a) is a high molecular weight protein, is uniquely expressed by the liver and shares high structural homology to plasminogen kringle IV, a key proenzyme of the fibrinolytic cascade (Marcovina and Koschinsky, 1999). Indeed, apo(a) may inhibit fibrinolysis *in vitro*, suggesting that inhibition of fibrinolysis at sites of plaque rupture may cause thrombosis, myocardial infarct and ischemic stroke (Wilson et al., 2019). Lp(a) plasma concentrations are determined by synthesis rather than catabolism and are inversely correlated to the number of tandemly arranged kringle IV type 2 repeats, which varies among subjects ranging from 11 to >50. Indeed, the larger apo(a) isoforms are relatively inefficiently secreted from the hepatocytes (Marcovina and Koschinsky, 1999). Studies have demonstrated that apo(a) alleles with a low kringle IV copy number (<22) and high Lp(a) concentration were significantly more frequent in CAD patients and conferred a hazard ratio of 4.6 for CAD *vs.* a hazard ratio of 0.3 in individuals with >25 repeats (Kraft et al., 1996). Additionally, in contrast to LDL, the plasma concentrations of Lp(a) are not modulated by diet and physical activity and have been resistant to traditional LDL-lowering therapies.

Recently, PCSK9 targeted mAb have demonstrated in addition to a >35% reduction in LDLc, a surprising 25-30% reduction in Lp(a) (Shapiro et al., 2019). In addition, the FOURIER cardiovascular disease clinical outcomes trial demonstrated that patients with elevated Lp(a) received a greater benefit from PCSK9 targeted mAb (evolocumab); and that those with the lowest achieved Lp(a) and LDLc had the lowest event rate (Boffa and Koschinsky, 2019; O'Donoghue et al., 2019). These results were confirmed by a meta-analysis from ten phase-3 alirocumab trials (PCSK9 mAb) although significance of association for Lp(a) lowering was dependent on LDLc lowering (Ray et al., 2019b).

With the advent of PCSK9 mAb, there have been numerous studies examining the interaction between PCSK9 and Lp(a) and the mechanism for PCSK9 regulation of plasma Lp(a). Importantly, however, statins (which also increase hepatic LDLR) have not demonstrated lowering effects of Lp(a) (Hernandez et al., 2011) and may even cause a significant increase (Tsimikas et al., 2020). In addition, treatment with PCSK9 mAb have demonstrated both increased fractional catabolic rate of Lp(a) and decreased Lp(a) production rate (Reyes-Soffer et al., 2017; Watts et al., 2018). This was supported by studies that have demonstrated LDLR mediated clearance and degradation of Lp(a) (Romagnuolo et al., 2015), as well as PCSK9 mediated enhanced Lp(a) production (Villard et al., 2016). Therefore, PCSK9 mAb may increase Lp(a) clearance through enhanced expression of LDLR and/or decreased Lp(a) synthesis or assembly (Villard et al., 2016; Watts et al., 2018) at the plasma membrane (Kostner and Kostner, 2017), ultimately lowering plasma Lp(a). Additionally, it is possible that Lp(a) is not singly internalized by LDLR but also by LRP-1, CD36, TLR2 (toll-like receptor 2), SR-B1 (scavenger receptor-B1) and plasminogen receptors (Shapiro et al., 2019), which may be in turn more abundant in the absence of PCSK9. In

conclusion, more studies are required to elucidate the underlying mechanism(s) for Lp(a) regulation by PCSK9.

#### I.1.4.6 CAP1-dependent PCSK9 activity

A recent article presented a new protein implicated in cholesterol homeostasis termed adenylyl cyclase-associated protein 1 (CAP1) (Jang et al., 2020). The results from this article are critical because CAP1 is proposed to be the long searched 'Protein X' that is required to link the LDLR/PCSK9 complex at the cell surface to the endocytosis machinery. However, the findings from this article were surprising considering firstly that this protein had only just been identified as a receptor mediating resistin-dependent inflammatory signaling of monocytic cells and is poorly expressed in the liver (Lee et al., 2014). Moreover, this protein's structural definition does not correspond to the anticipated features for 'Protein X' since CAP1 is a cytosolic protein that does not contain a transmembrane domain and cytosolic tail, nor is part of the secretory pathway. Therefore, the mechanism transporting the receptor to the extracellular membrane remains unresolved. CAP1 is composed of an adenylyl cyclase binding domain, a proline-rich SH3 binding domain (SH3BD) and an actin binding domain. CAP1 expression pattern is similar to that of resistin with enrichment in peripheral blood mononuclear cells and bone marrow, although it appears to be ubiquitously expressed (Lee et al., 2014). It is highly conserved between species and the mouse homozygous knockout gene is embryonic lethal (Lee et al., 2014), suggesting it plays important yet uncharacterized roles during development. The interaction with CAP1 takes place through the SH3BD with the multimeric resistin complex. This complex forms a homotrimer with elevated structural homology to PCSK9 CHRD (Hampton et al., 2007) (view section I.1.3.3). CAP1 and resistin binding results in increased cAMP concentration and PKA activation, as well as NFKB related transcription of inflammatory cytokines in monocytes (Lee et al., 2014). Similarly to the resistin/CAP1 complex, the CAP1/PCSK9 binding interface was identified at the CHRD/SH3BD (Jang et al., 2020). CAP1 heterozygous knockout mice resulted in an approximately 3-fold increase in liver LDLR, and on a high fat diet resulted in decreased total plasma cholesterol and decreased LDLc (Jang et al., 2020). The in vitro knockdown of CAP1 prevented the degradation of the LDLR by PCSK9 and adenoviral overexpression of PCSK9 in the heterozygous CAP1 knockout mice only partially decreased liver LDLR levels in comparison

to wildtype mice (Jang et al., 2020). Moreover, the authors indicated that PCSK9 can internalize the LDLR through the clathrin and the caveolin-1 endocytic pathways, where only the caveolin-1 mediated pathway targeted the LDLR for degradation while the clathrin pathway allowed for efficient recycling of the LDLR. Furthermore, CAP1 was found to only bind to caveolin-1, and its knockdown only prevented caveolin-mediated endocytosis (view Figure I.1.12). These results contrast with previous studies that had demonstrated the requirement for clathrin heavy chain for PCSK9 mediated LDLR degradation (Nassoury et al., 2007; Poirier et al., 2009). It is interesting to note that in their model, the authors provide evidence for PCSK9 binding to CAP1 with subsequent degradation of the LDLR, but they do not examine the effect of a reduction in CAP1 levels on circulating levels of PCSK9. Moreover, it is known that the internalization rate of PCSK9 depends on cell surface LDLR, yet the authors do not study the role of the LDLR in this CAP1 dependent internalization and degradation.



Figure I.1. 12 CAP-1 dependent LDLR/ PCSK9 complex internalization

*A*, schematic representation of the LDLR/PCSK9/CAP1 binding complex. *B*, tertiary structure depicting PCSK9 CHRD domain interaction with SH3BD domain of CAP1. *C*, caveolin-dependent degradation of the LDLR (Jang et al., 2020).

## I.1.4.7 Inhibition by GRP94

It is known that liver LDLR is mostly sensitive to extracellular PCSK9, whereas in cell lines, an intracellular pathway has been demonstrated (Poirier et al., 2009; Seidah et al., 2018). Nassoury et al. characterized the trafficking of PCSK9 in the presence or absence of the LDLR in both cell lines and primary hepatocytes (Nassoury et al., 2007). Interestingly, in the absence of the LDLR, PCSK9 was mainly localized to the ER, however, under co-expression with the LDLR, both proteins localized to the degradation endosomal/lysosomal system. In contrast, the proteins colocalized to the Golgi apparatus in primary hepatocytes, correlating with the notion that liver cells are not able to degrade the LDLR through an intracellular pathway. Moreover, in both cell lines and in primary hepatocytes, proPCSK9 immunoprecipitated with the LDLR. Therefore, the interaction in the ER of immature LDLR and proPCSK9 is not the limiting event to induce colocalization to the endosomal/lysosomal system and intracellular mediated degradation of the LDLR. Therefore, Poirier *et al.* searched for an intracellular PCSK9 interacting partner which could prevent targeting of the LDLR from the trans-Golgi network directly to the lysosomes for degradation (Poirier et al., 2015). Indeed, they were able to identify directly interacting ER resident chaperones, GRP94, and somewhat less so, GRP78 (BiP). They demonstrated that this binding with GRP94 was not necessary for PCSK9 maturation and secretion and was competitively inhibited by EGF-A. Moreover, in the absence of GRP94, they observed an increase in PCSK9 secretion and degradation of the LDLR. Therefore, this study suggests that GRP94 is an endogenous inhibitor of PCSK9 mediated intracellular degradation of the LDLR. This was functionally confirmed by liver specific GRP94 knockout mice that demonstrated increased circulating PCSK9, decreased hepatocyte surface LDLR and increased LDLc (Poirier et al., 2015).

## I.1.4.8 GRP94 and GRP78/BiP: Role of PCSK9 in ER stress

In most mammalian cells, one third of all proteins are synthesized in the ER, but in certain cells, like hepatocytes, it may rise to up to 70% (Benyair et al., 2011). High-quality protein folding is essential for cell survival and function, additionally, protein folding is the most error-prone step in gene expression. Therefore, various control mechanisms have evolved to preserve protein-folding homeostasis through rigorous quality control processes, ER compartmentalization and

through sensors of ER homeostasis, which impact cell fate. Chaperone association of nascent polypeptides prevents aggregation through hydrophobic patches, are required for proper protein folding and coordinate quality control processes. Two of the main chaperone systems are BiP (GRP78) and calnexin (CNX)/calreticulin (CRT). BiP acts in concert with its co-chaperones of the ERdj family (ERdj1-7) and the nucleotide exchange factors Sil1 and GRP170 (Benyair et al., 2011; Ellgaard et al., 2016). BiP functions with different ERdj proteins for: 1) recruitment to translating ribosomes and for protein translocation; 2) for protein folding; and 3) ERAD of misfolded proteins. The lectin chaperones, CNX/CRT, assist glycoprotein folding, where folding state is revealed by specific modifications of their N-glycans. Nascent polypeptides are co-translationally conjugated to a branched oligosaccharide precursor, Glc<sub>3</sub>Man<sub>9</sub>GlcNAc<sub>2</sub> at asparagine residues of the Ans-Xxx-Ser/Thr motif. Trimming of the glucose residues of the attached oligosaccharide by glucosidases (GlucI and GlucII) yields recognition signals for lectins that may serve to inhibit the secretion of misfolded proteins, prevent their aggregation and/or promote formation of di-sulfide bonds through the recruitment of ERp57 (thiol-disulfide oxidoreductase). Lectin binding may also be important for sorting of substrates for ERAD (Benvair et al., 2011). GRP94 is another important folding factor, which has recently been shown to be recruited by BiP in its ADP-bound, "clientbound" state (Sun et al., 2019). GRP94, in contrast to BiP interacts with a narrow range of substrates (Argon and Simen, 1999; Melnick et al., 1994). When the ER becomes overwhelmed or stressed with high protein load, a signaling pathway, termed the unfolded protein response (UPR) pathway, will initiate several adaptive mechanisms, through the activation of sensor proteins PERK, IRE1 $\alpha$ , and ATF6. These will promote ER protein folding and ERAD by upregulating the expression of ER chaperones BiP, GRP94 and others (Wu and Kaufman, 2006), inhibit global translation, stimulate autophagy and an antioxidant response, altogether favoring cell survival. In turn, severe stress and sustained activation of the PERK pathway will induce the maladaptive UPR and apoptosis (Wang and Kaufman, 2016) (view Figure I.1.13).



Figure I.1. 13 The UPR signaling pathways

A, Adaptive UPR leads to the upregulation of ER protein folding, ERAD, inhibition of global translation, and autophagy. It is initiated upon disinhibition of the ER sensors ATF6 $\alpha$ , IRE1 $\alpha$  and PERK from BiP. ATF6 $\alpha$  transcription factor translocates to the Golgi apparatus where it is processed and activated. IRE1 $\alpha$  and PERK oligomerize and are activated by *trans*-autophosphorylation. These will induce the activation of transcription factors XBP1 and ATF4. The regulated Ire1-dependent decay (RIDD) downstream of IRE1 $\alpha$  mediates mRNA decay alleviating ER protein load. **B**, Sustained activation of PERK leads to apoptosis mainly through the activation of CHOP (Wang and Kaufman, 2016).

PCSK9 expression is upregulated by ER stress inducing agents in several hepatic cell lines, primary hepatocytes and in mice treated with these agents (Lebeau et al., 2017). In accordance with previous publications, ER stress also upregulated LDLR and activated sterol-regulated element binding protein -2 (SREBP-2), suggesting SREBP-2 mediated PCSK9 and LDLR stimulated expression (Lebeau et al., 2017; Pai et al., 1996; Werstuck et al., 2001). However, under these conditions, PCSK9 secretion was suppressed by ER retention of the mature PCSK9, thereby allowing for an increase in cell surface LDLR (Lebeau et al., 2017). The authors suggested that PCSK9 interaction with GRP94 could favor this retention, in particular because GRP94 is also upregulated during ER stress. Moreover, ER stress may have a general effect on protein retention in the ER since it has been reported to impair anterograde COPII vesicular trafficking (Chen et al., 2013). ER resident PCSK9 (Benjannet et al., 2012; Cariou et al., 2009; Mayne et al., 2011).

Although, these do not normally induce ER stress (Benjannet et al., 2012), knockdown of GRP94 in the presence of PCSK9 induces an upregulation of UPR markers and allows binding of proPCSK9 to BiP (Lebeau et al., 2018; Poirier et al., 2015). Moreover, by preventing remnant particle internalization, the presence *vs.* the absence of PCSK9 was found to be protective from palmitic acid induced ER stress and cytotoxicity in hepatic cell lines (Lebeau et al., 2019). This protective effect of PCSK9 was further validated *in vivo* where high fat diet caused ER stress, hepatic steatosis and inflammation in *Pcsk9*<sup>-/-</sup> mice. These results suggest that PCSK9 participates in ER homeostasis particularly under ER toxic conditions.

## I.1.5. <u>Regulation of PCSK9 expression</u>

#### I.1.5.1 Cholesterol and SREBP-2

In the plasma, PCSK9 levels are most reproducibly associated with LDLc (Lakoski et al., 2009; Lambert et al., 2008; Mayne et al., 2007), although the association is modest since variations in fasting plasma PCSK9 levels in a large cohort (>3000 probands) only accounted for 7% of the variations in LDLc (Lakoski et al., 2009). Therefore, circulating levels of PCSK9 poorly represent its regulatory activity of LDLc. This weak correlation could in part be explained by the significant proportions of inhibited circulating PCSK9 resulting from either furin/PC5-A-cleavage (Benjannet et al., 2006) or by association to LDL particles (~30% of plasma PCSK9) (Kosenko et al., 2013; Tavori et al., 2013).

PCSK9, LDLR and cholesterol synthesis are upregulated under conditions of low intracellular cholesterol by a common transcription factor, SREBP-2 (Horton et al., 2003; Maxwell et al., 2003). Several groups have demonstrated that PCSK9 is upregulated along with the LDLR by hydroxymethyglutaryl co-enzyme A (HMG-CoA) reductase inhibitors (statins) which enhance SREBP-2 activity (Awan et al., 2012; Careskey et al., 2008; Dubuc et al., 2004; Mayne et al., 2008). Additionally, an SRE element was identified in the PCSK9 promoter, almost identical to that of the LDLR (Jeong et al., 2008). Therefore, under conditions of low intracellular cholesterol, the cell paradoxically upregulates both the LDLR and PCSK9 to allow for cholesterol internalization and subsequent degradation of the LDLR and clearance of PCSK9 from the circulation ensuring both intracellular cholesterol homeostasis and constant LDLc concentrations.

It is known that hepatic cholesterol synthesis follows a diurnal rhythm with a nadir in the afternoon and a peak at night, and may be monitored by measuring lathosterol, a marker for cholesterol synthesis (Galman et al., 2005; Miettinen, 1982). In a human study by Persson et al. PCSK9 and lathosterol were both strongly correlated with normal diurnal rhythm and short-term fasting conditions, suggesting synchronous regulation (Persson et al., 2010). This study also showed that after 18 hours of fasting, PCSK9 levels were reduced by ~35% and after 66 hours, they were lowered by 64%-97% (Persson et al., 2010), these observations were closely paralleled by lathosterol. In contrast, plasma LDLc remained stable for all these time points. The suppression of cholesterol synthesis and plasma PCSK9 would likely have been accompanied by a reduction in LDLR at the mRNA level, considering that these genes are known to be coregulated by SREBP-2 and, it is known from mice, that SREBP-2 is suppressed during fasting in the liver (Horton et al., 1998). Altogether, PCSK9 and LDLR transcriptional suppression would result in stabilized LDLR protein levels and in turn plasma LDLc, due to the resulting absence of PCSK9 mediated degradation of LDLR. Very similar results were reported by another research group where fasting induced a strong decline in secreted PCSK9 and also lathosterol-to-cholesterol ratio in healthy individuals (Browning and Horton, 2010).

Cholesterol-rich diets (2-3% content) alter hepatic SREBP-2 and PCSK9 expression in rodent models. Indeed, these diets resulted in an increase in hepatic cholesterol content and a decrease in SREBP-2 and PCSK9 protein expression (Chong et al., 2011; De Smet et al., 2015; Persson et al., 2009). Enterocyte PCSK9 mRNA and protein is also sensitive to incubation with cholesterol (Leblond et al., 2009). In contrast, high-fat and high-fat, high-protein short term diets in young healthy volunteers increased lathosterol synthesis but did not significantly alter PCSK9 concentrations and trended towards an increase (Cariou et al., 2013). Moreover, an acute oral fat load in healthy subjects did not lead to changes in plasma PCSK9 concentrations (Cariou et al., 2013). Therefore, in humans, high fat diets have little to no impact on PCSK9 concentrations, however, these diets contained other fatty acids which may have an impact on PCSK9 expression as well.

## I.1.5.2 Insulin, glucagon and SREBP-1c

PCSK9 also correlates well with TGs, fasting insulin and glucose levels and insulin resistance in non-diabetic cohorts (Baass et al., 2009; Cui et al., 2010; Dubuc et al., 2010; Ferri et al., 2020; Ghosh et al., 2015; Lakoski et al., 2009). Accordingly, studies in mice had previously demonstrated that PCSK9 expression is positively regulated by nutritional status, suppressed by fasting and stimulated by re-feeding, further suggesting that insulin drives PCSK9 expression through the transcriptional activity of SREBP-1c (Costet et al., 2006). In another early study that further strengthens the role for insulin driven PCSK9 expression, a model of type 1 diabetes in rats (diabetes induced by streptozotocin resulting in destruction of pancreatic β-cells and suppression of insulin secretion), demonstrated strongly downregulated hepatic LDLR and PCSK9 mRNA levels, which were accompanied with undetectable PCSK9 protein levels and unchanged LDLR protein levels, likely due to the suppression of PCSK9 synthesis (Niesen et al., 2008).

Glucagon has been demonstrated to suppress SREBP-1c, -2 and suppress PCSK9 expression in hepatocytes (Miao et al., 2015; Persson et al., 2009). Glucagon regulation of PCSK9 independently from the effects on SREBPs is highly probable and was suggested by Persson et al. in their study in rats that showed that glucagon induced a 30% decrease in SREBP-2 vs. a 75% decrease in PCSK9 mRNA (Persson et al., 2009). In order to better understand the role of insulin and glucagon in the regulation of PCSK9, Miao et al. suppressed insulin signaling by either inducing the hepatocyte specific knockout of the insulin-receptor (LIRKO), destruction of the  $\beta$ cells of the pancreas (streptozotocin treatment), or anti-sense knockdown against the insulin receptor in *ob/ob* mice (mouse model for type II diabetes) (Miao et al., 2015). All these *in vivo* conditions resulted in strongly decreased PCSK9 levels, reproducing observations mentioned above (Costet et al., 2006; Niesen et al., 2008). However, the acute knockdown of the insulin receptor in lean, wild-type mice did not significantly decrease PCSK9 levels, similarly to the study by Ai et al (Ai et al., 2012). The authors also confirmed the observations from Persson et al. that glucagon may downregulate PCSK9 in vitro and further showed that LIRKO mice demonstrate an additional 80% decrease in hepatic PCSK9 when fasted in comparison to non-fasted, even though they have abolished insulin signaling, suggestive of in vivo glucagon regulation of PCSK9 (Miao et al., 2015). Therefore, under in vivo fasting conditions, the regulation of PCSK9 expression in hepatocytes is defined by the activities of glucagon and insulin.

In the same study by Cariou *et al.* described above, the short-term high-fructose diet increased PCSK9 significantly but did not alter LDLc or lathosterol synthesis (Cariou et al., 2013). Under these conditions, plasma PCSK9 concentrations associated strongly with liver steatosis and increased TG in plasma in addition to decreased hepatic and whole-body insulin sensitivity. Since the authors did not observe any changes in LDLc, they suggested that the PCSK9 increase was independent from cholesterol synthesis pathway and regulation by SREBP-2, while most likely resulted from increased SREBP-1c activity, particularly since a high fructose diet is known to increase SREBP-1c activity (Haas et al., 2012), as fructose inhibits hepatic lipid oxidation and favors VLDL TG synthesis (Tappy and Le, 2010).

A highly relevant study directed on overweight or obese adolescents and young adults as an exploration of the effects of an intensive dietary intervention on the levels of circulating PCSK9 demonstrated that performing caloric restriction (deficit of ~25% in total calories) for eight weeks significantly decreased PCSK9 (Levenson et al., 2017a). Interestingly, the strongest predictors of changes in PCSK9 were improvements in fasting insulin and homeostasis model assessment of insulin resistance (HOMA-IR), independently from weight loss. Similarly to the study by Cariou *et al.*, this study showed no significant association of PCSK9 with LDLc, which could be accounted for by the relatively small number of participants. PCSK9 is therefore closely associated with insulin sensitivity and fatty acid metabolism, however a functional link between these associations is not yet elucidated and requires further investigation (Richard et al., 2012).

# I.1.5.3 <u>HNF1α</u>

The last most recognized nuclear transcription factor regulating PCSK9 expression is HNF1 $\alpha$ . Indeed, a plant-derived hypocholesterolemic compound, berberine, upregulates LDLR levels through the downregulation of PCSK9. HNF1 $\alpha$ , has been demonstrated to be inhibited by berberine and required for the latter's effects on PCSK9 (Cameron et al., 2008b). Moreover, liver-specific knockdown of HNF1 $\alpha$  results in decreased PCSK9 levels (Shende et al., 2015). In contrast, Ai *et al.*, treated mice with rapamycin, an inhibitor of mammalian target of rapamycin (mTORC)-1, which resulted in an increase in PCSK9 by increasing HNF1 $\alpha$  levels (Ai et al., 2012).

#### I.1.5.4 <u>PPARα</u>

Finally, the nuclear transcription factor PPAR $\alpha$  is known to be upregulated during fasting state and is required for the expression of genes involved in fatty acid catabolism. Accordingly, fenofibrates, which upregulate PPAR $\alpha$ , also reduce PCSK9 in mice (Kourimate et al., 2008; Lambert et al., 2006). PPAR $\alpha$  has been shown to decrease PCSK9 expression through the liver X receptor and liver X receptor agonists decrease PCSK9 in rat hepatocytes as well (Kourimate et al., 2008; Ou et al., 2001). Moreover, in humans, mono-unsaturated and poly-unsaturated fatty acids (MUFAs, PUFAs) or a Mediterranean diet (which is rich in MUFAs and PUFAs) decrease PCSK9 by ~12% (Bjermo et al., 2012; Richard et al., 2012). These FAs are ligands for SREBP-1c and PPAR $\alpha$  (Sekiya et al., 2003).

## I.1.5.5 Variations with sex and age

One of the strongest covariates associated with circulating levels of PCSK9 is sex. This association has been confirmed by several large studies from the United States, China and Europe (Cui et al., 2010; Ferri et al., 2020; Lakoski et al., 2009). Interestingly, the measured plasma PCSK9 levels reported between these large studies varies over a wide range, while the mean concentrations between studies vary as well. In the Dallas Heart Study in the US, the African-Americans and European-Americans have very similar distributions, median and mean PCSK9, mean 510 ng/mL vs. 529 ng/mL, with exclusion of the common LOF mutations (Lakoski et al., 2009). From the study of Prediction, Prevention and Intervention for type 2 diabetes in Nanjing, in China the mean concentration of serum PCSK9 was 69.35 ng/mL (Cui et al., 2010). From the IMPROVE study including individuals from five different European countries the mean levels were of 310.8 ng/mL (Ferri et al., 2020). Therefore, considering the levels were all measured from overnight fasted individuals with equivalent distributions of adult men and women, possible reasons for such large variations could be genetic and/or environmental factors conferring confounding effects. All these studies, however, reported higher levels of PCSK9 in women than in men, which remained significant after adjustments for covariates. Moreover, PCSK9 levels were greater in post-menopausal women than in pre-menopausal women, and are independent of estrogen status; finally, both men and women demonstrate increased LDLc with aging, however

this may be explained by a paralleled increase in PCSK9 only for women and not men, since PCSK9 does not associate significantly with age in men. The direct effect of estrogens on PCSK9 is controversial since some studies show inverse correlation between PCSK9 and endogenous estrogens (decrease of 14% PCSK9 when endogenous estrogens are high) (Ghosh et al., 2015; Persson et al., 2012) while another did not (Guo et al., 2015). In the rat, however, pharmacological administration of estrogens decrease PCSK9 mRNA (Persson et al., 2009). Another possible effect of estrogens on PCSK9 function is the effect they may have on the trafficking of the LDLR, as evidenced in mice by a sex- and tissue-specific subcellular distribution of the LDLR, which is determined by E2 levels (Roubtsova et al., 2015). Altogether, these results suggest sex-dependent differential modulation of PCSK9 mediated degradation of the LDLR in rodents and humans (Fu et al., 2019).

## I.1.6. <u>Therapeutic inhibition of PCSK9</u>

# I.1.6.1 ASCVD is largely LDLc driven

In an eloquent assessment of the causal role of LDLc in the development of atherosclerotic cardiovascular disease (ASCVD) by Ference *et al.* that considers meta-analyses of prospective epidemiologic studies, Mendelian randomization studies and randomized trials, two important conclusions are drawn (Ference et al., 2017). The first is the consistent dose-dependent association between the absolute magnitude of exposure of the endothelium vasculature to high LDLc and the risk for ASCVD, and the second is the apparent increase in risk with longer LDLc exposure. Through their assessment they provide and summarize the evidence to prove that these associations between LDLc and ASCVD risk satisfy the criteria for causality. Their assessment is summarized in Table I.1.2. They do not exclude that there are emerging evidence that other apoB-containing lipoproteins are also directly and independently causal of ASCVD.

## Table I.1. 2 Evidence for LDL causality of ASCVD

<b>Criterion (modified</b> from reference <sup>5</sup> )	Evidence grade	Summary of the evidence (references)
1. Plausibility	1	LDL and other apolipoprotein (apo) B-containing lipoproteins (very low-density lipoprotein their remnants, intermediate-density lipoprotein and lipoprotein(a)) are directly implicated in the initiation and progression of ASCVD; experimentally induced elevations in plasma LDL and other apoB-containing lipoproteins lead to atherosclerosis in all mammalian species studied. <sup>2,5–12</sup>
2. Strength	1	Monogenic and polygenic-mediated lifelong elevations in LDL lead to markedly higher lifetime risk. <sup>13–20,27–31,40,43</sup>
3. Biological gradient	1	Monogenic lipid disorders, prospective cohort studies, Mendelian randomization studies, and randomized inter- vention trials uniformly demonstrate a dose-dependent, log-linear association between the absolute magni- tude of exposure to LDL and risk of ASCVD <sup>13–22,27–36,38–40,42–47</sup>
4. Temporal sequence	1	Monogenic lipid disorders and Mendelian randomization studies demonstrate that exposure to elevated LDL precedes the onset of ASCVD <sup>13-20,27-31,40,43</sup>
5. Specificity	1	Mendelian randomization studies and randomized intervention trials both provide unconfounded randomized evidence that LDL is associated with ASCVD independent of other risk factors <sup>28,31–33,40,43</sup>
6. Consistency	1	Over 200 studies involving more than 2 million participants with over 20 million person-years of follow-up and more than 150 000 cardiovascular events consistently demonstrate a dose-dependent, log-linear association between the absolute magnitude of exposure to LDL and risk of ASCVD <sup>13-22,27-36,38-40,42-47</sup>
7. Coherence	1	Monogenic lipid disorders, prospective cohort studies, Mendelian randomization studies, and randomized inter- vention trials all show a dose-dependent, log-linear association between the absolute magnitude of exposure to LDL and risk of ASCVD <sup>15–18,21,22,28,30–32,35,36,43,44,47</sup>
8. Reduction in risk with intervention	1	More than 30 randomized trials involving over 200 000 participants and 30 000 ASCVD events evaluating thera- pies specifically designed to lower LDL (including statins, ezetimibe, and PCSK9 inhibitors) consistently dem- onstrate that reducing LDL cholesterol (LDL-C) reduces the risk of ASCVD events proportional to the absolute reduction in LDL-C <sup>32-34,38,39,42,45-47</sup>

Criteria are graded by a modification of the quality criteria adopted by the European Society of Cardiology system.

For reference, see http://www.escardio.org/Guidelines-&-Education/Clinical-Practice-Guidelines/Guidelinesdevelopment/Writing-ESC-Guidelines (31 January 2017). These are defined as follows:

Class 1: Evidence and/or general agreement that the criterion for causality is fulfilled.

Class 2: Conflicting evidence and/or a divergence of opinion about whether the criterion indicated causality.

Class 3: Evidence or general agreement that the criterion for causality is not fulfilled.

Adapted from (Ference et al., 2017).

Indeed, atherosclerosis is mainly driven by LDL intimal penetration in the artery wall, phagocytosis by macrophages, and oxidation of the lipids (phospholipids, cholesteryl esters, and cholesterol) and apoB by myeloperoxidase and/or by reactive oxygen species, which when released initiates immuno-inflammatory responses preventing efferocytosis of necrotic and apoptotic cells (removal of dead cells) and formation of a necrotic core which together with smooth muscle cell proliferation lead to hyperplasia of the artery wall and subsequent obstruction of the vessel (Boren et al., 2020). Other apoB-containing lipoproteins contribute to this process, and include Lp(a), damaging due to its properties of carrying proinflammatory oxidized phospholipids. The classic TG-rich particles, in contrast, require hydrolysis of TGs and modification to cholesterol-enriched remnant particles before being efficiently up-taken by receptors of the LDLR family at the arterial wall (intermediate-low density lipoprotein, IDL) (Boren et al., 2020).

Certain factors may increase the atherogenicity of LDL particles by stimulating the initial steps of atherosclerosis: transcytosis and retention of LDL in the subendothelial space of the arterial wall (Boren et al., 2020). Transcytosis occurs through secretory/endocytic pathway, involving caveolae, scavenger-receptor B1, activin receptor-like kinase 1 and LDLR. However, transcytosis of LDL across the endothelial cell monolayers of the arterial wall is thought to be independent on the LDLR since FH patients carriers of an *LDLR* null allele in contrast to a defective allele show increased number of diseased vessels, among other phenotypes (Vohl et al., 1997). Additionally, PCSK9 mediated degradation of the LDLR does not affect transcytosis (Armstrong et al., 2015), whereas the LDLR is important for transcytosis across the blood-brain barrier. Activation of the NLRP3 inflammasome by lipid loaded macrophages leads to the production of interleukin-1 family of cytokines in turn increasing transcytosis of LDL. Additionally, hyperglycemia has been demonstrated to prevent the degradation of caveolae through the inhibition of AMPK-MTOR-PIK3C3 pathway, thereby leading to increased available caveolin-1 for transcytosis (Bai et al., 2020). Finally, decreasing hypercholesterolemia improved the endothelial barrier to LDL transcytosis in mice (Bartels et al., 2015).

Genes that encode arterial wall proteins regulating the susceptibility to LDL retention have been found to be strongly associated with CAD (Klarin et al., 2018). Moreover, changes in the core and surface LDL particle affect the ability of apoB to bind to proteoglycans of the arterial wall, for example, enrichment of LDL with cholesteryl oleate enhances binding and atherogenesis. In addition, apoE and apoC-III increase the affinity of the LDL for arterial wall proteoglycans.

Insulin resistant states such as the metabolic syndrome and T2DM are characterized by VLDL overproduction and secretion by the liver and intestine (Boren et al., 2020). These conditions of high plasma TG also result from decreased TG hydrolysis and delay in VLDL clearance due to the saturation of circulating lipoprotein lipases in addition to conditions of high apoC-III. Cholesteryl ester transfer protein (CETP) will exchange TG particles of VLDL for cholesteryl esters to the core of LDL. In turn, these will be hydrolysed by hepatic lipases leading to small dense low-density lipoproteins (sdLDL). Therefore, the formation of sdLDL are dependent on plasma TGs and are favoured when plasma TG levels exceed 1.7 mmol/L. Increased plasma TG, sdLDL and an accompanied decrease in high density lipoproteins are the key attributes of atherogenic dyslipidemia. In contrast, a healthy state is characterized by lower levels of plasma

TGs, resulting from highly active lipases and low hepatic TG content, smaller VLDL and larger, lighter LDL (Boren et al., 2020).

sdLDL biological features increase the atherogenicity of LDL. They demonstrate prolonged plasma residence time due to decreased binding to LDLR resulting from the conformation changes of apoB induced by decrease particle size. sdLDL demonstrate enhanced arterial wall infiltration due to smaller size. Furthermore, they show increased binding affinity to arterial wall proteoglycans favouring enhanced retention and increased susceptibility to oxidation of lipids and glycation which promote an immune response, inflammation, and a necrotic core formation.

## I.1.6.2 Review of clinical trials outcomes

The recent discovery and understanding of these mechanisms that render the LDL particle atherogenic come to emphasize and reinforce the importance of rapidly and effectively decreasing LDL in patients of high risk for CV events. Indeed, according to the Cholesterol Treatment Trialists meta-analysis, each 39 mg/dL (1 mmol/L) reduction was associated with a 21% reduction in major cardiovascular events (Baigent et al., 2005). To reach the LDLc target, lifestyle modifications and treatment with high-intensity statins are recommended. However, only approximately 30% of patients with established ASCVD achieve the LDLc goals that are considered as acceptable in treatment guidelines (Steen et al., 2017). Therefore, there remains great necessity for the pursued development of other lipid lowering treatments (LLTs).

Inhibitors of the cholesterol synthesis pathway as a means to decrease plasma lipids was first appreciated by Endo and others with the discovery of compactin in 1976 (Endo et al., 1976; Tobert, 2003). Lovastatin was then developed for clinical trials (Alberts et al., 1980; Tobert, 2003). However, it was not until 1987 that statins became available for prescription and until 1994, with the Simvastatin Survival Study (4S) trial, in which all controversies against the safety for the use of statins were cleared and evidence towards reduction in coronary deaths and reduction in major coronary events and revascularization procedures were demonstrated (Pedersen et al., 2000). Statins went through a long period of controversies particularly because there was significant toxicity at high doses noted in long-term animal toxicology studies, which were not reproduced in human trials. Moreover, until the 4S trial, there was no evidence for a reduction in mortality rates.

The principal risks associated with the administration of statins are myopathy, muscle pain and rarely rhabdomyolysis, particularly when taken with other drugs, such as fibrates and niacin (Wood et al., 2020). Additionally, several meta-analyses have shown that intensive-dose statins compared with moderate-dose statin therapy are associated with an increase risk for new-onset diabetes (Preiss et al., 2011; Sattar et al., 2010).

The way statins effectively decrease circulating LDLc was unexpected by those who discovered compactin and lovastatin in the mid-1970s (Alberts et al., 1980; Endo et al., 1976). It was the Nobel Prize winners Brown and Goldstein that demonstrated that statins by inhibiting the rate limiting enzyme of the cholesterol synthesis pathway result in the depletion of mevalonate which results in the upregulation of the enzymes of the mevalonate pathway, as well as the LDLR, through SREBP-2 (Bilheimer et al., 1983). Importantly, it is the upregulation of the LDLR by hepatocytes that is crucial for statins' protective effects. This was confirmed in animals and human liver biopsies, which demonstrated a two-fold increase of LDLR protein in the livers of patients (Tobert, 2003). One of the effects of upregulating SREBP-2 is the upregulation of PCSK9 expression, accordingly, studies have demonstrated that statins upregulate PCSK9 in human hepatocarcinoma cells (Mayne et al., 2008) and in patients (Careskey et al., 2008), where a 42% reduction in LDLc was accompanied by a 34% increase in PCSK9, suggesting firstly that statins are only partly efficient at reducing LDLc due to this effect and secondly that targeting PCSK9 would provide an additive and complementary effect towards statin treatment.

Achieving lower LDLc levels with a lipid lowering drug as an adjuvant to statins has been difficult, however with the reports of the IMPROVE-IT trial testing the efficacy of ezetimibe, the authors demonstrated that further reductions in LDLc improved clinical outcomes (Cannon et al., 2015). Ezetimibe decreases LDLc by inhibiting cholesterol absorption from the intestine (Kosoglou et al., 2002; Sudhop et al., 2002). When added to statins, Ezetimibe further reduces LDLc levels by ~23% and reducing by 6% the risk for cardiovascular events.

Rapidly after the discovery of PCSK9 in 2003 there was high interest in developing inhibitors particularly for the development of monoclonal antibodies because it is a circulating protein. The "humanization" of monoclonal antibodies generated against PCSK9 in mice is necessary for administration to human patients and involves the modification of the protein sequences of the antibody light and heavy chain to antibody variants produced naturally in humans. Evolocumab by AMGEN, alirocumab by SANOFI/REGENERON and bococizumab by Pfizer

were developed in 2009, initiating the first clinical trials. The development of the not completely humanized bococizumab and its clinical trials were interrupted because the treatment triggered the development of anti-drug antibodies, thereby decreasing the effectiveness of the treatment. Moverover, 1 in 10 patients showed no reduction in LDLc levels. In contrast to bococizumab, which is a partially humanized antibody, alirocumab and evolocumab are fully humanized antibodies, thereby preventing immunogenicity.

Results of the phase-III clinical trials of alirocumab, the ODYSSEY LONG TERM, and of evolocumab, OSLER-1 and -2, were published in 2015 allowing for their rapid approval by the Food and Drug Administration in the US the same year, as an adjuvant to maximally tolerated statins (Robinson et al., 2015; Sabatine et al., 2015). Importantly, these studies reported efficient lowering of LDLc by -61% for both alirocumab and evolocumab consistently over a period of 1 and 1.5 years, for OSLER-1 and -2 and ODYSSEY LONG TERM respectively. Adverse events that occurred more frequently with the PCSK9 inhibitors than placebo were injection-site reactions, myalgia, neurocognitive disorders and ophthalmologic disorders.

Longer term studies designed to assess the effect of these inhibitors towards improving clinical outcomes were published in March 2017, termed the FOURIER trial for evolocumab and in March 2018, termed the ODYSSEY OUTCOMES trial for alirocumab (Sabatine et al., 2017; Schwartz et al., 2018). In both trials, the administration of the PCSK9 inhibitor further reduced LDLc by >50% from baseline achieved with statin therapy, without major safety concerns, over the course of the studies (2.2 and 2.8 years for FOURIER and ODYSSEY OUTCOMES, respectively). Importantly, while there were some differences in the study design and recruitment of patients, the relative risk reduction in CV events achieved per 1 mmol/L of decreased LDLc were consistent with the previously reported LLT studies for statins and ezetimibe (Cannon et al., 2015; Cholesterol Treatment Trialists et al., 2010). The main characteristics for the study designs and the differences between both studies are illustrated in Table I.1.3. Patients recruited in both trials were high-risk patients with established ASCVD, ~80% of all patients had had a history of myocardial infarct and all patients had >70 mg/dL (1.8 mmol/L) LDLc despite maximal tolerated statins as background therapy. Among important differences between the studies, it can be noted that the patients in the FOURIER trial were required to have an additional risk factor besides the acute coronary syndrome (such as diabetes mellitus, hypertension...). Additionally, in the ODYSSEY OUTCOMES trial, patients were required to have had a recent acute coronary
syndrome (in the last 4 to 52 weeks), whereas it was a criterion for exclusion in the FOURIER trial. Moreover, because of safety concerns regarding lowering LDLc levels to extremely low levels (<15 mg/dL, 0.38 mmol/L) due previous concerns about a possible association with hemorrhagic stroke (Amarenco et al., 2006), patients from the ODYSSEY OUTCOMES study for which levels were lowered to <15 mg/dL were blindly switched to placebo. Mean LDLc levels for both trials are illustrated in Figure I.1.14.

Trial details	FOURIER trial	ODYSSEY OUTCOMES trial
Enrolled population (N)	27,564	18,924
Age entry criteria	$\geq$ 40 years and $\leq$ 85 years	$\geq 40$ years
Inclusion criteria	Prior <u>MI, stroke or symptomatic PAD plus</u> <u>additional high-risk features</u> <sup>a</sup>	Prior <u>acute coronary syndrome</u> (between 1 and 12 months)
Lipid entry criteria	LDL-C $\geq$ 70 mg/dL or non-HDL- C $\geq$ 100 mg/dL	LDL-C $\geq$ 70 mg/dL or non-HDL-C $\geq$ 100 mg/dL or <u>ApoB <math>\geq</math> 80 mg/dL</u>
Allowed baseline lipid- lowering therapy	Moderate or high-intensity statin	High-intensity statin <sup>c</sup>
Primary endpoint	<u>CV</u> death, MI, stroke, unstable angina or <u>coronary revascularization</u>	<u>CHD</u> death, MI, unstable angina or stroke
Dedicated study for neurocognitive evaluation	Within the main trial (EBBINGHAUS study) <sup>b</sup>	Ongoing in a separate study <sup>d</sup>
Therapy down-titration when LDL low	No	Yes

Table I.1. 3 Comparison between the FOURIER and ODYSSEY trial study designs

Adapted from (Furtado and Giugliano, 2020).



Figure I.1. 14 Efficiency of evolocumab and alirocumab in maintaining sustained reduction in LDLc during the FOURIER and ODYSSEY trials.

Monthly or bi-monthly injections of either placebo or PCSK9 mAb efficiently reduces LDLc levels in both FOURIER and ODYSSEY trial (Furtado and Giugliano, 2020).

Both trials demonstrated a benefit for PCSK9 inhibitors for their defined endpoints, which were coronary death, myocardial infarct, ischemic stroke or unstable angina in the ODYSSEY OUTCOMES trial, and cardiovascular (CV) death, myocardial infarct, stroke, unstable angina or coronary revascularization in the FOURIER trial. While both trials demonstrate benefit in lowering LDLc with baseline LDLc <80 mg/dL, the ODYSSEY OUTCOMES trial demonstrated stronger benefits of mAb to PCSK9 for patients with LDLc >100 mg/dL, supporting the concept that the absolute change in LDLc is proportional to the relative risk reduction (Silverman et al., 2016). The FOURIER trial showed no significant advantages of PCSK9 inhibitors for CV or all cause death. While even though the ODYSSEY OUTCOMES trial did demonstrate a significant decrease in all-cause death, there was no effect on CV related death. These were expected since trials looking at the efficiency of statins in reducing mortality had demonstrated a significant time-dependent effect, where reduction by 12% was only observed after 5 years of on-going study. Therefore, longer clinical trials are required for PCSK9 mAb to achieve incremental reductions in mortality. Randomized control trials have demonstrated a proportional decrease in atheroma burden with decreases in LDLc in patients treated with statins (Nicholls et al., 2011; Nicholls et al., 2007;

Nissen et al., 2006; Nissen et al., 2004). The most potent statins, atorvastatin and rosuvastatin limited the progression and induced regression in coronary disease, where regression was observed in two thirds of the study patients during the 104 weeks of therapy. In a recent study investigating the effect of evolocumab on progression of coronary disease in statin-treated patients, GLAGOV randomized control trial, serial intravascular ultrasonography imaging demonstrated that over the course of 18 months, the patients with evolocumab treatment on background intensive statin or moderate statin therapy showed atherosclerosis regression, whereas patients on placebo and background statins did not show plaque regression (Nicholls et al., 2016). Moreover, a recent and highly relevant study examined the expression of PCSK9 in healthy vs. calcified aortic valves and whether it may contribute to valve calcification (Perrot et al., 2020). Indeed, PCSK9 expression was detectable in extracellular matrix of stenotic valves and in vitro valve interstitial cells were able to secrete PCSK9. Importantly, inhibition of extracellular PCSK9 significantly reduced calcium deposition (Perrot et al., 2020). Therefore, these results suggest that modulating PCSK9 levels influence plaque progression. Moreover, they demonstrate that patients achieving very low levels of LDLc with combination therapy benefited from incremental plaque regression, supportive of more stringent LDLc level recommendations for high risk patients.

Patients at very high risk, that have ASCVD and comorbidities, such as diabetes, chronic kidney disease, recent acute coronary syndrome, poorly controlled risk factors of smoking and hypertension have between 26% to 43% projected 10-year ASCVD risk, compared to ASCVD patients without comorbidities for which the risk was 16% to 20% (Robinson et al., 2016). Consequently, new guidelines were released in 2019 by the European Society of Cardiology (ESC)/European Atherosclerosis Society (EAS) for the management of dyslipidemias. Patients at high risk that have had a recent myocardial infarct should decrease their LDLc  $\geq$ 50% from baseline and <1.4 mmol/L (<55 mg/dL). According to simulations, Allahyari *et al.* predicted that even with maximal dose of statins and ezetimibe, around half of the patients with a recent myocardial infarct would require additional treatment from PCSK9 inhibitors (Allahyari et al., 2020). However, prices for treatment with PCSK9 mAb are currently too expensive to reach accepted cost-effectiveness ratio.

In addition to high risk patients described above, patients with FH should also benefit from treatment with PCSK9 inhibitors, since many patients do not reach recommended LDLc levels despite being on maximal LLTs. Clinical trials demonstrated substantial reductions (~60%) in

LDLc accompanied by a significant decrease in Lp(a) in heterozygous FH patients treated with alirocumab or evolocumab (McCullough et al., 2018; Raal et al., 2015). In a longer-term study, they showed that this reduction is sustained over the course of 3 years (Dufour et al., 2017). Homozygous FH (HoFH) patients with no residual functional LDLR on the other hand are resistant to PCSK9-reducing therapy and hence are more difficult to treat. In these patients, apheresis is the most effective treatment option to reduce LDLc. A study investigated the potential benefit of evolocumab for these patients (Raal et al., 2017). Among patients in this cohort, 34 were receiving apheresis at the start of the study, 100% were on statins and 95% on ezetimibe. The study demonstrated a significant 20.6% reduction in LDLc (absolute reduction of 1.5 mmol/L) throughout the 1.7 years of the study duration for the patients receiving apheresis and those without. However, there is only an effect for the patients that had LDLR receptor defective mutations or double heterozygotes with one *LDLR* and one *PCSK9* or *APOB* mutation, in contrast to receptor null patients which showed no response to mAb similarly to a previous proof of concept study (Stein et al., 2013). Therefore, residual LDLR activity is key for the effect of PCSK9 mAb inhibitors.

As a promising alternative to mAb is the siRNA against PCSK9, inclisiran, which was developed by American Medicines Co. and bought by Novartis after promising clinical trials demonstrated safety and effectiveness of the drug. Inclisiran was carefully designed in order to target liver cells by conjugating the double-stranded siRNA to triantennary Nacetylgalactosamine, which will undergo receptor-mediated endocytosis by binding to asialoglycoprotein (almost exclusively expressed by hepatocytes) (Stoekenbroek et al., 2018). Moreover, in order to prevent immunogenic reactions and processing by nucleases, overall increasing the half-life of the siRNA, chemical modifications to the RNA duplex and its termini were conducted. Phase III clinical trials ORION-10 and ORION-11 were conducted on high risk patients with ASCVD, ORION-11 included patients with an additional or a combination of additional risk factors such as diabetes, renal impairment... Patients were also on maximal tolerated statin therapy and did not reach recommended LDLc levels (>70 mg/dL). Injections were done on day 1, day 90 and then every 6 months for a period of 18 months (Ray et al., 2020). Inclisiran resulted in >50% reductions in LDLc and -80% PCSK9 levels for both trials. Moreover, PCSK9 siRNA resulted in statistically significant decreases in apoB, non-HDL cholesterol, TGs, Lp(a). Adverse events were reported to be mild or moderate and occurred with similar frequency

in inclisiran and placebo groups, moreover, development of antidrug antibodies occurred in 2% and 2.5% of patients from ORION-10 and ORION-11, respectively. To conclude, inclisiran is a promising new therapeutic that may be comparable to mAb in its efficiency in reducing LDLc and clinical outcomes, however such a prospective study has not yet been conducted. Some of the advantages of siRNA to PCSK9 are the infrequent administrations (2-3 times yearly), which would ensure much better treatment adherence than injections 1-2 times monthly. Moreover, such a treatment would significantly improve the lifestyle of hoFH patients receiving apheresis, or hoFH children for example (investigated in ORION-2 and -5 clinical trials). This treatment might be more cost-effective than mAb treatment considering the infrequent administrations that are required. Lastly, inclisiran prevents PCSK9 biosynthesis, which in addition to inhibiting extracellular PCSK9 function, would also inhibit intracellular PCSK9. This thesis has described several intracellular roles for PCSK9, among those are the binding to apoB intracellularly and increase of VLDL particles in patients with insulin resistance such as in T2D and metabolic syndrome.

# I.1.7. Insulin receptor

The insulin receptor (InsR) is a type I transmembrane protein, part of the receptor tyrosine kinase superfamily and is expressed in all mammalian cells. Alternative splicing gives rise to two isoforms which differ by the inclusion or exclusion of exon 11. InsR isoform A (InsR-A) is the shortest isoform with a deletion of a few amino acids after the ligand binding site that increases its affinity for insulin-like growth factors-1 and -2 (IGF-1 and -2). Interestingly, InsR-A is mostly present during development, whereas InsR-B is the main isoform expressed in the liver during adulthood. This alternative splicing may therefore be seen as a mechanism to reduce promiscuity of the InsR, thereby also reducing the growth promoting effects of IGF-1 and -2, for which high levels may lead to tumor development, for example (Brahmkhatri et al., 2015). The InsR and IGF-1 receptor share ~60% sequence homology and are therefore highly conserved (Kushi et al., 2020). However, it is clear that these receptors do not exert redundant functions since mutations in the *INSR* may lead to critical diseases with poor prognosis and premature death.

#### I.1.7.1 INSR related insulin resistance

INSR-related severe syndromic insulin resistance is a rare and untreatable autosomal recessive disease that leads to death during infancy or adolescence, while some patients may live through until their third decade (Kushi et al., 2020). The phenotype ranges from the more severe form of Donohue Syndrome (DS) (or leprechaunism) to the milder Rabson-Mendenhall syndrome (RMS) (Kushi et al., 2020). DS is characterized by severe insulin resistance, fasting hypoglycemia, and postprandial hyperglycemia, severe growth defects, hypotonia, characteristic facies, organomegaly and death occurs before one year of age. RMS is more variable in phenotype severity and is characterized by severe insulin resistance, diabetic ketoacidosis and microvascular complications. Other characteristics may include growth retardation, intellectual disability, and facial features. Carriers of the pathogenic variants associated with INSR-related severe syndromic insulin resistance are usually asymptomatic, however, some may demonstrate type A insulin resistance, which is the third phenotype known to be associated with *INSR* germline mutations and is characterized by hyperandrogenism, insulin resistance, including acanthosis nigricans and diabetes without obesity. Type A insulin resistance is usually autosomal dominant. DS may not be treated with insulin sensitizers such as Metformin or with insulin, however RMS and type A insulin resistance may. Human recombinant IGF-1 and leptin are being evaluated for potential treatment options. IGF-1 stimulates glucose uptake in muscle and reduces hepatic glucose production, however potential side effects include severe hypoglycemia and soft-tissue overgrowth (tumors). Leptin is known to improve lipid profiles (reduce TGs and increase HDL) and plasma glucose levels. More than 70 disease causing genetic variants have been identified in the INSR gene and have been classified into five categories according to their effect: they may affect insulin receptor synthesis, transport, ligand affinity, tyrosine kinase activity and half-life (Porter and Barrett, 2005). There are other less frequent single-gene mutations that cause further conditions related to insulin signaling. These have been identified in kinases and phosphatases of the insulin signaling pathway and may either lead to insulin resistance or on the contrary potentiate insulin signaling (causing overgrowth, cancer and hypoglycemia). Lastly, type B insulin resistance describes an extremely rare autoimmune disease where the patient develops antibodies that antagonize the insulin receptor and is usually associated with other autoimmune conditions (Willard et al., 2016). Patients

demonstrate hyperglycemia and elevated levels of circulating insulin due to insulin hypersecretion, moreover some autoantibodies may act as agonists and lead to hypoglycemia (Willard et al., 2016).

#### I.1.7.2 InsR structure/function studies

The insulin receptor was first purified in 1979 by Jacobs et al. using by affinity chromatography with insulin-agarose and run on sodium dodecyl sulfate/polyacrylamide gel to verify the purity of the eluate (Jacobs et al., 1979). Several studies from these early years had confirmed that the receptor is composed of two subunits migrating at 135 kDa ( $\alpha$  subunit) and 95 kDa ( $\beta$  subunit) that are disulfide linked in the plasma membrane. Massague *et al.* proposed that the major subunit (non-denaturing condition)  $M_r$  350,000 is composed of  $(\alpha)_2(\beta)_2$  heterotetramer and that a minor subunit  $M_r$  210,000 (denaturing conditions) is composed of  $\alpha\beta$  (Massague et al., 1980). Hedo et al. further postulated that the receptor with apparent molecular mass of 210 kDa undergoes proteolytic cleavage to generate the  $\alpha$  and  $\beta$  subunits (Hedo et al., 1983). In 1985, the gene sequence of the insulin receptor confirmed that the 210 kDa subunit was indeed the precursor of the  $\alpha$  and  $\beta$  subunits (Ebina et al., 1985; Ullrich et al., 1985). Therefore, the insulin receptor is synthesized as a single polypeptide chain, which is cleaved after transport to the late Golgi compartment (Hedo et al., 1983) at a dibasic cleavage site (Ebina et al., 1985; Ullrich et al., 1985). It was still unknown, how insulin, by binding to the  $\alpha$  subunit, could propagate the intracellular signal, even though it was known that insulin induced phosphorylation of downstream proteins. Kasuga *et al.* first demonstrated that InsR is phosphorylated on the  $\beta$  subunit (Kasuga et al., 1982), then since phosphotyrosine had just been discovered as a growth factor signal downstream from growth factors such as the epidermal growth factor, this group and others hypothesized and demonstrated that insulin induced InsR tyrosine autophosphorylation (Kasuga et al., 1983; Roth et al., 1983; Van Obberghen et al., 1983). Cloning of the *INSR* allowed for site-directed mutagenesis of the ATP binding site further proving that tyrosine kinase activity of the InsR is necessary for propagation of the insulin signal. Finally, identification in Japan of a young Japanese type A insulin resistant patient harboring a mutation in the ATP binding site allowed for *in vivo* validation of the requirement for InsR tyrosine kinase activity for insulin activity (Odawara et al., 1989); note that 0.05% of the general population in Japan is estimated to be a carrier of *INSR* pathologic mutation (Kushi et al., 2020).

Additionally, identification in two sisters with type A insulin resistance of a single nucleotide substitution in codon 735 (AGG  $\rightarrow$  AGT) in the proteolytic cleavage site, resulting in the replacement of Arg with Ser and changing the cleavage recognition sequence from Are-Lys-Arg-Arg to Arg-Lys-Arg-Ser, stirred physiological interest for the processing of proinsulin receptor (proInsR) (Kobayashi et al., 1988; Yoshimasa et al., 1988). This gene was normally expressed, with proper glycosylation, transport and insertion into the plasma membrane, however, mature insulin receptor was undetectable. It appears however that this mutation is not solely responsible for the disease phenotype since several studies have demonstrated that the proreceptor is efficiently autophosphorylated upon insulin binding with equivalent sensitivity and affinity as to the normal receptor (Arakaki et al., 1989; Dardevet et al., 1991; Hedo et al., 1983; Salzman et al., 1984; Yoshimasa et al., 1990). Thus, the sisters may be affected by coexistence of other genetic defects at downstream steps in the insulin transduction pathway implicated in the pathogenesis of insulin resistance (view Table I.1.4) for a list of affected genes involved in insulin signaling).

Gene	Effect on protein func- tion	Effect on insulin action	Frequency	Condition caused	Other characteristics
INSR	Loss	Resistance	Relatively common (> 200)	Type A insulin resistance, Donohue, and Rabson– Mendenhall syndromes	Acanthosis nigricans, poly- cystic ovary, hirsutism (in type A insulin resistance); early death (in Donohue and Rabson–Mendenhall)
PIK3R1	Loss	Resistance	Rare (> 30)	SHORT syndrome	Short stature, facial charac- teristics
PIK3R2	Gain	Sensitivity	Rare (> 10)	None	Segmental overgrowth or megalencephaly
PIK3CA	Gain	Sensitivity	Rare (> 60)	None	Segmental overgrowth or megalencephaly
AKT1	Gain	Not known	Rare (> 20)	Proteus syndrome	Overgrowth of various tissues, mosaic mutation
AKT2	Loss	Resistance	Very rare (3)	None	Hypertension
	Gain	Sensitivity	Very rare (1)	None	Overgrowth, hypoglycemia
AKT3	Gain	Not known	Very rare (~3)	None	Megalencephaly
TBC1D4	Loss	Resistance	Very rare (1)	None	Acanthosis nigricans, post- prandial hyperinsulinemia
PTEN	Loss	Sensitivity	Relatively common (> 300) <sup>a</sup>	Cowden syndrome	Hamartoma, cancer predispo- sition
PTPN11	Gain	Resistance	Relatively common (> 800) <sup>b</sup>	Noonan syndrome	Short stature, congenital heart disease, skeletal malforma- tion
PRKCE	Loss	None <sup>c</sup>	Very rare (1)	SHORT syndrome	Short stature, facial charac- teristics

# Table I.1. 4 Identified mutations in genes of the InsR signaling pathway and their phenotype

Numbers in parentheses for frequency indicate the number of cases or families described in published reports

<sup>a</sup>Fifteen families have been evaluated for glucose tolerance or insulin sensitivity

<sup>b</sup>One family has been evaluated for glucose tolerance or insulin sensitivity

<sup>c</sup>The patient might have been too young to develop apparent insulin resistance

#### Adapted from (Kushi et al., 2020).

The insulin receptor monomers are N-glycosylated in the ER, which have been shown to be required for binding to ER folding chaperones calnexin and calreticulin. Indeed, these chaperones ensure proper three-dimensional conformation allowing for dimerization, disulfide bond formation and ER exit. In the absence of glycosylation and binding to ER lectin chaperones, misfolded monomer binding to BiP allows for ER retention and refolding until they reach proper conformation for dimerization or degradation of receptors with prolonged retention (Bass et al., 1998; Olson and Lane, 1987). Mutations of cysteines important for subunit dimerization prevent efficient dimerization and lead to rapid receptor degradation (Wu and Guidotti, 2002).

#### I.1.7.3 InsR signaling in the liver

Genetic mutations causing loss-of-function or gain-of-function, as we have seen with PCs and *INSR*, reveal information about the function of the protein. In the case of *INSR* it is more difficult to decipher the direct *vs.* indirect effects of insulin signaling due to insulin's pleiotropic effects. In general, insulin is an anabolic hormone for which effects on metabolism may be summarized depending on the target tissue: in muscle, insulin promotes glucose uptake and protein synthesis; in adipose tissue, insulin promotes glucose and FA uptake while suppressing lipolysis; in liver insulin promotes TG synthesis, glucose utilization and suppresses glucose production; and in neurons, insulin promotes anorexigenic and locomotor signals (Haeusler et al., 2018). Insulin signals through kinase cascades and its effects are reversible as they may be antagonized by Ser/Thr phosphorylation or terminated by phosphatases. Interestingly, one the most important mechanisms to downregulate insulin signaling is the degradation of InsR, which occurs under conditions of high insulin concentrations. Indeed, reduced availability of InsR under hyperinsulinemic conditions is associated with insulin resistance, such as demonstrated in obese mice and humans (Grunberger et al., 1989).

Studies suggest that insulin signaling in the liver is the main determinant on insulin's whole-body action. This is supported by the observation that mouse liver specific knockout of *InsR* recapitulates the human being phenotype with lack of functional InsR, i.e. failure to inhibit glucose production and induce de novo lipogenesis, such that even under high-fat diets, mice fail to accumulate lipids in hepatocytes (Michael et al., 2000). Moreover, liver-targeted exogenous expression of InsR (through adeno-associated viral expression) in T2DM rodent models rescues the majority of the whole-body diabetic phenotype (Wang et al., 2019), such as restored euglycemia, improved hepatic and systemic insulin sensitivity with observed decreased circulating FFA, suggesting decreased adipocyte lipolysis (Wang et al., 2019).

Insulin binding to InsR stimulates InsR autophosphorylation and subsequent recruitment of insulin-receptor substrates which then activate the phosphoinositide-3-phosphate kinase (PI3K)/Akt pathway. PI3K recruits Akt and 3-phosphoinositide-dependent protein kinase 1 (PDK1) at the cell membrane by generating phosphatidylinositol (3,4,5)-trisphosphate (PIP3). PDK1 then activates Akt through via phosphorylation of Thr308. Phosphatase and tensin homolog (PTEN) antagonizes PI3K by dephosphorylating and PIP3 to PIP2. Full activation of Akt requires further phosphorylation by mTORC2 at Ser473. While there are three isoforms of Akt, Akt2 is the main isoform for metabolic regulation as is suggested by mouse studies and by human genetic mutations (Kushi et al., 2020), where inactivation of Akt2 leads to insulin resistance and diabetes and GOF Akt2 mutations in humans lead to insulin hypersensitivity, overgrowth and hypoglycemia (Kushi et al., 2020). Akt activates mTORC1, that will switch the cell from a catabolic to an anabolic state stimulating protein, lipid and nucleic acid synthesis. One of the key lipogenic transcription factors that is activated by mTORC-1 is SREBP-1c, which is required for the development of a fatty liver. Akt also phosphorylates FoxO1 transcription factor – that is thought to antogonize SREBP-1c – resulting in its inactivation by nuclear exclusion and inhibition of the expression of gluconeogenesis genes glucose-6-phosphatase and phosphoenolpyruvate carboxykinase. By phosphorylating glycogen kinase 3 (GSK3), will also inhibit gluconeogenesis and suppress glycogen synthesis. Hepatic insulin signaling is briefly illustrated in Figure I.1.16. (for review (Santoleri and Titchenell, 2019)).



Figure I.1. 15 Insulin receptor signaling pathway in the liver

In the liver, insulin activates Akt through phosphorylation by PDK1 and mTORC2 leading to glycogen synthesis, inhibition of gluconeogenesis, and lipid synthesis (Santoleri and Titchenell, 2019).

# I.1.8. Increased risk for diabetes upon LDLc lowering

# I.1.8.1 Association of LDLc lowering gene variants with diabetes risk

Statins had been found to increase the risk for new-onset T2DM (Sattar et al., 2010) in a dose-dependent manner (Preiss et al., 2011). In order to identify the underlying mechanism for this association, Swerdlow *et al.* identified natural variants in the gene of HMG-CoA reductase associated with decreased LDLc to use them as proxy for HMG-CoA reductase (HMGCR)

inhibition by stating (Swerdlow et al., 2015). Therefore, this mendelian randomization paradigm allowed them to perform an unconfounded, unbiased analysis of the variants' associations with bodyweight, body mass index (BMI), waist circumference, plasma insulin and glucose, and risk of T2DM. This analysis included the genetic associations with biomarkers and outcomes from up to 43 studies for the principle analysis (SNP rs17238484), which consisted in 195 444 individuals, and from up to 21 studies for the subsidiary analysis (SNP rs12916), which consisted of 94 652 individuals. This study demonstrated the association of these HMGCR variants associated with lower LDLc were also associated with increased risk of T2DM, increased bodyweight and BMI (Swerdlow et al., 2015). These findings were concurred by the subsidiary analysis and by a third analysis from a large GWAS of T2DM. Finally, the authors obtained bodyweight data from 20 large statin trials in order to verify the association of statin treatment with bodyweight gain. Interestingly, this study was the first to identify an effect of statins on bodyweight gain. Since the latter is one of the strongest risk factors for the development of insulin resistance and T2DM, it may explain this association with diabetes. Moreover, while the HMGCR SNPs were positively associated with bodyweight, BMI and waist and hip circumference, the SNPs' associations with increased risk for T2DM were attenuated to null after adjustment for BMI, further supporting a potential role for weight gain in the development of T2DM upon treatment with statins. Finally, the authors did not identify an association between LDLc lowering and the risk for T2DM (Swerdlow et al., 2015).

From the FH screening program registry in the Netherlands, Besseling *et al.* demonstrated a 38% decreased risk of developing T2DM in FH patients compared with their unaffected relatives (Besseling et al., 2015). This association for a protective effect of FH for T2DM has been also found in two other studies, one small observational study in Quebec in 1996 (Vohl et al., 1997) and one more recent observational study from Spain (Climent et al., 2017). Interestingly, in the study by Besseling *et al.* the association with T2DM showed an inverse relationship between severity of the FH mutation on cardiovascular risk with T2DM prevalence. This research group put forward the hypothesis for an LDLR-mediated transmembrane cholesterol transport causal association with T2DM, arguing that excessive cholesterol inside the  $\beta$ -cells of the pancreas could impair insulin secretion (Roehrich et al., 2003; Rutti et al., 2009) and is detrimental to the cell (Cnop et al., 2002). Adjusting for BMI, however, appeared to attenuate the relationship between FH and T2DM, supporting the hypothesis that BMI may also be a mediator (Besseling et al., 2015).

In support of this hypothesis, Ference *et al.* demonstrated the associations of several LDLclowering variants in both *HMGCR* and *PCSK9* genes with increased risk of diabetes per unit decrease in LDLc (Ference et al., 2016). However, these associations were limited to patients with impaired fasting plasma glucose, additionally, neither genes were associated with T2DM risk among patients with normal fasting glucose levels. Nevertheless, because PCSK9 and HMGCR LDLc-lowering variants demonstrated very similar effects on the risk of cardiovascular disease and on the risk of diabetes per unit decrease of LDLc, the authors proposed that the underlying mechanism is shared between both associations and is likely to involve the LDLR receptormediated pathway, as proposed by Besseling *et al* (Besseling et al., 2015).

However, it seems that both statin treatment and variants associated with HMGCR increase body weight and BMI, which are primary risk factors for the risk of developing diabetes as mentioned above (Swerdlow et al., 2015), whereas PCSK9 LDLc-lowering variants were not associated with an increase in body weight or BMI, suggesting that PCSK9 variants and HMGCR variants in their associations with an increased risk for diabetes may imply alternative mechanisms. On that account, in a meta-analysis of genetic association studies, Lotta et al. investigated the association of LDLc lowering genetic variants with T2DM, including NPC1L1, HMCGR, PCSK9, ABCG5/G8, and LDLR (Lotta et al., 2016). From this analysis they confirmed the previous positive associations of HMCGR with T2DM and identified a positive association between the PCSK9 R46L variant and the risk of diabetes, whereas the association with ABCG5/G8 with T2DM did not reach statistical significance. Moreover, there was no association with T2DM for the missense variants in HMGCR, PCSK9, ABCG5/G8 and LDLR genes. They identified an inverse association of the LDLc lowering variants at the NPC1L1 locus with CAD and a direct association with T2DM risk, which was unchanged after adjustment for variations in the known neighboring association signal for T2DM in the glucokinase gene. However, due to heterogeneity between the association of the LDLc lowering genes with metabolic biomarkers and anthropometric traits, the authors suggested that the risk for T2DM was likely caused by gene-specific underlying mechanisms. For example, the variants at the PCSK9 locus associated with fasting plasma glucose levels and 2-hour glucose levels (from a glucose tolerance test), suggesting impaired glucose tolerance. Whereas, similarly to the studies described above, the HMGCR variants associated with increased fasting insulin, BMI and waist circumference, which are more suggestive of insulin resistance. The effect of NPC1L1 inhibition on glucose metabolism is not well understood yet due to different expression levels in rodents and humans of the protein in liver and intestine. In the mouse, suppressing NPC1L1 improves the metabolic phenotype by suppressing gluconeogenesis (Kurano et al., 2015). Moreover, for a similar reduction in LDLc, the association with T2DM differed by gene, suggesting that LDLc levels is not a common denominator for the development of T2DM. Finally, the association of the PCSK9 R46L LOF function variant with T2DM was confirmed in other studies (Nelson et al., 2019).

#### I.1.8.2 <u>Cholesterol lipotoxicity to β-cells</u>

T2DM is caused by chronic peripheral insulin resistance and impaired insulin secretion due to progressive decline in  $\beta$ -cell function. Pancreatic  $\beta$ -cells are endocrinal cells responsible for insulin secretion and maintaining plasma glucose within the physiological range. During adulthood,  $\beta$ -cells have low regenerative capacity and are susceptible to cellular stressors. Under conditions of insulin resistance such as the metabolic syndrome and obesity the lipid profile is atherogenic with elevated non-HDL cholesterol, increased TGs and sdLDL, additionally, fasting plasma free fatty acids (FFAs) are elevated, indicating chronically increased levels of plasma FFA. These have been associated to an increased risk for impaired  $\beta$ -cell function, or lower insulin secretion, and the development of T2DM (Charles et al., 1997; Johnston et al., 2018; Paolisso et al., 1995; Salgin et al., 2012). Elevated FFAs under acute conditions will allow for compensation for insulin resistance by further stimulating glucose-stimulated insulin secretion (GSIS) of the βcells, however, under chronic conditions, FFAs will lead to lipotoxicity of insulin sensitive tissues, such as muscle and adipose tissue, as well as lipotoxicity of the  $\beta$ -cells. Elevated FFAs, such as palmitic acid, will induce apoptosis in the  $\beta$ -cells via the generation of cytotoxic metabolites and activation of deleterious interlinked intracellular mechanisms, such as ER stress, oxidative stress and mitochondrial dysfunction, impaired autophagy and inflammation (view Figure I.1.16). Therefore, lipotoxicity usually refers to the deleterious effects of FFAs on glucose homeostasis through impairment of insulin production, secretion and progressive decline in β-cell mass (for review (Lytrivi et al., 2020; Oh et al., 2018)).



Figure I.1. 16 Risk factors and molecular mechanisms leading to β-cell toxicity

Increased FFA under conditions of obesity, insulin resistance for example will cause inflammation, oxidative stress and mitochondrial dysfunction, ER sress and/or impaired autophagy altogether leading to loss of  $\beta$ -cell mass and function (Lytrivi et al., 2020).

Cholesterol is an integral component of cell membranes that is essential to define curvature and fluidity as well as being required for formation of lipid rafts, which in turn serve as microdomains for signaling molecules, protein-protein interactions and vesicle trafficking. Excessive cholesterol may impact several of the steps required for GSIS. For example, excessive cholesterol may reduce the production of ATP required for the coupling of glucose sensing to vesicle fusion and insulin secretion. Indeed, these conditions decrease glucose uptake by GLUT2 transporters, decrease translocation and activation of glucokinase from insulin granules to the cytoplasm and affect mitochondrial membrane fluidity, in turn impairing the electron transport chain (Lee et al., 2011). Moreover, excessive cholesterol reduces voltage-gated Ca<sup>2+</sup> channels' density and decreased extracellular Ca<sup>2+</sup> influx resulting in decreased vesicle fusion to the plasma membrane (Lee et al., 2011). Excessive cholesterol may also cause ER stress (Kong et al., 2017). Islets from T2DM patients show ER expansion (morphometric sign of ER stress) as well as increased susceptibility for the increased expression of ER stress is an important pathway leading to  $\beta$ -cell dysfunction and eventually cell death. Several studies have demonstrated that pancreatic islet  $\beta$ -cells may uptake LDL and VLDL (Cnop et al., 2002; Grupping et al., 1997; Rutti et al., 2009). Those may induce a dose-dependent decrease in insulin synthesis and increase in apoptosis, importantly HDL may prevent the toxic effects of LDL and VLDL, possibly because the HDL particle is enriched in antioxidant proteins in contrast to LDL (Tomas et al., 2004).

Intracellular islet cholesterol is tightly regulated *in vivo* in mice models and results from the cell's adaptation through the regulation of expression of different receptors responsible for cholesterol internalization (LDLR) and efflux (ABCA1) as well as from cholesterol biosynthesis. ATP-binding cassette transporter subfamily A member 1 (ABCA1) mediates the efflux of cellular cholesterol to HDL apolipoprotein acceptor. Mice with specific inactivation of the ABCA1, in the  $\beta$ -cells have impaired glucose tolerance and normal insulin sensitivity, suggesting  $\beta$ -cell dysfunction (Brunham et al., 2007). Moreover, the islets demonstrate accumulation of cellular cholesterol and impaired insulin secretion, providing *in vivo* evidence that islet cholesterol is key for proper  $\beta$ -cell function. Although the absence of LDLR leads to hypercholesterolemia in mice, it did not lead to increased islet cholesterol levels or  $\beta$ -cell disfunction, highlighting the importance of the LDLR for LDLc internalization (Kruit et al., 2010b). Moreover, WT islets with functional LDLR transplanted into hypercholesterolemic  $Ldlr^{-/-}$  mice did not result in impaired  $\beta$ -cell function or cholesterol accumulation. This was showed to be due to the compensation from ABCA1 cholesterol efflux since a similar transplantation of islets with impaired ABCA1 did result in impaired β-cell function (Kruit et al., 2010b). Furthermore, islets from ApoE<sup>-/-</sup> mice showed decreased ABCA1 levels and increased islet cholesterol. The authors suggested that cholesterol efflux is rate limiting in maintaining balanced intracellular cholesterol in  $\beta$ -cells.

Several studies have investigated the effect of the absence of PCSK9 on glucose homeostasis in murine models (Da Dalt et al., 2019; Langhi et al., 2009; Mbikay et al., 2015; Mbikay et al., 2010). These studies showed that the absence of PCSK9 results in ~2-3-fold increase in  $\beta$ -cell LDLR. Although Langhi *et al.* found no effect on glucose homeostasis (Langhi et al., 2009), the other studies show impaired insulin secretion accompanied by decreased plasma insulin and altered islet morphology, altogether suggesting lipotoxicity from the resulting increase in  $\beta$ -cell LDLR (Da Dalt et al., 2019; Mbikay et al., 2015; Mbikay et al., 2010). It is unclear, however, whether *Pcsk9*<sup>-/-</sup> islets have an increase (Da Dalt et al., 2019) or a decrease (Mbikay et al., 2010)

in islet insulin content. Importantly, Da Dalt reported a ~3-fold increase in intracellular esterified cholesterol, and ~2-fold increases in fatty acids, accompanied by a significant decrease in targets of SREBP-2 transcription factor *HMGCR*, *LDLR* mRNA expression (Da Dalt et al., 2019). However, the authors did not investigate whether the protein levels of ABCA1 were altered, although mRNA were unchanged.

To conclude there have been several convincing mechanistic and *in vivo* murine studies demonstrating the importance of balancing the intracellular cholesterol for the proper function of  $\beta$ -cells, however, there have yet to be clinical evidence associating increased plasma cholesterol with an increased risk of impaired glucose homeostasis and T2DM (von Eckardstein et al., 2000).

# I.1.8.3 <u>Results of PCSK9 mAb clinical trials and new onset of diabetes or changes in</u> <u>glycemic markers</u>

The FOURIER trial prespecified analysis demonstrated safety and efficacy in patients with diabetes or prediabetes (Sabatine et al., 2017). In the placebo group patients with diabetes were at significantly greater risk for the defined cardiovascular endpoints even though baseline LDL concentrations were equivalent between patients with diabetes and those with normoglycemia. Treatment with evolocumab significantly reduced non-HDL cholesterol, apoB and TGs by equivalent amounts in both non-diabetics and diabetics. Moreover, evolocumab significantly reduced cardiovascular outcomes consistently between both groups. Importantly, these results suggest that since the diabetic group had increased risk at baseline, the absolute risk reduction in cardiovascular endpoints with evolocumab is greater for the diabetes group. The treatment with evolocumab did not increase the risk for new-onset diabetes when compared to placebo, likewise the levels of fasting plasma glucose (FPG) and glycated hemoglobin A1 (HBA1c) were similar between diabetics, prediabetics and normoglycemics either on placebo or evolocumab treatment. The study from the alirocumab ODYSSEY OUTCOMES trial prespecified analysis for the risk of developing diabetes reported very similar results with a greater risk for diabetics for cardiovascular events, equivalent reductions in lipid parameters for diabetics, prediabetes and normoglycemics, and greater absolute benefit for cardiovascular outcomes for the diabetic patients (Ray et al., 2019a). Moreover, they demonstrated no increase in new-onset diabetes in alirocumab when compared to placebo (Ray et al., 2019a).

A meta-analysis from 2018 of 20 random controlled trials but which excluded the only recently published data from alirocumab in ODYSSEY OUTCOMES prespecified study on the risk of developing T2DM, however, suggested a small but significant increase in FGP and HBA1c, particularly in patients that reached very low levels of LDLc (de Carvalho et al., 2018). OSLER-1 study went on for ~4 years and showed no signs of increased risk for T2DM (Sabatine et al., 2015). Lastly, inclisiran was demonstrated to be as effective in diabetic patients as in normoglycemic patients without affecting HBA1c (Leiter et al., 2019). Considering that these clinical trials and their analyses are so recent it is difficult to conclude that there is a definite risk to be anticipated from the long-term use of PCSK9 mAb inhibitors for the treatment of CAD. All studies, however, argue that the benefit against cardiovascular events largely outweighs the potential risk for T2DM, particularly since these treatments in diabetic patients and prediabetic patients have shown significant benefit equivalent or greater to that from non-diabetics.

## I.1.9. <u>PCSK9 and diabetic dyslipidemia</u>

Patients with T2DM and ASCVD are at very high risk of cardiovascular events and as detailed earlier a major cause is high prevalence of atherogenic dyslipidemia, or diabetic dyslipidemia, despite treatment with statins and other LLTs. One of the main characteristics of diabetic dyslipidemia is elevated plasma TG and TG rich lipoprotein (TRL) remnants. These are determined by LPL activity (hydrolyze chylomicrons and VLDL particles to produce chylomicron remnants and intermediate-density lipoproteins (IDL)) and clearance of TRL remnants by LDLR, heparan sulfate proteoglycan (HSPG) syndecan-1 (Williams and Chen, 2010). Moreover, production and secretion of VLDL from the liver is also an important predictor of plasma chylomicron remnants, as IDL particles will compete with chylomicron remnants for the same receptors for clearance, as well as compete for LPL.

In T2DM, several processes are impaired due to peripheral insulin resistance and contribute to elevated plasma TGs. Diabetic patients demonstrate postprandial lipemia, which could in part be explained by the normally inhibited chylomicron production and secretion by intestinal cells by insulin and glucagon-like peptide -1 (GLP-1) (Veilleux et al., 2014; Xiao et al., 2014; Xiao and Lewis, 2012). Under normal conditions, insulin suppresses adipose tissue hormone sensitive lipase and in the liver the production of large buoyant VLDL particles as well as glucose production.

Insulin resistance in adipose tissue will lead to lipolysis and release of FFAs into the circulation which are taken up by the liver. Selective hepatic insulin resistance refers to impaired action of insulin to suppress liver gluconeogenesis, by impaired inhibition of FoxO1 (Kamagate and Dong, 2008), but maintained stimulation of *de novo* lipogenesis (DNL), by activation of mTORC1 (Leavens and Birnbaum, 2011), thereby resulting in overproduction of TGs (view Figure I.1.17). Since the liver is not a lipid storage organ, accumulation of TGs in lipid droplets (from both increased substrate influx and DNL) characterizes a disorder termed NAFLD. In order to balance hepatic TGs, the hepatocytes will upregulate VLDL secretion and produce large, buoyant VLDL. Another mechanism that is important to regulate lipid overload in hepatocytes is FA β-oxidation in the mitochondria. However, *de novo* lipogenesis inhibits FA β-oxidation as the malonyl-Co-A intermediate will inhibit the activity of carnitine palmitoyltransferase (CPT1), a transporter that is required for the shuttle of long-chain FAs to the mitochondrial matrix. Therefore, insulin resistant livers demonstrate impaired suppression of VLDL secretion, impaired  $\beta$ -oxidation and overproduction of TGs, and are associated with NALFD (Younossi et al., 2019). Finally, a consequence of the production of large, buoyant VLDL particles is the formation of sdLDL (as described previously in section I.1.6.1) and small dense HDL (sdHDL) (Adiels et al., 2006), which due to their altered composition are catabolized more rapidly leading to their overall decrease (Rashid et al., 2003).



Figure I.1. 17 Selective hepatic insulin resistance

Hepatic selective insulin resistance is an early event in the development of T2DM, where Akt stimulation of glycogen synthesis and inhibition of gluconeogenesis is impaired and lipid synthesis is maintained. As a result, glucose substrate accumulates leading to TG synthesis and liver steatosis (Santoleri and Titchenell, 2019).

Several studies have demonstrated an association between PCSK9 with fasting plasma glucose, insulin and TGs (described in section I.1.5.2) (Awan et al., 2014; Baass et al., 2009; Brouwers et al., 2011; Cui et al., 2010; Ferri et al., 2020; Lakoski et al., 2009). Interestingly, Brouwers *et al.* demonstrated that plasma PCSK9 association with TG, non-HDL cholesterol, apoB is stronger in T2DM than in normoglycemic patients (note: all patients were asked to stop all LLTs for the study and any glucose lowering drugs on the day of blood withdrawal), suggesting that the degree of glucose metabolism may modify the association between plasma PCSK9 and non-HDLc and apoB (Brouwers et al., 2011). The authors speculated that elevated PCSK9 could take part in decreased apoB-containing lipoprotein particle clearance, thereby acting synergistically with VLDL overproduction in the development of diabetic dyslipidemia (Brouwers et al., 2011). PCSK9 associates positively with markers of insulin resistance, such as fasting insulin, fasting plasma glucose and HOMA-IR (Awan et al., 2014; Baass et al., 2009; Cui et al.,

2010; Lakoski et al., 2009) supporting the hypothesis that PCSK9 could play a role in the development of dyslipidemia associated with the metabolic syndrome. Interestingly, plasma PCSK9 has also been demonstrated to correlate with T1DM and HbA1c (Bojanin et al., 2019; Laugier-Robiolle et al., 2017; Levenson et al., 2017b) and also insulin resistance in T1DM – regardless of glycemic control, assessed by estimated glucose disposal rate (eGDR) (Bojanin et al., 2019). PCSK9 has also been found to associate directly with liver fat accumulation in animal and human studies (Cariou et al., 2013; Ruscica et al., 2016). Circulating PCSK9 was associated with hepatic expression of SREBP-1c, levels increased with steatosis severity independently of metabolic confounders and liver damage (Paquette et al., 2020; Ruscica et al., 2016). The authors suggested that PCSK9 synthesis and secretion may be involved in NAFLD pathogenesis.

In summary, PCSK9 may be associated with plasma TGs, insulin resistance and NALFD either by preventing efficient clearance of TRL remnants (direct downregulation of LDLR), or by common regulation and stimulation by insulin (through SREBP-1c). Moreover, PCSK9 has been shown to regulate other receptors important for lipid homeostasis (such as VLDLR, apoER2 and CD36) and intracellular PCSK9 has been demonstrated to regulate apoB secretion (developed in section I.1.4). Therefore, the role of PCSK9 – whether it be causal or correlational – for diabetic dyslipidemia is not yet well understood and may be independent from LDLR regulation.

#### I.2 Working hypothesis and research objectives

There is no evidence yet for the direct implication of PCSK9 in the regulation of plasma insulin or plasma glucose, however epidemiological studies show an association of PCSK9 plasma levels with markers of hepatic insulin resistance (HOMA-IR, fasting plasma glucose, fasting plasma insulin) (described in section I.1.9); moreover, Mendelian randomization studies suggest an implication for the inhibition of PCSK9 activity towards the development of T2DM (described in section I.1.8). We hypothesize that PCSK9 may regulate InsR signaling and that the absence of PCSK9 leads to increased LDLR mediated LDLc internalization into insulin responsive tissues affecting glucose homeostasis. Furthermore, evidence from PCSK9 LOF variants demonstrate that proPCSK9 leads to ER-retention of WT PCSK9 (described in section I.1.4.8). Therefore, we hypothesize that proPCSK9 variants may affect other secretory pathway protein biosynthesis. Hence, in this thesis we were interested in investigating:

- (i) the effect of PCSK9 on the direct modulation of InsR signaling and InsR biosynthesis; and
- (ii) the effect of the absence of PCSK9 on glucose and insulin homeostasis.

# Chapter II: Manuscript 1 (To be submitted to the Journal of Biological Chemistry)

Title: "PCSK9 a negative regulator of the insulin receptor: effects on signaling activity and biosynthesis rate"

Authors: Julie Cruanès, Alexandra Evagelidis, Jennifer L. Estall, Annik Prat, Nabil G. Seidah

Journal: The Journal of Biological Chemistry, to be submitted

# II.1. Preface

While the focus of this thesis is the impact of PCSK9 on glucose and insulin homeostasis, in this chapter we were more specifically interested in investigating whether through two possible independent regulatory pathways, PCSK9 could result in impaired insulin signaling. The first is the regulation by extracellular PCSK9 of InsR downstream signaling, whereas the second is the effect of intracellular, ER-retained, proPCSK9 on InsR biosynthesis and levels. From this study, we could further hypothesize that PCSK9 may be directly implicated in the development of insulin resistance and diabetic dyslipidemia through the modulation of InsR signaling and/or through ER proteotoxic effects.

PCSK9 a negative regulator of the insulin receptor: effects on signaling activity and biosynthesis rate

# Julie Cruanès\*, Alexandra Evagelidis\*, Jennifer L. Estall<sup>§</sup>, Annik Prat\*, Nabil G. Seidah\*<sup>¶</sup>

\*Laboratory of Biochemical Neuroendocrinology, Institut de Recherches Cliniques de Montréal, affiliated to the University of Montreal; 110 Pine Ave. West, Montreal, QC H2W 1R7, Canada.

§ Laboratory of Molecular Mechanisms of Diabetes, Institut de Recherches Cliniques de Montreal (IRCM), 110 Ave des Pins Ouest, Montreal, Quebec, H2W 1R7, Canada.

<sup>¶</sup>Corresponding author: Nabil G. Seidah, Laboratory of Biochemical Neuroendocrinology, Institut de Recherches Cliniques de Montréal, 110 Pine Ave. West, Montréal, QC H2W 1R7, Canada. Tel: (514) 987-5609; E-mail: <u>seidahn@ircm.qc.ca</u>

Keywords: Insulin receptor signaling, PCSK9, insulin receptor, ER stress

#### II.2. Abstract

PCSK9, a recent therapeutic target for hypercholesterolemia, targets the LDLR for degradation in the lysosomes. PCSK9 has both extracellular and intracellular activities, where PCSK9 also targets other cell surface receptors for degradation and interacts with other secretory proteins within the cell. Its reported positive association with markers of hepatic insulin resistance in patients merits further investigation. Here we show that exogenous PCSK9 decreases insulin signaling *in vivo* in mice and *in vitro* in immortalized human hepatocytes. This process is inhibited *in vitro* by mAb but not by single-domain Ab (sdAb) to PCSK9 supporting the implication of the catalytic domain. Furthermore, we demonstrate that co-expression of PCSK9 and InsR leads to strong downregulation of InsR levels through the upregulation of acute ER stress, likely by the activation of IRE1 $\alpha$  and the RIDD pathway. These data are the first evidence for a direct involvement of PCSK9 on InsR levels and function, further opening future studies to the role of PCSK9 on diabetic dyslipidemia.

#### **II.3.** Introduction

Insulin resistance is a systemic disorder characterized by reduced insulin signaling despite increased insulin concentrations. The metabolic syndrome, in turn, is described as a clustering of typical cardiovascular risk factors, many for which the pathophysiology is driven by resistance to insulin. Therefore, insulin resistance is intricately linked to the metabolic syndrome and together they may precede the development of diabetes and cardiovascular disease. The role of the InsR in the etiology insulin resistance has been somewhat underappreciated even though alterations in the metabolic fate of the InsR largely influences insulin signaling pathways (Chen et al., 2019). Indeed, more than 70 pathogenic variants have been identified throughout the gene that are causative for severe insulin resistance, classified under five pathogenic categories impacting the receptor's biosynthesis, trafficking, function and half-life (Taylor et al., 1991). Furthermore, the InsR levels are strongly decreased in obese and diabetic mice and patients, corroborating the physiological relevance of studying the InsR in the context of insulin resistance (Grunberger et al., 1989).

PCSK9 is the 9<sup>th</sup> member of the mammalian proprotein convertases (Seidah et al., 2003), a family of serine proteases involved in the activation or inactivation of a broad spectrum of proteins, such as precursor growth factors and hormones, their receptors, transcription factors, viral and bacterial proteins, etc. (Seidah and Prat, 2012). Shortly after its discovery, natural *PCSK9* variants were identified in families with autosomal dominant hypercholesterolemia without any mutations in the known FH genes (Abifadel et al., 2003). Importantly, as the variants segregated well with the disease, the *PCSK9* gene was confirmed as the third locus for FH, after the *LDLR* and the *APOB* coding genes (Abifadel et al., 2003; Timms et al., 2004). PCSK9 is strongly expressed in the liver and intestine and is secreted by hepatocytes into the circulation. PCSK9 strongly downregulates the protein levels of the LDLR of target tissues, resulting in increased levels of LDLc. Natural variants of *PCSK9* are classified into GOF variants associated with increased cardiovascular event risk or conversely to LOF variants, associated with low to very-low protective levels of plasma cholesterol (Cohen et al., 2005; Cohen et al., 2006).

Several epidemiological studies have demonstrated positive associations of plasma PCSK9 with markers of increased diabetes risk, including insulin resistance, increased fasting plasma glucose and insulin (Baass et al., 2009; Cui et al., 2010; Ferri et al., 2020; Lakoski et al., 2009).

PCSK9 also correlates with insulin resistance and/or diabetic dyslipidemia in patients with type I and type II diabetes mellitus (Baass et al., 2009; Bojanin et al., 2019; Brouwers et al., 2011; Laugier-Robiolle et al., 2017; Levenson et al., 2017a; Levenson et al., 2017b). The mechanisms underlying these associations and the possible causal role for PCSK9 are gaining avid interest, particularly since the recent demonstration that PCSK9 inhibitors do not increase the risk for diabetes and importantly show significant benefit to diabetic patients (Ray et al., 2019a; Sabatine et al., 2017).

On the other hand, several LOF variants are retained in the ER as unprocessed precursors (proPCSK9) and have been demonstrated to exert a dominant negative effect on the wild-type allele counterpart. These missense mutations code for the single-allele double mutant R104C/V114R and the Q152H (Cariou et al., 2009; Mayne et al., 2011). In carrier probands, the wild-type PCSK9 was undetectable in the plasma. It is known that proPCSK9 forms a tertiary structure distinct from the processed form (Garvie et al., 2016) which in contrast to the matured PCSK9, oligomerizes with itself in the ER (Seidah et al., 2003), suggesting that the dominant negative effect of proPCSK9 could at least in part be explained due to this. The Q152H mutation involves the replacement of the P1 residue Gln of the autocatalytic cleavage site VFAQ<sub>152</sub> $\downarrow$ SIP by His, thereby preventing processing into the mature enzyme (Mayne et al., 2011). Additionally, PCSK9<sub>Q152H</sub> also binds to and retains wild-type PCSK9 in the ER reducing intramolecular processing (Benjannet et al., 2012; Mayne et al., 2011). The impact of these variants on other secretory pathway proteins has not been demonstrated.

In the present study, we show that that secreted PCSK9 decreases insulin signaling in mouse liver and in immortalized human hepatocytes. We also show that PCSK9<sub>Q152H</sub> (or proPCSK9) decreases the levels of nascent receptors, including InsR and transferrin receptor (TFRC). It interacts with the precursor of InsR (proInsR) and significantly decreases both the proInsR and matured InsR protein levels in cell lines. Therefore, although PCSK9<sub>Q152H</sub> was very recently shown not to induce ER stress under normal physiological conditions (Lebeau et al., 2020) it may have other ER-related functions such as the fine tuning of nascent receptor levels.

#### II.4. Methodology

#### II.4.1. <u>Animal procedures</u>

All experimental procedures were approved by the IRCM care committee. C57BL/6J background mice were studied and housed under 12 hr light and dark cycles. Mice were fed a chow diet (Teklad Global). Insulin and PCSK9 injection experiments were conducted on 4 hr-fasted, 3 months-old male mice. Recombinant human PCSK9 (BMS) (10 µg) was injected in the tail vein, whereas human insulin (Humulin R by Lilly) (0.2 U/kg body weight) was injected in the inferior vena cava. Liver samples were collected and immediately frozen with dry ice and stored at -80°C until analysis.

#### II.4.2. <u>Cell culture and inhibitors</u>

All cells were cultured at 37°C under 5% CO<sub>2</sub>. HepG2 human cells (ATCC # HB-8065) and IHH (Han Moshage UH) were grown in EMEM medium (Wisent bioproducts) supplemented with 10% FBS (GIBCO BRL). These cell lines were transfected between at ~60% confluency using Fugene HD reagent (Promega). HEK293 cells (ATCC #CRL-1573) were grown in DMEM medium (Wisent bioproducts) with 10% FBS and transfected at ~70% confluency using jetPRIME reagent (Polyplus). Gene knockdown was achieved by transfecting cells with a pool of four siRNAs against human LDLR or a scrambled siRNA (Dharmacon; siGENOME SMARTpool) at ~50% confluency using INTERFERin (Polyplus). Cells were collected 48 hrs post-transfection after an overnight incubation in serum-free medium or conditioned media prepared from stable cell lines. To inhibit proteasomal degradation, cells were treated with MG132 (Sigma-Aldrich) (5  $\mu$ M, 16 hrs) and to inhibit lysosomal or autophagosomal degradation, cells were treated with chloroquine (Sigma-Aldrich) (150  $\mu$ M, 16 hrs).To inhibit the exit of secretory proteins from the ER, cells were treated with brefeldin A (Sigma-Aldrich) (2  $\mu$ g/mL, 16 hrs).

#### II.4.3. Conditioned media production for media swap assays

PCSK9-V5 enriched conditioned medium was prepared from HEK293 stable cell lines expressing PCSK9-V5. Control medium was prepared from HEK293 stable cell lines expressing the empty vector control. For the PCSK9<sub>R46L</sub> media swap experiment, HEK293 cells were transfected with the control plasmid, PCSK9-V5 expressing plasmid or PCSK9<sub>R46L</sub> expressing plasmid. Conditioned media is prepared with serum free DMEM incubated on the cells for 18 hrs, and PCSK9 is quantified in the medium with the previously described home-made ELISA (Dubuc et al., 2010). The media were adjusted to ~1  $\mu$ g/mL or ~300 ng/mL and aliquoted at -80°C. Human insulin (Lilly) was added to the different conditioned media at a final concentration of 1  $\mu$ M overnight before cell collection for analysis.

#### II.4.4. <u>Plasmids</u>

The untagged pcDNA3 vector (Invitrogen) was used to express InsR, the pIRES vector (Invitrogen) was used to express PCSK9, and its mutants, TFRC, LDLR, FGF21 and the empty pIRES vector was used as a control, all express a C-terminal V5 tag. PCSK9 mutants were described previously, PCSK9<sub>Q152</sub> (Benjannet et al., 2012), PCSK9<sub>H226A</sub> (Seidah et al., 2003), PCSK9<sub>C679X</sub> (Nassoury et al., 2007), PCSK9<sub>KDEL</sub> (Nassoury et al., 2007), Pro (Nassoury et al., 2007), LX (Nassoury et al., 2007), CHRD (Nassoury et al., 2007), PCSK9<sub>R46L</sub> (Benjannet et al., 2007), PCSK9<sub>G316C</sub> (Di Filippo et al., 2017).

# II.4.5. Immunoblotting and immunoprecipitation

Proteins were extracted in RIPA 1X buffer (50 mM Tris/HCl pH 8, 150 mM NaCl, 0.1% SDS, 1% Nonidet P40, and 0.25% Na deoxycholate) with a cocktail of protease inhibitors (cOmplete, Roche) and a cocktail of phosphatase inhibitors (PhosSTOP, Sigma-Aldrich) for insulin signaling experiments. Bradford assay was used to evaluate the protein concentrations. For immunoblotting, 30 µg of proteins were resolved on SDS/PAGE (8% to 10% Tris-glycine) and transferred onto nitrocellulose membranes. Membranes were blocked with fat-free 5% milk powder dissolved in Tris buffer saline (0.1 M Tris/HCL pH 8 and 1.5 M NaCl) containing 0.1% Tween-100 (TBS-T).

Incubations with primary and secondary antibodies coupled to horseradish peroxidase (HRP) were done in 5% milk overnight at 4°C and over 2 hrs at room temperature, respectively, except for Cell Signaling Technology antibodies which were revealed in 5% fatty acid free BSA dissolved in TBS-T. For immunoprecipitations, cell lysates were incubated with ProtA/G beads (Santa Cruz, Sc-2003) in RIPA 0.5X, with rotation, overnight at 4°C with primary. Following washes, pull-downs were revealed by SDS-PAGE as described. All membrane proteins were detected by chemiluminescence (Bio-Rad), revealed and analysed using the ChemiDoc MP imaging system (Bio-Rad).

# II.4.6. <u>Antibodies</u>

List of primary antibodies for Western Blotting:

- α-InsRβ (Enzo Life Sciences, ADI-905-603-100;
- α-P-IGF1Rβ/P-InsRβ (Cell Signaling Technology, 9021);
- α-mLDLR (R&D Systems, AF2255);
- α-hLDLR (R&D Systems, AF2148);
- α-hPCSK9 (homemade, Nassoury 2007);
- α-P-S473 Akt (Cell Signaling Technology, 9271);
- α-Akt (total) (Cell Signaling Technology, 9272);
- α-P-S9 GSK3β (Cell Signaling Technology, 9323);
- α-GSK3β (total) (Cell Signaling Technology, 9315);
- α-P-S51-eIF2α (Invitrogen, 44-728);
- $\alpha$   $\beta$ -actin (Sigma-Aldrich, A2066);
- α- α-tubulin (Sigma-Aldrich, T4026).

List of primary antibodies for immunoprecipitation:

- α-V5 tag (Invitrogen, PIN 46-0705);
- α-hTFRC (Abcam, ab84036);
- α-hInsR (Millipore, MAB1138);
- α-hPCSK9 (homemade described in (Nassoury et al., 2007).

List of secondary antibodies for Western Blotting:

- α-V5-HRP (Sigma-Aldrich, V2260);
- α-mouse-HRP (VWR, CA95017-556L);
- α-rabbit-HRP (VWR, CA95017-332L);
- $\alpha$ -goat-HRP (Santa Cruz, Sc 2020).

## II.4.7. <u>Metabolic labeling</u>

HEK293 cells were transiently transfected as described above. At 48 hrs post-transfection, the cells were washed in PBS medium and preincubated in DMEM without methionine and cysteine (Wisent) for 1 hr. Cells were then incubated for 30 min in radioactive medium, DMEM without methionine and cysteine with 100 mCi/mL of [<sup>35</sup>S]Met/Cys (Perkin Elmer, EasyTag EXPRESS 35S Prot labeling mix, NEG 77202MC). Cells were lysed as described, proteins were quantified by Bradford, immunoprecipitated as described and run on SDS-PAGE as described. The gels were dried and autoradiographed as described (Benjannet et al., 2001). Total cell lysate radioactivity was counted by trichloroacetic acid precipitation (10%) (Sigma-Aldrich) and measured using a scintillator.

## II.4.8. <u>RNA extraction and gene expression</u>

Total RNA from cells was extracted with TRIzol (Invitrogen). cDNA was generated from 250 ng of total RNA using a SuperScript II cDNA reverse transcriptase (Invitrogen). Quantitative PCR was done using the SYBR Select Master Mix (Applied Biosystems, Carlsbad, CA) and the following sense and antisense primers: housekeeping gene human TATA-box binding protein (TBP) (exon4-5), 5'-CGAATATAATCCCAAGCGGTTT and 5'-GTGGTTCGTGGCTCTCTTATCC; hsXBP (splice site) 5'- TGCTGAGTCCGCAGCAGGTG and 5'-GCTGGCAGGCTCTGGGGAAG; hInsR (exon 8-9) 5'-GGGCCAAGAGTGACATCATTTA and 5'- GGGTGGTTTCCACTTCAGAATA.

# II.4.9. <u>Statistical analysis</u>

Cell and mouse result values are expressed as mean  $\pm$  SEM. Significant differences between groups were evaluated with an unpaired two-tailed Student's t-test.

#### II.5. Results

## II.5.1. Exogenous PCSK9 decreases insulin signaling in adult male mice

PCSK9 expression is regulated by SREBPs, where SREBP-2 is activated by decreased ERmembrane cholesterol concentrations (<5%) (Radhakrishnan et al., 2008; Sakai et al., 1996) to increase intracellular cholesterol concentrations and SREBP-1c is activated by mTORC1 downstream from insulin in order to stimulate *de novo* lipogenesis. Accordingly, insulin has been demonstrated to upregulate PCSK9 expression (Costet et al., 2006). However, whether PCSK9 affects insulin signaling has, to our knowledge, not yet been investigated. Therefore, we attempted to verify this possible regulatory effect by administering recombinant PCSK9 acutely on shortterm insulin induced InsR signaling in adult male C57BL/6J mice. Mice were fasted for 4 hours to normalize insulin signaling, then at 5 min following acute tail-vein injection of 10 µg of recombinant PCSK9 (BMS-LVL) or PBS control, an insulin (0.2 U/Kg body weight) or PBS bolus were injected into the inferior vena cava. 5 min later, mice (7 mice/condition) were sacrificed, their livers extracted and the lysates separated on SDS-PAGE to analyze by western blot the levels of LDLR as well as InsR and its downstream signaling (Figure II.5. 1A-D). At 10 min following PCSK9 injection, we observed a significant  $\sim 30\%$  decrease in LDLR levels (in comparison to control PBS) (Figure II.5. 1C). Interestingly, at 5 min post-insulin injection, the activity of PCSK9 on the LDLR is blunted, suggesting that on the short-term insulin interferes with PCSK9-mediated LDLR degradation. We also noticed that PCSK9 does not affect the levels of InsR (Figure II.5. 1C) or its insulin-induced auto-phosphorylation into P-InsR as evidenced by an unchanged P-InsR/InsR<sup>β</sup> ratio (Figure II.5. 1D). However, PCSK9 blunted the downstream insulin signalling, as evidenced by significantly reduced ratio of P-Akt/Akt (-30%) (Fig. 1D). These data suggest that even though PCSK9 does not significantly affect InsR autophosphorylation/activation, it does reduce its downstream signaling capacity, and hence its insulin sensitivity, possibly via diminished recruitment of IRS-1 and -2 by the P-InsR.



Figure II.5. 1 PCSK9 downregulates insulin signaling acutely in adult male mice

*A*, Three-months old male mice were fasted for four hours, reconstituted PCSK9 (10 µg) or control saline solution was injected into the tail vein, the mouse was then put to sleep for five minutes, insulin (0.2 U/kg of body weight) or saline control was then injected in the inferior vena cava. After five more minutes, the liver was extracted for protein isolation. The mouse liver samples were analyzed by WB for downstream insulin signaling, including the activation of Akt and GSK3 $\beta$ , *B*, *C* and *D*. The experiment was performed on B6J (n=7 mice/condition, left panel). The data are presented as the mean ± standard error of the mean. Statistical comparisons with controls were performed by an unpaired two-tailed Student's t-test. \*P < 0.05.

#### II.5.2. Exogenous PCSK9 decreases insulin signaling in immortalized human hepatocytes

We next investigated the effect of overnight exogenous PCSK9 (~1  $\mu$ g/mL) in the presence of insulin (1  $\mu$ M) on InsR downstream signaling using the immortalized human hepatocyte (IHH) cell line, an insulin responsive cell line (Schippers et al., 1997). Serum free control conditioned media or PCSK9 enriched conditioned media were prepared from human embryonic kidney cells (HEK293) stably expressing empty-vector or hPCSK9. As expected, in the presence of insulin we observed: (i) enhanced insulin-mediated degradation of the InsR; (ii) increased phosphorylation of Akt (P-Akt) that occurs downstream of InsR activation; and (iii) increased LDLR levels, likely as a response to the activation of SREBP-1c by insulin (Brown and Goldstein, 1997) (Figure II.5. 2A, lane 3). In addition, under PCSK9 media swap conditions we observed: (i) an expected significant
~60% decrease in LDLR protein levels (Figure II.5. 2A, lanes 2 and 4 vs. lanes 1 and 3), (ii) a similar ~70% enhanced insulin-mediated degradation of InsR (Figure II.5. 2A, lane 4); and (iii) ~70% attenuated levels of P-Akt compared to control conditions in absence of PCSK9 (Figure II.5. 2A, lane 4 vs. lane 2) in the absence or presence of insulin. A previous study demonstrated an interaction between the LDLR and the InsR at the plasma membrane, inhibiting the LDL internalization activity of the LDLR (Ramakrishnan et al., 2012). Thus, we hypothesized that PCSK9 could inhibit InsR signaling by the formation of the trimeric complex LDLR/InsR/PCSK9. Therefore, to test whether this PCSK9 effect on P-Akt is mediated by its ability to bind to and degrade the LDLR, we reproduced the experiment under knockdown conditions of the LDLR (Figure II.5. S1 in Appendices). Our data showed that in the absence of LDLR the effect of PCSK9 on the insulin-mediated P-Akt was maintained. Therefore, PCSK9 mediated inhibition of P-Akt is LDLR-independent.

We next investigated whether neutralizing exogenous PCSK9 with the use of a mAb (AMG 145) or a single domain antibody (sdAb) developed by our lab (P1.40) (Weider et al., 2016) to PCSK9 would rescue its effect on P-Akt. The mAb targets the catalytic domain of PCSK9, whereas the sdAb targets the CHRD of PCSK9. Therefore, we performed the same experiment described above but included mAb or sdAb with the PCSK9 enriched conditioned medium or the control medium. Our results demonstrate that incubation with mAb but not with sdAb inhibits PCSK9 mediated downregulation of P-Akt (Fig. II.5. 2B and C), suggesting that the catalytic domain is important and that the CHRD is not implicated in this process.

Lastly, we were interested in comparing the effect of WT PCSK9 with a known PCSK9 LOF variant, reported to be associated with an increased risk for type 2 diabetes (Lotta et al., 2016; Nelson et al., 2019), PCSK9<sub>R46L</sub>, on insulin signaling. Therefore, we reproduced the same experiment while incubating the IHH cells with conditioned medium enriched in WT PCSK9 or in PCSK9<sub>R46L</sub> or with control conditioned medium. Under these experimental conditions the effects of WT and PCSK9<sub>R46L</sub>were comparable: ~80% decrease in P-Akt (Figure II.5. 2D and E), suggesting that the prodomain is not critical in this process.



Figure II.5. 2 Exogenous PCSK9 decreases insulin signaling in vitro

IHH cells were incubated O/N with serum-free conditioned media lacking or containing 1 µg/mL of PCSK9-V5 and in the presence or absence of 1 mM insulin. Cell lysates were analyzed for the activation of Akt (pS473) by WB in *A*. *B* and *C*, the effect of inhibiting exogenous PCSK9 by mAb or sdAb (1 µM) on the activation of Akt (pS473) was analyzed by WB. *D* and *E*, IHH cells were incubated O/N with serum-free conditioned media lacking or containing 0.3 µg/mL of PCSK9-V5 or PCSK9<sub>R46L</sub>-V5 and in the presence or absence of 1 µM insulin and analyzed by WB. The input conditioned medium was analyzed by WB (right panel). The data are representative of at least three independent experiments and are presented with mean  $\pm$  standard deviation. Statistical comparisons with controls were performed by an unpaired two-tailed Student's t-test. \*P < 0.05, \*\*P < 0.01, \*\*\*P < 0.001, \*\*\*P < 0.0001.

# II.5.3. <u>Overexpression of proPCSK9 induces the downregulation of InsR early in the</u> secretory pathway

PCSK9 and InsR are both synthesized as zymogen proteins (proPCSK9 and proInsR) with a signal peptide allowing them to enter the ER and traffic to the cell surface and/or media through the secretory pathway. ProInsR requires the formation of a homodimer and proper folding in order to exit the ER (Lu and Guidotti, 1996). Upon reaching the cell surface, a proprotein convertase, such as furin, cleaves proInsR into disulfide-linked  $\alpha$  and  $\beta$  domains, generating a heterotetramer (Bravo et al., 1994; Robertson et al., 1993).

In order to verify that PCSK9<sub>Q152H</sub> may affect the maturation process of other precursor proteins in the ER, human-derived hepatoma cells (HepG2) and HEK293 were transfected with WT PCSK9, PCSK9<sub>Q152H</sub>, PCSK9<sub>H226A</sub> and InsR expressing cDNA plasmids (1:1 ratio). PCSK9<sub>Q152H</sub> and PCSK9<sub>H226A</sub> are known natural and selected mutations respectively, which result in an unprocessed PCSK9 that is retained in the ER (Benjannet et al., 2012; Benjannet et al., 2004; Cariou et al., 2009). Under these conditions, we observed a non-significant decrease in InsR in the presence of WT PCSK9 and a significant 30% and 60%, in HepG2 and HEK293 cells respectively, decrease in total InsR levels in the presence of the ER-retained variants (Figure II.5. 3A and B). The regulation of InsR by ER-retained proPCSK9 was further confirmed by the significant 50% decrease in endogenous InsR under conditions of PCSK9<sub>Q152H</sub> overexpression in HEK293 cells (Figure II.5. 3C).

In order to verify whether the regulation is indeed taking place in ER, and whether retaining matured PCSK9 in this subcellular localization might increase the effect on InsR, we treated cells with Brefeldin A (BFA). The latter results in the inhibition of trafficking past the ER by fusing the ER and *cis, medial* Golgi compartments away from the TGN, and hence we expected an accumulation of mature PCSK9 in the ER (Lippincott-Schwartz et al., 1991). Under the co-transfection of PCSK9<sub>WT</sub>, PCSK9<sub>Q152H</sub> and InsR, we first confirmed that the BFA treatment was effective since PCSK9 is no longer secreted into the medium (Figure II.5. S2A in Appendices). In addition, we also observed that BFA treatment results in a large reduction in InsR $\beta$  and a moderate increase in proInsR (Figure II.5. S2A in Appendices), likely due to the lack of its processing by the convertases, which are activated in the TGN and beyond in the secretory pathway (Seidah and Prat, 2012). Interestingly, BFA treatment of cells expressing PCSK9<sub>WT</sub> or PCSK9<sub>Q152H</sub> resulted in a comparable effect on InsR than in the control DMSO treated cells (Figure II.5. S1B in

Appendices). Importantly, these results confirmed that the effect of PCSK9 takes place early in the secretory pathway but also suggest that retaining mature PCSK9 in the ER does not lead to an increased effect on Akt.



Figure II.5. 3 Overexpression of proPCSK9 induces the downregulation of InsR in the secretory pathway.

HepG2 (*A*) and HEK293 (*B*) cells transiently co-expressing InsR with a control empty vector plasmid (EV), wild-type PCSK9-V5, and ER-retained proPCSK9 forms: either naturally occurring PCSK9<sub>Q152H</sub>-V5 or catalytically inactive mutant PCSK9<sub>H226A</sub>-V5 were analyzed by WB. *C*, Endogenous InsR from HEK293 cells transiently expressing either EV or PCSK9<sub>Q152H</sub>-V5 was analyzed by WB, *D*. The data are representative of at least three independent experiments and are presented with mean  $\pm$  standard deviation. Statistical comparisons with controls were performed by an unpaired two-tailed Student's t-test. \*P < 0.05, \*\*P < 0.01, \*\*\*P < 0.001.

#### II.5.4. <u>ProPCSK9 interacts with proInsR</u>

ProPCSK9 has been shown to interact with the immature LDLR in the ER (Nassoury et al., 2007). Interestingly, the InsR has previously been reported to interact with the LDLR all throughout the secretory pathway, including the ER (Ramakrishnan et al., 2012). Therefore, we first confirmed the interaction of the LDLR with the InsR by co-immunoprecipitation of the co-transfected proteins in HepG2 cells (Figure II.5. 4A). The interaction between the LDLR and mature InsR was detected under control conditions (*not shown*), however, treating the cells with MG132, a proteasomal inhibitor, would appear to rescue much of the interactions for both the proInsR and the mature InsR with the LDLR (Figure II.5. 4A). Similarly, the interaction of PCSK9

with the proInsR was also detected under co-expression and MG132 treated conditions in these cells (Figure II.5. 4A). Co-transfection in HEK293 cells of the InsR with WT or PCSK9<sub>Q152H</sub> under non-treated conditions and performing an immunoprecipitation with either  $\alpha$ -PCSK9 or with  $\alpha$ -InsR antibodies confirmed the association between both proteins (Figure II.5. 4B). Moreover, the association appears to be strongest between the zymogens (Figure II.5. 4B).



Figure II.5. 4 ProPCSK9 interacts with proInsR.

A, HepG2 cells transiently co-expressing InsR with the control EV plasmid, wild-type PCSK9-V5, LDLR-V5 or FGF21-V5 were treated with MG132 (2.5 mM, O/N). Cell lysates were immunoprecipitated with  $\alpha$ -V5 beads and analyzed by immunoblot. **B**, HEK293 cells were transiently co-transfected with the indicated plasmids and cell lysates were immunoprecipitated with  $\alpha$ -PCSK9 Ab or  $\alpha$ -InsR Ab and analyzed by immunoblot. The data are representative of at least three independent experiments.

#### II.5.5. Natural ER-retained PCSK9 variants decrease InsR

We next tested whether the regulation of the InsR by PCSK9 in the ER implicates the action of immature proPCSK9 and/or its mature PCSK9 form. To test this, we used ER-retained proPCSK9 mutants, PCSK9<sub>Q152H</sub>, PCSK9<sub>H226A</sub>, PCSK9<sub>G316C</sub>, PCSK9<sub>C679X</sub>, and compared them

with ER-retained PCSK9<sub>KDEL</sub> for the efficiency of proInsR downregulation (Figure II.5. 5A). The KDEL motif is fused to the C-terminus of PCSK9 to allow for retention of the mature PCSK9 in the ER through binding to KDEL receptors (Figure II.5. 5A). When transfected in HEK293 cells, the ER-retained proPCSK9 mutants demonstrate significantly stronger degradation effects on total InsR levels than the PCSK9<sub>KDEL</sub> construct (70-60% decrease versus 30% non-significant decrease) (Figure II.5. 5B-C). Therefore, these results confirmed that proPCSK9 is required vs. mature PCSK9, similarly to the previous observation that retaining mature PCSK9 in the ER through BFA treatment did not induce a stronger decrease in the InsR. While co-transfecting the InsR with the prodomain, the LX construct – which includes both the pro and the catalytic domains – or the CHRD demonstrated that the LX downregulates the InsR as efficiently as the WT, whereas the pro and the CHRD domains have a small and no effect, respectively (Figure II.5. 5B, D). Therefore, the pro and catalytic domains together are required, whereas the CHRD is dispensable for PCSK9 mediated InsR downregulation. Accordingly, even though both the pro and CHRD domains only weakly affect InsR levels, the pro domain shows stronger binding efficiency (Figure II.5. 5B). Moreover, PCSK9<sub>KDEL</sub> also demonstrated efficient binding to proInsR while its effect on InsR levels did not reach statistical significance (Figure II.5. 5C). Therefore, these results suggest an absence of correlation between association and downregulatory activity.



#### Figure II.5. 5 Natural ER-retained PCSK9 variants decrease InsR

A, Schematic diagram of PCSK9 WT proprotein and mature forms, variants and domain constructs fused with V5 tag. **B**, HEK293 cells were transiently co-transfected with the indicated plasmids and cell lysates were immunoprecipitated with  $\alpha$ -V5 Ab and analyzed by immunoblot. **C** and **D**, Relative quantifications of total InsR co-expressed with variants or with domain constructs by WB analysis. The data are representative of at least 3 independent experiments and are presented with mean  $\pm$  standard deviation. Statistical comparisons with controls were performed by an unpaired two-tailed Student's t-test. \*P < 0.05, \*\*P < 0.01, \*\*\*P < 0.001.

#### II.5.6. <u>PCSK9<sub>Q152H</sub> decreases nascent receptors in the ER</u>

Since the association of the PCSK9 various constructs to the InsR was not determinant for InsR downregulation, but rather it is the expression of an un-cleaved, ER-retained PCSK9 zymogen that consistently showed a strong decrease in InsR levels, we next examined the specificity of this effect for another receptor. Therefore, we examined the effect of PCSK9<sub>Q152H</sub> on the human

transferrin receptor 1 (TFRC), a type II transmembrane protein, which similarly to the InsR, is ubiquitously expressed (Terng et al., 1998). The co-transfection in HEK293 cells of these proteins demonstrated equivalent downregulatory activity of PCSK9<sub>Q152H</sub> on either the InsR or the TFRC (Figure II.5. 6A), suggesting that PCSK9<sub>Q152H</sub> regulates the levels of several receptors in the ER.

Then, in order to verify whether the biosynthesis rates of these receptors were affected by PCSK9<sub>0152H</sub>, we performed metabolic labelling experiments. HEK293 cells co-expressing PCSK9<sub>WT</sub>, PCSK9<sub>0152H</sub> or FGF21 with InsR were metabolically labelled with a 30 min pulse of <sup>35</sup>S-Met/Cys to immunoprecipitate either InsR or the PCSK9 (Figure II.5. 6B top vs. bottom panel, respectively). Our results demonstrated a non-significant decrease in proInsR in the presence of FGF21, used as a negative control here for the effect of PCSK9, and a strong reduction in proInsR in the presence of PCSK9<sub>WT</sub> and PCSK9<sub>0152H</sub>, by 50% and 80% respectively (Figure II.5. 6D). These data strongly suggested that the downregulatory effect is very rapid, such as by ERAD, as has been shown for ER transmembrane proteins (Scheffer et al., 2019), a co-translational degradation of the nascent polypeptide, or a decrease in the InsR mRNA stability. We next cotransfected PCSK9<sub>WT</sub> and PCSK9<sub>0152H</sub> with TFRC and performed a similar pulse to metabolically label and pull-down TFRC or PCSK9 (Figure II.5. 6C top vs. bottom panel, respectively). Our results confirmed a significant ~40% decrease in TFRC levels in the presence of PCSK9<sub>0152H</sub>, and no effect by PCSK9<sub>WT</sub>. These results suggest that PCSK9 exerts a stronger and more rapid effect on the InsR in contrast to TFRC, however, under steady state conditions these differences are not discernable. Furthermore, the un-cleaved, ER-retained PCSK9 has a strong propensity to oligomerize and to exert a dominant negative effect on the WT allele in heterozygous patients (Benjannet et al., 2012), could induce more a general effect in the ER, resulting in decreased biosynthesis of several proteins.



Figure II.5. 6 Rapid downregulatory effect of proPCSK9 on newly synthesized receptors.

*A*, HEK293 cells were transiently co-transfected with EV, InsR or TFRC and control EV or PCSK9<sub>Q152H</sub>-V5 variant. Cell lysates were analyzed by WB. *B* and *C*, HEK293 cells were transiently co-transfected with InsR and control EV, wild-type PCSK9-V5, PCSK9<sub>Q152H</sub>-V5 variant or FGF21-V5 (panel *A*), or TFRC with control EV, wild-type PCSK9-V5, PCSK9<sub>Q152H</sub>-V5 variant. 48 h post-transfection, the cells were pulse-labeled with [<sup>35</sup>S]Met/Cys for 15 min and immunoprecipitated with α-InsR Ab or α-V5 Ab. Cell lysates were analyzed by SDS/PAGE on 8% Tris-glycine gels then autoradiographed for imaging and relative quantification in *D* and *E*. Band intensity was normalized to cellular radioactivity incorporation. Data is presented as mean  $\pm$  standard deviation of three independent experiments. Statistical comparisons with controls were performed by an unpaired two-tailed Student's t-test. \*P < 0.05, \*\*P < 0.01, \*\*\*P < 0.001.

#### II.5.7. <u>PCSK9<sub>Q152H</sub> decreases proInsR mRNA levels through the activation of IRE1α</u>

Misfolded proteins are retained in the ER through their binding with lectin chaperones or in the case of misfolded InsR, for example, to BiP/GRP78 (Bass et al., 1998), the other main protein folding chaperone system of the ER. Accumulating misfolded proteins may overwhelm the ER activating a signaling pathway, termed the UPR pathway, further inducing ER adaptation. These processes allow for the adaptation of the ER by the upregulating of ER chaperone synthesis, activating ERAD, inhibiting global translation and/or stimulating autophagy, altogether favoring cell survival (Wang and Kaufman, 2016). Therefore, we first verified whether the downregulation of InsR could be rescued by inhibiting protein degradation through ERAD or autophagy by treating the cells with MG132 or chloroquine (Omari et al., 2018). The treatments showed no differences in total InsR levels when compared to control conditions (Figure II.5. 7A) suggesting that the effect was not mediated by protein degradation. In order to verify whether general translation is inhibited by the activation of PERK, one of the three main arms of UPR activated under chronic ER stress, we verified the activation status of eIF2 $\alpha$  (Wang et al., 2012). Indeed, PERK phosphorylates eIF2 $\alpha$ to inhibit translation (Zhang et al., 2002). However, there was no increase in eIF2 $\alpha$ phosphorylation when the InsR is co-transfected with un-cleaved, ER-retained mutants when compared to the control conditions (Figure II.5. 7B), suggesting that PERK is not activated, and general translation is not inhibited. Lastly, we show by quantitative polymerase chain reactions (Q-PCR) that the InsR mRNA was decreased under co-transfection conditions with WT PCSK9 and PCSK9<sub>0152H</sub> (Figure II.5. 7C). This decrease in InsR mRNA was paralleled by a significant increase in spliced XBP1 (sXBP1). XBP1 is spliced by IRE1a, an exonuclease activated under acute ER stress (Calfon et al., 2002; Yoshida et al., 2001). Therefore, co-transfection of InsR with either WT or uncleaved, ER-retained PCSK9 results in acute ER stress, leading to an adaptation of the cell, which prevents the activation of PERK, a chronic ER stress sensor.



Figure II.5. 7 The downregulatory effect of proPCSK9 is likely due to ER stress and acute UPR.

*A*, HEK293 cells were transiently co-transfected with control EV or InsR and control EV or PCSK9<sub>Q152H</sub>-V5 variant then treated with proteasomal and lysosomal inhibitors MG132 and chloroquine (5 mM, 150 mM O/N respectively). Cell lysates were analyzed by WB. *B*, HEK293 cells transiently co-expressing InsR with a control empty vector plasmid (EV), wild-type PCSK9-V5, PCSK9<sub>Q152H</sub>-V5 or PCSK9<sub>H226A</sub>-V5 were analyzed by WB for the activity of eIF2α, a global regulator of translation in response to cellular stress (left panel).*C* and *D*, HEK293 cells were transiently co-transfected with InsR and control EV, wild-type PCSK9-V5 or PCSK9<sub>Q152H</sub>-V5 variant. RNA was extracted for qPCR analysis of spliced XBP1 mRNA levels, upregulated upon ER stress, and InsR mRNA levels. Data is representative of three independent experiments.

#### II.6. Discussion

In light of several studies demonstrating positive associations of PCSK9 with impaired insulin and lipid homeostasis, we were interested in investigating the possible regulatory effect of PCSK9 directly on the insulin receptor and on insulin signaling. Indeed, insulin signaling in the liver plays a crucial role in maintaining whole body lipid homeostasis, including lipid production and lipid clearance. Insulin also regulates the expressions of the LDLR and PCSK9 thereby further modulating lipoprotein internalization kinetics and fractional catabolic rates.

We firstly demonstrate in this study that exogenous PCSK9 decreases InsR signaling in vivo in adult male mice and *in vitro* in immortalized human hepatocytes. This effect was prevented by monoclonal antibodies targeting the catalytic domain of PCSK9 but not by single domain antibodies targeting the CHRD domain of PCSK9 (results are summarized in Figure II.6.A). Whether this process may be causal in the relationship between PCSK9, liver insulin resistance and diabetic dyslipidemia requires further investigation. However, we also demonstrate in this study that the R46L variant also decreases insulin signaling in vitro. This variant has been associated with an increased risk for the development of T2DM by multi-centered epidemiological studies (Lotta et al., 2016; Nelson et al., 2019). Interestingly, this variant was associated with higher fasting plasma glucose and 2-hr post meal plasma glucose, which are primarily determined by hepatic glucose production and either impaired glucose stimulated insulin secretion or skeletal muscle sensitivity, respectively (Abdul-Ghani et al., 2008). The R46L variant as well as other gene lipid lowering variants (*HMGCR*, *NPC1L1*) have been proposed to be mechanistically causal for diabetes by increasing LDLR mediated LDLc clearance resulting in pancreatic  $\beta$  cells cholesterol lipotoxicity (Besseling et al., 2015; Ference et al., 2016). Therefore, decreasing PCSK9 upon treatment for hypercholesterolemia has been surveyed closely. However, the large-scale longerterm clinical trials have demonstrated no increased new onset diabetes or worsening of diabetes associated with PCSK9 inhibition, and on the contrary, have demonstrated increased absolute beneficial cardiovascular outcomes for diabetes vs. normoglycemic patients (Ray et al., 2019a; Sabatine et al., 2017). In order to verify this hypothesis, longer term follow-up is required, as was the case for the causal association of statin treatment with increased risk for T2DM (Preiss et al., 2011; Sattar et al., 2010). Importantly, new recommendations to lower LDLc to very low levels in high risk patients will require treatment with PCSK9 inhibitors (Allahyari et al., 2020). Therefore,

if PCSK9 alters insulin receptor signaling, treatment with these inhibitors will be even more beneficial for prediabetic and diabetic patients in improving liver insulin sensitivity.

We further demonstrate that PCSK9 downregulates the expression of the InsR under coexpression conditions with stronger reduction observed with unprocessed, ER-retained mutants (denoted as proPCSK9 in Figure II.6. B). Our study suggests that PCSK9 mediated the retention of proInsR in the ER while also increased InsR mRNA decay induced by acute ER stress activation.

Two independent studies demonstrated that carriers of unprocessed, ER-retained PCSK9 variants show significant decrease in circulating PCSK9, from virtually undetectable levels to ~50% reduction (Cariou et al., 2009; Mayne et al., 2011). *In vitro* these studies prevented secretion and demonstrated retention of WT PCSK9 in the ER as unprocessed proprotein, without affecting total PCSK9 levels. Similarly, in the present study we observe an increase in the ratio of proInsR/mature InsR, suggesting retention of proInsR in the ER by proPCSK9.

Moreover, the missense mutants, the prosegment alone (PCSK9<sub>pro</sub>) and PCSK9<sub>L455X</sub> (PCSK9<sub>LX</sub>) used in this study, have all been demonstrated to oligomerize (Benjannet et al., 2012). Whereas the CHRD domain, which did not affect InsR levels or retention in the ER, does not oligomerize (Benjannet et al., 2012). Variants in genes leading to protein oligomerization, or protein aggregation, upregulated UPR and ER storage disease (Callea et al., 1992). An example is *PCSK1* N221D variant which leads to childhood obesity and nutrient malabsorption. The etiopathology associated with this disease may be explained by both the lack of crucial active PC1 substrates in the hypothalamus and in the intestine but also from the proteotoxicity of misfolded PC1<sub>N221D</sub>, which further retains WT PC1 by aggregation in the ER (Ramos-Molina et al., 2016).

The canonical UPR response is modulated by the levels and duration of the stress (Rutkowski and Kaufman, 2004). It is triggered upon dissociation of BiP from three ER membrane bound sensors and binding to the exposed hydrophobic residues of misfolded proteins (Boot-Handford and Briggs, 2010). IRE1 $\alpha$  is one of the three membrane bound ER sensors, along with PERK and ATF6. Acute ER stress activates IRE1 $\alpha$ , an exonuclease that promotes protein remodeling. It alleviates the translocation and folding machinery through a process termed Regulated IRE1-Dependent Decay (RIDD), which leads to the rapid degradation of mRNAs that are targeted to the ER for protein translation (Hollien et al., 2009; Hollien and Weissman, 2006). IRE1 $\alpha$  also activates XBP1 by splicing XBP1 mRNA, allowing the product to reach the nucleus and upregulate the

expression of chaperones important to adapt to ER protein aggregation as well as lead to ERAD and/or autophagy (Pirog et al., 2019). In the present study, we observe an upregulation of the activity of the exonuclease IRE1a through the increased splicing of XBP1 upon expression of WT PCSK9 or uncleaved, ER-retained PCSK9 with InsR in comparison to InsR with control. Acute ER stress under these conditions could be induced by the PCSK9 oligomers. Indeed, ER stress has been demonstrated to increase PCSK9 expression, while retaining it in the ER (Lebeau et al., 2018). Moreover, even though PCSK9<sub>0152H</sub> has been demonstrated to elude the induction of the UPR (Benjannet et al., 2012; Lebeau et al., 2018; Lebeau et al., 2020), in alignment with the results from our study, this variant has nevertheless demonstrated increased susceptibility to ER stress activation in comparison to PCSK9<sub>WT</sub> (Lebeau et al., 2018). On the other hand, acute ER stress could also be induced by misfolded proInsR. Accordingly, the InsR has been demonstrated to bind BiP when misfolded, allowing it to be retained in the ER for proper refolding (Bass et al., 1998). Additionally, many studies have demonstrated ER stress and IRE1 a regulation of insulin receptor expression and activity. ER stress downregulated InsR expression ((Xu et al., 2010), our unpublished data) as well as trafficking from the ER to the cell surface (Brown et al., 2020), which is accompanied by strong inhibition of InsR signaling (Brown et al., 2020; Ozcan et al., 2004; Xu et al., 2010). Finally, studies reported RIDD activity in the downregulation of genes involved in lipid and lipoprotein biogenesis (So et al., 2012). Therefore, we report through our experiments that proPCSK9 may retain nascent receptors in the ER and that increased susceptibility to ER stress leads to the downregulation of their levels.

This work brings new perspectives on how PCSK9 could modulate the development of T2DM, either by affecting InsR biosynthesis and increasing susceptibility to ER stress or by decreasing insulin receptor downstream signaling. These results are promising for patients with and without diabetes or prediabetes since PCSK9 mAb have shown greater absolute benefit than patients without diabetes. If PCSK9 plays a role in insulin signaling, perhaps this mechanism could take part in the development of diabetic dyslipidemia. Therefore, PCSK9 could be a driver of dyslipidemia by: (i) decreasing LDLR levels thereby resulting in competition from TG rich lipoprotein remnants with LDLc for LDLR and result in decrease in fractional catabolic rates (Boren et al., 2020); (ii) increasing apoB-secretion; (iii) hepatic or even possibly muscle and adipose tissue impaired insulin receptor signaling.



Figure II.6. 1 Schematic diagram illustrating the extracellular and intracellular pathways through which PCSK9 regulates insulin signaling and InsR levels respectively

The graphic illustrations used in this figure are from Servier Medical art (https://smart.servier.com).

#### **II.7.** Additional Information

# II.7.1. Funding

This work was supported by the Canadian Institutes of Health Research grants Foundation Scheme 148363, a Canada Research Chair 231335 and a Foundation Leducq grant no. 13CVD03 (to N.G. Seidah).

# II.7.2. <u>Acknowledgements</u>

We thank all the members from the Seidah laboratory for helpful support and discussion. We also thank Manon Laprise from the Animal Core Facility for assistance in animal experiments. We acknowledge the previous help of Dr. Robert Dufour from the IRCM for the generous gift of evolocumab antibody. The authors acknowledge the helpful secretarial assistance of Brigitte Mary.

### II.7.3. Conflict of interest

The authors declare no conflict of interest with the contents of this article.

# II.7.4. <u>Author contributions</u>

JC conducted all of the experiments, analyzed the results and wrote the article. AE contributed to the cloning work. JE contributed to experimental design and scientific discussions. AP maintained the colonies for the mice in the C57BL/6J background. NGS contributed to the conception of the experiments, analysis of the data and writing of the article.

# II.8. References

Abdul-Ghani, M.A., Matsuda, M., Jani, R., Jenkinson, C.P., Coletta, D.K., Kaku, K., and DeFronzo, R.A. (2008). The relationship between fasting hyperglycemia and insulin secretion in subjects with normal or impaired glucose tolerance. Am J Physiol Endocrinol Metab *295*, E401-406.

Abifadel, M., Varret, M., Rabes, J.P., Allard, D., Ouguerram, K., Devillers, M., Cruaud, C., Benjannet, S., Wickham, L., Erlich, D., *et al.* (2003). Mutations in PCSK9 cause autosomal dominant hypercholesterolemia. Nat Genet *34*, 154-156.

Allahyari, A., Jernberg, T., Hagstrom, E., Leosdottir, M., Lundman, P., and Ueda, P. (2020). Application of the 2019 ESC/EAS dyslipidaemia guidelines to nationwide data of patients with a recent myocardial infarction: a simulation study. Eur Heart J *41*, 3900-3909.

Baass, A., Dubuc, G., Tremblay, M., Delvin, E.E., O'Loughlin, J., Levy, E., Davignon, J., and Lambert, M. (2009). Plasma PCSK9 is associated with age, sex, and multiple metabolic markers in a population-based sample of children and adolescents. Clin Chem 55, 1637-1645.

Bass, J., Chiu, G., Argon, Y., and Steiner, D.F. (1998). Folding of insulin receptor monomers is facilitated by the molecular chaperones calnexin and calreticulin and impaired by rapid dimerization. J Cell Biol *141*, 637-646.

Benjannet, S., Elagoz, A., Wickham, L., Mamarbachi, M., Munzer, J.S., Basak, A., Lazure, C., Cromlish, J.A., Sisodia, S., Checler, F., *et al.* (2001). Post-translational processing of beta-secretase (beta-amyloid-converting enzyme) and its ectodomain shedding. The pro- and transmembrane/cytosolic domains affect its cellular activity and amyloid-beta production. J Biol Chem *276*, 10879-10887.

Benjannet, S., Hamelin, J., Chretien, M., and Seidah, N.G. (2012). Loss- and gain-of-function PCSK9 variants: cleavage specificity, dominant negative effects, and low density lipoprotein receptor (LDLR) degradation. J Biol Chem 287, 33745-33755.

Benjannet, S., Rhainds, D., Essalmani, R., Mayne, J., Wickham, L., Jin, W., Asselin, M.C., Hamelin, J., Varret, M., Allard, D., *et al.* (2004). NARC-1/PCSK9 and its natural mutants: zymogen cleavage and effects on the low density lipoprotein (LDL) receptor and LDL cholesterol. J Biol Chem *279*, 48865-48875.

Benjannet, S., Rhainds, D., Hamelin, J., Nassoury, N., and Seidah, N.G. (2006). The proprotein convertase (PC) PCSK9 is inactivated by furin and/or PC5/6A: functional consequences of natural mutations and post-translational modifications. J Biol Chem *281*, 30561-30572.

Besseling, J., Kastelein, J.J., Defesche, J.C., Hutten, B.A., and Hovingh, G.K. (2015). Association between familial hypercholesterolemia and prevalence of type 2 diabetes mellitus. JAMA *313*, 1029-1036.

Bojanin, D., Vekic, J., Milenkovic, T., Vukovic, R., Zeljkovic, A., Stefanovic, A., Janac, J., Ivanisevic, J., Mitrovic, K., Miljkovic, M., *et al.* (2019). Association between proprotein convertase subtilisin/kexin 9 (PCSK9) and lipoprotein subclasses in children with type 1 diabetes mellitus: Effects of glycemic control. Atherosclerosis *280*, 14-20.

Boot-Handford, R.P., and Briggs, M.D. (2010). The unfolded protein response and its relevance to connective tissue diseases. Cell Tissue Res *339*, 197-211.

Boren, J., Chapman, M.J., Krauss, R.M., Packard, C.J., Bentzon, J.F., Binder, C.J., Daemen, M.J., Demer, L.L., Hegele, R.A., Nicholls, S.J., *et al.* (2020). Low-density lipoproteins cause atherosclerotic cardiovascular disease: pathophysiological, genetic, and therapeutic insights: a consensus statement from the European Atherosclerosis Society Consensus Panel. Eur Heart J *41*, 2313-2330.

Bravo, D.A., Gleason, J.B., Sanchez, R.I., Roth, R.A., and Fuller, R.S. (1994). Accurate and efficient cleavage of the human insulin proreceptor by the human proprotein-processing protease furin. Characterization and kinetic parameters using the purified, secreted soluble protease expressed by a recombinant baculovirus. J Biol Chem *269*, 25830-25837.

Brouwers, M.C., van Greevenbroek, M.M., Troutt, J.S., Bonner Freeman, A., Lu, A., Schaper, N.C., Konrad, R.J., and Stehouwer, C.D. (2011). Plasma proprotein convertase subtilisin kexin type 9 is a heritable trait of familial combined hyperlipidaemia. Clin Sci (Lond) *121*, 397-403.

Brown, M., Dainty, S., Strudwick, N., Mihai, A.D., Watson, J.N., Dendooven, R., Paton, A.W., Paton, J.C., and Schroder, M. (2020). Endoplasmic reticulum stress causes insulin resistance by inhibiting delivery of newly synthesized insulin receptors to the cell surface. Mol Biol Cell *31*, 2597-2629.

Brown, M.S., and Goldstein, J.L. (1997). The SREBP pathway: regulation of cholesterol metabolism by proteolysis of a membrane-bound transcription factor. Cell *89*, 331-340.

Calfon, M., Zeng, H., Urano, F., Till, J.H., Hubbard, S.R., Harding, H.P., Clark, S.G., and Ron, D. (2002). IRE1 couples endoplasmic reticulum load to secretory capacity by processing the XBP-1 mRNA. Nature *415*, 92-96.

Callea, F., Brisigotti, M., Fabbretti, G., Bonino, F., and Desmet, V.J. (1992). Hepatic endoplasmic reticulum storage diseases. Liver *12*, 357-362.

Cariou, B., Ouguerram, K., Zair, Y., Guerois, R., Langhi, C., Kourimate, S., Benoit, I., Le May, C., Gayet, C., Belabbas, K., *et al.* (2009). PCSK9 dominant negative mutant results in increased LDL catabolic rate and familial hypobetalipoproteinemia. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol *29*, 2191-2197.

Chen, Y., Huang, L., Qi, X., and Chen, C. (2019). Insulin Receptor Trafficking: Consequences for Insulin Sensitivity and Diabetes. Int J Mol Sci 20.

Cohen, J., Pertsemlidis, A., Kotowski, I.K., Graham, R., Garcia, C.K., and Hobbs, H.H. (2005). Low LDL cholesterol in individuals of African descent resulting from frequent nonsense mutations in PCSK9. Nat Genet *37*, 161-165.

Cohen, J.C., Boerwinkle, E., Mosley, T.H., Jr., and Hobbs, H.H. (2006). Sequence variations in PCSK9, low LDL, and protection against coronary heart disease. N Engl J Med *354*, 1264-1272.

Costet, P., Cariou, B., Lambert, G., Lalanne, F., Lardeux, B., Jarnoux, A.L., Grefhorst, A., Staels, B., and Krempf, M. (2006). Hepatic PCSK9 expression is regulated by nutritional status via insulin and sterol regulatory element-binding protein 1c. J Biol Chem *281*, 6211-6218.

Cui, Q., Ju, X., Yang, T., Zhang, M., Tang, W., Chen, Q., Hu, Y., Haas, J.V., Troutt, J.S., Pickard, R.T., *et al.* (2010). Serum PCSK9 is associated with multiple metabolic factors in a large Han Chinese population. Atherosclerosis *213*, 632-636.

Di Filippo, M., Vokaer, B., and Seidah, N.G. (2017). A case of hypocholesterolemia and steatosis in a carrier of a PCSK9 loss-of-function mutation and polymorphisms predisposing to nonalcoholic fatty liver disease. J Clin Lipidol *11*, 1101-1105.

Dubuc, G., Tremblay, M., Pare, G., Jacques, H., Hamelin, J., Benjannet, S., Boulet, L., Genest, J., Bernier, L., Seidah, N.G., *et al.* (2010). A new method for measurement of total plasma PCSK9: clinical applications. J Lipid Res *51*, 140-149.

Ference, B.A., Robinson, J.G., Brook, R.D., Catapano, A.L., Chapman, M.J., Neff, D.R., Voros, S., Giugliano, R.P., Davey Smith, G., Fazio, S., *et al.* (2016). Variation in PCSK9 and HMGCR and Risk of Cardiovascular Disease and Diabetes. N Engl J Med *375*, 2144-2153.

Ferri, N., Ruscica, M., Coggi, D., Bonomi, A., Amato, M., Frigerio, B., Sansaro, D., Ravani, A., Veglia, F., Capra, N., *et al.* (2020). Sex-specific predictors of PCSK9 levels in a European population: The IMPROVE study. Atherosclerosis *309*, 39-46.

Garvie, C.W., Fraley, C.V., Elowe, N.H., Culyba, E.K., Lemke, C.T., Hubbard, B.K., Kaushik, V.K., and Daniels, D.S. (2016). Point mutations at the catalytic site of PCSK9 inhibit folding, autoprocessing, and interaction with the LDL receptor. Protein Sci *25*, 2018-2027.

Grunberger, G., Geiger, D., Carpentier, J.L., Robert, A., and Gorden, P. (1989). Receptor-mediated endocytosis of insulin: inhibition of [1251]iodoinsulin internalization in insulin resistant diabetic states of man. Acta Endocrinol (Copenh) *121*, 581-586.

Hollien, J., Lin, J.H., Li, H., Stevens, N., Walter, P., and Weissman, J.S. (2009). Regulated Ire1dependent decay of messenger RNAs in mammalian cells. J Cell Biol *186*, 323-331.

Hollien, J., and Weissman, J.S. (2006). Decay of endoplasmic reticulum-localized mRNAs during the unfolded protein response. Science *313*, 104-107.

Lakoski, S.G., Lagace, T.A., Cohen, J.C., Horton, J.D., and Hobbs, H.H. (2009). Genetic and metabolic determinants of plasma PCSK9 levels. J Clin Endocrinol Metab *94*, 2537-2543.

Laugier-Robiolle, S., Verges, B., Le Bras, M., Gand, E., Bouillet, B., Saulnier, P.J., Le May, C., Pichelin, M., Marechaud, R., Petit, J.M., *et al.* (2017). Glycaemic control influences the relationship between plasma PCSK9 and LDL cholesterol in type 1 diabetes. Diabetes Obes Metab *19*, 448-451.

Lebeau, P., Platko, K., Al-Hashimi, A.A., Byun, J.H., Lhotak, S., Holzapfel, N., Gyulay, G., Igdoura, S.A., Cool, D.R., Trigatti, B., *et al.* (2018). Loss-of-function PCSK9 mutants evade the unfolded protein response sensor GRP78 and fail to induce endoplasmic reticulum stress when retained. J Biol Chem *293*, 7329-7343.

Lebeau, P.F., Wassef, H., Byun, J.H., Platko, K., Ason, B., Jackson, S., Dobroff, J., Shetterly, S., Richards, W.G., Al-Hashimi, A.A., *et al.* (2020). The loss-of-function PCSK9Q152H variant increases ER chaperones GRP78 and GRP94 and protects against liver injury. J Clin Invest.

Levenson, A.E., Milliren, C.E., Biddinger, S.B., Ebbeling, C.B., Feldman, H.A., Ludwig, D.S., and de Ferranti, S.D. (2017a). Calorically restricted diets decrease PCSK9 in overweight adolescents. Nutr Metab Cardiovasc Dis *27*, 342-349.

Levenson, A.E., Wadwa, R.P., Shah, A.S., Khoury, P.R., Kimball, T.R., Urbina, E.M., de Ferranti, S.D., Bishop, F.K., Maahs, D.M., Dolan, L.M., *et al.* (2017b). PCSK9 Is Increased in Youth With Type 1 Diabetes. Diabetes Care *40*, e85-e87.

Lippincott-Schwartz, J., Yuan, L., Tipper, C., Amherdt, M., Orci, L., and Klausner, R.D. (1991). Brefeldin A's effects on endosomes, lysosomes, and the TGN suggest a general mechanism for regulating organelle structure and membrane traffic. Cell *67*, 601-616.

Lotta, L.A., Sharp, S.J., Burgess, S., Perry, J.R.B., Stewart, I.D., Willems, S.M., Luan, J., Ardanaz, E., Arriola, L., Balkau, B., *et al.* (2016). Association Between Low-Density Lipoprotein Cholesterol-Lowering Genetic Variants and Risk of Type 2 Diabetes: A Meta-analysis. JAMA *316*, 1383-1391.

Lu, K., and Guidotti, G. (1996). Identification of the cysteine residues involved in the class I disulfide bonds of the human insulin receptor: properties of insulin receptor monomers. Mol Biol Cell 7, 679-691.

Mayne, J., Dewpura, T., Raymond, A., Bernier, L., Cousins, M., Ooi, T.C., Davignon, J., Seidah, N.G., Mbikay, M., and Chretien, M. (2011). Novel loss-of-function PCSK9 variant is associated with low plasma LDL cholesterol in a French-Canadian family and with impaired processing and secretion in cell culture. Clin Chem *57*, 1415-1423.

Nassoury, N., Blasiole, D.A., Tebon Oler, A., Benjannet, S., Hamelin, J., Poupon, V., McPherson, P.S., Attie, A.D., Prat, A., and Seidah, N.G. (2007). The cellular trafficking of the secretory proprotein convertase PCSK9 and its dependence on the LDLR. Traffic *8*, 718-732.

Nelson, C.P., Lai, F.Y., Nath, M., Ye, S., Webb, T.R., Schunkert, H., and Samani, N.J. (2019). Genetic Assessment of Potential Long-Term On-Target Side Effects of PCSK9 (Proprotein Convertase Subtilisin/Kexin Type 9) Inhibitors. Circ Genom Precis Med *12*, e002196.

Omari, S., Makareeva, E., Roberts-Pilgrim, A., Mirigian, L., Jarnik, M., Ott, C., Lippincott-Schwartz, J., and Leikin, S. (2018). Noncanonical autophagy at ER exit sites regulates procollagen turnover. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A *115*, E10099-E10108.

Ozcan, U., Cao, Q., Yilmaz, E., Lee, A.H., Iwakoshi, N.N., Ozdelen, E., Tuncman, G., Gorgun, C., Glimcher, L.H., and Hotamisligil, G.S. (2004). Endoplasmic reticulum stress links obesity, insulin action, and type 2 diabetes. Science *306*, 457-461.

Pirog, K.A., Dennis, E.P., Hartley, C.L., Jackson, R.M., Soul, J., Schwartz, J.M., Bateman, J.F., Boot-Handford, R.P., and Briggs, M.D. (2019). XBP1 signalling is essential for alleviating mutant protein aggregation in ER-stress related skeletal disease. PLoS Genet *15*, e1008215.

Preiss, D., Seshasai, S.R., Welsh, P., Murphy, S.A., Ho, J.E., Waters, D.D., DeMicco, D.A., Barter, P., Cannon, C.P., Sabatine, M.S., *et al.* (2011). Risk of incident diabetes with intensive-dose compared with moderate-dose statin therapy: a meta-analysis. JAMA *305*, 2556-2564.

Radhakrishnan, A., Goldstein, J.L., McDonald, J.G., and Brown, M.S. (2008). Switch-like control of SREBP-2 transport triggered by small changes in ER cholesterol: a delicate balance. Cell Metab *8*, 512-521.

Ramakrishnan, G., Arjuman, A., Suneja, S., Das, C., and Chandra, N.C. (2012). The association between insulin and low-density lipoprotein receptors. Diab Vasc Dis Res *9*, 196-204.

Ramos-Molina, B., Martin, M.G., and Lindberg, I. (2016). PCSK1 Variants and Human Obesity. Prog Mol Biol Transl Sci *140*, 47-74.

Ray, K.K., Colhoun, H.M., Szarek, M., Baccara-Dinet, M., Bhatt, D.L., Bittner, V.A., Budaj, A.J., Diaz, R., Goodman, S.G., Hanotin, C., *et al.* (2019a). Effects of alirocumab on cardiovascular and metabolic outcomes after acute coronary syndrome in patients with or without diabetes: a prespecified analysis of the ODYSSEY OUTCOMES randomised controlled trial. Lancet Diabetes Endocrinol *7*, 618-628.

Robertson, B.J., Moehring, J.M., and Moehring, T.J. (1993). Defective processing of the insulin receptor in an endoprotease-deficient Chinese hamster cell strain is corrected by expression of mouse furin. J Biol Chem *268*, 24274-24277.

Rutkowski, D.T., and Kaufman, R.J. (2004). A trip to the ER: coping with stress. Trends Cell Biol *14*, 20-28.

Sabatine, M.S., Giugliano, R.P., Keech, A.C., Honarpour, N., Wiviott, S.D., Murphy, S.A., Kuder, J.F., Wang, H., Liu, T., Wasserman, S.M., *et al.* (2017). Evolocumab and Clinical Outcomes in Patients with Cardiovascular Disease. N Engl J Med *376*, 1713-1722.

Sakai, J., Duncan, E.A., Rawson, R.B., Hua, X., Brown, M.S., and Goldstein, J.L. (1996). Sterolregulated release of SREBP-2 from cell membranes requires two sequential cleavages, one within a transmembrane segment. Cell *85*, 1037-1046.

Sattar, N., Preiss, D., Murray, H.M., Welsh, P., Buckley, B.M., de Craen, A.J., Seshasai, S.R., McMurray, J.J., Freeman, D.J., Jukema, J.W., *et al.* (2010). Statins and risk of incident diabetes: a collaborative meta-analysis of randomised statin trials. Lancet *375*, 735-742.

Scheffer, J., Hasenjager, S., and Taxis, C. (2019). Degradation of integral membrane proteins modified with the photosensitive degron module requires the cytosolic endoplasmic reticulum-associated degradation pathway. Mol Biol Cell *30*, 2558-2570.

Schippers, I.J., Moshage, H., Roelofsen, H., Muller, M., Heymans, H.S., Ruiters, M., and Kuipers, F. (1997). Immortalized human hepatocytes as a tool for the study of hepatocytic (de-)differentiation. Cell Biol Toxicol *13*, 375-386.

Seidah, N.G., Benjannet, S., Wickham, L., Marcinkiewicz, J., Jasmin, S.B., Stifani, S., Basak, A., Prat, A., and Chretien, M. (2003). The secretory proprotein convertase neural apoptosis-regulated convertase 1 (NARC-1): liver regeneration and neuronal differentiation. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A *100*, 928-933.

Seidah, N.G., and Prat, A. (2012). The biology and therapeutic targeting of the proprotein convertases. Nat Rev Drug Discov 11, 367-383.

So, J.S., Hur, K.Y., Tarrio, M., Ruda, V., Frank-Kamenetsky, M., Fitzgerald, K., Koteliansky, V., Lichtman, A.H., Iwawaki, T., Glimcher, L.H., *et al.* (2012). Silencing of lipid metabolism genes through IRE1alpha-mediated mRNA decay lowers plasma lipids in mice. Cell Metab *16*, 487-499.

Taylor, S.I., Accili, D., Cama, A., Kadowaki, H., Kadowaki, T., Imano, E., and Sierra, M.L. (1991). Mutations in the insulin receptor gene in patients with genetic syndromes of insulin resistance. Adv Exp Med Biol *293*, 197-213.

Terng, H.J., Gessner, R., Fuchs, H., Stahl, U., and Lang, C. (1998). Human transferrin receptor is active and plasma membrane-targeted in yeast. FEMS Microbiol Lett *160*, 61-67.

Timms, K.M., Wagner, S., Samuels, M.E., Forbey, K., Goldfine, H., Jammulapati, S., Skolnick, M.H., Hopkins, P.N., Hunt, S.C., and Shattuck, D.M. (2004). A mutation in PCSK9 causing autosomal-dominant hypercholesterolemia in a Utah pedigree. Hum Genet *114*, 349-353.

Wang, M., and Kaufman, R.J. (2016). Protein misfolding in the endoplasmic reticulum as a conduit to human disease. Nature *529*, 326-335.

Wang, Y., Huang, Y., Hobbs, H.H., and Cohen, J.C. (2012). Molecular characterization of proprotein convertase subtilisin/kexin type 9-mediated degradation of the LDLR. J Lipid Res *53*, 1932-1943.

Weider, E., Susan-Resiga, D., Essalmani, R., Hamelin, J., Asselin, M.C., Nimesh, S., Ashraf, Y., Wycoff, K.L., Zhang, J., Prat, A., *et al.* (2016). Proprotein convertase subtilisin/Kexin type 9 (PCSK9) single domain antibodies are potent inhibitors of low density lipoprotein receptor degradation. J Biol Chem 291, 26586.

Xu, L., Spinas, G.A., and Niessen, M. (2010). ER stress in adipocytes inhibits insulin signaling, represses lipolysis, and alters the secretion of adipokines without inhibiting glucose transport. Horm Metab Res *42*, 643-651.

Yoshida, H., Matsui, T., Yamamoto, A., Okada, T., and Mori, K. (2001). XBP1 mRNA is induced by ATF6 and spliced by IRE1 in response to ER stress to produce a highly active transcription factor. Cell *107*, 881-891.

Zhang, P., McGrath, B.C., Reinert, J., Olsen, D.S., Lei, L., Gill, S., Wek, S.A., Vattem, K.M., Wek, R.C., Kimball, S.R., *et al.* (2002). The GCN2 eIF2alpha kinase is required for adaptation to amino acid deprivation in mice. Mol Cell Biol *22*, 6681-6688.

# Chapter III: Manuscript 2 (to be submitted to The Journal of Biological Chemistry)

Title: "Islet and liver insulin-related phenotypic characterization of *Pcsk9*-/- mice"

Authors: Julie Cruanès, Anna Roubtsova, Jadwiga Marcinkiewicz, Annik Prat, Nabil G. Seidah

Journal: in the process of submission to The Journal of Biological Chemistry

Keywords: T2DM, PCSK9, LDLR, insulin resistance, steatosis, glucose homeostasis

# **III.1.** Preface

In the third chapter we turned towards the effect of the absence of PCSK9 on increased risk for T2DM. Under chronic conditions of increased LDLR-dependent LDLc internalization into peripheral tissues, lipotoxicity may result in impaired tissue function. In section I.1.8 we reviewed Mendelian randomization studies and large genetic epidemiologic studies which concurrently demonstrate an association between the loss of PCSK9 function and an increased risk for T2DM. Therefore, we present in this section the use of genetic mouse models in order to investigate the underlying mechanisms for these associations.

Islet and liver insulin-related phenotypic characterization of *Pcsk9*<sup>-/-</sup> mice

Julie Cruanès\*, Anna Roubtsova\*, Jadwiga Marcinkiewicz\*, Annik Prat\*, Nabil G. Seidah\*¶

\*Laboratory of Biochemical Neuroendocrinology, Institut de Recherches Cliniques de Montréal, affiliated to the University of Montreal; 110 Pine Ave. West, Montreal, QC H2W 1R7, Canada.

¶Corresponding author: Nabil G. Seidah, Laboratory of Biochemical Neuroendocrinology, Institut de Recherches Cliniques de Montréal, 110 Pine Ave. West, Montréal, QC H2W 1R7, Canada. Tel: (514) 987-5609; E-mail: <u>seidahn@ircm.qc.ca</u>

Keywords: T2DM, PCSK9, LDLR, insulin resistance, steatosis, glucose homeostasis

#### **III.2.** Abstract

PCSK9 is a promising new therapeutic target for the prevention of cardiovascular disease, where its inhibition has led to the decrease of atherogenic LDLc to unprecedented levels. Concerns over the safety of clearance of LDLc into peripheral tissues have led to population studies identifying a potential risk for the development of T2DM upon long-term inhibition of PCSK9. Cholesterol and fatty acids are known to induce lipotoxic effects when intracellular levels are unbalanced leading to the progressive decline of tissue function. We demonstrate in the present study that in older PCSK9 KO mice, the chronic absence of PCSK9 does not result in impaired  $\beta$ -cell function, increased fat mass or hepatic insulin resistance and steatosis. Furthermore, upon over-night fasting and 24 hr refeeding challenges, the livers of these mice showed very similar regulation of lipogenic genes and lipid droplet accumulation. The LDLR, in contrast to the InsR, demonstrated differential regulation in the PCSK9 KO mice, the absence of PCSK9 does not lead to deleterious effects on insulin metabolism, however, further studies in humanized plasma lipid mouse models would be helpful for these investigations.

#### **III.3.** Introduction

Proprotein convertase subtilisin/kexin type 9 (PCSK9) was identified as the last member of the proprotein convertase family of enzymes that activate or inactivate various proteins, such as hormones, growth factors and their receptors, bacterial and viral proteins, transcription factors and secretory pathway proteins (Seidah et al., 2003). This family of proteases is therefore implicated in several diseases (degenerative, oncogenic, metabolic and inflammatory, for instance) (Seidah and Prat, 2012). Family linkage studies interested in the discovery of FH causing genes defined the critical role of PCSK9 in the modulation of LDLc in their identification of the PCSK9 gene as the third locus for FH (Abifadel et al., 2003). Polymorphisms in the gene allowed for the sequencing of many GOF and LOF variants which have been associated with increased or decreased risk for cardiovascular disease, respectively (Allard et al., 2005; Cohen et al., 2005; Homer et al., 2008; Miyake et al., 2008; Noguchi et al., 2010). Further studies demonstrated that PCSK9 is secreted by hepatocytes into the circulation exclusively (Zaid et al., 2008), targets the LDLR and other receptors for degradation in the lysosome and/or the proteasome in a nonenzymatic way (Seidah et al., 2017). The mechanism may be extracellular driven, such as for hepatocytes, or intracellular driven such as for the adrenal glands and the intestine (Seidah et al., 2012).

Mendelian randomization studies may use GOF or LOF variants as proxies for the identification of long-term effects from treatment with certain drugs. Statins, which are currently the main treatment avenue for hypercholesterolemia, target the rate limiting step of the mevalonate pathway, the HMG-CoA reductase enzyme, and have been associated with a dose-dependent increased risk for the development of T2DM (Preiss et al., 2011; Sattar et al., 2010). This association was also true for LOF variants from the gene (*HMGCR*) (Swerdlow et al., 2015). Interestingly, both the variants and the drug demonstrate reduced association when corrections for the confounding BMI or waist-to-hip ratio are done, further suggesting that the mechanism for the development of T2DM upon inhibition of the mevalonate pathway may in part be explained by insulin resistance (Ference et al., 2016; Lotta et al., 2016; Swerdlow et al., 2015). In turn, the discovery of PCSK9, as a central element regulating cholesterol homeostasis, arose much interest in targeting the circulating protein for the treatment of ASCVD. However, because of the known predisposition that statins confer for the risk of T2DM, studies have also looked through Mendelian

randomization whether the inhibition of PCSK9 could, through a similar mechanism, result in these adverse and detrimental effects (Ference et al., 2016; Lotta et al., 2016). Indeed, these large epidemiological studies have shown that LOF variants in PCSK9 confer an increased risk by association with elevated fasting plasma glucose or insulin and elevated 2hr plasma glucose postmeal. These in turn suggest either impaired GSIS, muscle insulin resistance or increased hepatic glucose production (upon selective insulin resistance, a priming event in the development of T2DM) (Abdul-Ghani et al., 2008). Accordingly, LDLc has been demonstrated in mouse genetic models and in cells to be damaging to  $\beta$ -cell function – due to several mechanisms including excess cholesterol uncoupling of glucose sensing and metabolism with granule fusion to the plasma membrane for secretion (Oh et al., 2018). Therefore, because both statins and PCSK9 inhibition result in increased clearance of plasma LDLc and TG-rich lipoprotein particle remnants, the increased activity of the LDLR would lead to lipotoxicity to cells and tissues.

Hence, we investigated whether in whole body PCSK9 KO mice: (i) increased LDLR in pancreatic  $\beta$ -cells leads to impaired insulin secretion; and (ii) in hepatocytes, the absence of PCSK9 leads to fatty liver either from excess lipoprotein internalization (LDLc and TG-rich lipoprotein remnants) or from selective hepatic insulin resistance – increased *de novo* lipogenesis and gluconeogenesis.

We show that PCSK9 deficiency in 6-months old male mice does not lead to impaired  $\beta$ -cell function, muscle of liver insulin sensitivity, or modulated hepatic *de novo* lipogenesis. We further show that the absence of PCSK9 leads to a differentially regulated hepatic LDLR but not InsR upon fasting and refeeding metabolic challenge.

# III.4. Methodology

#### III.4.1. <u>Animals, treatments and plasma analyses</u>

All procedures were approved by the IRCM animal care committee. WT (wild-type), and PCSK9 KO (Zaid et al., 2008) mice were on the C57BL/6 background, housed under 12-h light/dark cycles, and fed chow (Teklad Global) diet. Mice were sacrificed at 3 months of age after fasting for 3 h, unless specified. Pancreas insulin was extracted by acid-ethanol (1.5% HCl in 70% ethanol) and neutralized with Tris pH 7.5. For glucose tolerance and in vivo insulin secretion tests, tail blood samples were collected from 4 h-fasted, 6-7 months old male mice after an i.p. injection of 1.5 g/kg body weight D-glucose. Plasma glucose levels were measured using an automatic glucose monitor (Bravo, EndoMedical). Insulin tolerance tests were with human insulin (Lilly, 1.5 U/kg) injected i.p. in 4 h-fasted mice. Pyruvate tolerance test were performed by i.p. injection (Sigma-Aldrich, 2 g/kg body weight) in 4 h-fasted mice. Fasting and refeeding experiments were conducted on 3 months old male mice. Mice were fasted for 18 h and refed for 24 h, blood and liver samples were collected before the fast, after the fast and after the refeeding. Serum was collected after the blood samples were allowed to clot then stored at -80°C, liver samples were immediately frozen with dry ice or ice-cold isopentane, embedded in OCT compound (Scigen) to be stored at -80°C. Insulin and C-peptide was measured by ELISA (Alpco). Serum PCSK9 was also measured by ELISA (CircuLex mouse/rat PCSK9 ELISA kit, MBL). HOMA-IR calculations: Glc(mmol/L) x Ins (mU/L) / 22.5 (Friedewald et al., 1972).

#### III.4.2. Mouse islet isolation

Mouse pancreas was enzymatically digested following bile duct perfusion with 0.4 u/ml Liberase TL (Roche) in Hank's Balanced Salt Solution (HBSS) buffer ( $Ca^{2+}/Mg^{2+}$ ) followed by mechanical digestion by shaking in buffer without  $Ca^{2+}/Mg^{2+}$  containing 0.1% BSA and 20 mM HEPES pH 7.4. The digested cell pellet was washed in HBSS buffer and resuspended in Histopaque 1077 (Sigma-Aldrich) overlaid with RPMI 1640 without glucose (Thermo Fisher Scientific) prior to gradient separation by centrifugation. Handpicked islets were cultured

overnight in recovery medium, 11 mM glucose RPMI 1640, (10% FBS and penicillin/streptomycin) (Wisent).

#### III.4.3. <u>Static islet glucose-stimulated insulin secretion</u>

18 h post islet extraction, ten islets of similar size from each mouse/well were equilibrated for  $2 \times 20$  min in KRBH buffer containing 0.01 mM fatty-acid free BSA and 2.8 mM glucose. Islets were sequentially cultured for 1 h each in KRBH buffer containing 0.04 mM fatty-acid-free BSA and 2.8 mM glucose, 28 mM glucose. Insulin content was determined following lysis in 1.5%/70% HCl/EtOH.

#### III.4.4. <u>Immunoblotting and antibodies</u>

Tissue proteins were extracted with RIPA 1X buffer (50 mM Tris/HCl pH 8, 150 mM NaCl, 0.1% SDS, 1% Nonidet P40, and 0.25% Na deoxycholate) with a cocktail of protease inhibitors (cOmplete, Roche) and a cocktail of phosphatase inhibitors (PhosSTOP, Sigma) for insulin signaling experiments. Bradford assay was used to evaluate the protein concentrations. For immunoblotting, 30 µg of proteins were resolved on SDS/PAGE (8% to 10% Tris-glycine) and transferred onto nitrocellulose membranes. Membranes were blocked with fat-free 5% milk powder dissolved in Tris buffer saline (0.1 M Tris/HCL pH 8 and 1.5 M NaCl) containing 0.1% Tween-100 (TBS-T). Incubations with primary and secondary antibodies coupled to horseradish peroxidase were done in 5% milk overnight at 4°C and over 2 hrs at room temperature, respectively, except for Cell Signaling Technology antibodies which were revealed in 5% fatty acid free BSA dissolved in TBS-T. All membrane proteins were detected by chemiluminescence (Bio-Rad), revealed and analysed using the ChemiDoc MP imaging system (Bio-Rad) or using films followed by ImageJ quantification.

Primary antibodies used:

- α-InsRβ (Enzo Life Sciences, ADI-905-603-100);
- α-mLDLR (R&D Systems, AF2255);
- α-P-S473 Akt (Cell Signaling Technology, 9271);
- α-Akt (total) (Cell Signaling Technology, 9272);

•  $\alpha$ -  $\beta$ -actin (Sigma-Aldrich, A2066);

Secondary antibodies used:

- α-mouse-HRP (VWR, CA95017-556L);
- α-rabbit-HRP (VWR, CA95017-332L);
- α-goat-HRP (Santa Cruz, Sc 2020).

# III.4.5. Gene expression

Total RNA from liver was extracted with TRIzol (Invitrogen). Total RNA from islets was extracted using RNeasy Mini Kit (Qiagen). cDNA was generated from 250 ng of total RNA using a SuperScript II cDNA reverse transcriptase (Invitrogen). Quantitative PCR was done using the SYBR Select Master Mix (Applied Biosystems, Carlsbad, CA) and the following sense and antisense primers: mPCSK9, 5'-CAGGGAGCACATTGCATCC and 5'-TGCAAAATCAA-GGAGCATGGG; LDLR, 5'-GGAGATGCACTTGCCATCCT 5'and AGGCTGTCCCCCCAAGAC; and mHMGCR, 5'-GTACGGAGAAAGCACTGCTGAA and 5'-TGACTGCCAGAATCTGCATGTC; mSREBF2, 5'- CTGCAGGACTTGAAAGCTGG and 5'-GTCTCTCCTACCCACCAAG: mGck 5'- CAGCTCGCCCATGTACTTT 5'and ACCGGATGGTGGATGAGA; mIns1, 5'- CACCAGCATCTGCTCCCTCTA 5'and GTCGAGGTGGGCCTTAGTTG; mIns2, 5'- GGCTTCTTCTACACACCCATGTC and 5'-AGCTCCAGTTGTGCCACTTGT; mChREBP, 5'- CGGTGCTCATCTGCTTCA and 5'-TCTGGAGAGCCTGGTACAT; mSREBF1, 5'- GTCACTGTCTTGGTTGTTGATG and 5'-AGATGTGCGAACTGGACAC; mFasn, 5'- TCTCGGGATCTCTGCTAAGG and 5'-GCTGTTGGAAGTCAGCTATGA. Each gene expression was normalized to that of mHPRT (hypoxanthine phosphoribosyl transferase) 5'-CCGAGGATTTGGAAAAAGTGTT and 5'-CTTCATGACATCTCGAGCAAGT.

# III.4.6. Immunohistochemistry

For InsR staining, OCT embedded cryosections (6 µm thick) were immediately fixed in 4% paraformaldehyde in PBS for 1 h, rinsed three times in PBS, and blocked in 2% BSA (Sigma-Aldrich, Oakville, ON) in PBS for 1 h at room temperature. Sections were then incubated overnight

at 4°C with a goat antibody against mouse InsR (1:150; Abcam, ab5500) in PBS containing 1% BSA and washed three times for 10 min in PBS. Labeling was visualized by incubation with Alexa Fluor 488-labeled anti-goat IgGs (1:150; Invitrogen, Burlington, ON) for 1 h at room temperature in PBS. After three 10 min washes, nuclei were counterstained with Hoechst dye (Sigma-Aldrich). After two short washes, the sections were dipped in 70% ethanol and closed using 90% glycerol. Images were acquired as described previously (Roubtsova et al., 2011).

#### III.4.7. <u>Oil Red O</u>

To detect neutral lipids from liver, OCT embedded cryosections rehydrated and fixed for 1h in 4% paraformaldehyde, pH 7.4, washed in PBS1x. Sections are stained in 0.5g of Oil Red O (Allied Chemicals) dissolved in 100 ml of isopropanol (everything done on ice) then diluted in distilled water (3:2 ratio). Slides closed with VectaMount AQ Aqueous Mounting Medium (Vector Laboratories). Imaging was done using Osteomeasure Imaging software (Osteometrics).

# III.4.8. <u>Statistical analysis</u>

Data comparing only two groups were analyzed by unpaired student *t*-tests. For data sets with two variables or multiple measurements, two-way ANOVA followed by post-hoc analysis (Holm–Sidak or Fisher's LSD test) determined significance of individual points. Analysis performed using Microsoft Excel and GraphPad Prism. Unless indicated, values are mean ± SEM.

#### III.5. Results

#### III.5.1. PCSK9 deficiency does not affect insulin homeostasis in 6 months old male mice.

Previous studies have demonstrated that the absence of PCSK9 in mice leads to the upregulation of LDLR expression in pancreatic islets, including at the surface of  $\beta$ -cells (Da Dalt et al., 2019; Langhi et al., 2009; Mbikay et al., 2010). Therefore, we firstly confirmed this regulation by extracting protein from whole pancreas and from freshly isolated islets from Pcsk9 WT and KO mice and analyzing the relative expression of LDLR by immunoblot. Our results demonstrate a significant ~2-fold and ~1.67-fold increase in LDLR protein content PCSK9 KO mice vs. to WT mice in the whole pancreas and islets, respectively (Figure III.5.1.A and B). These ratios are consistent with previously published data (Da Dalt et al., 2019; Langhi et al., 2009; Mbikay et al., 2010). Whether PCSK9 KO islets contain similar, increased or decreased insulin levels is controversial. Therefore, we solubilized insulin from pancreata of PCSK9 WT and KO mice and measured insulin by ELISA. Our results demonstrate no significant difference in total pancreatic insulin (Figure III.5.1.C). In addition, Insulin 1 and 2 gene expression is not significantly affected in these mice, demonstrated by mRNA relative quantification by Q-PCR (Figure III.5.1.D). The previous studies have moreover investigated the effect of absence of PCSK9 on islet intracellular cholesterol in order to verify whether the observed increased LDLR expression would lead to increased activity and LDLc internalization. Langhi et al. demonstrated equivalent intracellular cholesterol, in accordance with studies that demonstrated that increased LDLc internalization does not lead to increased intracellular cholesterol unless Abcal gene is impaired (Brunham et al., 2007; Kruit et al., 2010b; Langhi et al., 2009). However, Da Dalt et al. demonstrated a significant increased intracellular cholesterol accompanied by significantly increased fatty acids (Da Dalt et al., 2019). In order to determine whether  $\beta$ -cells were under excess cholesterol, we analyzed the activity of the SREBP-2, which senses intracellular cholesterol levels such that upon <5 mol% endoplasmic reticulum membrane cholesterol translocated to the Golgi apparatus where the transcription factor is activated by proteolysis, allowing it to upregulate genes involved in cholesterol synthesis and internalization (Das et al., 2013). We measured the expression of these target genes by Q-PCR. Even though the Ldlr in PCSK9 KO vs. WT was significantly decreased by ~20%, Srebf2 and Hmgcr were not significantly altered (Figure

III.5.1.E), suggesting that cholesterol biosynthesis is not significantly altered between both genotypes, in accordance with Langhi *et al* (Langhi et al., 2009). Therefore, in our study mice lacking PCSK9 showed increased LDLR levels in the islets of Langerhans, however there was no significant effect on intra-islet insulin content or cholesterol content.

We then investigated whether the absence of PCSK9 decreases glucose tolerance and insulin secretion, as has been previously demonstrated (Da Dalt et al., 2019; Lebeau et al., 2019; Mbikay et al., 2010). We conducted a glucose tolerance test (GTT) in older mice (6 months-old male mice) by injecting glucose intraperitoneally (1.5 g/kg mouse body weight) after a 4 hour fast. Plasma glucose and insulin were measured at different time points to analyze the first and second phases of insulin secretion (Figure III.5.1.F and G). Our results demonstrated no significant differences in the glucose tolerance and insulin secretion between PCSK9 WT and KO, in accordance with Langhi et al., (Langhi et al., 2009). The rate of insulin internalization was compared between both genotypes by measuring the ratio of plasma insulin to C-peptide at t = 0 min and t = 15 min post glucose intraperitoneal injection. C-peptide is the domain in proinsulin that is cleaved and secreted from insulin granules in equal amounts to proteolytically matured insulin but, in contrast with insulin, it is not rapidly internalized by hepatocytes and displays a much longer plasma half-life than insulin. Our results suggest equivalent hepatocyte uptake rates of insulin between WT and KO mice pre- and post-glucose challenge (Figure III.5.1.H). Finally, in order to investigate the islets' insulin secretion capacity directly, we isolated islets from mice of both genotypes and performed ex vivo GSIS. Our results suggest a non-significant trend towards increased insulin secretion by KO islets (Figure III.5.1.I), confirming that the absence of PCSK9 does not impair GSIS. Overall, we observe no defects in glucose or insulin homeostasis from PCSK9 KO islets.



Figure III.5. 1 PCSK9 deficiency does not affect insulin homeostasis in 6 months old male mice.

*A* and *B*, Immunoblot analysis of LDLR from total pancreas and freshly isolated islets of PCSK9 WT and KO mice; n = 3 mice/genotype. *C*, Insulin solubilized from pancreas of PCSK9 WT and KO mice measured by ELISA; n = 4-5 mice/genotype. *D* and *E*, islet mRNA isolated from both groups analyzed by Q-PCR; n = 3 mice/genotype. *F* and *G*, Blood glucose and insulin, respectively, were monitored during an intraperitoneal glucose tolerance test (IPGTT) (1.5 g/kg body weight); n = 9 or 10 mice/genotype. *H*, plasma insulin and C-peptide were measured by ELISA. The insulin to C-peptide ratio is represented for *Pcsk9* WT and KO mice at t = 0 min and t = 15 min of the IPGTT. *I*, 24 hrs after islets from both groups were isolated a GSIS test was done. Secreted insulin was measured by ELISA; n = 6-8 mice/genotype. Data represented by mean  $\pm$  SEM. \*p<0.05.

# III.5.2. <u>PCSK9 deficiency does not affect peripheral organ insulin sensitivity in 6 months</u> <u>old male mice</u>

A critical publication from our group demonstrated that the absence of PCSK9 in 6 months old mice leads to a marked significant increase in visceral fat, and that this increase is likely due to the upregulation of VLDLR expression at the surface of adjpocytes (Roubtsova et al., 2011). These, in turn, demonstrated hypertrophy and a significant increase in the incorporation of <sup>3</sup>H-oleate. Both liver and fat demonstrated increased *de novo* lipogenesis, evidenced by increased <sup>14</sup>C-glucose incorporation into triglycerides. Importantly, in obesity, visceral fat (abdominal fat) is the strongest predictor associated with an increased risk in diabetes or prediabetes independently of overall adiposity. Other predictors include BMI, waist circumference, and waist to height ratio (Despres, 2006; Jung et al., 2016). Indeed, visceral fat plays a direct role in the pathophysiology of insulin resistance and T2DM by secreting diabetogenic and inflammatory proteins (Gabriely et al., 2002). Therefore, we were interested in investigating whether increased visceral fat could lead to insulin resistance in PCSK9 KO mice. We first analyzed fat mass and lean mass of PCSK9 WT and KO 6 months old male mice by magnetic resonance imaging (MRI). There was no significant difference in the relative masses to body weight ratios (Figure III.5.S.1 in Appendices). In order to look more closely into visceral fat, perigonadal adipose tissue (PAD) was collected and weighed. According to Roubtsova et al., we were expecting an increase in ~77% for Pcsk9 KO 6 months old male mice (Roubtsova et al., 2011), however we observed a ~23% non-significant increase (Figure III.5.2.A). Increased fasting plasma glucose has also been reported to be associated with the loss of PCSK9 in previous mouse genetic studies and in Mendelian randomization studies were (Ference et al., 2016; Lotta et al., 2016; Mbikay et al., 2010). We observed no differences in fasting glucose or insulin in PCSK9 KO vs. WT mice (Figure III.5.2.B-C). Moreover, the insulin tolerance test (ITT) (1.5 U/kg body weight) demonstrated no changes between both genotypes, suggesting no differences in muscle insulin sensitivity to upregulate glucose receptors and internalize the plasma glucose (Figure III.5.2.D). The pyruvate tolerance test (PTT) (2 g/kg body weight) demonstrated a significant increase in plasma glucose for PCSK9 KO mice compared to WT mice, likely due to increased liver gluconeogenesis (2-way Anova, p =0.008), however, the area under the curve of the PTT revealed no significant differences between both groups (Mann Whitney test) (Figure III.5.2.E). These suggest that there may be a trend for
PCSK9 KO mice for increased gluconeogenesis, but more experiments are required to confirm this. The response to insulin was also examined directly by the liver through an injection of insulin (0.5 U/kg body weight) into the inferior vena cava of mice from both genotypes, the livers were collected and P-Akt was analyzed by immunoblot as a measure of insulin downstream signaling. No significant differences were observed, perhaps due to high variability in the response from KO mice (Figure III.5.2.G). In summary, the absence of PCSK9 did not reproduce previous findings for increased visceral fat mass, no evidence for hepatic or muscle insulin intolerance was detected in these studies.



Figure III.5. 2 PCSK9 deficiency does not affect peripheral organ insulin sensitivity in 6 months old male mice.

*A*, Perigonadal adipose tissue and mice from both PCSK9 WT and KO groups were weighed. The ratio is expressed as a percentage; n = 9-10 mice/genotype. *B*, and *C*, plasma glucose and insulin were measured after a 4 hr fast for both groups; n = 9-10 mice/genotype. *D* and *E*, an ITT (1.5 U/kg body weight) and a PTT (2 g/kg body weight) were performed on PCSK9 WT and KO mice; n = 9-10 mice/genotype. *F*, AUC of the PTT was measured for both groups; n = 9-10 mice/genotype. *G*, Liver insulin sensitivity was assessed by injection of insulin (0.5 U/kg mouse body weight) into inferior vena cava of PCSK9 WT and KO mice; n = 3-6 mice/genotype. Data represented by mean ± SEM.

# III.5.3. <u>PCSK9 deficiency does modulate liver fatty acid synthesis response to O/N fasting</u> and refeeding

Even though the 6 months old cohort of PCSK9 WT and KO mice did not show any evidence of impaired glucose and insulin homeostasis, these mice may be susceptible for the development of insulin resistance. This may be because previous studies have demonstrated that the livers of PCSK9 KO mice accumulate triglycerides in lipid droplets (LD), likely due to the regulatory activity of PCSK9 on both the LDLR and the fatty acid transport protein, CD36 (Demers et al., 2015; Lebeau et al., 2019). The accumulation of ectopic lipids in insulin responsive tissues may cause insulin resistance. For example, the accumulation of diacylglycerol in tissues due to overwhelming of lipid oxidation or conversion into triacylglycerol may lead to the activation of PKCE which interferes with insulin signaling (Samuel et al., 2010). Moreover, CD36 is associated with insulin resistance, obesity and T2DM due to its function in metabolism by participating in the uptake of free fatty acids, TG storage and secretion (Koonen et al., 2007). Demers et al. demonstrated that PCSK9 KO mice had a ~4-fold increase in hepatic triglyceride (Demers et al., 2015). Lebeau et al. demonstrated that along with increased LD under both normal control diet and high fat diet, PCSK9 KO mice also showed decreased lipogenesis through the downregulation of Pgc1a mRNA expression, a coactivator of liver X receptor (LXR) transcription factor which activates fatty acid synthase (FAS) (Lebeau et al., 2019). Indeed, lipogenic genes are coordinately regulated at the transcription level due to common features in the promoters. In particular, the glycolytic and lipogenic transcription factors SREBP-1c and carbohydrate responsive element binding protein (ChREBP) are required for the induction lipogenic genes and may also include USF and LXR (Linden et al., 2018). The process of *de novo* lipogenesis is tightly controlled by hormones and nutritional status or substrate influx, therefore the activities and expression of the genes involved in this process are regulated during the fasting and refeeding cycle. As such, analyzing the expression of these genes may provide an insight into the signaling pathways that are upregulated. Therefore, we assessed *de novo* lipogenesis by measuring the expression of key genes by Q-PCR during a metabolic challenge to better investigate how this process is regulated in PCSK9 WT and KO mice. We analyzed the expression of Srebf1, Chrebp, Fasn, and Acc (Acetyl-CoA carboxylase) in 4-months old male PCSK9 WT and KO mice. Our results clearly demonstrate regulation by nutritional status of these genes for both genotypes. We expected

PCSK9 KO mice to demonstrate decreased expression of these genes under basal conditions, however there was no significant difference between both groups for the level of expression for any of the genes analyzed (Figure III.5.3.A-D). Although preliminary results (not shown) demonstrate an upregulation of Scd1 (stearoyl-CoA desaturase-1) in PCSK9 KO mice vs. WT mice (2-2.5-fold increase) under steady state conditions. Our results are in accordance with previous studies demonstrating that fatty acid synthesis is downregulated during fasting, instead the product of ACC, malonyl-coA, is decreased allowing for  $\beta$ -oxidation of fatty acids (Heijboer et al., 2005). Furthermore, staining of neutral lipids from livers of these mice demonstrated that there were no significant differences in lipid droplets content between PCSK9 WT and KO mice under any of conditions of the fasting and refeeding challenge, in contrast to what had been previously published (Demers et al., 2015; Lebeau et al., 2019) (Figure III.5.3.E). Although they correspond well with the observation that the lipogenic genes from both genotypes are similarly regulated. Therefore, lipid synthesis and accumulation into lipid droplets was very similar between both genotypes suggesting that the absence of PCSK9 does not lead to excess substrate influx through previously published increased CD36 mediated uptake of FFAs from adipose tissue during fasting (Demers et al., 2015; Lebeau et al., 2019).



Figure III.5. 3 PCSK9 deficiency does not modulate liver fatty acid synthesis in response to O/N fasting and refeeding.

PCSK9 WT and KO mice were fasted for 16 hrs and refed for 24 hrs. *A-D*, the expression of genes implicated in *de novo* lipogenesis was measured by Q-PCR from liver RNA samples; n = 4-6 mice/condition for each genotype. *E*, Liver neutral lipid droplet staining (oil red O) was performed for both groups. Representative images from 3 independent experiments show lipid droplet size and concentration decreasing gradient from the central vein (CV) towards the portal vein (PV); n = 7-9 mice/genotype, scale bar: 40 µm. Data represented by mean ± SEM.

# III.5.4. <u>An O/N fasting and refeeding challenge does not modulate LDLR expression in contrast to InsR</u>

Previous studies had demonstrated that PCSK9 is regulated by nutritional status (Costet et al., 2006; Persson et al., 2010) and it was suggested that post-translational regulation of LDLR by PCSK9 was important to maintain stable plasma LDLc during fasting conditions (Persson et al., 2010). Therefore, we firstly confirmed that overnight fasting leads to almost undetectable plasma and liver concentrations of PCSK9 and that refeeding induces its expression (Figure III.5.4.A). Figure III.5.4.B shows that refeeding is a potent inducer of PCSK9 expression as post-16hr of fasting, refeeding increased PCSK9 linearly; at 24 hrs post refeeding, PCSK9 levels increased by ~21-fold. Then we investigated whether LDLR protein expression is altered by fasting and refeeding. Our results demonstrate that in PCSK9 WT mice the LDLR is stable under all conditions, while in PCSK9 KO mice, a significant increase in LDLR is observed under refeeding conditions, likely due to the combined effect of increased SREBP-1c activity and the absence of circulating PCSK9 (Figure III.5.4.C). Therefore, PCSK9 is required of the stable protein expression of LDLR in hepatocytes, which likely participates in maintaining stable LDLc plasma concentrations even under strenuous fasting conditions (Persson et al., 2010).

It is known that insulin is the major regulator of InsR levels, where prolonged elevated insulin plasma levels lead to downregulation of InsR, exemplified in obese and insulin resistant patients or mice which show decreased InsR levels (Bar et al., 1976; Grunberger et al., 1989; Soll et al., 1975). Previous reports suggested that InsR is upregulated during fasting (Contreras et al., 1990; Rouiller et al., 1988; Tozzo and Desbuquois, 1992). Gorden *et al.* also demonstrated that corticosteroids increase InsR (Fantus et al., 1981). Since fasting conditions lead to increased corticosteroids in both mice and humans (Bergendahl et al., 1996; Jensen et al., 2013), corticosteroids could be at least in part responsible for the upregulation of InsR under fasting conditions. In our study, we confirm that total protein and cell surface hepatocyte InsR levels significantly increase after an overnight fast (Fig. 5A, B). Moreover, PCSK9 WT and KO mice show similar regulation of this receptor in contrast to the differentially regulated LDLR (Figure III.5.5.A, B). Our results suggest that PCSK9 does not participate in the post-translational regulation of InsR.



Figure III.5. 4 PCSK9 maintains stable and hepatic LDLR expression after a strenuous O/N fasting challenge.

*A*, plasma and liver PCSK9 concentrations during fasting and refeeding challenge measured by ELISA; n = 5-6 mice/condition. *B*, plasma PCSK9 concentrations observe a linear increase upon refeeding post 16-hr fast. PCSK9 levels were measured by ELISA. Mean steady state PCSK9 concentration is represented by a full-line, whereas the refeeding linear curve is represented by a dotted-line; n = 5 mice/condition. *C*, immunoblot analysis of LDLR from livers of PCSK9 WT and KO groups; n = 4-6 mice/condition for each genotype. Data represented by mean  $\pm$  SEM. \*p<0.05, \*\*p<0.01.



Figure III.5. 5 Hepatocyte InsR levels are regulated by nutritional status in the presence and absence of PCSK9.

*A*, immunoblot analysis of InsR from liver during fasting and refeeding challenge from both PCSK9 WT and KO groups; n = 7-9 mice/condition for each genotype. *B*, Representative images from 3 independent experiments of immunofluorescent labelling and confocal imaging of livers from both groups during fasting and refeeding challenge (InsR in green), scale bar: 100 µm; n = 7-9 mice/condition for each genotype. Data represented by mean ± SEM. \*p<0.05, \*\*p<0.01.

#### **III.6.** Discussion

From Mendelian randomization studies demonstrating the association of LDL decreasing variants with increased risk for type 2 diabetes came about the hypothesis that life-long exposure of tissues to increased LDLc would lead to lipotoxicity and impaired glucose and insulin homeostasis (Ference et al., 2016; Lotta et al., 2016). In particular, LOF variants in PCSK9 were associated with parameters suggestive of either liver or muscle insulin resistance or impaired βcell secretion (Lotta et al., 2016). In order to investigate these associations, we studied 6 monthsold PCSK9 WT and KO mice, which have had a life-long exposure to decreased circulating LDLc and therefore more efficient clearance of this lipotoxic particle. Previous studies had reported controversial results, where the absence of PCSK9 would lead to impaired glucose tolerance, affected pancreatic islet integrity, liver lipid droplet accumulation and increased visceral fat mass in some studies but not others (Da Dalt et al., 2019; Demers et al., 2015; Langhi et al., 2009; Lebeau et al., 2019; Mbikay et al., 2015; Mbikay et al., 2010). In the present report, we could not find any evidence for glucose intolerance, impaired  $\beta$ -cell function, lipid droplet accumulation in hepatocytes, increased perigonadal fat mass or liver insulin resistance. As such, the absence of PCSK9 did not lead to lipotoxicity in these mice. Therefore, it is likely that genetic composition within the C57BL/6J strain may have strong influence over the PCSK9 KO phenotype.

An example where genetic background could highly influence intra-islet cholesterol content is the composition and abundance of HDL. Indeed, heritability estimates in humans range from 40-70%, suggesting strong influence of genetic background on HDL levels (Peacock et al., 2001). ~40 different loci in mice and humans have been identified to alter HDL levels, with almost all loci being shared by equivalence between mice and humans suggesting common underlying genes (Rollins et al., 2006). Moreover, these genes are not yet known to contribute to HDL metabolism. This is important for our studies because in mice plasma cholesterol is mainly comprised in HDL particles, HDL is protective against ectopic lipid accumulation and induced lipotoxicity due to its intrinsic properties. *Ex vivo* incubation of HDL with LDL abolishes the LDL induced lipotoxic effects on pancreatic islets (Cnop et al., 2002) likely due to its antioxidant and anti-inflammatory properties (Kruit et al., 2010a); thereby preventing conversion of LDL to oxidized LDL which leads to impaired  $\beta$ -cell function (Brites et al., 2017). Moreover, HDL particles enhance reverse cholesterol transport, clearing and preventing ectopic cholesterol accumulation (Farbstein and Levy, 2012). Therefore, it would be interesting to evaluate whether HDL composition, levels and antioxidant, anti-inflammatory properties might affect PCSK9 KO glucose and insulin homeostasis.

In the present study we did not find any evidence of decreased *de novo* lipogenesis in the liver that would result from excessive lipoprotein internalization, nor did we observe any differences in lipid droplet accumulation. Demers *et al.* had found increased visceral fat mass in PCSK9 KO mice confirming data our group previously published (Demers et al., 2015; Roubtsova et al., 2011). This group also found increased liver LD content. This could be a result of increased adipose tissue release of free fatty acids and uptake in the liver, particularly since visceral fat is more susceptible to insulin resistance than subcutaneous fat. This increased substrate influx is thought to be responsible for ~60% of the triglycerides stored in hepatocytes in patients with NAFLD (Donnelly et al., 2005).

Overall, these studies in mice are limited by the clear distinction that mice have elevated HDLc/LDLc ratios in contrast to humans, where the majority of cholesterol is in apoB-containing lipoproteins, in particular in LDL fractions. Therefore, the impact of decreasing PCSK9 in hypercholesterolemic patients will likely lead to important internalization of LDLc into insulin sensitive tissues possibly without the protective effects of HDL described above. Therefore, even though recent clinical trials demonstrated that decreasing PCSK9 in high risk ASCVD patients did not increase new onset diabetes or alter glycemic indices (Ray et al., 2019a; Sabatine et al., 2017), it is still too early to conclude that there will not be any effects in the longer term. Of important note, however, is that diabetic patients demonstrate greater absolute benefit in reducing cardiovascular events from PCSK9 inhibitors than normoglycemic patients (Ray et al., 2019a). The latter strongly encourages the use and continued development of these inhibitors even with the possibility that they may, like statins, result in type 2 diabetes.

#### **III.7.** Additional Information

#### III.7.1. Funding

This work was supported by the Canadian Institutes of Health Research grants Foundation Scheme 148363, a Canada Research Chair 231335 and a Foundation Leducq grant no. 13CVD03 (to N.G. Seidah).

#### III.7.2. Acknowledgements

We thank all the members from the Seidah laboratory for helpful support and discussion. We also thank the Animal Core Facility, including Manon Laprise and Suzie Riverin for assistance in animal experiments, Dominic Filion from the Microscopy and Imaging facility for helpful assistance in image acquisition and quantification. We thank the Estall laboratory at the IRCM for precious guidance in islet extraction and experimentation. The authors acknowledge the helpful secretarial assistance of Brigitte Mary.

#### III.7.3. Conflict of interest

The authors declare no conflict of interest with the contents of this article.

#### III.7.4. Author contributions

JC conducted all the experiments, analyzed the results and wrote the article. AR assisted in some animal experimentations. JM contributed to histological preparations. AP generated the PCSK9 KO mouse lineage and maintained the mouse colonies. NGS contributed to the conception of the experiments, analysis of the data and writing of the article.

### **III.8.** References

Abdul-Ghani, M.A., Matsuda, M., Jani, R., Jenkinson, C.P., Coletta, D.K., Kaku, K., and DeFronzo, R.A. (2008). The relationship between fasting hyperglycemia and insulin secretion in subjects with normal or impaired glucose tolerance. Am J Physiol Endocrinol Metab *295*, E401-406.

Abifadel, M., Varret, M., Rabes, J.P., Allard, D., Ouguerram, K., Devillers, M., Cruaud, C., Benjannet, S., Wickham, L., Erlich, D., *et al.* (2003). Mutations in PCSK9 cause autosomal dominant hypercholesterolemia. Nat Genet *34*, 154-156.

Allard, D., Amsellem, S., Abifadel, M., Trillard, M., Devillers, M., Luc, G., Krempf, M., Reznik, Y., Girardet, J.P., Fredenrich, A., *et al.* (2005). Novel mutations of the PCSK9 gene cause variable phenotype of autosomal dominant hypercholesterolemia. Hum Mutat *26*, 497.

Bar, R.S., Gorden, P., Roth, J., Kahn, C.R., and De Meyts, P. (1976). Fluctuations in the affinity and concentration of insulin receptors on circulating monocytes of obese patients: effects of starvation, refeeding, and dieting. J Clin Invest *58*, 1123-1135.

Bergendahl, M., Vance, M.L., Iranmanesh, A., Thorner, M.O., and Veldhuis, J.D. (1996). Fasting as a metabolic stress paradigm selectively amplifies cortisol secretory burst mass and delays the time of maximal nyctohemeral cortisol concentrations in healthy men. J Clin Endocrinol Metab *81*, 692-699.

Brites, F., Martin, M., Guillas, I., and Kontush, A. (2017). Antioxidative activity of high-density lipoprotein (HDL): Mechanistic insights into potential clinical benefit. BBA Clin *8*, 66-77.

Brunham, L.R., Kruit, J.K., Pape, T.D., Timmins, J.M., Reuwer, A.Q., Vasanji, Z., Marsh, B.J., Rodrigues, B., Johnson, J.D., Parks, J.S., *et al.* (2007). Beta-cell ABCA1 influences insulin secretion, glucose homeostasis and response to thiazolidinedione treatment. Nat Med *13*, 340-347.

Cnop, M., Hannaert, J.C., Grupping, A.Y., and Pipeleers, D.G. (2002). Low density lipoprotein can cause death of islet beta-cells by its cellular uptake and oxidative modification. Endocrinology *143*, 3449-3453.

Cohen, J., Pertsemlidis, A., Kotowski, I.K., Graham, R., Garcia, C.K., and Hobbs, H.H. (2005). Low LDL cholesterol in individuals of African descent resulting from frequent nonsense mutations in PCSK9. Nat Genet *37*, 161-165.

Contreras, I., Dohm, G.L., Abdallah, S., Wells, J.A., Mooney, N., Rovira, A., and Caro, J.F. (1990). The effect of fasting on the activation in vivo of the insulin receptor kinase. Biochem J *265*, 887-890.

Costet, P., Cariou, B., Lambert, G., Lalanne, F., Lardeux, B., Jarnoux, A.L., Grefhorst, A., Staels, B., and Krempf, M. (2006). Hepatic PCSK9 expression is regulated by nutritional status via insulin and sterol regulatory element-binding protein 1c. J Biol Chem *281*, 6211-6218.

Da Dalt, L., Ruscica, M., Bonacina, F., Balzarotti, G., Dhyani, A., Di Cairano, E., Baragetti, A., Arnaboldi, L., De Metrio, S., Pellegatta, F., *et al.* (2019). PCSK9 deficiency reduces insulin secretion and promotes glucose intolerance: the role of the low-density lipoprotein receptor. Eur Heart J *40*, 357-368.

Das, A., Goldstein, J.L., Anderson, D.D., Brown, M.S., and Radhakrishnan, A. (2013). Use of mutant 125I-perfringolysin O to probe transport and organization of cholesterol in membranes of animal cells. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A *110*, 10580-10585.

Demers, A., Samami, S., Lauzier, B., Des Rosiers, C., Ngo Sock, E.T., Ong, H., and Mayer, G. (2015). PCSK9 Induces CD36 Degradation and Affects Long-Chain Fatty Acid Uptake and Triglyceride Metabolism in Adipocytes and in Mouse Liver. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol *35*, 2517-2525.

Despres, J.P. (2006). Intra-abdominal obesity: an untreated risk factor for Type 2 diabetes and cardiovascular disease. J Endocrinol Invest *29*, 77-82.

Donnelly, K.L., Smith, C.I., Schwarzenberg, S.J., Jessurun, J., Boldt, M.D., and Parks, E.J. (2005). Sources of fatty acids stored in liver and secreted via lipoproteins in patients with nonalcoholic fatty liver disease. J Clin Invest *115*, 1343-1351.

Fantus, I.G., Ryan, J., Hizuka, N., and Gorden, P. (1981). The effect of glucocorticoids on the insulin receptor: an in vivo and in vitro study. J Clin Endocrinol Metab *52*, 953-960.

Farbstein, D., and Levy, A.P. (2012). HDL dysfunction in diabetes: causes and possible treatments. Expert Rev Cardiovasc Ther *10*, 353-361.

Ference, B.A., Robinson, J.G., Brook, R.D., Catapano, A.L., Chapman, M.J., Neff, D.R., Voros, S., Giugliano, R.P., Davey Smith, G., Fazio, S., *et al.* (2016). Variation in PCSK9 and HMGCR and Risk of Cardiovascular Disease and Diabetes. N Engl J Med *375*, 2144-2153.

Friedewald, W.T., Levy, R.I., and Fredrickson, D.S. (1972). Estimation of the concentration of low-density lipoprotein cholesterol in plasma, without use of the preparative ultracentrifuge. Clin Chem *18*, 499-502.

Gabriely, I., Ma, X.H., Yang, X.M., Atzmon, G., Rajala, M.W., Berg, A.H., Scherer, P., Rossetti, L., and Barzilai, N. (2002). Removal of visceral fat prevents insulin resistance and glucose intolerance of aging: an adipokine-mediated process? Diabetes *51*, 2951-2958.

Grunberger, G., Geiger, D., Carpentier, J.L., Robert, A., and Gorden, P. (1989). Receptor-mediated endocytosis of insulin: inhibition of [1251]iodoinsulin internalization in insulin resistant diabetic states of man. Acta Endocrinol (Copenh) *121*, 581-586.

Heijboer, A.C., Donga, E., Voshol, P.J., Dang, Z.C., Havekes, L.M., Romijn, J.A., and Corssmit, E.P. (2005). Sixteen hours of fasting differentially affects hepatic and muscle insulin sensitivity in mice. J Lipid Res *46*, 582-588.

Homer, V.M., Marais, A.D., Charlton, F., Laurie, A.D., Hurndell, N., Scott, R., Mangili, F., Sullivan, D.R., Barter, P.J., Rye, K.A., *et al.* (2008). Identification and characterization of two non-secreted PCSK9 mutants associated with familial hypercholesterolemia in cohorts from New Zealand and South Africa. Atherosclerosis *196*, 659-666.

Jensen, T.L., Kiersgaard, M.K., Sorensen, D.B., and Mikkelsen, L.F. (2013). Fasting of mice: a review. Lab Anim 47, 225-240.

Jung, S.H., Ha, K.H., and Kim, D.J. (2016). Visceral Fat Mass Has Stronger Associations with Diabetes and Prediabetes than Other Anthropometric Obesity Indicators among Korean Adults. Yonsei Med J *57*, 674-680.

Koonen, D.P., Jacobs, R.L., Febbraio, M., Young, M.E., Soltys, C.L., Ong, H., Vance, D.E., and Dyck, J.R. (2007). Increased hepatic CD36 expression contributes to dyslipidemia associated with diet-induced obesity. Diabetes *56*, 2863-2871.

Kruit, J.K., Brunham, L.R., Verchere, C.B., and Hayden, M.R. (2010a). HDL and LDL cholesterol significantly influence beta-cell function in type 2 diabetes mellitus. Curr Opin Lipidol *21*, 178-185.

Kruit, J.K., Kremer, P.H., Dai, L., Tang, R., Ruddle, P., de Haan, W., Brunham, L.R., Verchere, C.B., and Hayden, M.R. (2010b). Cholesterol efflux via ATP-binding cassette transporter A1 (ABCA1) and cholesterol uptake via the LDL receptor influences cholesterol-induced impairment of beta cell function in mice. Diabetologia *53*, 1110-1119.

Langhi, C., Le May, C., Gmyr, V., Vandewalle, B., Kerr-Conte, J., Krempf, M., Pattou, F., Costet, P., and Cariou, B. (2009). PCSK9 is expressed in pancreatic delta-cells and does not alter insulin secretion. Biochem Biophys Res Commun *390*, 1288-1293.

Lebeau, P.F., Byun, J.H., Platko, K., Al-Hashimi, A.A., Lhotak, S., MacDonald, M.E., Mejia-Benitez, A., Prat, A., Igdoura, S.A., Trigatti, B., *et al.* (2019). Pcsk9 knockout exacerbates diet-induced non-alcoholic steatohepatitis, fibrosis and liver injury in mice. JHEP Rep *1*, 418-429.

Linden, A.G., Li, S., Choi, H.Y., Fang, F., Fukasawa, M., Uyeda, K., Hammer, R.E., Horton, J.D., Engelking, L.J., and Liang, G. (2018). Interplay between ChREBP and SREBP-1c coordinates postprandial glycolysis and lipogenesis in livers of mice. J Lipid Res *59*, 475-487.

Lotta, L.A., Sharp, S.J., Burgess, S., Perry, J.R.B., Stewart, I.D., Willems, S.M., Luan, J., Ardanaz, E., Arriola, L., Balkau, B., *et al.* (2016). Association Between Low-Density Lipoprotein Cholesterol-Lowering Genetic Variants and Risk of Type 2 Diabetes: A Meta-analysis. JAMA *316*, 1383-1391.

Mbikay, M., Sirois, F., Gyamera-Acheampong, C., Wang, G.S., Rippstein, P., Chen, A., Mayne, J., Scott, F.W., and Chretien, M. (2015). Variable effects of gender and Western diet on lipid and glucose homeostasis in aged PCSK9-deficient C57BL/6 mice CSK9PC57BL/6. J Diabetes *7*, 74-84.

Mbikay, M., Sirois, F., Mayne, J., Wang, G.S., Chen, A., Dewpura, T., Prat, A., Seidah, N.G., Chretien, M., and Scott, F.W. (2010). PCSK9-deficient mice exhibit impaired glucose tolerance and pancreatic islet abnormalities. FEBS Lett *584*, 701-706.

Miyake, Y., Kimura, R., Kokubo, Y., Okayama, A., Tomoike, H., Yamamura, T., and Miyata, T. (2008). Genetic variants in PCSK9 in the Japanese population: rare genetic variants in PCSK9 might collectively contribute to plasma LDL cholesterol levels in the general population. Atherosclerosis *196*, 29-36.

Noguchi, T., Katsuda, S., Kawashiri, M.A., Tada, H., Nohara, A., Inazu, A., Yamagishi, M., Kobayashi, J., and Mabuchi, H. (2010). The E32K variant of PCSK9 exacerbates the phenotype of familial hypercholesterolaemia by increasing PCSK9 function and concentration in the circulation. Atherosclerosis *210*, 166-172.

Oh, Y.S., Bae, G.D., Baek, D.J., Park, E.Y., and Jun, H.S. (2018). Fatty Acid-Induced Lipotoxicity in Pancreatic Beta-Cells During Development of Type 2 Diabetes. Front Endocrinol (Lausanne) *9*, 384.

Peacock, J.M., Arnett, D.K., Atwood, L.D., Myers, R.H., Coon, H., Rich, S.S., Province, M.A., and Heiss, G. (2001). Genome scan for quantitative trait loci linked to high-density lipoprotein cholesterol: The NHLBI Family Heart Study. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol *21*, 1823-1828.

Persson, L., Cao, G., Stahle, L., Sjoberg, B.G., Troutt, J.S., Konrad, R.J., Galman, C., Wallen, H., Eriksson, M., Hafstrom, I., *et al.* (2010). Circulating proprotein convertase subtilisin kexin type 9 has a diurnal rhythm synchronous with cholesterol synthesis and is reduced by fasting in humans. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol *30*, 2666-2672.

Preiss, D., Seshasai, S.R., Welsh, P., Murphy, S.A., Ho, J.E., Waters, D.D., DeMicco, D.A., Barter, P., Cannon, C.P., Sabatine, M.S., *et al.* (2011). Risk of incident diabetes with intensive-dose compared with moderate-dose statin therapy: a meta-analysis. JAMA *305*, 2556-2564.

Ray, K.K., Colhoun, H.M., Szarek, M., Baccara-Dinet, M., Bhatt, D.L., Bittner, V.A., Budaj, A.J., Diaz, R., Goodman, S.G., Hanotin, C., *et al.* (2019a). Effects of alirocumab on cardiovascular and metabolic outcomes after acute coronary syndrome in patients with or without diabetes: a prespecified analysis of the ODYSSEY OUTCOMES randomised controlled trial. Lancet Diabetes Endocrinol 7, 618-628.

Rollins, J., Chen, Y., Paigen, B., and Wang, X. (2006). In search of new targets for plasma highdensity lipoprotein cholesterol levels: promise of human-mouse comparative genomics. Trends Cardiovasc Med *16*, 220-234.

Roubtsova, A., Munkonda, M.N., Awan, Z., Marcinkiewicz, J., Chamberland, A., Lazure, C., Cianflone, K., Seidah, N.G., and Prat, A. (2011). Circulating proprotein convertase subtilisin/kexin 9 (PCSK9) regulates VLDLR protein and triglyceride accumulation in visceral adipose tissue. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol *31*, 785-791.

Rouiller, D.G., McKeon, C., Taylor, S.I., and Gorden, P. (1988). Hormonal regulation of insulin receptor gene expression. Hydrocortisone and insulin act by different mechanisms. J Biol Chem *263*, 13185-13190.

Sabatine, M.S., Giugliano, R.P., Keech, A.C., Honarpour, N., Wiviott, S.D., Murphy, S.A., Kuder, J.F., Wang, H., Liu, T., Wasserman, S.M., *et al.* (2017). Evolocumab and Clinical Outcomes in Patients with Cardiovascular Disease. N Engl J Med *376*, 1713-1722.

Samuel, V.T., Petersen, K.F., and Shulman, G.I. (2010). Lipid-induced insulin resistance: unravelling the mechanism. Lancet *375*, 2267-2277.

Sattar, N., Preiss, D., Murray, H.M., Welsh, P., Buckley, B.M., de Craen, A.J., Seshasai, S.R., McMurray, J.J., Freeman, D.J., Jukema, J.W., *et al.* (2010). Statins and risk of incident diabetes: a collaborative meta-analysis of randomised statin trials. Lancet *375*, 735-742.

Seidah, N.G., Abifadel, M., Prost, S., Boileau, C., and Prat, A. (2017). The Proprotein Convertases in Hypercholesterolemia and Cardiovascular Diseases: Emphasis on Proprotein Convertase Subtilisin/Kexin 9. Pharmacol Rev *69*, 33-52.

Seidah, N.G., Benjannet, S., Wickham, L., Marcinkiewicz, J., Jasmin, S.B., Stifani, S., Basak, A., Prat, A., and Chretien, M. (2003). The secretory proprotein convertase neural apoptosis-regulated convertase 1 (NARC-1): liver regeneration and neuronal differentiation. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A *100*, 928-933.

Seidah, N.G., Poirier, S., Denis, M., Parker, R., Miao, B., Mapelli, C., Prat, A., Wassef, H., Davignon, J., Hajjar, K.A., *et al.* (2012). Annexin A2 is a natural extrahepatic inhibitor of the PCSK9-induced LDL receptor degradation. PLoS One *7*, e41865.

Seidah, N.G., and Prat, A. (2012). The biology and therapeutic targeting of the proprotein convertases. Nat Rev Drug Discov 11, 367-383.

Soll, A.H., Kahn, C.R., and Neville, D.M., Jr. (1975). Insulin binding to liver plasm membranes in the obese hyperglycemic (ob/ob) mouse. Demonstration of a decreased number of functionally normal receptors. J Biol Chem *250*, 4702-4707.

Swerdlow, D.I., Preiss, D., Kuchenbaecker, K.B., Holmes, M.V., Engmann, J.E., Shah, T., Sofat, R., Stender, S., Johnson, P.C., Scott, R.A., *et al.* (2015). HMG-coenzyme A reductase inhibition, type 2 diabetes, and bodyweight: evidence from genetic analysis and randomised trials. Lancet *385*, 351-361.

Tozzo, E., and Desbuquois, B. (1992). Effects of STZ-induced diabetes and fasting on insulin receptor mRNA expression and insulin receptor gene transcription in rat liver. Diabetes *41*, 1609-1616.

Zaid, A., Roubtsova, A., Essalmani, R., Marcinkiewicz, J., Chamberland, A., Hamelin, J., Tremblay, M., Jacques, H., Jin, W., Davignon, J., *et al.* (2008). Proprotein convertase subtilisin/kexin type 9 (PCSK9): hepatocyte-specific low-density lipoprotein receptor degradation and critical role in mouse liver regeneration. Hepatology *48*, 646-654.

## **Chapter IV: Discussion and Perspectives**

In this thesis we discussed a relatively new protein, the 9<sup>th</sup> member of the mammalian family of proprotein convertases, PCSK9, with relation to metabolic disease especially. Briefly, this family of enzymes are synthesized as zymogens and require autocatalysis for protein maturation and proper folding. PCSK9 autocatalytic cleavage in the ER allows for ER exit, however, no other enzymatic substrate than itself have been identified to date. Accordingly, PCSK9 is secreted with its prodomain tightly bound in its catalytic cleft. Instead, PCSK9 regulates target proteins non-enzymatically, although the underlying mechanisms are not yet understood. The interacting proteins linking PCSK9 to the endosomal system allowing for the rerouting of the LDLR for lysosomal degradation rather than recycling to the cell surface have not yet been identified. *PCSK9* is a polymorphic gene and the identification of variants in either hyper- or hypocholesterolemic patients have helped characterize the activity towards the LDLR in relation to structure as well as to interacting proteins, such as annexin A2, apoB and furin, for example.

Mouse genetic studies have been critical to further the understanding of Pcsk9 gene and tissue expression. Interestingly, PCSK9 is expressed in several tissues, including the liver, intestine, kidney, brain (cerebellum), and more (Zaid et al., 2008) but the only tissue contributing to circulating PCSK9 is the liver (Zaid et al., 2008). The latter allowed for the demonstration that circulating PCSK9 accounts for 2/3 of the regulation of LDLc in mice such that whole body KO mice demonstrate ~40% drop in total cholesterol and ~ 80% drop in LDLc vs. liver specific PCSK9 KO results in  $\sim 60\%$  drop in LDLc and  $\sim 27\%$  drop in total cholesterol (Zaid et al., 2008), further suggesting partial regulation by the locally expressed PCSK9 in peripheral tissues through a paracrine or intracellular activity. On the other hand, the regulation of TGs by PCSK9 is much less well understood. Several epidemiologic studies have demonstrated association of PCSK9 with fasting plasma TGs, large buoyant VLDL and IDL (Guardiola et al., 2015; Kwakernaak et al., 2014). Variants in PCSK9 and mechanistic studies from mouse and cell models together demonstrate both intracellular and extracellular pathways in the regulation of apoB-containing TG-rich lipoproteins. Indeed, PCSK9 would protect apoB-lipoproteins from presecretory degradation which is mediated by LDLR. PCSK9 would also increase apoB secretion through an LDLR independent mechanism. Lastly, through the regulation of the LDLR, PCSK9 modulates

the fractional catabolic rate of these lipoprotein particles (for extensive review view Dijk *et al.* (Dijk et al., 2018)).

There is no evidence yet for the direct implication of PCSK9 in the regulation of plasma insulin or plasma glucose, however epidemiological studies suggest association of PCSK9 plasma levels with markers of hepatic insulin resistance (HOMA-IR, fasting plasma glucose, fasting plasma insulin); moreover, Mendelian randomization studies suggest an implication for the inhibition of PCSK9 activity towards the development of T2DM. Thus, in this thesis we were interested in investigating: (i) the direct modulation of InsR signaling; and (ii) the effect of the absence of PCSK9 on glucose and insulin homeostasis.

In summary of the first study, our results have shown that, *in vivo* in mice, and *in vitro* in immortalized human hepatocytes, PCSK9 mediated the downregulation of InsR downstream signaling, an effect that was counter-acted *in vitro* by mAb inhibitors but not by sdAb which target the catalytic and CHRD domains, respectively. Although the CHRD does not appear to be involved in this process it is nevertheless interesting to note that the CHRD domain is homologous to resistin (Hampton et al., 2007), an adipokine associated with insulin resistance and obesity. Therefore, this is the first report demonstrating that PCSK9, *via* its catalytic domain, may antagonize insulin function.

As a second part to this study, we show that proPCSK9 and proInsR interact in the ER, decreasing total protein and mRNA levels of the InsR, reminiscent of proPCSK9 exerting a dominant negative effect on the WT allele counterpart in patient studies (Cariou et al., 2009; Mayne et al., 2011). We demonstrate that the co-expression of these proteins results in acute ER stress, by upregulated XBP1 splicing and upregulated IRE1 $\alpha$  exonuclease activity. The latter is known to alleviate the ER by cleaving ER targeted mRNA through the RIDD process (Hollien and Weissman, 2006). Since we also observed decreased InsR mRNA, we propose that IRE1 $\alpha$  leads to reduced InsR mRNA under these cellular conditions. Therefore, oligomerization and misfolding of proPCSK9, especially by uncleaved, ER retained PCSK9 variants, may trigger the downregulation of the InsR. These results are in line with previous studies since the InsR is a known target of UPR, where downregulated expression, decreased signaling, and impaired transport from the ER to the plasma membrane have been reported (Brown et al., 2020; Ozcan et al., 2004; Xu et al., 2010).

The second study investigated glucose and insulin homeostasis in older, PCSK9 WT and KO mice to verify the effect of long-term absence of PCSK9 on pancreatic islet and liver function. A handful of other studies have reported controversial results of glucose and insulin homeostasis in these PCSK9 WT and KO mice some of which were suggestive of impaired islet function and integrity and liver steatosis (Da Dalt et al., 2019; Demers et al., 2015; Langhi et al., 2009; Lebeau et al., 2019; Mbikay et al., 2015; Mbikay et al., 2010; Zaid et al., 2008). In our study, WT and KO mice presented similar healthy β-cell and liver phenotypes even though PCSK9 KO mice express 2-3-fold more LDLR in liver and pancreatic islets. Da Dalt et al. show that PCSK9 KO islets accumulate lipids and cholesterol (~3-fold increase in intracellular cholesterol), the authors further suggest that cholesterol is responsible for impaired  $\beta$ -cell function (Da Dalt et al., 2019). Whereas, Langhi et al. observed no differences in intra-islet cholesterol, they also show that incubating WT and KO islets with LDLc for 24 hrs does not lead to greater internalization of cholesterol or affect KO islet glucose stimulated insulin secretion more significantly than WT islets (Langhi et al., 2009). It should be noted however that once in culture islets start losing the regulatory effect of PCSK9 on LDLR (Langhi et al., 2009). There have been two PCSK9 KO mice that were developed, the first published by Rashid et al. (Rashid et al., 2005) and the second published by Zaid et al (Zaid et al., 2008). Importantly they were generated by targeting different sections of the genes for deletion, the first targeted part of exon 2 to exon 4 included, whereas the latter targeted the proximal promoter and exon 1 (Rashid et al., 2005; Zaid et al., 2008). These may have important consequences since the editing presented in first study according to the design may be permissible to transcription of the signal peptide, part of the catalytic domain and the CHRD domain, allowing for this hypothetical product to enter the secretory pathway. Whereas the second study presents a strategy that even if a product was transcribed through a second transcription start site (that would only have resulted randomly from the gene edition) in contrast to the earlier design it would not be allowed to enter the secretory pathway. Moreover, if the design by Rashid et al. did indeed result in a protein product it would be almost entirely constituted of the CHRD domain, which we have reviewed in section I.1.3.3 as highly homologous to resistin, an adipokine implicated in diabetes. Altogether, these differences in the approaches used to generate the KO strains could, at least in part, explain the heterogeneity in the reported glucose and insulin related phenotypes of the PCSK9 KO mice.

Critical studies have demonstrated that cholesterol accumulation in mouse islets *in vivo* is dependent on ABCA1 cholesterol efflux activity, even under conditions of hypercholesterolemia, suggesting that the cell maintains balanced intracellular cholesterol by upregulating efflux to HDL cholesterol acceptor (Brunham et al., 2007; Kruit et al., 2010b). Future studies looking at the effect of PCSK9 inhibition on  $\beta$ -cell function could include a characterization of  $\beta$ -cell cholesterol efflux, HDL lipoprotein particle antioxidant and inflammatory content, as well as expression of ABCA1.

Lipid accumulation in liver lipid droplets in PCSK9 KO vs. WT mice could be due to several mechanisms such as increased TG hydrolysis in adipose tissue resulting in increased substrate influx and increased expression of fatty acid transporter CD36, increased *de novo* lipogenesis, and/or impaired VLDL assembly and secretion, for example. Interestingly, Lebeau *et al.* showed that their KO mice have liver steatosis and that it is likely not due to increased *de novo* lipogenesis but to CD36 mediated lipid internalization, as demonstrated by significant decrease in lipid accumulation upon CD36 inhibition (Lebeau et al., 2019).

Altogether, there have not yet been enough studies to conclude that PCSK9 regulation of the LDLR may or may not lead to lipotoxicity in insulin responsive tissues. All these studies were conducted with the C57BL/6J mouse strain, however, these strains, through breeding in the vendor houses, acquire genetic drift. Indeed, several variants, including the well described deletion in the nicotinamide nucleotide transferase (*Nnt*) gene, that may influence physiology have been identified in these substrains (Zurita et al., 2011). Additionally, environmental confounders, such as gut microbiota will significantly influence the metabolic profile. Increased ratio of Firmicutes to Bacteroidetes in addition to decreased bacterial diversity are strong indicators for predisposition to metabolic syndrome (Agus et al., 2016; Marcher et al., 2019; Stephenson et al., 2018). Hence, the large heterogeneity between the described analyses could be explained by the inherent differences in mouse substrain susceptibility, accounted for genetic variability and gut microbiome, to insulin resistance, fatty liver and weight gain (Kern et al., 2012; Vercalsteren et al., 2019).

In summary, the work presented in this thesis requires further investigation as the underlying mechanisms linking PCSK9 to TG metabolism and insulin signaling are not yet well defined. Nevertheless, these hypotheses are highly relevant today because PCSK9 is an extremely promising target to decrease cardiovascular events in CVD patients, even though longer studies are required to demonstrate efficiency in lowering mortality. Among early concerns in PCSK9

inhibition therapy were the effect of decreasing LDLc to extremely low levels (Robinson et al., 2015) and the risk in developing adverse effects, similarly to statins. Clinical trials have shown modest but significant changes in TG and HDL levels, ~15% decrease and ~5-7% increase, respectively (Robinson et al., 2015; Sabatine et al., 2015) no affect on diabetes or glucose homeostasis (Ray et al., 2019a; Sabatine et al., 2017). Our studies are the first to support a direct implication for PCSK9 in insulin signaling, therefore suggesting that increased PCSK9 may contribute to hepatic insulin resistance, which in addition to its previously described effects on TG-rich lipoprotein secretion and decreased fractional catabolic rate, suggest that PCSK9 may drive dyslipidemia (view Figure IV. 1.A). As such, decreasing PCSK9 would be beneficial in ASCVD patients (view Figure IV. 1.B). With regard to concerns over affecting  $\beta$ -cell toxicity, it is interesting to note that in contrast to the whole body knockout models, and the PCSK9 LOF Mendelian randomization studies, in CVD patients treated with PCSK9 inhibitors, whether mAb or inclisiran siRNA, only circulating PCSK9 will be targeted, allowing PCSK9 expressed from βcells to regulate LDLR levels and the cell to adjust intracellular cholesterol accordingly (studies from our lab and from Da Dalt et al. show that locally expressed PCSK9 strongly regulates LDLR vs. weak regulation by circulating PCSK9 (Da Dalt et al., 2019). Therefore,  $\beta$ -cells would be protected through this mechanism from cholesterol induced lipotoxicity in these patients. Lastly, targeting PCSK9 through inclisiran could lead to previously unexpected advantages that may be proposed from the results of the first study. Indeed, in addition to well-characterized extracellular functions of PCSK9, our study proposes that PCSK9 may also regulate other proteins, perhaps in a less specific manner, through proPCSK9 oligomerization in the ER leading to interacting proteins' downregulation as for the InsR and TFRC. As such, preventing PCSK9 translation through mRNA silencing could rescue these effects.

PCSK9 is known to have several targets, some of which were presented in the literature review of this thesis; hence it is likely that all targets have not yet been identified. In this thesis we demonstrate that ER-retained PCSK9 variants may lead to the activation of acute ER stress and the downregulation of ER-targeted mRNA. A recent publication from our group demonstrates that ER-retained PCSK9 does not cause ER stress *in vivo* but does lead to the increase in the expression of ER chaperones (Lebeau et al., 2020). Under conditions where acute ER stress is not resolved, chronic ER stress and the activation of the UPR will lead to further adaptation of the ER, although prolonged activation of the UPR will then lead to apoptosis. These conditions may be detrimental

and lead to a large heterogeneity of disease types, from metabolic diseases to developmental and neurological diseases, depending on which tissue the protein is normally expressed such that impaired function of this tissue will determine the disease phenotype (Schroder and Kaufman, 2005). Therefore, effects of ER-retained, uncleaved PCSK9 may become apparent when accompanied by metabolic stress or other genetic predispositions, careful screening of liver function should probably be done in carrier of these specific PCSK9 mutations, particularly when accompanied by the metabolic syndrome or other predisposing genetic diseases. For example, a patient carrying an ER-retaining, uncleaved PCSK9, G316C in addition to polymorphisms in two genes associated with NAFLD, developed steatosis (Di Filippo et al., 2017).

Future studies related to the work presented in this thesis could include an investigation on the mechanism for PCSK9 mediated decreased P-Akt. For example, our preliminary data shows direct binding of PCSK9 to the insulin receptor *in vitro*; and/or an analysis of mTORC2, which phosphorylates Akt, proper recruitment to PIP3 at the plasma membrane and endomembranes. Additionally, further investigations on the role of PCSK9 on insulin and glucose homeostasis could be done on mouse models which have similar lipid profiles to humans. For example, the apoE\*3-Leiden mice on a Western type diet show humanized lipoprotein cholesterol distribution (van Vlijmen et al., 1994). These mice can also be expressing CETP, if a model for atherosclerosis is required (Westerterp et al., 2006). Under these conditions, inhibiting PCSK9 in the circulation would lead to a greater absolute internalization of LDLc into insulin responsive tissues; furthermore, the decrease in HDL relative to WT mice, would remove the protective effect that benefits mice in favoring reverse cholesterol transport and preventing ectopic lipid accumulation.

Ongoing and recent studies on PCSK9 have shown that this protein plays a role in inflammation (Ricci et al., 2018), viral infection (Khademi et al., 2018; Labonte et al., 2009), neointimal formation and smooth muscle cell proliferation (Ferri et al., 2016). Accordingly, inhibiting PCSK9 has demonstrated decreased psoriatic lesions through reduced inflammatory reactions (Luan et al., 2019) and decreased macrophage induced smooth muscle cell proliferation in the atherosclerotic plaque (Ding et al., 2015). However, the expression of PCSK9 appears to be protective in septic patients (Paciullo et al., 2017). Lastly, PCSK9 was recently shown to target MHC class I presented on tumor cells for degradation such that PCSK9 inhibition resulted in reduced tumor growth (Liu et al., 2020). Altogether these data suggest that in the future PCSK9 may be targeted for further applications than just hypercholesterolemia.



Figure IV. 1 Summary diagram of main thesis findings

*A*, Elevated levels of PCSK9 downregulate the LDLR increasing the risk for cardiovascular disease. Elevated levels of PCSK9 also regulate insulin signaling and insulin receptor levels through an extracellular and an intracellular pathway, respectively, which in turn may account for the association with markers of insulin resistance. *B*, Targeting either extracellular or intracellular PCSK9 is beneficial for the prevention of cardiovascular disease and could hypothetically reverse or prevent insulin resistance known to be associated with increased PCSK9. This thesis also shows that in mice, the prolonged absence of PCSK9 does not lead to impaired  $\beta$ -cell function or fatty liver. The graphic illustrations used in this figure are from Servier Medical art (https://smart.servier.com).

## **Bibliography**

Abdul-Ghani, M.A., Matsuda, M., Jani, R., Jenkinson, C.P., Coletta, D.K., Kaku, K., and DeFronzo, R.A. (2008). The relationship between fasting hyperglycemia and insulin secretion in subjects with normal or impaired glucose tolerance. Am J Physiol Endocrinol Metab *295*, E401-406.

Abifadel, M., Guerin, M., Benjannet, S., Rabes, J.P., Le Goff, W., Julia, Z., Hamelin, J., Carreau, V., Varret, M., Bruckert, E., *et al.* (2012). Identification and characterization of new gain-of-function mutations in the PCSK9 gene responsible for autosomal dominant hypercholesterolemia. Atherosclerosis *223*, 394-400.

Abifadel, M., Varret, M., Rabes, J.P., Allard, D., Ouguerram, K., Devillers, M., Cruaud, C., Benjannet, S., Wickham, L., Erlich, D., *et al.* (2003). Mutations in PCSK9 cause autosomal dominant hypercholesterolemia. Nat Genet *34*, 154-156.

Adiels, M., Taskinen, M.R., Packard, C., Caslake, M.J., Soro-Paavonen, A., Westerbacka, J., Vehkavaara, S., Hakkinen, A., Olofsson, S.O., Yki-Jarvinen, H., *et al.* (2006). Overproduction of large VLDL particles is driven by increased liver fat content in man. Diabetologia *49*, 755-765.

Agus, A., Denizot, J., Thevenot, J., Martinez-Medina, M., Massier, S., Sauvanet, P., Bernalier-Donadille, A., Denis, S., Hofman, P., Bonnet, R., *et al.* (2016). Western diet induces a shift in microbiota composition enhancing susceptibility to Adherent-Invasive E. coli infection and intestinal inflammation. Sci Rep *6*, 19032.

Ai, D., Chen, C., Han, S., Ganda, A., Murphy, A.J., Haeusler, R., Thorp, E., Accili, D., Horton, J.D., and Tall, A.R. (2012). Regulation of hepatic LDL receptors by mTORC1 and PCSK9 in mice. J Clin Invest *122*, 1262-1270.

Alberts, A.W., Chen, J., Kuron, G., Hunt, V., Huff, J., Hoffman, C., Rothrock, J., Lopez, M., Joshua, H., Harris, E., *et al.* (1980). Mevinolin: a highly potent competitive inhibitor of hydroxymethylglutaryl-coenzyme A reductase and a cholesterol-lowering agent. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 77, 3957-3961.

Allahyari, A., Jernberg, T., Hagstrom, E., Leosdottir, M., Lundman, P., and Ueda, P. (2020). Application of the 2019 ESC/EAS dyslipidaemia guidelines to nationwide data of patients with a recent myocardial infarction: a simulation study. Eur Heart J *41*, 3900-3909.

Allard, D., Amsellem, S., Abifadel, M., Trillard, M., Devillers, M., Luc, G., Krempf, M., Reznik, Y., Girardet, J.P., Fredenrich, A., *et al.* (2005). Novel mutations of the PCSK9 gene cause variable phenotype of autosomal dominant hypercholesterolemia. Hum Mutat *26*, 497.

Amarenco, P., Bogousslavsky, J., Callahan, A., 3rd, Goldstein, L.B., Hennerici, M., Rudolph, A.E., Sillesen, H., Simunovic, L., Szarek, M., Welch, K.M., *et al.* (2006). High-dose atorvastatin after stroke or transient ischemic attack. N Engl J Med *355*, 549-559.

Anderson, E.D., VanSlyke, J.K., Thulin, C.D., Jean, F., and Thomas, G. (1997). Activation of the furin endoprotease is a multiple-step process: requirements for acidification and internal propeptide cleavage. EMBO J *16*, 1508-1518.

Arakaki, R.F., Comi, R.J., and Gorden, P. (1989). Evidence for exogenous substrate phosphorylation and dimer formation by the activated 190 kDa insulin proreceptor in vitro. Biochem Biophys Res Commun *160*, 296-302.

Argon, Y., and Simen, B.B. (1999). GRP94, an ER chaperone with protein and peptide binding properties. Semin Cell Dev Biol *10*, 495-505.

Armstrong, S.M., Sugiyama, M.G., Fung, K.Y., Gao, Y., Wang, C., Levy, A.S., Azizi, P., Roufaiel, M., Zhu, S.N., Neculai, D., *et al.* (2015). A novel assay uncovers an unexpected role for SR-BI in LDL transcytosis. Cardiovasc Res *108*, 268-277.

Ashraf, Y., Duval, S., Sachan, V., Essalmani, R., Susan-Resiga, D., Roubtsova, A., Hamelin, J., Gerhardy, S., Kirchhofer, D., Tagliabracci, V.S., *et al.* (2020). Proprotein convertase 7 (PCSK7) reduces apoA-V levels. FEBS J *287*, 3565-3578.

Awan, Z., Choi, H.Y., Stitziel, N., Ruel, I., Bamimore, M.A., Husa, R., Gagnon, M.H., Wang, R.H., Peloso, G.M., Hegele, R.A., *et al.* (2013). APOE p.Leu167del mutation in familial hypercholesterolemia. Atherosclerosis *231*, 218-222.

Awan, Z., Dubuc, G., Faraj, M., Dufour, R., Seidah, N.G., Davignon, J., Rabasa-Lhoret, R., and Baass, A. (2014). The effect of insulin on circulating PCSK9 in postmenopausal obese women. Clin Biochem *47*, 1033-1039.

Awan, Z., Seidah, N.G., MacFadyen, J.G., Benjannet, S., Chasman, D.I., Ridker, P.M., and Genest, J. (2012). Rosuvastatin, proprotein convertase subtilisin/kexin type 9 concentrations, and LDL cholesterol response: the JUPITER trial. Clin Chem *58*, 183-189.

Baass, A., Dubuc, G., Tremblay, M., Delvin, E.E., O'Loughlin, J., Levy, E., Davignon, J., and Lambert, M. (2009). Plasma PCSK9 is associated with age, sex, and multiple metabolic markers in a population-based sample of children and adolescents. Clin Chem *55*, 1637-1645.

Bai, X., Yang, X., Jia, X., Rong, Y., Chen, L., Zeng, T., Deng, X., Li, W., Wu, G., Wang, L., *et al.* (2020). CAV1-CAVIN1-LC3B-mediated autophagy regulates high glucose-stimulated LDL transcytosis. Autophagy *16*, 1111-1129.

Baigent, C., Keech, A., Kearney, P.M., Blackwell, L., Buck, G., Pollicino, C., Kirby, A., Sourjina, T., Peto, R., Collins, R., *et al.* (2005). Efficacy and safety of cholesterol-lowering treatment: prospective meta-analysis of data from 90,056 participants in 14 randomised trials of statins. Lancet *366*, 1267-1278.

Bar, R.S., Gorden, P., Roth, J., Kahn, C.R., and De Meyts, P. (1976). Fluctuations in the affinity and concentration of insulin receptors on circulating monocytes of obese patients: effects of starvation, refeeding, and dieting. J Clin Invest *58*, 1123-1135.

Bartels, E.D., Christoffersen, C., Lindholm, M.W., and Nielsen, L.B. (2015). Altered metabolism of LDL in the arterial wall precedes atherosclerosis regression. Circ Res *117*, 933-942.

Bass, J., Chiu, G., Argon, Y., and Steiner, D.F. (1998). Folding of insulin receptor monomers is facilitated by the molecular chaperones calnexin and calreticulin and impaired by rapid dimerization. J Cell Biol *141*, 637-646.

Ben Djoudi Ouadda, A., Gauthier, M.S., Susan-Resiga, D., Girard, E., Essalmani, R., Black, M., Marcinkiewicz, J., Forget, D., Hamelin, J., Evagelidis, A., *et al.* (2019). Ser-Phosphorylation of PCSK9 (Proprotein Convertase Subtilisin-Kexin 9) by Fam20C (Family With Sequence Similarity

20, Member C) Kinase Enhances Its Ability to Degrade the LDLR (Low-Density Lipoprotein Receptor). Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol *39*, 1996-2013.

Benjannet, S., Elagoz, A., Wickham, L., Mamarbachi, M., Munzer, J.S., Basak, A., Lazure, C., Cromlish, J.A., Sisodia, S., Checler, F., *et al.* (2001). Post-translational processing of beta-secretase (beta-amyloid-converting enzyme) and its ectodomain shedding. The pro- and transmembrane/cytosolic domains affect its cellular activity and amyloid-beta production. J Biol Chem *276*, 10879-10887.

Benjannet, S., Hamelin, J., Chretien, M., and Seidah, N.G. (2012). Loss- and gain-of-function PCSK9 variants: cleavage specificity, dominant negative effects, and low density lipoprotein receptor (LDLR) degradation. J Biol Chem 287, 33745-33755.

Benjannet, S., Rhainds, D., Essalmani, R., Mayne, J., Wickham, L., Jin, W., Asselin, M.C., Hamelin, J., Varret, M., Allard, D., *et al.* (2004). NARC-1/PCSK9 and its natural mutants: zymogen cleavage and effects on the low density lipoprotein (LDL) receptor and LDL cholesterol. J Biol Chem *279*, 48865-48875.

Benjannet, S., Rhainds, D., Hamelin, J., Nassoury, N., and Seidah, N.G. (2006). The proprotein convertase (PC) PCSK9 is inactivated by furin and/or PC5/6A: functional consequences of natural mutations and post-translational modifications. J Biol Chem *281*, 30561-30572.

Benjannet, S., Saavedra, Y.G., Hamelin, J., Asselin, M.C., Essalmani, R., Pasquato, A., Lemaire, P., Duke, G., Miao, B., Duclos, F., *et al.* (2010). Effects of the prosegment and pH on the activity of PCSK9: evidence for additional processing events. J Biol Chem 285, 40965-40978.

Benjannet, S., Savaria, D., Chretien, M., and Seidah, N.G. (1995). 7B2 is a specific intracellular binding protein of the prohormone convertase PC2. J Neurochem *64*, 2303-2311.

Benyair, R., Ron, E., and Lederkremer, G.Z. (2011). Protein quality control, retention, and degradation at the endoplasmic reticulum. Int Rev Cell Mol Biol *292*, 197-280.

Benzinou, M., Creemers, J.W., Choquet, H., Lobbens, S., Dina, C., Durand, E., Guerardel, A., Boutin, P., Jouret, B., Heude, B., *et al.* (2008). Common nonsynonymous variants in PCSK1 confer risk of obesity. Nat Genet *40*, 943-945.

Bergendahl, M., Vance, M.L., Iranmanesh, A., Thorner, M.O., and Veldhuis, J.D. (1996). Fasting as a metabolic stress paradigm selectively amplifies cortisol secretory burst mass and delays the time of maximal nyctohemeral cortisol concentrations in healthy men. J Clin Endocrinol Metab *81*, 692-699.

Besseling, J., Kastelein, J.J., Defesche, J.C., Hutten, B.A., and Hovingh, G.K. (2015). Association between familial hypercholesterolemia and prevalence of type 2 diabetes mellitus. JAMA *313*, 1029-1036.

Bilheimer, D.W., Grundy, S.M., Brown, M.S., and Goldstein, J.L. (1983). Mevinolin and colestipol stimulate receptor-mediated clearance of low density lipoprotein from plasma in familial hypercholesterolemia heterozygotes. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A *80*, 4124-4128.

Bjermo, H., Iggman, D., Kullberg, J., Dahlman, I., Johansson, L., Persson, L., Berglund, J., Pulkki, K., Basu, S., Uusitupa, M., *et al.* (2012). Effects of n-6 PUFAs compared with SFAs on liver fat, lipoproteins, and inflammation in abdominal obesity: a randomized controlled trial. Am J Clin Nutr *95*, 1003-1012.

Blanco, E.H., Ramos-Molina, B., and Lindberg, I. (2015). Revisiting PC1/3 Mutants: Dominant-Negative Effect of Endoplasmic Reticulum-Retained Mutants. Endocrinology *156*, 3625-3637.

Blasiole, D.A., Oler, A.T., and Attie, A.D. (2008). Regulation of ApoB secretion by the low density lipoprotein receptor requires exit from the endoplasmic reticulum and interaction with ApoE or ApoB. J Biol Chem *283*, 11374-11381.

Boffa, M.B., and Koschinsky, M.L. (2019). Proprotein convertase subtilisin/kexin type 9 inhibitors and lipoprotein(a)-mediated risk of atherosclerotic cardiovascular disease: more than meets the eye? Curr Opin Lipidol *30*, 428-437.

Bojanin, D., Vekic, J., Milenkovic, T., Vukovic, R., Zeljkovic, A., Stefanovic, A., Janac, J., Ivanisevic, J., Mitrovic, K., Miljkovic, M., *et al.* (2019). Association between proprotein convertase subtilisin/kexin 9 (PCSK9) and lipoprotein subclasses in children with type 1 diabetes mellitus: Effects of glycemic control. Atherosclerosis *280*, 14-20.

Boot-Handford, R.P., and Briggs, M.D. (2010). The unfolded protein response and its relevance to connective tissue diseases. Cell Tissue Res *339*, 197-211.

Boren, J., Chapman, M.J., Krauss, R.M., Packard, C.J., Bentzon, J.F., Binder, C.J., Daemen, M.J., Demer, L.L., Hegele, R.A., Nicholls, S.J., *et al.* (2020). Low-density lipoproteins cause atherosclerotic cardiovascular disease: pathophysiological, genetic, and therapeutic insights: a consensus statement from the European Atherosclerosis Society Consensus Panel. Eur Heart J *41*, 2313-2330.

Boren, J., Lee, I., Zhu, W., Arnold, K., Taylor, S., and Innerarity, T.L. (1998). Identification of the low density lipoprotein receptor-binding site in apolipoprotein B100 and the modulation of its binding activity by the carboxyl terminus in familial defective apo-B100. J Clin Invest *101*, 1084-1093.

Brahmkhatri, V.P., Prasanna, C., and Atreya, H.S. (2015). Insulin-like growth factor system in cancer: novel targeted therapies. Biomed Res Int *2015*, 538019.

Bravo, D.A., Gleason, J.B., Sanchez, R.I., Roth, R.A., and Fuller, R.S. (1994). Accurate and efficient cleavage of the human insulin proreceptor by the human proprotein-processing protease furin. Characterization and kinetic parameters using the purified, secreted soluble protease expressed by a recombinant baculovirus. J Biol Chem *269*, 25830-25837.

Brites, F., Martin, M., Guillas, I., and Kontush, A. (2017). Antioxidative activity of high-density lipoprotein (HDL): Mechanistic insights into potential clinical benefit. BBA Clin *8*, 66-77.

Brouwers, M.C., van Greevenbroek, M.M., Troutt, J.S., Bonner Freeman, A., Lu, A., Schaper, N.C., Konrad, R.J., and Stehouwer, C.D. (2011). Plasma proprotein convertase subtilisin kexin type 9 is a heritable trait of familial combined hyperlipidaemia. Clin Sci (Lond) *121*, 397-403.

Brown, M., Dainty, S., Strudwick, N., Mihai, A.D., Watson, J.N., Dendooven, R., Paton, A.W., Paton, J.C., and Schroder, M. (2020). Endoplasmic reticulum stress causes insulin resistance by inhibiting delivery of newly synthesized insulin receptors to the cell surface. Mol Biol Cell *31*, 2597-2629.

Brown, M.S., and Goldstein, J.L. (1974). Expression of the familial hypercholesterolemia gene in heterozygotes: mechanism for a dominant disorder in man. Science *185*, 61-63.

Brown, M.S., and Goldstein, J.L. (1986). A receptor-mediated pathway for cholesterol homeostasis. Science 232, 34-47.

Brown, M.S., and Goldstein, J.L. (1997). The SREBP pathway: regulation of cholesterol metabolism by proteolysis of a membrane-bound transcription factor. Cell *89*, 331-340.

Browning, J.D., and Horton, J.D. (2010). Fasting reduces plasma proprotein convertase, subtilisin/kexin type 9 and cholesterol biosynthesis in humans. J Lipid Res *51*, 3359-3363.

Brunham, L.R., Kruit, J.K., Pape, T.D., Timmins, J.M., Reuwer, A.Q., Vasanji, Z., Marsh, B.J., Rodrigues, B., Johnson, J.D., Parks, J.S., *et al.* (2007). Beta-cell ABCA1 influences insulin secretion, glucose homeostasis and response to thiazolidinedione treatment. Nat Med *13*, 340-347.

Calfon, M., Zeng, H., Urano, F., Till, J.H., Hubbard, S.R., Harding, H.P., Clark, S.G., and Ron, D. (2002). IRE1 couples endoplasmic reticulum load to secretory capacity by processing the XBP-1 mRNA. Nature *415*, 92-96.

Callea, F., Brisigotti, M., Fabbretti, G., Bonino, F., and Desmet, V.J. (1992). Hepatic endoplasmic reticulum storage diseases. Liver *12*, 357-362.

Cameron, A., Fortenberry, Y., and Lindberg, I. (2000). The SAAS granin exhibits structural and functional homology to 7B2 and contains a highly potent hexapeptide inhibitor of PC1. FEBS Lett *473*, 135-138.

Cameron, J., Holla, O.L., Berge, K.E., Kulseth, M.A., Ranheim, T., Leren, T.P., and Laerdahl, J.K. (2008a). Investigations on the evolutionary conservation of PCSK9 reveal a functionally important protrusion. FEBS J *275*, 4121-4133.

Cameron, J., Holla, O.L., Ranheim, T., Kulseth, M.A., Berge, K.E., and Leren, T.P. (2006). Effect of mutations in the PCSK9 gene on the cell surface LDL receptors. Hum Mol Genet *15*, 1551-1558.

Cameron, J., Ranheim, T., Kulseth, M.A., Leren, T.P., and Berge, K.E. (2008b). Berberine decreases PCSK9 expression in HepG2 cells. Atherosclerosis *201*, 266-273.

Cannon, C.P., Blazing, M.A., Giugliano, R.P., McCagg, A., White, J.A., Theroux, P., Darius, H., Lewis, B.S., Ophuis, T.O., Jukema, J.W., *et al.* (2015). Ezetimibe Added to Statin Therapy after Acute Coronary Syndromes. N Engl J Med *372*, 2387-2397.

Canuel, M., Sun, X., Asselin, M.C., Paramithiotis, E., Prat, A., and Seidah, N.G. (2013). Proprotein convertase subtilisin/kexin type 9 (PCSK9) can mediate degradation of the low density lipoprotein receptor-related protein 1 (LRP-1). PLoS One *8*, e64145.

Careskey, H.E., Davis, R.A., Alborn, W.E., Troutt, J.S., Cao, G., and Konrad, R.J. (2008). Atorvastatin increases human serum levels of proprotein convertase subtilisin/kexin type 9. J Lipid Res *49*, 394-398.

Cariou, B., Langhi, C., Le Bras, M., Bortolotti, M., Le, K.A., Theytaz, F., Le May, C., Guyomarc'h-Delasalle, B., Zair, Y., Kreis, R., *et al.* (2013). Plasma PCSK9 concentrations during an oral fat load and after short term high-fat, high-fat high-protein and high-fructose diets. Nutr Metab (Lond) *10*, 4.

Cariou, B., Ouguerram, K., Zair, Y., Guerois, R., Langhi, C., Kourimate, S., Benoit, I., Le May, C., Gayet, C., Belabbas, K., *et al.* (2009). PCSK9 dominant negative mutant results in increased

LDL catabolic rate and familial hypobetalipoproteinemia. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol 29, 2191-2197.

Cenarro, A., Etxebarria, A., de Castro-Oros, I., Stef, M., Bea, A.M., Palacios, L., Mateo-Gallego, R., Benito-Vicente, A., Ostolaza, H., Tejedor, T., *et al.* (2016). The p.Leu167del Mutation in APOE Gene Causes Autosomal Dominant Hypercholesterolemia by Down-regulation of LDL Receptor Expression in Hepatocytes. J Clin Endocrinol Metab *101*, 2113-2121.

Charles, M.A., Eschwege, E., Thibult, N., Claude, J.R., Warnet, J.M., Rosselin, G.E., Girard, J., and Balkau, B. (1997). The role of non-esterified fatty acids in the deterioration of glucose tolerance in Caucasian subjects: results of the Paris Prospective Study. Diabetologia *40*, 1101-1106.

Chen, X.W., Wang, H., Bajaj, K., Zhang, P., Meng, Z.X., Ma, D., Bai, Y., Liu, H.H., Adams, E., Baines, A., *et al.* (2013). SEC24A deficiency lowers plasma cholesterol through reduced PCSK9 secretion. Elife *2*, e00444.

Chen, Y., Huang, L., Qi, X., and Chen, C. (2019). Insulin Receptor Trafficking: Consequences for Insulin Sensitivity and Diabetes. Int J Mol Sci 20.

Cholesterol Treatment Trialists, C., Baigent, C., Blackwell, L., Emberson, J., Holland, L.E., Reith, C., Bhala, N., Peto, R., Barnes, E.H., Keech, A., *et al.* (2010). Efficacy and safety of more intensive lowering of LDL cholesterol: a meta-analysis of data from 170,000 participants in 26 randomised trials. Lancet *376*, 1670-1681.

Chong, S.C., Dollah, M.A., Chong, P.P., and Maha, A. (2011). Phaleria macrocarpa (Scheff.) Boerl fruit aqueous extract enhances LDL receptor and PCSK9 expression in vivo and in vitro. J Ethnopharmacol *137*, 817-827.

Choquet, H., Kasberger, J., Hamidovic, A., and Jorgenson, E. (2013). Contribution of common PCSK1 genetic variants to obesity in 8,359 subjects from multi-ethnic American population. PLoS One *8*, e57857.

Chorba, J.S., Galvan, A.M., and Shokat, K.M. (2018). Stepwise processing analyses of the singleturnover PCSK9 protease reveal its substrate sequence specificity and link clinical genotype to lipid phenotype. J Biol Chem *293*, 1875-1886.

Chretien, M., and Li, C.H. (1967). Isolation, purification, and characterization of gammalipotropic hormone from sheep pituitary glands. Can J Biochem 45, 1163-1174.

Climent, E., Perez-Calahorra, S., Marco-Benedi, V., Plana, N., Sanchez, R., Ros, E., Ascaso, J.F., Puzo, J., Almagro, F., Lahoz, C., *et al.* (2017). Effect of LDL cholesterol, statins and presence of mutations on the prevalence of type 2 diabetes in heterozygous familial hypercholesterolemia. Sci Rep *7*, 5596.

Cnop, M., Hannaert, J.C., Grupping, A.Y., and Pipeleers, D.G. (2002). Low density lipoprotein can cause death of islet beta-cells by its cellular uptake and oxidative modification. Endocrinology *143*, 3449-3453.

Cohen, J., Pertsemlidis, A., Kotowski, I.K., Graham, R., Garcia, C.K., and Hobbs, H.H. (2005). Low LDL cholesterol in individuals of African descent resulting from frequent nonsense mutations in PCSK9. Nat Genet *37*, 161-165.

Cohen, J.C., Boerwinkle, E., Mosley, T.H., Jr., and Hobbs, H.H. (2006). Sequence variations in PCSK9, low LDL, and protection against coronary heart disease. N Engl J Med *354*, 1264-1272.

Constam, D.B., and Robertson, E.J. (2000a). SPC4/PACE4 regulates a TGFbeta signaling network during axis formation. Genes Dev *14*, 1146-1155.

Constam, D.B., and Robertson, E.J. (2000b). Tissue-specific requirements for the proprotein convertase furin/SPC1 during embryonic turning and heart looping. Development *127*, 245-254.

Contreras, I., Dohm, G.L., Abdallah, S., Wells, J.A., Mooney, N., Rovira, A., and Caro, J.F. (1990). The effect of fasting on the activation in vivo of the insulin receptor kinase. Biochem J *265*, 887-890.

Costet, P., Cariou, B., Lambert, G., Lalanne, F., Lardeux, B., Jarnoux, A.L., Grefhorst, A., Staels, B., and Krempf, M. (2006). Hepatic PCSK9 expression is regulated by nutritional status via insulin and sterol regulatory element-binding protein 1c. J Biol Chem *281*, 6211-6218.

Coutard, B., Valle, C., de Lamballerie, X., Canard, B., Seidah, N.G., and Decroly, E. (2020). The spike glycoprotein of the new coronavirus 2019-nCoV contains a furin-like cleavage site absent in CoV of the same clade. Antiviral Res *176*, 104742.

Creemers, J.W., Choquet, H., Stijnen, P., Vatin, V., Pigeyre, M., Beckers, S., Meulemans, S., Than, M.E., Yengo, L., Tauber, M., *et al.* (2012). Heterozygous mutations causing partial prohormone convertase 1 deficiency contribute to human obesity. Diabetes *61*, 383-390.

Creemers, J.W., and Khatib, A.M. (2008). Knock-out mouse models of proprotein convertases: unique functions or redundancy? Front Biosci *13*, 4960-4971.

Creemers, J.W., Vey, M., Schafer, W., Ayoubi, T.A., Roebroek, A.J., Klenk, H.D., Garten, W., and Van de Ven, W.J. (1995). Endoproteolytic cleavage of its propeptide is a prerequisite for efficient transport of furin out of the endoplasmic reticulum. J Biol Chem *270*, 2695-2702.

Cui, Q., Ju, X., Yang, T., Zhang, M., Tang, W., Chen, Q., Hu, Y., Haas, J.V., Troutt, J.S., Pickard, R.T., *et al.* (2010). Serum PCSK9 is associated with multiple metabolic factors in a large Han Chinese population. Atherosclerosis *213*, 632-636.

Cunningham, D., Danley, D.E., Geoghegan, K.F., Griffor, M.C., Hawkins, J.L., Subashi, T.A., Varghese, A.H., Ammirati, M.J., Culp, J.S., Hoth, L.R., *et al.* (2007). Structural and biophysical studies of PCSK9 and its mutants linked to familial hypercholesterolemia. Nat Struct Mol Biol *14*, 413-419.

Da Dalt, L., Ruscica, M., Bonacina, F., Balzarotti, G., Dhyani, A., Di Cairano, E., Baragetti, A., Arnaboldi, L., De Metrio, S., Pellegatta, F., *et al.* (2019). PCSK9 deficiency reduces insulin secretion and promotes glucose intolerance: the role of the low-density lipoprotein receptor. Eur Heart J *40*, 357-368.

Dardevet, D., Komori, K., Grunfeld, C., Rosenzweig, S.A., and Buse, M.G. (1991). Increased hepatic insulin proreceptor-to-receptor ratio in diabetes: a possible processing defect. Am J Physiol *261*, E562-571.

Das, A., Goldstein, J.L., Anderson, D.D., Brown, M.S., and Radhakrishnan, A. (2013). Use of mutant 125I-perfringolysin O to probe transport and organization of cholesterol in membranes of animal cells. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A *110*, 10580-10585.

Day, R., Schafer, M.K., Watson, S.J., Chretien, M., and Seidah, N.G. (1992). Distribution and regulation of the prohormone convertases PC1 and PC2 in the rat pituitary. Mol Endocrinol *6*, 485-497.

de Carvalho, L.S.F., Campos, A.M., and Sposito, A.C. (2018). Response to Comment on de Carvalho et al. Proprotein Convertase Subtilisin/Kexin Type 9 (PCSK9) Inhibitors and Incident Type 2 Diabetes: A Systematic Review and Meta-analysis With Over 96,000 Patient-Years. Diabetes Care 2018;41:364-367. Diabetes Care 41, e70-e71.

De Smet, E., Mensink, R.P., Konings, M., Brufau, G., Groen, A.K., Havinga, R., Schonewille, M., Kerksiek, A., Lutjohann, D., and Plat, J. (2015). Acute intake of plant stanol esters induces changes in lipid and lipoprotein metabolism-related gene expression in the liver and intestines of mice. Lipids *50*, 529-541.

Declercq, J., Meulemans, S., Plets, E., and Creemers, J.W. (2012). Internalization of proprotein convertase PC7 from plasma membrane is mediated by a novel motif. J Biol Chem *287*, 9052-9060.

Demers, A., Samami, S., Lauzier, B., Des Rosiers, C., Ngo Sock, E.T., Ong, H., and Mayer, G. (2015). PCSK9 Induces CD36 Degradation and Affects Long-Chain Fatty Acid Uptake and Triglyceride Metabolism in Adipocytes and in Mouse Liver. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol *35*, 2517-2525.

Despres, J.P. (2006). Intra-abdominal obesity: an untreated risk factor for Type 2 diabetes and cardiovascular disease. J Endocrinol Invest *29*, 77-82.

Dewpura, T., Raymond, A., Hamelin, J., Seidah, N.G., Mbikay, M., Chretien, M., and Mayne, J. (2008). PCSK9 is phosphorylated by a Golgi casein kinase-like kinase ex vivo and circulates as a phosphoprotein in humans. FEBS J *275*, 3480-3493.

Di Filippo, M., Vokaer, B., and Seidah, N.G. (2017). A case of hypocholesterolemia and steatosis in a carrier of a PCSK9 loss-of-function mutation and polymorphisms predisposing to nonalcoholic fatty liver disease. J Clin Lipidol *11*, 1101-1105.

Dijk, W., Le May, C., and Cariou, B. (2018). Beyond LDL: What Role for PCSK9 in Triglyceride-Rich Lipoprotein Metabolism? Trends Endocrinol Metab *29*, 420-434.

Ding, Z., Liu, S., Wang, X., Deng, X., Fan, Y., Sun, C., Wang, Y., and Mehta, J.L. (2015). Hemodynamic shear stress via ROS modulates PCSK9 expression in human vascular endothelial and smooth muscle cells and along the mouse aorta. Antioxid Redox Signal *22*, 760-771.

Donnelly, K.L., Smith, C.I., Schwarzenberg, S.J., Jessurun, J., Boldt, M.D., and Parks, E.J. (2005). Sources of fatty acids stored in liver and secreted via lipoproteins in patients with nonalcoholic fatty liver disease. J Clin Invest *115*, 1343-1351.

Doonan, L.M., Fisher, E.A., and Brodsky, J.L. (2018). Can modulators of apolipoproteinB biogenesis serve as an alternate target for cholesterol-lowering drugs? Biochim Biophys Acta Mol Cell Biol Lipids *1863*, 762-771.

Dubuc, G., Chamberland, A., Wassef, H., Davignon, J., Seidah, N.G., Bernier, L., and Prat, A. (2004). Statins upregulate PCSK9, the gene encoding the proprotein convertase neural apoptosis-regulated convertase-1 implicated in familial hypercholesterolemia. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol *24*, 1454-1459.

Dubuc, G., Tremblay, M., Pare, G., Jacques, H., Hamelin, J., Benjannet, S., Boulet, L., Genest, J., Bernier, L., Seidah, N.G., *et al.* (2010). A new method for measurement of total plasma PCSK9: clinical applications. J Lipid Res *51*, 140-149.

Dufour, R., Bergeron, J., Gaudet, D., Weiss, R., Hovingh, G.K., Qing, Z., Yang, F., Andisik, M., Torri, A., Pordy, R., *et al.* (2017). Open-label therapy with alirocumab in patients with heterozygous familial hypercholesterolemia: Results from three years of treatment. Int J Cardiol *228*, 754-760.

Durand, L., Duval, S., Evagelidis, A., Guillemot, J., Dianati, V., Sikorska, E., Schu, P., Day, R., and Seidah, N.G. (2020). The motif EXEXXXL in the cytosolic tail of the secretory human proprotein convertase PC7 regulates its trafficking and cleavage activity. J Biol Chem *295*, 2068-2083.

Ebina, Y., Ellis, L., Jarnagin, K., Edery, M., Graf, L., Clauser, E., Ou, J.H., Masiarz, F., Kan, Y.W., Goldfine, I.D., *et al.* (1985). The human insulin receptor cDNA: the structural basis for hormone-activated transmembrane signalling. Cell *40*, 747-758.

Eden, E.R., Patel, D.D., Sun, X.M., Burden, J.J., Themis, M., Edwards, M., Lee, P., Neuwirth, C., Naoumova, R.P., and Soutar, A.K. (2002). Restoration of LDL receptor function in cells from patients with autosomal recessive hypercholesterolemia by retroviral expression of ARH1. J Clin Invest *110*, 1695-1702.

Ellgaard, L., McCaul, N., Chatsisvili, A., and Braakman, I. (2016). Co- and Post-Translational Protein Folding in the ER. Traffic *17*, 615-638.

Endo, A., Kuroda, M., and Tsujita, Y. (1976). ML-236A, ML-236B, and ML-236C, new inhibitors of cholesterogenesis produced by Penicillium citrinium. J Antibiot (Tokyo) *29*, 1346-1348.

Essalmani, R., Zaid, A., Marcinkiewicz, J., Chamberland, A., Pasquato, A., Seidah, N.G., and Prat, A. (2008). In vivo functions of the proprotein convertase PC5/6 during mouse development: Gdf11 is a likely substrate. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A *105*, 5750-5755.

Fan, D., Yancey, P.G., Qiu, S., Ding, L., Weeber, E.J., Linton, M.F., and Fazio, S. (2008). Self-association of human PCSK9 correlates with its LDLR-degrading activity. Biochemistry *47*, 1631-1639.

Fantus, I.G., Ryan, J., Hizuka, N., and Gorden, P. (1981). The effect of glucocorticoids on the insulin receptor: an in vivo and in vitro study. J Clin Endocrinol Metab *52*, 953-960.

Farbstein, D., and Levy, A.P. (2012). HDL dysfunction in diabetes: causes and possible treatments. Expert Rev Cardiovasc Ther *10*, 353-361.

Farese, R.V., Jr., Ruland, S.L., Flynn, L.M., Stokowski, R.P., and Young, S.G. (1995). Knockout of the mouse apolipoprotein B gene results in embryonic lethality in homozygotes and protection against diet-induced hypercholesterolemia in heterozygotes. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A *92*, 1774-1778.

Farooqi, I.S., Volders, K., Stanhope, R., Heuschkel, R., White, A., Lank, E., Keogh, J., O'Rahilly, S., and Creemers, J.W. (2007). Hyperphagia and early-onset obesity due to a novel homozygous missense mutation in prohormone convertase 1/3. J Clin Endocrinol Metab *92*, 3369-3373.

Ference, B.A., Ginsberg, H.N., Graham, I., Ray, K.K., Packard, C.J., Bruckert, E., Hegele, R.A., Krauss, R.M., Raal, F.J., Schunkert, H., *et al.* (2017). Low-density lipoproteins cause

atherosclerotic cardiovascular disease. 1. Evidence from genetic, epidemiologic, and clinical studies. A consensus statement from the European Atherosclerosis Society Consensus Panel. Eur Heart J *38*, 2459-2472.

Ference, B.A., Graham, I., Tokgozoglu, L., and Catapano, A.L. (2018). Impact of Lipids on Cardiovascular Health: JACC Health Promotion Series. J Am Coll Cardiol 72, 1141-1156.

Ference, B.A., Robinson, J.G., Brook, R.D., Catapano, A.L., Chapman, M.J., Neff, D.R., Voros, S., Giugliano, R.P., Davey Smith, G., Fazio, S., *et al.* (2016). Variation in PCSK9 and HMGCR and Risk of Cardiovascular Disease and Diabetes. N Engl J Med *375*, 2144-2153.

Ferri, N., Marchiano, S., Tibolla, G., Baetta, R., Dhyani, A., Ruscica, M., Uboldi, P., Catapano, A.L., and Corsini, A. (2016). PCSK9 knock-out mice are protected from neointimal formation in response to perivascular carotid collar placement. Atherosclerosis *253*, 214-224.

Ferri, N., Ruscica, M., Coggi, D., Bonomi, A., Amato, M., Frigerio, B., Sansaro, D., Ravani, A., Veglia, F., Capra, N., *et al.* (2020). Sex-specific predictors of PCSK9 levels in a European population: The IMPROVE study. Atherosclerosis *309*, 39-46.

Fisher, T.S., Lo Surdo, P., Pandit, S., Mattu, M., Santoro, J.C., Wisniewski, D., Cummings, R.T., Calzetta, A., Cubbon, R.M., Fischer, P.A., *et al.* (2007). Effects of pH and low density lipoprotein (LDL) on PCSK9-dependent LDL receptor regulation. J Biol Chem *282*, 20502-20512.

Fouchier, S.W., Sankatsing, R.R., Peter, J., Castillo, S., Pocovi, M., Alonso, R., Kastelein, J.J., and Defesche, J.C. (2005). High frequency of APOB gene mutations causing familial hypobetalipoproteinaemia in patients of Dutch and Spanish descent. J Med Genet *42*, e23.

Friedewald, W.T., Levy, R.I., and Fredrickson, D.S. (1972). Estimation of the concentration of low-density lipoprotein cholesterol in plasma, without use of the preparative ultracentrifuge. Clin Chem *18*, 499-502.

Fu, W., Gao, X.P., Zhang, S., Dai, Y.P., Zou, W.J., and Yue, L.M. (2019). 17beta-Estradiol Inhibits PCSK9-Mediated LDLR Degradation Through GPER/PLC Activation in HepG2 Cells. Front Endocrinol (Lausanne) *10*, 930.

Fuller, R.S., Brake, A.J., and Thorner, J. (1989). Intracellular targeting and structural conservation of a prohormone-processing endoprotease. Science *246*, 482-486.

Furtado, R.H.M., and Giugliano, R.P. (2020). What Lessons Have We Learned and What Remains to be Clarified for PCSK9 Inhibitors? A Review of FOURIER and ODYSSEY Outcomes Trials. Cardiol Ther *9*, 59-73.

Furuta, M., Yano, H., Zhou, A., Rouille, Y., Holst, J.J., Carroll, R., Ravazzola, M., Orci, L., Furuta, H., and Steiner, D.F. (1997). Defective prohormone processing and altered pancreatic islet morphology in mice lacking active SPC2. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A *94*, 6646-6651.

Gabriely, I., Ma, X.H., Yang, X.M., Atzmon, G., Rajala, M.W., Berg, A.H., Scherer, P., Rossetti, L., and Barzilai, N. (2002). Removal of visceral fat prevents insulin resistance and glucose intolerance of aging: an adipokine-mediated process? Diabetes *51*, 2951-2958.

Galman, C., Angelin, B., and Rudling, M. (2005). Bile acid synthesis in humans has a rapid diurnal variation that is asynchronous with cholesterol synthesis. Gastroenterology *129*, 1445-1453.

Garcia, C.K., Wilund, K., Arca, M., Zuliani, G., Fellin, R., Maioli, M., Calandra, S., Bertolini, S., Cossu, F., Grishin, N., *et al.* (2001). Autosomal recessive hypercholesterolemia caused by mutations in a putative LDL receptor adaptor protein. Science *292*, 1394-1398.

Garvie, C.W., Fraley, C.V., Elowe, N.H., Culyba, E.K., Lemke, C.T., Hubbard, B.K., Kaushik, V.K., and Daniels, D.S. (2016). Point mutations at the catalytic site of PCSK9 inhibit folding, autoprocessing, and interaction with the LDL receptor. Protein Sci *25*, 2018-2027.

Gent, J., and Braakman, I. (2004). Low-density lipoprotein receptor structure and folding. Cell Mol Life Sci *61*, 2461-2470.

Ghosh, M., Galman, C., Rudling, M., and Angelin, B. (2015). Influence of physiological changes in endogenous estrogen on circulating PCSK9 and LDL cholesterol. J Lipid Res *56*, 463-469.

Goldstein, J.L., Brown, M.S., and Stone, N.J. (1977). Genetics of the LDL receptor: evidence that the mutations affecting binding and internalization are allelic. Cell *12*, 629-641.

Grunberger, G., Geiger, D., Carpentier, J.L., Robert, A., and Gorden, P. (1989). Receptor-mediated endocytosis of insulin: inhibition of [1251]iodoinsulin internalization in insulin resistant diabetic states of man. Acta Endocrinol (Copenh) *121*, 581-586.

Grupping, A.Y., Cnop, M., Van Schravendijk, C.F., Hannaert, J.C., Van Berkel, T.J., and Pipeleers, D.G. (1997). Low density lipoprotein binding and uptake by human and rat islet beta cells. Endocrinology *138*, 4064-4068.

Guardiola, M., Plana, N., Ibarretxe, D., Cabre, A., Gonzalez, M., Ribalta, J., and Masana, L. (2015). Circulating PCSK9 levels are positively correlated with NMR-assessed atherogenic dyslipidaemia in patients with high cardiovascular risk. Clin Sci (Lond) *128*, 877-882.

Guillemot, J., Canuel, M., Essalmani, R., Prat, A., and Seidah, N.G. (2013). Implication of the proprotein convertases in iron homeostasis: proprotein convertase 7 sheds human transferrin receptor 1 and furin activates hepcidin. Hepatology *57*, 2514-2524.

Guo, W., Fu, J., Chen, X., Gao, B., Fu, Z., Fan, H., Cui, Q., Zhu, X., Zhao, Y., Yang, T., *et al.* (2015). The effects of estrogen on serum level and hepatocyte expression of PCSK9. Metabolism *64*, 554-560.

Gyamera-Acheampong, C., and Mbikay, M. (2009). Proprotein convertase subtilisin/kexin type 4 in mammalian fertility: a review. Hum Reprod Update *15*, 237-247.

Haas, J.T., Miao, J., Chanda, D., Wang, Y., Zhao, E., Haas, M.E., Hirschey, M., Vaitheesvaran, B., Farese, R.V., Jr., Kurland, I.J., *et al.* (2012). Hepatic insulin signaling is required for obesity-dependent expression of SREBP-1c mRNA but not for feeding-dependent expression. Cell Metab *15*, 873-884.

Haeusler, R.A., McGraw, T.E., and Accili, D. (2018). Biochemical and cellular properties of insulin receptor signalling. Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol *19*, 31-44.

Hampton, E.N., Knuth, M.W., Li, J., Harris, J.L., Lesley, S.A., and Spraggon, G. (2007). The selfinhibited structure of full-length PCSK9 at 1.9 A reveals structural homology with resistin within the C-terminal domain. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A *104*, 14604-14609. Hedo, J.A., Kahn, C.R., Hayashi, M., Yamada, K.M., and Kasuga, M. (1983). Biosynthesis and glycosylation of the insulin receptor. Evidence for a single polypeptide precursor of the two major subunits. J Biol Chem *258*, 10020-10026.

Heijboer, A.C., Donga, E., Voshol, P.J., Dang, Z.C., Havekes, L.M., Romijn, J.A., and Corssmit, E.P. (2005). Sixteen hours of fasting differentially affects hepatic and muscle insulin sensitivity in mice. J Lipid Res *46*, 582-588.

Henrich, S., Cameron, A., Bourenkov, G.P., Kiefersauer, R., Huber, R., Lindberg, I., Bode, W., and Than, M.E. (2003). The crystal structure of the proprotein processing proteinase furin explains its stringent specificity. Nat Struct Biol *10*, 520-526.

Henrich, S., Lindberg, I., Bode, W., and Than, M.E. (2005). Proprotein convertase models based on the crystal structures of furin and kexin: explanation of their specificity. J Mol Biol *345*, 211-227.

Herbert, B., Patel, D., Waddington, S.N., Eden, E.R., McAleenan, A., Sun, X.M., and Soutar, A.K. (2010). Increased secretion of lipoproteins in transgenic mice expressing human D374Y PCSK9 under physiological genetic control. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol *30*, 1333-1339.

Hernandez, C., Francisco, G., Ciudin, A., Chacon, P., Montoro, B., Llaverias, G., Blanco-Vaca, F., and Simo, R. (2011). Effect of atorvastatin on lipoprotein (a) and interleukin-10: a randomized placebo-controlled trial. Diabetes Metab *37*, 124-130.

Hindorff, L.A., Sethupathy, P., Junkins, H.A., Ramos, E.M., Mehta, J.P., Collins, F.S., and Manolio, T.A. (2009). Potential etiologic and functional implications of genome-wide association loci for human diseases and traits. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A *106*, 9362-9367.

Holla, O.L., Cameron, J., Berge, K.E., Ranheim, T., and Leren, T.P. (2007). Degradation of the LDL receptors by PCSK9 is not mediated by a secreted protein acted upon by PCSK9 extracellularly. BMC Cell Biol *8*, 9.

Holla, O.L., Cameron, J., Tveten, K., Strom, T.B., Berge, K.E., Laerdahl, J.K., and Leren, T.P. (2011a). Role of the C-terminal domain of PCSK9 in degradation of the LDL receptors. J Lipid Res *52*, 1787-1794.

Holla, O.L., Laerdahl, J.K., Strom, T.B., Tveten, K., Cameron, J., Berge, K.E., and Leren, T.P. (2011b). Removal of acidic residues of the prodomain of PCSK9 increases its activity towards the LDL receptor. Biochem Biophys Res Commun *406*, 234-238.

Hollien, J., Lin, J.H., Li, H., Stevens, N., Walter, P., and Weissman, J.S. (2009). Regulated Ire1dependent decay of messenger RNAs in mammalian cells. J Cell Biol *186*, 323-331.

Hollien, J., and Weissman, J.S. (2006). Decay of endoplasmic reticulum-localized mRNAs during the unfolded protein response. Science *313*, 104-107.

Holyoak, T., Kettner, C.A., Petsko, G.A., Fuller, R.S., and Ringe, D. (2004). Structural basis for differences in substrate selectivity in Kex2 and furin protein convertases. Biochemistry *43*, 2412-2421.

Holyoak, T., Wilson, M.A., Fenn, T.D., Kettner, C.A., Petsko, G.A., Fuller, R.S., and Ringe, D. (2003). 2.4 A resolution crystal structure of the prototypical hormone-processing protease Kex2 in complex with an Ala-Lys-Arg boronic acid inhibitor. Biochemistry *42*, 6709-6718.

Homer, V.M., Marais, A.D., Charlton, F., Laurie, A.D., Hurndell, N., Scott, R., Mangili, F., Sullivan, D.R., Barter, P.J., Rye, K.A., *et al.* (2008). Identification and characterization of two non-secreted PCSK9 mutants associated with familial hypercholesterolemia in cohorts from New Zealand and South Africa. Atherosclerosis *196*, 659-666.

Hopkins, P.N., Defesche, J., Fouchier, S.W., Bruckert, E., Luc, G., Cariou, B., Sjouke, B., Leren, T.P., Harada-Shiba, M., Mabuchi, H., *et al.* (2015). Characterization of Autosomal Dominant Hypercholesterolemia Caused by PCSK9 Gain of Function Mutations and Its Specific Treatment With Alirocumab, a PCSK9 Monoclonal Antibody. Circ Cardiovasc Genet *8*, 823-831.

Hori, M., Ishihara, M., Yuasa, Y., Makino, H., Yanagi, K., Tamanaha, T., Kishimoto, I., Kujiraoka, T., Hattori, H., and Harada-Shiba, M. (2015). Removal of plasma mature and furin-cleaved proprotein convertase subtilisin/kexin 9 by low-density lipoprotein-apheresis in familial hypercholesterolemia: development and application of a new assay for PCSK9. J Clin Endocrinol Metab *100*, E41-49.

Horton, J.D., Bashmakov, Y., Shimomura, I., and Shimano, H. (1998). Regulation of sterol regulatory element binding proteins in livers of fasted and refed mice. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A *95*, 5987-5992.

Horton, J.D., Shah, N.A., Warrington, J.A., Anderson, N.N., Park, S.W., Brown, M.S., and Goldstein, J.L. (2003). Combined analysis of oligonucleotide microarray data from transgenic and knockout mice identifies direct SREBP target genes. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A *100*, 12027-12032.

Horton, J.D., Shimano, H., Hamilton, R.L., Brown, M.S., and Goldstein, J.L. (1999). Disruption of LDL receptor gene in transgenic SREBP-1a mice unmasks hyperlipidemia resulting from production of lipid-rich VLDL. J Clin Invest *103*, 1067-1076.

Howell, B.W., and Herz, J. (2001). The LDL receptor gene family: signaling functions during development. Curr Opin Neurobiol 11, 74-81.

Hsi, K.L., Seidah, N.G., De Serres, G., and Chretien, M. (1982). Isolation and NH2-terminal sequence of a novel porcine anterior pituitary polypeptide. Homology to proinsulin, secretin and Rous sarcoma virus transforming protein TVFV60. FEBS Lett *147*, 261-266.

Hu, P., Dharmayat, K.I., Stevens, C.A.T., Sharabiani, M.T.A., Jones, R.S., Watts, G.F., Genest, J., Ray, K.K., and Vallejo-Vaz, A.J. (2020). Prevalence of Familial Hypercholesterolemia Among the General Population and Patients With Atherosclerotic Cardiovascular Disease: A Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis. Circulation *141*, 1742-1759.

Hunt, S.C., Hopkins, P.N., Bulka, K., McDermott, M.T., Thorne, T.L., Wardell, B.B., Bowen, B.R., Ballinger, D.G., Skolnick, M.H., and Samuels, M.E. (2000). Genetic localization to chromosome 1p32 of the third locus for familial hypercholesterolemia in a Utah kindred. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol *20*, 1089-1093.

Ikemura, H., Takagi, H., and Inouye, M. (1987). Requirement of pro-sequence for the production of active subtilisin E in Escherichia coli. J Biol Chem *262*, 7859-7864.

Innerarity, T.L., Weisgraber, K.H., Arnold, K.S., Mahley, R.W., Krauss, R.M., Vega, G.L., and Grundy, S.M. (1987). Familial defective apolipoprotein B-100: low density lipoproteins with abnormal receptor binding. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A *84*, 6919-6923.
Jacobs, S., Hazum, E., Shechter, Y., and Cuatrecasas, P. (1979). Insulin receptor: covalent labeling and identification of subunits. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A *76*, 4918-4921.

James, R.W., Martin, B., Pometta, D., Fruchart, J.C., Duriez, P., Puchois, P., Farriaux, J.P., Tacquet, A., Demant, T., Clegg, R.J., *et al.* (1989). Apolipoprotein B metabolism in homozygous familial hypercholesterolemia. J Lipid Res *30*, 159-169.

Jang, H.D., Lee, S.E., Yang, J., Lee, H.C., Shin, D., Lee, H., Lee, J., Jin, S., Kim, S., Lee, S.J., *et al.* (2020). Cyclase-associated protein 1 is a binding partner of proprotein convertase subtilisin/kexin type-9 and is required for the degradation of low-density lipoprotein receptors by proprotein convertase subtilisin/kexin type-9. Eur Heart J *41*, 239-252.

Jensen, T.L., Kiersgaard, M.K., Sorensen, D.B., and Mikkelsen, L.F. (2013). Fasting of mice: a review. Lab Anim 47, 225-240.

Jeon, H., and Blacklow, S.C. (2005). Structure and physiologic function of the low-density lipoprotein receptor. Annu Rev Biochem 74, 535-562.

Jeong, H.J., Lee, H.S., Kim, K.S., Kim, Y.K., Yoon, D., and Park, S.W. (2008). Sterol-dependent regulation of proprotein convertase subtilisin/kexin type 9 expression by sterol-regulatory element binding protein-2. J Lipid Res *49*, 399-409.

Johnston, L.W., Harris, S.B., Retnakaran, R., Giacca, A., Liu, Z., Bazinet, R.P., and Hanley, A.J. (2018). Association of NEFA composition with insulin sensitivity and beta cell function in the Prospective Metabolism and Islet Cell Evaluation (PROMISE) cohort. Diabetologia *61*, 821-830.

Julius, D., Schekman, R., and Thorner, J. (1984). Glycosylation and processing of prepro-alphafactor through the yeast secretory pathway. Cell *36*, 309-318.

Jung, S.H., Ha, K.H., and Kim, D.J. (2016). Visceral Fat Mass Has Stronger Associations with Diabetes and Prediabetes than Other Anthropometric Obesity Indicators among Korean Adults. Yonsei Med J *57*, 674-680.

Kamagate, A., and Dong, H.H. (2008). FoxO1 integrates insulin signaling to VLDL production. Cell Cycle 7, 3162-3170.

Kasuga, M., Fujita-Yamaguchi, Y., Blithe, D.L., and Kahn, C.R. (1983). Tyrosine-specific protein kinase activity is associated with the purified insulin receptor. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A *80*, 2137-2141.

Kasuga, M., Karlsson, F.A., and Kahn, C.R. (1982). Insulin stimulates the phosphorylation of the 95,000-dalton subunit of its own receptor. Science *215*, 185-187.

Kern, M., Knigge, A., Heiker, J.T., Kosacka, J., Stumvoll, M., Kovacs, P., Bluher, M., and Kloting, N. (2012). C57BL/6JRj mice are protected against diet induced obesity (DIO). Biochem Biophys Res Commun *417*, 717-720.

Khachadurian, A.K. (1964). The Inheritance of Essential Familial Hypercholesterolemia. Am J Med *37*, 402-407.

Khademi, F., Momtazi-Borojeni, A.A., Reiner, Z., Banach, M., Al-Rasadi, K.A., and Sahebkar, A. (2018). PCSK9 and infection: A potentially useful or dangerous association? J Cell Physiol *233*, 2920-2927.

Khera, A.V., and Kathiresan, S. (2017). Genetics of coronary artery disease: discovery, biology and clinical translation. Nat Rev Genet *18*, 331-344.

Kiefer, M.C., Tucker, J.E., Joh, R., Landsberg, K.E., Saltman, D., and Barr, P.J. (1991). Identification of a second human subtilisin-like protease gene in the fes/fps region of chromosome 15. DNA Cell Biol *10*, 757-769.

Kilpelainen, T.O., Bingham, S.A., Khaw, K.T., Wareham, N.J., and Loos, R.J. (2009). Association of variants in the PCSK1 gene with obesity in the EPIC-Norfolk study. Hum Mol Genet *18*, 3496-3501.

Kirchhofer, D., Burdick, D.J., Skelton, N.J., Zhang, Y., and Ultsch, M. (2020). Regions of conformational flexibility in the proprotein convertase PCSK9 and design of antagonists for LDL cholesterol lowering. Biochem Soc Trans *48*, 1323-1336.

Klarin, D., Damrauer, S.M., Cho, K., Sun, Y.V., Teslovich, T.M., Honerlaw, J., Gagnon, D.R., DuVall, S.L., Li, J., Peloso, G.M., *et al.* (2018). Genetics of blood lipids among ~300,000 multiethnic participants of the Million Veteran Program. Nat Genet *50*, 1514-1523.

Kobayashi, M., Sasaoka, T., Takata, Y., Hisatomi, A., and Shigeta, Y. (1988). Insulin resistance by uncleaved insulin proreceptor. Emergence of binding site by trypsin. Diabetes *37*, 653-656.

Kong, F.J., Wu, J.H., Sun, S.Y., and Zhou, J.Q. (2017). The endoplasmic reticulum stress/autophagy pathway is involved in cholesterol-induced pancreatic beta-cell injury. Sci Rep 7, 44746.

Koonen, D.P., Jacobs, R.L., Febbraio, M., Young, M.E., Soltys, C.L., Ong, H., Vance, D.E., and Dyck, J.R. (2007). Increased hepatic CD36 expression contributes to dyslipidemia associated with diet-induced obesity. Diabetes *56*, 2863-2871.

Kosenko, T., Golder, M., Leblond, G., Weng, W., and Lagace, T.A. (2013). Low density lipoprotein binds to proprotein convertase subtilisin/kexin type-9 (PCSK9) in human plasma and inhibits PCSK9-mediated low density lipoprotein receptor degradation. J Biol Chem *288*, 8279-8288.

Kosoglou, T., Meyer, I., Veltri, E.P., Statkevich, P., Yang, B., Zhu, Y., Mellars, L., Maxwell, S.E., Patrick, J.E., Cutler, D.L., *et al.* (2002). Pharmacodynamic interaction between the new selective cholesterol absorption inhibitor ezetimibe and simvastatin. Br J Clin Pharmacol *54*, 309-319.

Kostner, K.M., and Kostner, G.M. (2017). Lipoprotein (a): a historical appraisal. J Lipid Res 58, 1-14.

Kourimate, S., Le May, C., Langhi, C., Jarnoux, A.L., Ouguerram, K., Zair, Y., Nguyen, P., Krempf, M., Cariou, B., and Costet, P. (2008). Dual mechanisms for the fibrate-mediated repression of proprotein convertase subtilisin/kexin type 9. J Biol Chem *283*, 9666-9673.

Kraft, H.G., Lingenhel, A., Kochl, S., Hoppichler, F., Kronenberg, F., Abe, A., Muhlberger, V., Schonitzer, D., and Utermann, G. (1996). Apolipoprotein(a) kringle IV repeat number predicts risk for coronary heart disease. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol *16*, 713-719.

Kruit, J.K., Brunham, L.R., Verchere, C.B., and Hayden, M.R. (2010a). HDL and LDL cholesterol significantly influence beta-cell function in type 2 diabetes mellitus. Curr Opin Lipidol *21*, 178-185.

Kruit, J.K., Kremer, P.H., Dai, L., Tang, R., Ruddle, P., de Haan, W., Brunham, L.R., Verchere, C.B., and Hayden, M.R. (2010b). Cholesterol efflux via ATP-binding cassette transporter A1 (ABCA1) and cholesterol uptake via the LDL receptor influences cholesterol-induced impairment of beta cell function in mice. Diabetologia *53*, 1110-1119.

Kurano, M., Hara, M., Satoh, H., and Tsukamoto, K. (2015). Hepatic NPC1L1 overexpression ameliorates glucose metabolism in diabetic mice via suppression of gluconeogenesis. Metabolism *64*, 588-596.

Kushi, R., Hirota, Y., and Ogawa, W. (2020). Insulin resistance and exaggerated insulin sensitivity triggered by single-gene mutations in the insulin signaling pathway. Diabetology International.

Kwakernaak, A.J., Lambert, G., and Dullaart, R.P. (2014). Plasma proprotein convertase subtilisin-kexin type 9 is predominantly related to intermediate density lipoproteins. Clin Biochem *47*, 679-682.

Kwon, H.J., Lagace, T.A., McNutt, M.C., Horton, J.D., and Deisenhofer, J. (2008). Molecular basis for LDL receptor recognition by PCSK9. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A *105*, 1820-1825.

Kysenius, K., Muggalla, P., Matlik, K., Arumae, U., and Huttunen, H.J. (2012). PCSK9 regulates neuronal apoptosis by adjusting ApoER2 levels and signaling. Cell Mol Life Sci *69*, 1903-1916.

Labonte, P., Begley, S., Guevin, C., Asselin, M.C., Nassoury, N., Mayer, G., Prat, A., and Seidah, N.G. (2009). PCSK9 impedes hepatitis C virus infection in vitro and modulates liver CD81 expression. Hepatology *50*, 17-24.

Lagace, T.A., Curtis, D.E., Garuti, R., McNutt, M.C., Park, S.W., Prather, H.B., Anderson, N.N., Ho, Y.K., Hammer, R.E., and Horton, J.D. (2006). Secreted PCSK9 decreases the number of LDL receptors in hepatocytes and in livers of parabiotic mice. J Clin Invest *116*, 2995-3005.

Lakoski, S.G., Lagace, T.A., Cohen, J.C., Horton, J.D., and Hobbs, H.H. (2009). Genetic and metabolic determinants of plasma PCSK9 levels. J Clin Endocrinol Metab *94*, 2537-2543.

Lambert, G., Ancellin, N., Charlton, F., Comas, D., Pilot, J., Keech, A., Patel, S., Sullivan, D.R., Cohn, J.S., Rye, K.A., *et al.* (2008). Plasma PCSK9 concentrations correlate with LDL and total cholesterol in diabetic patients and are decreased by fenofibrate treatment. Clin Chem *54*, 1038-1045.

Lambert, G., Jarnoux, A.L., Pineau, T., Pape, O., Chetiveaux, M., Laboisse, C., Krempf, M., and Costet, P. (2006). Fasting induces hyperlipidemia in mice overexpressing proprotein convertase subtilisin kexin type 9: lack of modulation of very-low-density lipoprotein hepatic output by the low-density lipoprotein receptor. Endocrinology *147*, 4985-4995.

Langhi, C., Le May, C., Gmyr, V., Vandewalle, B., Kerr-Conte, J., Krempf, M., Pattou, F., Costet, P., and Cariou, B. (2009). PCSK9 is expressed in pancreatic delta-cells and does not alter insulin secretion. Biochem Biophys Res Commun *390*, 1288-1293.

Larsson, S.L., Skogsberg, J., and Bjorkegren, J. (2004). The low density lipoprotein receptor prevents secretion of dense apoB100-containing lipoproteins from the liver. J Biol Chem 279, 831-836.

Laugier-Robiolle, S., Verges, B., Le Bras, M., Gand, E., Bouillet, B., Saulnier, P.J., Le May, C., Pichelin, M., Marechaud, R., Petit, J.M., *et al.* (2017). Glycaemic control influences the

relationship between plasma PCSK9 and LDL cholesterol in type 1 diabetes. Diabetes Obes Metab *19*, 448-451.

Le May, C., Kourimate, S., Langhi, C., Chetiveaux, M., Jarry, A., Comera, C., Collet, X., Kuipers, F., Krempf, M., Cariou, B., *et al.* (2009). Proprotein convertase subtilisin kexin type 9 null mice are protected from postprandial triglyceridemia. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol *29*, 684-690.

Leavens, K.F., and Birnbaum, M.J. (2011). Insulin signaling to hepatic lipid metabolism in health and disease. Crit Rev Biochem Mol Biol *46*, 200-215.

Lebeau, P., Al-Hashimi, A., Sood, S., Lhotak, S., Yu, P., Gyulay, G., Pare, G., Chen, S.R., Trigatti, B., Prat, A., *et al.* (2017). Endoplasmic Reticulum Stress and Ca2+ Depletion Differentially Modulate the Sterol Regulatory Protein PCSK9 to Control Lipid Metabolism. J Biol Chem *292*, 1510-1523.

Lebeau, P., Platko, K., Al-Hashimi, A.A., Byun, J.H., Lhotak, S., Holzapfel, N., Gyulay, G., Igdoura, S.A., Cool, D.R., Trigatti, B., *et al.* (2018). Loss-of-function PCSK9 mutants evade the unfolded protein response sensor GRP78 and fail to induce endoplasmic reticulum stress when retained. J Biol Chem *293*, 7329-7343.

Lebeau, P.F., Byun, J.H., Platko, K., Al-Hashimi, A.A., Lhotak, S., MacDonald, M.E., Mejia-Benitez, A., Prat, A., Igdoura, S.A., Trigatti, B., *et al.* (2019). Pcsk9 knockout exacerbates dietinduced non-alcoholic steatohepatitis, fibrosis and liver injury in mice. JHEP Rep *1*, 418-429.

Lebeau, P.F., Wassef, H., Byun, J.H., Platko, K., Ason, B., Jackson, S., Dobroff, J., Shetterly, S., Richards, W.G., Al-Hashimi, A.A., *et al.* (2020). The loss-of-function PCSK9Q152H variant increases ER chaperones GRP78 and GRP94 and protects against liver injury. J Clin Invest.

Leblond, F., Seidah, N.G., Precourt, L.P., Delvin, E., Dominguez, M., and Levy, E. (2009). Regulation of the proprotein convertase subtilisin/kexin type 9 in intestinal epithelial cells. Am J Physiol Gastrointest Liver Physiol *296*, G805-815.

Lee, A.K., Yeung-Yam-Wah, V., Tse, F.W., and Tse, A. (2011). Cholesterol elevation impairs glucose-stimulated Ca(2+) signaling in mouse pancreatic beta-cells. Endocrinology *152*, 3351-3361.

Lee, S., Lee, H.C., Kwon, Y.W., Lee, S.E., Cho, Y., Kim, J., Lee, S., Kim, J.Y., Lee, J., Yang, H.M., *et al.* (2014). Adenylyl cyclase-associated protein 1 is a receptor for human resistin and mediates inflammatory actions of human monocytes. Cell Metab *19*, 484-497.

Leibowitz, M.J., and Wickner, R.B. (1976). A chromosomal gene required for killer plasmid expression, mating, and spore maturation in Saccharomyces cerevisiae. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 73, 2061-2065.

Leiter, L.A., Teoh, H., Kallend, D., Wright, R.S., Landmesser, U., Wijngaard, P.L.J., Kastelein, J.J.P., and Ray, K.K. (2019). Inclisiran Lowers LDL-C and PCSK9 Irrespective of Diabetes Status: The ORION-1 Randomized Clinical Trial. Diabetes Care *42*, 173-176.

Leren, T.P. (2014). Sorting an LDL receptor with bound PCSK9 to intracellular degradation. Atherosclerosis *237*, 76-81.

Levenson, A.E., Milliren, C.E., Biddinger, S.B., Ebbeling, C.B., Feldman, H.A., Ludwig, D.S., and de Ferranti, S.D. (2017a). Calorically restricted diets decrease PCSK9 in overweight adolescents. Nutr Metab Cardiovasc Dis *27*, 342-349.

Levenson, A.E., Wadwa, R.P., Shah, A.S., Khoury, P.R., Kimball, T.R., Urbina, E.M., de Ferranti, S.D., Bishop, F.K., Maahs, D.M., Dolan, L.M., *et al.* (2017b). PCSK9 Is Increased in Youth With Type 1 Diabetes. Diabetes Care 40, e85-e87.

Levy, E., Ben Djoudi Ouadda, A., Spahis, S., Sane, A.T., Garofalo, C., Grenier, E., Emonnot, L., Yara, S., Couture, P., Beaulieu, J.F., *et al.* (2013). PCSK9 plays a significant role in cholesterol homeostasis and lipid transport in intestinal epithelial cells. Atherosclerosis *227*, 297-306.

Li, J., Tumanut, C., Gavigan, J.A., Huang, W.J., Hampton, E.N., Tumanut, R., Suen, K.F., Trauger, J.W., Spraggon, G., Lesley, S.A., *et al.* (2007). Secreted PCSK9 promotes LDL receptor degradation independently of proteolytic activity. Biochem J *406*, 203-207.

Libby, P., Buring, J.E., Badimon, L., Hansson, G.K., Deanfield, J., Bittencourt, M.S., Tokgozoglu, L., and Lewis, E.F. (2019). Atherosclerosis. Nat Rev Dis Primers *5*, 56.

Linden, A.G., Li, S., Choi, H.Y., Fang, F., Fukasawa, M., Uyeda, K., Hammer, R.E., Horton, J.D., Engelking, L.J., and Liang, G. (2018). Interplay between ChREBP and SREBP-1c coordinates postprandial glycolysis and lipogenesis in livers of mice. J Lipid Res *59*, 475-487.

Linton, M.F., Farese, R.V., Jr., and Young, S.G. (1993). Familial hypobetalipoproteinemia. J Lipid Res *34*, 521-541.

Lippincott-Schwartz, J., Yuan, L., Tipper, C., Amherdt, M., Orci, L., and Klausner, R.D. (1991). Brefeldin A's effects on endosomes, lysosomes, and the TGN suggest a general mechanism for regulating organelle structure and membrane traffic. Cell *67*, 601-616.

Liu, J.X., Srivastava, R., Che, P., and Howell, S.H. (2007). Salt stress responses in Arabidopsis utilize a signal transduction pathway related to endoplasmic reticulum stress signaling. Plant J *51*, 897-909.

Liu, X., Bao, X., Hu, M., Chang, H., Jiao, M., Cheng, J., Xie, L., Huang, Q., Li, F., and Li, C.-Y. (2020). Inhibition of PCSK9 potentiates immune checkpoint therapy for cancer. Nature *588*, 693-698.

Lloyd, D.J., Bohan, S., and Gekakis, N. (2006). Obesity, hyperphagia and increased metabolic efficiency in Pc1 mutant mice. Hum Mol Genet *15*, 1884-1893.

Lo Surdo, P., Bottomley, M.J., Calzetta, A., Settembre, E.C., Cirillo, A., Pandit, S., Ni, Y.G., Hubbard, B., Sitlani, A., and Carfi, A. (2011). Mechanistic implications for LDL receptor degradation from the PCSK9/LDLR structure at neutral pH. EMBO Rep *12*, 1300-1305.

Lopez-Otin, C., and Overall, C.M. (2002). Protease degradomics: a new challenge for proteomics. Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol *3*, 509-519.

Lotta, L.A., Sharp, S.J., Burgess, S., Perry, J.R.B., Stewart, I.D., Willems, S.M., Luan, J., Ardanaz, E., Arriola, L., Balkau, B., *et al.* (2016). Association Between Low-Density Lipoprotein Cholesterol-Lowering Genetic Variants and Risk of Type 2 Diabetes: A Meta-analysis. JAMA *316*, 1383-1391.

Lu, K., and Guidotti, G. (1996). Identification of the cysteine residues involved in the class I disulfide bonds of the human insulin receptor: properties of insulin receptor monomers. Mol Biol Cell 7, 679-691.

Luan, C., Chen, X., Zhu, Y., Osland, J.M., Gerber, S.D., Dodds, M., Hu, Y., Chen, M., and Yuan, R. (2019). Potentiation of Psoriasis-Like Inflammation by PCSK9. J Invest Dermatol *139*, 859-867.

Lusson, J., Vieau, D., Hamelin, J., Day, R., Chretien, M., and Seidah, N.G. (1993). cDNA structure of the mouse and rat subtilisin/kexin-like PC5: a candidate proprotein convertase expressed in endocrine and nonendocrine cells. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A *90*, 6691-6695.

Ly, K., Saavedra, Y.G., Canuel, M., Routhier, S., Desjardins, R., Hamelin, J., Mayne, J., Lazure, C., Seidah, N.G., and Day, R. (2014). Annexin A2 reduces PCSK9 protein levels via a translational mechanism and interacts with the M1 and M2 domains of PCSK9. J Biol Chem *289*, 17732-17746.

Lytrivi, M., Castell, A.L., Poitout, V., and Cnop, M. (2020). Recent Insights Into Mechanisms of beta-Cell Lipo- and Glucolipotoxicity in Type 2 Diabetes. J Mol Biol *432*, 1514-1534.

Marcher, A.B., Bendixen, S.M., Terkelsen, M.K., Hohmann, S.S., Hansen, M.H., Larsen, B.D., Mandrup, S., Dimke, H., Detlefsen, S., and Ravnskjaer, K. (2019). Transcriptional regulation of Hepatic Stellate Cell activation in NASH. Sci Rep *9*, 2324.

Marchetti, P., Bugliani, M., Lupi, R., Marselli, L., Masini, M., Boggi, U., Filipponi, F., Weir, G.C., Eizirik, D.L., and Cnop, M. (2007). The endoplasmic reticulum in pancreatic beta cells of type 2 diabetes patients. Diabetologia *50*, 2486-2494.

Marcinkiewicz, M., Benjannet, S., Cantin, M., Seidah, N.G., and Chretien, M. (1986). CNS distribution of a novel pituitary protein '7B2': localization in secretory and synaptic vesicles. Brain Res *380*, 349-356.

Marcovina, S.M., and Koschinsky, M.L. (1999). Lipoprotein(a) concentration and apolipoprotein(a) size: A synergistic role in advanced atherosclerosis? Circulation *100*, 1151-1153.

Marduel, M., Ouguerram, K., Serre, V., Bonnefont-Rousselot, D., Marques-Pinheiro, A., Erik Berge, K., Devillers, M., Luc, G., Lecerf, J.M., Tosolini, L., *et al.* (2013). Description of a large family with autosomal dominant hypercholesterolemia associated with the APOE p.Leu167del mutation. Hum Mutat *34*, 83-87.

Martens, G.J., Braks, J.A., Eib, D.W., Zhou, Y., and Lindberg, I. (1994). The neuroendocrine polypeptide 7B2 is an endogenous inhibitor of prohormone convertase PC2. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A *91*, 5784-5787.

Martin, M.G., Lindberg, I., Solorzano-Vargas, R.S., Wang, J., Avitzur, Y., Bandsma, R., Sokollik, C., Lawrence, S., Pickett, L.A., Chen, Z., *et al.* (2013). Congenital proprotein convertase 1/3 deficiency causes malabsorptive diarrhea and other endocrinopathies in a pediatric cohort. Gastroenterology *145*, 138-148.

Massague, J., Pilch, P.F., and Czech, M.P. (1980). Electrophoretic resolution of three major insulin receptor structures with unique subunit stoichiometries. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 77, 7137-7141.

Maxwell, K.N., and Breslow, J.L. (2004). Adenoviral-mediated expression of Pcsk9 in mice results in a low-density lipoprotein receptor knockout phenotype. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A *101*, 7100-7105.

Maxwell, K.N., Fisher, E.A., and Breslow, J.L. (2005). Overexpression of PCSK9 accelerates the degradation of the LDLR in a post-endoplasmic reticulum compartment. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A *102*, 2069-2074.

Maxwell, K.N., Soccio, R.E., Duncan, E.M., Sehayek, E., and Breslow, J.L. (2003). Novel putative SREBP and LXR target genes identified by microarray analysis in liver of cholesterol-fed mice. J Lipid Res *44*, 2109-2119.

Mayer, G., Poirier, S., and Seidah, N.G. (2008). Annexin A2 is a C-terminal PCSK9-binding protein that regulates endogenous low density lipoprotein receptor levels. J Biol Chem 283, 31791-31801.

Mayne, J., Dewpura, T., Raymond, A., Bernier, L., Cousins, M., Ooi, T.C., Davignon, J., Seidah, N.G., Mbikay, M., and Chretien, M. (2011). Novel loss-of-function PCSK9 variant is associated with low plasma LDL cholesterol in a French-Canadian family and with impaired processing and secretion in cell culture. Clin Chem *57*, 1415-1423.

Mayne, J., Dewpura, T., Raymond, A., Cousins, M., Chaplin, A., Lahey, K.A., Lahaye, S.A., Mbikay, M., Ooi, T.C., and Chretien, M. (2008). Plasma PCSK9 levels are significantly modified by statins and fibrates in humans. Lipids Health Dis *7*, 22.

Mayne, J., Raymond, A., Chaplin, A., Cousins, M., Kaefer, N., Gyamera-Acheampong, C., Seidah, N.G., Mbikay, M., Chretien, M., and Ooi, T.C. (2007). Plasma PCSK9 levels correlate with cholesterol in men but not in women. Biochem Biophys Res Commun *361*, 451-456.

Mbikay, M., Raffin-Sanson, M.L., Tadros, H., Sirois, F., Seidah, N.G., and Chretien, M. (1994). Structure of the gene for the testis-specific proprotein convertase 4 and of its alternate messenger RNA isoforms. Genomics *20*, 231-237.

Mbikay, M., Sirois, F., Gyamera-Acheampong, C., Wang, G.S., Rippstein, P., Chen, A., Mayne, J., Scott, F.W., and Chretien, M. (2015). Variable effects of gender and Western diet on lipid and glucose homeostasis in aged PCSK9-deficient C57BL/6 mice CSK9PC57BL/6. J Diabetes *7*, 74-84.

Mbikay, M., Sirois, F., Mayne, J., Wang, G.S., Chen, A., Dewpura, T., Prat, A., Seidah, N.G., Chretien, M., and Scott, F.W. (2010). PCSK9-deficient mice exhibit impaired glucose tolerance and pancreatic islet abnormalities. FEBS Lett *584*, 701-706.

McCullough, P.A., Ballantyne, C.M., Sanganalmath, S.K., Langslet, G., Baum, S.J., Shah, P.K., Koren, A., Mandel, J., and Davidson, M.H. (2018). Efficacy and Safety of Alirocumab in High-Risk Patients With Clinical Atherosclerotic Cardiovascular Disease and/or Heterozygous Familial Hypercholesterolemia (from 5 Placebo-Controlled ODYSSEY Trials). Am J Cardiol *121*, 940-948.

McNutt, M.C., Lagace, T.A., and Horton, J.D. (2007). Catalytic activity is not required for secreted PCSK9 to reduce low density lipoprotein receptors in HepG2 cells. J Biol Chem 282, 20799-20803.

Meireles-Brandao, J.A., Meireles-Brandao, L.R., Coelho, R., and Rocha-Goncalves, F.R. (2019). Lipoprotein(a) in the Evaluation of Cardiovascular Risk in the Portuguese Population. Acta Med Port *32*, 202-207.

Melnick, J., Dul, J.L., and Argon, Y. (1994). Sequential interaction of the chaperones BiP and GRP94 with immunoglobulin chains in the endoplasmic reticulum. Nature *370*, 373-375.

Meyre, D., Delplanque, J., Chevre, J.C., Lecoeur, C., Lobbens, S., Gallina, S., Durand, E., Vatin, V., Degraeve, F., Proenca, C., *et al.* (2009). Genome-wide association study for early-onset and morbid adult obesity identifies three new risk loci in European populations. Nat Genet *41*, 157-159.

Miao, J., Manthena, P.V., Haas, M.E., Ling, A.V., Shin, D.J., Graham, M.J., Crooke, R.M., Liu, J., and Biddinger, S.B. (2015). Role of Insulin in the Regulation of Proprotein Convertase Subtilisin/Kexin Type 9. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol *35*, 1589-1596.

Michael, M.D., Kulkarni, R.N., Postic, C., Previs, S.F., Shulman, G.I., Magnuson, M.A., and Kahn, C.R. (2000). Loss of insulin signaling in hepatocytes leads to severe insulin resistance and progressive hepatic dysfunction. Mol Cell *6*, 87-97.

Miettinen, T.A. (1982). Diurnal variation of cholesterol precursors squalene and methyl sterols in human plasma lipoproteins. J Lipid Res *23*, 466-473.

Millet, J.K., Jaimes, J.A., and Whittaker, G.R. (2020). Molecular diversity of coronavirus host cell entry receptors. FEMS Microbiol Rev.

Miyake, Y., Kimura, R., Kokubo, Y., Okayama, A., Tomoike, H., Yamamura, T., and Miyata, T. (2008). Genetic variants in PCSK9 in the Japanese population: rare genetic variants in PCSK9 might collectively contribute to plasma LDL cholesterol levels in the general population. Atherosclerosis *196*, 29-36.

Mizuno, K., Nakamura, T., Ohshima, T., Tanaka, S., and Matsuo, H. (1988). Yeast KEX2 genes encodes an endopeptidase homologous to subtilisin-like serine proteases. Biochem Biophys Res Commun *156*, 246-254.

Morganroth, J., Levy, R.I., McMahon, A.E., and Gotto, A.M., Jr. (1974). Pseudohomozygous type II hyperlipoproteinemia. J Pediatr *85*, 639-643.

Nakagawa, T., Hosaka, M., Torii, S., Watanabe, T., Murakami, K., and Nakayama, K. (1993). Identification and functional expression of a new member of the mammalian Kex2-like processing endoprotease family: its striking structural similarity to PACE4. J Biochem *113*, 132-135.

Nakayama, K., Kim, W.S., Torii, S., Hosaka, M., Nakagawa, T., Ikemizu, J., Baba, T., and Murakami, K. (1992). Identification of the fourth member of the mammalian endoprotease family homologous to the yeast Kex2 protease. Its testis-specific expression. J Biol Chem *267*, 5897-5900.

Nassir, F., Xie, Y., Patterson, B.W., Luo, J., and Davidson, N.O. (2004). Hepatic secretion of small lipoprotein particles in apobec-1-/- mice is regulated by the LDL receptor. J Lipid Res *45*, 1649-1659.

Nassoury, N., Blasiole, D.A., Tebon Oler, A., Benjannet, S., Hamelin, J., Poupon, V., McPherson, P.S., Attie, A.D., Prat, A., and Seidah, N.G. (2007). The cellular trafficking of the secretory proprotein convertase PCSK9 and its dependence on the LDLR. Traffic *8*, 718-732.

Nelson, C.P., Goel, A., Butterworth, A.S., Kanoni, S., Webb, T.R., Marouli, E., Zeng, L., Ntalla, I., Lai, F.Y., Hopewell, J.C., *et al.* (2017). Association analyses based on false discovery rate implicate new loci for coronary artery disease. Nat Genet *49*, 1385-1391.

Nelson, C.P., Lai, F.Y., Nath, M., Ye, S., Webb, T.R., Schunkert, H., and Samani, N.J. (2019). Genetic Assessment of Potential Long-Term On-Target Side Effects of PCSK9 (Proprotein Convertase Subtilisin/Kexin Type 9) Inhibitors. Circ Genom Precis Med *12*, e002196.

Nicholls, S.J., Ballantyne, C.M., Barter, P.J., Chapman, M.J., Erbel, R.M., Libby, P., Raichlen, J.S., Uno, K., Borgman, M., Wolski, K., *et al.* (2011). Effect of two intensive statin regimens on progression of coronary disease. N Engl J Med *365*, 2078-2087.

Nicholls, S.J., Puri, R., Anderson, T., Ballantyne, C.M., Cho, L., Kastelein, J.J., Koenig, W., Somaratne, R., Kassahun, H., Yang, J., *et al.* (2016). Effect of Evolocumab on Progression of Coronary Disease in Statin-Treated Patients: The GLAGOV Randomized Clinical Trial. JAMA *316*, 2373-2384.

Nicholls, S.J., Tuzcu, E.M., Sipahi, I., Grasso, A.W., Schoenhagen, P., Hu, T., Wolski, K., Crowe, T., Desai, M.Y., Hazen, S.L., *et al.* (2007). Statins, high-density lipoprotein cholesterol, and regression of coronary atherosclerosis. JAMA *297*, 499-508.

Niesen, M., Bedi, M., and Lopez, D. (2008). Diabetes alters LDL receptor and PCSK9 expression in rat liver. Arch Biochem Biophys 470, 111-115.

Nissen, S.E., Nicholls, S.J., Sipahi, I., Libby, P., Raichlen, J.S., Ballantyne, C.M., Davignon, J., Erbel, R., Fruchart, J.C., Tardif, J.C., *et al.* (2006). Effect of very high-intensity statin therapy on regression of coronary atherosclerosis: the ASTEROID trial. JAMA *295*, 1556-1565.

Nissen, S.E., Tuzcu, E.M., Schoenhagen, P., Brown, B.G., Ganz, P., Vogel, R.A., Crowe, T., Howard, G., Cooper, C.J., Brodie, B., *et al.* (2004). Effect of intensive compared with moderate lipid-lowering therapy on progression of coronary atherosclerosis: a randomized controlled trial. JAMA *291*, 1071-1080.

Noguchi, T., Katsuda, S., Kawashiri, M.A., Tada, H., Nohara, A., Inazu, A., Yamagishi, M., Kobayashi, J., and Mabuchi, H. (2010). The E32K variant of PCSK9 exacerbates the phenotype of familial hypercholesterolaemia by increasing PCSK9 function and concentration in the circulation. Atherosclerosis *210*, 166-172.

O'Donoghue, M.L., Fazio, S., Giugliano, R.P., Stroes, E.S.G., Kanevsky, E., Gouni-Berthold, I., Im, K., Lira Pineda, A., Wasserman, S.M., Ceska, R., *et al.* (2019). Lipoprotein(a), PCSK9 Inhibition, and Cardiovascular Risk. Circulation *139*, 1483-1492.

Odawara, M., Kadowaki, T., Yamamoto, R., Shibasaki, Y., Tobe, K., Accili, D., Bevins, C., Mikami, Y., Matsuura, N., Akanuma, Y., *et al.* (1989). Human diabetes associated with a mutation in the tyrosine kinase domain of the insulin receptor. Science *245*, 66-68.

Oexle, K., Ried, J.S., Hicks, A.A., Tanaka, T., Hayward, C., Bruegel, M., Gogele, M., Lichtner, P., Muller-Myhsok, B., Doring, A., *et al.* (2011). Novel association to the proprotein convertase PCSK7 gene locus revealed by analysing soluble transferrin receptor (sTfR) levels. Hum Mol Genet *20*, 1042-1047.

Oh, Y.S., Bae, G.D., Baek, D.J., Park, E.Y., and Jun, H.S. (2018). Fatty Acid-Induced Lipotoxicity in Pancreatic Beta-Cells During Development of Type 2 Diabetes. Front Endocrinol (Lausanne) *9*, 384.

Olson, T.S., and Lane, M.D. (1987). Post-translational acquisition of insulin binding activity by the insulin proreceptor. Correlation to recognition by autoimmune antibody. J Biol Chem *262*, 6816-6822.

Omari, S., Makareeva, E., Roberts-Pilgrim, A., Mirigian, L., Jarnik, M., Ott, C., Lippincott-Schwartz, J., and Leikin, S. (2018). Noncanonical autophagy at ER exit sites regulates procollagen turnover. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A *115*, E10099-E10108.

Ou, J., Tu, H., Shan, B., Luk, A., DeBose-Boyd, R.A., Bashmakov, Y., Goldstein, J.L., and Brown, M.S. (2001). Unsaturated fatty acids inhibit transcription of the sterol regulatory element-binding protein-1c (SREBP-1c) gene by antagonizing ligand-dependent activation of the LXR. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A *98*, 6027-6032.

Ouguerram, K., Chetiveaux, M., Zair, Y., Costet, P., Abifadel, M., Varret, M., Boileau, C., Magot, T., and Krempf, M. (2004). Apolipoprotein B100 metabolism in autosomal-dominant hypercholesterolemia related to mutations in PCSK9. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol *24*, 1448-1453.

Ozcan, U., Cao, Q., Yilmaz, E., Lee, A.H., Iwakoshi, N.N., Ozdelen, E., Tuncman, G., Gorgun, C., Glimcher, L.H., and Hotamisligil, G.S. (2004). Endoplasmic reticulum stress links obesity, insulin action, and type 2 diabetes. Science *306*, 457-461.

Paciullo, F., Fallarino, F., Bianconi, V., Mannarino, M.R., Sahebkar, A., and Pirro, M. (2017). PCSK9 at the crossroad of cholesterol metabolism and immune function during infections. J Cell Physiol *232*, 2330-2338.

Pai, J.T., Brown, M.S., and Goldstein, J.L. (1996). Purification and cDNA cloning of a second apoptosis-related cysteine protease that cleaves and activates sterol regulatory element binding proteins. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A *93*, 5437-5442.

Paolisso, G., Tataranni, P.A., Foley, J.E., Bogardus, C., Howard, B.V., and Ravussin, E. (1995). A high concentration of fasting plasma non-esterified fatty acids is a risk factor for the development of NIDDM. Diabetologia *38*, 1213-1217.

Paquette, M., Gauthier, D., Chamberland, A., Prat, A., De Lucia Rolfe, E., Rasmussen, J.J., Kaduka, L., Seidah, N.G., Bernard, S., Christensen, D.L., *et al.* (2020). Circulating PCSK9 is associated with liver biomarkers and hepatic steatosis. Clin Biochem 77, 20-25.

Park, S.W., Moon, Y.A., and Horton, J.D. (2004). Post-transcriptional regulation of low density lipoprotein receptor protein by proprotein convertase subtilisin/kexin type 9a in mouse liver. J Biol Chem *279*, 50630-50638.

Peacock, J.M., Arnett, D.K., Atwood, L.D., Myers, R.H., Coon, H., Rich, S.S., Province, M.A., and Heiss, G. (2001). Genome scan for quantitative trait loci linked to high-density lipoprotein cholesterol: The NHLBI Family Heart Study. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol *21*, 1823-1828.

Peden, J.F., and Farrall, M. (2011). Thirty-five common variants for coronary artery disease: the fruits of much collaborative labour. Hum Mol Genet *20*, R198-205.

Pedersen, T.R., Wilhelmsen, L., Faergeman, O., Strandberg, T.E., Thorgeirsson, G., Troedsson, L., Kristianson, J., Berg, K., Cook, T.J., Haghfelt, T., *et al.* (2000). Follow-up study of patients randomized in the Scandinavian simvastatin survival study (4S) of cholesterol lowering. Am J Cardiol *86*, 257-262.

Peloso, G.M., Auer, P.L., Bis, J.C., Voorman, A., Morrison, A.C., Stitziel, N.O., Brody, J.A., Khetarpal, S.A., Crosby, J.R., Fornage, M., *et al.* (2014). Association of low-frequency and rare coding-sequence variants with blood lipids and coronary heart disease in 56,000 whites and blacks. Am J Hum Genet *94*, 223-232.

Pennacchio, L.A., Olivier, M., Hubacek, J.A., Cohen, J.C., Cox, D.R., Fruchart, J.C., Krauss, R.M., and Rubin, E.M. (2001). An apolipoprotein influencing triglycerides in humans and mice revealed by comparative sequencing. Science *294*, 169-173.

Perrot, N., Valerio, V., Moschetta, D., Boekholdt, S.M., Dina, C., Chen, H.Y., Abner, E., Martinsson, A., Manikpurage, H.D., Rigade, S., *et al.* (2020). Genetic and In Vitro Inhibition of PCSK9 and Calcific Aortic Valve Stenosis. JACC Basic Transl Sci *5*, 649-661.

Persson, L., Cao, G., Stahle, L., Sjoberg, B.G., Troutt, J.S., Konrad, R.J., Galman, C., Wallen, H., Eriksson, M., Hafstrom, I., *et al.* (2010). Circulating proprotein convertase subtilisin kexin type 9 has a diurnal rhythm synchronous with cholesterol synthesis and is reduced by fasting in humans. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol *30*, 2666-2672.

Persson, L., Galman, C., Angelin, B., and Rudling, M. (2009). Importance of proprotein convertase subtilisin/kexin type 9 in the hormonal and dietary regulation of rat liver low-density lipoprotein receptors. Endocrinology *150*, 1140-1146.

Persson, L., Henriksson, P., Westerlund, E., Hovatta, O., Angelin, B., and Rudling, M. (2012). Endogenous estrogens lower plasma PCSK9 and LDL cholesterol but not Lp(a) or bile acid synthesis in women. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol *32*, 810-814.

Piper, D.E., Jackson, S., Liu, Q., Romanow, W.G., Shetterly, S., Thibault, S.T., Shan, B., and Walker, N.P. (2007). The crystal structure of PCSK9: a regulator of plasma LDL-cholesterol. Structure *15*, 545-552.

Pirog, K.A., Dennis, E.P., Hartley, C.L., Jackson, R.M., Soul, J., Schwartz, J.M., Bateman, J.F., Boot-Handford, R.P., and Briggs, M.D. (2019). XBP1 signalling is essential for alleviating mutant protein aggregation in ER-stress related skeletal disease. PLoS Genet *15*, e1008215.

Poirier, S., Mamarbachi, M., Chen, W.T., Lee, A.S., and Mayer, G. (2015). GRP94 Regulates Circulating Cholesterol Levels through Blockade of PCSK9-Induced LDLR Degradation. Cell Rep *13*, 2064-2071.

Poirier, S., Mayer, G., Benjannet, S., Bergeron, E., Marcinkiewicz, J., Nassoury, N., Mayer, H., Nimpf, J., Prat, A., and Seidah, N.G. (2008). The proprotein convertase PCSK9 induces the degradation of low density lipoprotein receptor (LDLR) and its closest family members VLDLR and ApoER2. J Biol Chem *283*, 2363-2372.

Poirier, S., Mayer, G., Poupon, V., McPherson, P.S., Desjardins, R., Ly, K., Asselin, M.C., Day, R., Duclos, F.J., Witmer, M., *et al.* (2009). Dissection of the endogenous cellular pathways of PCSK9-induced low density lipoprotein receptor degradation: evidence for an intracellular route. J Biol Chem *284*, 28856-28864.

Ponomarenko, E.A., Poverennaya, E.V., Ilgisonis, E.V., Pyatnitskiy, M.A., Kopylov, A.T., Zgoda, V.G., Lisitsa, A.V., and Archakov, A.I. (2016). The Size of the Human Proteome: The Width and Depth. Int J Anal Chem *2016*, 7436849.

Porter, J.R., and Barrett, T.G. (2005). Monogenic syndromes of abnormal glucose homeostasis: clinical review and relevance to the understanding of the pathology of insulin resistance and beta cell failure. J Med Genet *42*, 893-902.

Preiss, D., Seshasai, S.R., Welsh, P., Murphy, S.A., Ho, J.E., Waters, D.D., DeMicco, D.A., Barter, P., Cannon, C.P., Sabatine, M.S., *et al.* (2011). Risk of incident diabetes with intensive-dose compared with moderate-dose statin therapy: a meta-analysis. JAMA *305*, 2556-2564.

Qian, Y.W., Schmidt, R.J., Zhang, Y., Chu, S., Lin, A., Wang, H., Wang, X., Beyer, T.P., Bensch, W.R., Li, W., *et al.* (2007). Secreted PCSK9 downregulates low density lipoprotein receptor through receptor-mediated endocytosis. J Lipid Res *48*, 1488-1498.

Raal, F.J., Hovingh, G.K., Blom, D., Santos, R.D., Harada-Shiba, M., Bruckert, E., Couture, P., Soran, H., Watts, G.F., Kurtz, C., *et al.* (2017). Long-term treatment with evolocumab added to conventional drug therapy, with or without apheresis, in patients with homozygous familial hypercholesterolaemia: an interim subset analysis of the open-label TAUSSIG study. Lancet Diabetes Endocrinol *5*, 280-290.

Raal, F.J., Stein, E.A., Dufour, R., Turner, T., Civeira, F., Burgess, L., Langslet, G., Scott, R., Olsson, A.G., Sullivan, D., *et al.* (2015). PCSK9 inhibition with evolocumab (AMG 145) in heterozygous familial hypercholesterolaemia (RUTHERFORD-2): a randomised, double-blind, placebo-controlled trial. Lancet *385*, 331-340.

Radhakrishnan, A., Goldstein, J.L., McDonald, J.G., and Brown, M.S. (2008). Switch-like control of SREBP-2 transport triggered by small changes in ER cholesterol: a delicate balance. Cell Metab *8*, 512-521.

Ramakrishnan, G., Arjuman, A., Suneja, S., Das, C., and Chandra, N.C. (2012). The association between insulin and low-density lipoprotein receptors. Diab Vasc Dis Res *9*, 196-204.

Ramos-Molina, B., Martin, M.G., and Lindberg, I. (2016). PCSK1 Variants and Human Obesity. Prog Mol Biol Transl Sci 140, 47-74.

Rashid, S., Curtis, D.E., Garuti, R., Anderson, N.N., Bashmakov, Y., Ho, Y.K., Hammer, R.E., Moon, Y.A., and Horton, J.D. (2005). Decreased plasma cholesterol and hypersensitivity to statins in mice lacking Pcsk9. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A *102*, 5374-5379.

Rashid, S., Tavori, H., Brown, P.E., Linton, M.F., He, J., Giunzioni, I., and Fazio, S. (2014). Proprotein convertase subtilisin kexin type 9 promotes intestinal overproduction of triglyceriderich apolipoprotein B lipoproteins through both low-density lipoprotein receptor-dependent and - independent mechanisms. Circulation *130*, 431-441.

Rashid, S., Watanabe, T., Sakaue, T., and Lewis, G.F. (2003). Mechanisms of HDL lowering in insulin resistant, hypertriglyceridemic states: the combined effect of HDL triglyceride enrichment and elevated hepatic lipase activity. Clin Biochem *36*, 421-429.

Rawlings, N.D., and Barrett, A.J. (1994). Families of serine peptidases. Methods Enzymol 244, 19-61.

Ray, K.K., Colhoun, H.M., Szarek, M., Baccara-Dinet, M., Bhatt, D.L., Bittner, V.A., Budaj, A.J., Diaz, R., Goodman, S.G., Hanotin, C., *et al.* (2019a). Effects of alirocumab on cardiovascular and metabolic outcomes after acute coronary syndrome in patients with or without diabetes: a

prespecified analysis of the ODYSSEY OUTCOMES randomised controlled trial. Lancet Diabetes Endocrinol 7, 618-628.

Ray, K.K., Vallejo-Vaz, A.J., Ginsberg, H.N., Davidson, M.H., Louie, M.J., Bujas-Bobanovic, M., Minini, P., Eckel, R.H., and Cannon, C.P. (2019b). Lipoprotein(a) reductions from PCSK9 inhibition and major adverse cardiovascular events: Pooled analysis of alirocumab phase 3 trials. Atherosclerosis *288*, 194-202.

Ray, K.K., Wright, R.S., Kallend, D., Koenig, W., Leiter, L.A., Raal, F.J., Bisch, J.A., Richardson, T., Jaros, M., Wijngaard, P.L.J., *et al.* (2020). Two Phase 3 Trials of Inclisiran in Patients with Elevated LDL Cholesterol. N Engl J Med *382*, 1507-1519.

Ren, C., Chen, T., Jiang, X., Sun, H., Qian, J., Hu, C., and Wang, Y. (2016). Two proprotein convertase subtilisin/kexin type 9 (PCSK9) paralogs from the tropical sea cucumber (Stichopus monotuberculatus): Molecular characterization and inducible expression with immune challenge. Fish Shellfish Immunol *56*, 255-262.

Reyes-Soffer, G., Pavlyha, M., Ngai, C., Thomas, T., Holleran, S., Ramakrishnan, R., Karmally, W., Nandakumar, R., Fontanez, N., Obunike, J., *et al.* (2017). Effects of PCSK9 Inhibition With Alirocumab on Lipoprotein Metabolism in Healthy Humans. Circulation *135*, 352-362.

Ricci, C., Ruscica, M., Camera, M., Rossetti, L., Macchi, C., Colciago, A., Zanotti, I., Lupo, M.G., Adorni, M.P., Cicero, A.F.G., *et al.* (2018). PCSK9 induces a pro-inflammatory response in macrophages. Sci Rep *8*, 2267.

Richard, C., Couture, P., Desroches, S., Benjannet, S., Seidah, N.G., Lichtenstein, A.H., and Lamarche, B. (2012). Effect of the Mediterranean diet with and without weight loss on surrogate markers of cholesterol homeostasis in men with the metabolic syndrome. Br J Nutr *107*, 705-711.

Robertson, B.J., Moehring, J.M., and Moehring, T.J. (1993). Defective processing of the insulin receptor in an endoprotease-deficient Chinese hamster cell strain is corrected by expression of mouse furin. J Biol Chem *268*, 24274-24277.

Robinson, J.G., Farnier, M., Krempf, M., Bergeron, J., Luc, G., Averna, M., Stroes, E.S., Langslet, G., Raal, F.J., El Shahawy, M., *et al.* (2015). Efficacy and safety of alirocumab in reducing lipids and cardiovascular events. N Engl J Med *372*, 1489-1499.

Robinson, J.G., Huijgen, R., Ray, K., Persons, J., Kastelein, J.J., and Pencina, M.J. (2016). Determining When to Add Nonstatin Therapy: A Quantitative Approach. J Am Coll Cardiol *68*, 2412-2421.

Roebroek, A.J., Schalken, J.A., Leunissen, J.A., Onnekink, C., Bloemers, H.P., and Van de Ven, W.J. (1986). Evolutionary conserved close linkage of the c-fes/fps proto-oncogene and genetic sequences encoding a receptor-like protein. EMBO J *5*, 2197-2202.

Roebroek, A.J., Umans, L., Pauli, I.G., Robertson, E.J., van Leuven, F., Van de Ven, W.J., and Constam, D.B. (1998). Failure of ventral closure and axial rotation in embryos lacking the proprotein convertase Furin. Development *125*, 4863-4876.

Roehrich, M.E., Mooser, V., Lenain, V., Herz, J., Nimpf, J., Azhar, S., Bideau, M., Capponi, A., Nicod, P., Haefliger, J.A., *et al.* (2003). Insulin-secreting beta-cell dysfunction induced by human lipoproteins. J Biol Chem *278*, 18368-18375.

Rollins, J., Chen, Y., Paigen, B., and Wang, X. (2006). In search of new targets for plasma highdensity lipoprotein cholesterol levels: promise of human-mouse comparative genomics. Trends Cardiovasc Med *16*, 220-234.

Romagnuolo, R., Scipione, C.A., Boffa, M.B., Marcovina, S.M., Seidah, N.G., and Koschinsky, M.L. (2015). Lipoprotein(a) catabolism is regulated by proprotein convertase subtilisin/kexin type 9 through the low density lipoprotein receptor. J Biol Chem *290*, 11649-11662.

Roth, E.F., Jr., Raventos-Suarez, C., Rinaldi, A., and Nagel, R.L. (1983). Glucose-6-phosphate dehydrogenase deficiency inhibits in vitro growth of Plasmodium falciparum. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A *80*, 298-299.

Roth, G.A., Forouzanfar, M.H., Moran, A.E., Barber, R., Nguyen, G., Feigin, V.L., Naghavi, M., Mensah, G.A., and Murray, C.J. (2015). Demographic and epidemiologic drivers of global cardiovascular mortality. N Engl J Med *372*, 1333-1341.

Roth, G.A., Mensah, G.A., Johnson, C.O., Addolorato, G., Ammirati, E., Baddour, L.M., Barengo, N.C., Beaton, A.Z., Benjamin, E.J., Benziger, C.P., *et al.* (2020). Global Burden of Cardiovascular Diseases and Risk Factors, 1990-2019: Update From the GBD 2019 Study. J Am Coll Cardiol *76*, 2982-3021.

Roubtsova, A., Chamberland, A., Marcinkiewicz, J., Essalmani, R., Fazel, A., Bergeron, J.J., Seidah, N.G., and Prat, A. (2015). PCSK9 deficiency unmasks a sex- and tissue-specific subcellular distribution of the LDL and VLDL receptors in mice. J Lipid Res *56*, 2133-2142.

Roubtsova, A., Munkonda, M.N., Awan, Z., Marcinkiewicz, J., Chamberland, A., Lazure, C., Cianflone, K., Seidah, N.G., and Prat, A. (2011). Circulating proprotein convertase subtilisin/kexin 9 (PCSK9) regulates VLDLR protein and triglyceride accumulation in visceral adipose tissue. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol *31*, 785-791.

Rouiller, D.G., McKeon, C., Taylor, S.I., and Gorden, P. (1988). Hormonal regulation of insulin receptor gene expression. Hydrocortisone and insulin act by different mechanisms. J Biol Chem *263*, 13185-13190.

Rudenko, G., Henry, L., Henderson, K., Ichtchenko, K., Brown, M.S., Goldstein, J.L., and Deisenhofer, J. (2002). Structure of the LDL receptor extracellular domain at endosomal pH. Science *298*, 2353-2358.

Ruscica, M., Ferri, N., Macchi, C., Meroni, M., Lanti, C., Ricci, C., Maggioni, M., Fracanzani, A.L., Badiali, S., Fargion, S., *et al.* (2016). Liver fat accumulation is associated with circulating PCSK9. Ann Med *48*, 384-391.

Rutkowski, D.T., and Kaufman, R.J. (2004). A trip to the ER: coping with stress. Trends Cell Biol *14*, 20-28.

Rutti, S., Ehses, J.A., Sibler, R.A., Prazak, R., Rohrer, L., Georgopoulos, S., Meier, D.T., Niclauss, N., Berney, T., Donath, M.Y., *et al.* (2009). Low- and high-density lipoproteins modulate function, apoptosis, and proliferation of primary human and murine pancreatic beta-cells. Endocrinology *150*, 4521-4530.

Sabatine, M.S., Giugliano, R.P., Keech, A.C., Honarpour, N., Wiviott, S.D., Murphy, S.A., Kuder, J.F., Wang, H., Liu, T., Wasserman, S.M., *et al.* (2017). Evolocumab and Clinical Outcomes in Patients with Cardiovascular Disease. N Engl J Med *376*, 1713-1722.

Sabatine, M.S., Giugliano, R.P., Wiviott, S.D., Raal, F.J., Blom, D.J., Robinson, J., Ballantyne, C.M., Somaratne, R., Legg, J., Wasserman, S.M., *et al.* (2015). Efficacy and safety of evolocumab in reducing lipids and cardiovascular events. N Engl J Med *372*, 1500-1509.

Sakai, J., Duncan, E.A., Rawson, R.B., Hua, X., Brown, M.S., and Goldstein, J.L. (1996). Sterolregulated release of SREBP-2 from cell membranes requires two sequential cleavages, one within a transmembrane segment. Cell *85*, 1037-1046.

Sakai, J., Rawson, R.B., Espenshade, P.J., Cheng, D., Seegmiller, A.C., Goldstein, J.L., and Brown, M.S. (1998). Molecular identification of the sterol-regulated luminal protease that cleaves SREBPs and controls lipid composition of animal cells. Mol Cell *2*, 505-514.

Salgin, B., Ong, K.K., Thankamony, A., Emmett, P., Wareham, N.J., and Dunger, D.B. (2012). Higher fasting plasma free fatty acid levels are associated with lower insulin secretion in children and adults and a higher incidence of type 2 diabetes. J Clin Endocrinol Metab *97*, 3302-3309.

Salzman, A., Wan, C.F., and Rubin, C.S. (1984). Biogenesis, transit, and functional properties of the insulin proreceptor and modified insulin receptors in 3T3-L1 adipocytes. Use of monensin to probe proreceptor cleavage and generate altered receptor subunits. Biochemistry 23, 6555-6565.

Samuel, V.T., Petersen, K.F., and Shulman, G.I. (2010). Lipid-induced insulin resistance: unravelling the mechanism. Lancet *375*, 2267-2277.

Santoleri, D., and Titchenell, P.M. (2019). Resolving the Paradox of Hepatic Insulin Resistance. Cell Mol Gastroenterol Hepatol *7*, 447-456.

Sarkar, S.K., Foo, A.C.Y., Matyas, A., Asikhia, I., Kosenko, T., Goto, N.K., Vergara-Jaque, A., and Lagace, T.A. (2020). A transient amphipathic helix in the prodomain of PCSK9 facilitates binding to low-density lipoprotein particles. J Biol Chem *295*, 2285-2298.

Sattar, N., Preiss, D., Murray, H.M., Welsh, P., Buckley, B.M., de Craen, A.J., Seshasai, S.R., McMurray, J.J., Freeman, D.J., Jukema, J.W., *et al.* (2010). Statins and risk of incident diabetes: a collaborative meta-analysis of randomised statin trials. Lancet *375*, 735-742.

Scamuffa, N., Calvo, F., Chretien, M., Seidah, N.G., and Khatib, A.M. (2006). Proprotein convertases: lessons from knockouts. FASEB J 20, 1954-1963.

Scheffer, J., Hasenjager, S., and Taxis, C. (2019). Degradation of integral membrane proteins modified with the photosensitive degron module requires the cytosolic endoplasmic reticulum-associated degradation pathway. Mol Biol Cell *30*, 2558-2570.

Schippers, I.J., Moshage, H., Roelofsen, H., Muller, M., Heymans, H.S., Ruiters, M., and Kuipers, F. (1997). Immortalized human hepatocytes as a tool for the study of hepatocytic (de-)differentiation. Cell Biol Toxicol *13*, 375-386.

Schroder, M., and Kaufman, R.J. (2005). ER stress and the unfolded protein response. Mutat Res *569*, 29-63.

Schwartz, G.G., Steg, P.G., Szarek, M., Bhatt, D.L., Bittner, V.A., Diaz, R., Edelberg, J.M., Goodman, S.G., Hanotin, C., Harrington, R.A., *et al.* (2018). Alirocumab and Cardiovascular Outcomes after Acute Coronary Syndrome. N Engl J Med *379*, 2097-2107.

Seegmiller, A.C., Dobrosotskaya, I., Goldstein, J.L., Ho, Y.K., Brown, M.S., and Rawson, R.B. (2002). The SREBP pathway in Drosophila: regulation by palmitate, not sterols. Dev Cell *2*, 229-238.

Seidah, N.G. (2011). The proprotein convertases, 20 years later. Methods Mol Biol 768, 23-57.

Seidah, N.G., Abifadel, M., Prost, S., Boileau, C., and Prat, A. (2017). The Proprotein Convertases in Hypercholesterolemia and Cardiovascular Diseases: Emphasis on Proprotein Convertase Subtilisin/Kexin 9. Pharmacol Rev *69*, 33-52.

Seidah, N.G., Benjannet, S., Wickham, L., Marcinkiewicz, J., Jasmin, S.B., Stifani, S., Basak, A., Prat, A., and Chretien, M. (2003). The secretory proprotein convertase neural apoptosis-regulated convertase 1 (NARC-1): liver regeneration and neuronal differentiation. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A *100*, 928-933.

Seidah, N.G., Chretien, M., and Mbikay, M. (2018). The ever-expanding saga of the proprotein convertases and their roles in body homeostasis: emphasis on novel proprotein convertase subtilisin kexin number 9 functions and regulation. Curr Opin Lipidol *29*, 144-150.

Seidah, N.G., Day, R., Hamelin, J., Gaspar, A., Collard, M.W., and Chretien, M. (1992). Testicular expression of PC4 in the rat: molecular diversity of a novel germ cell-specific Kex2/subtilisin-like proprotein convertase. Mol Endocrinol *6*, 1559-1570.

Seidah, N.G., Day, R., Marcinkiewicz, M., and Chretien, M. (1998). Precursor convertases: an evolutionary ancient, cell-specific, combinatorial mechanism yielding diverse bioactive peptides and proteins. Ann N Y Acad Sci *839*, 9-24.

Seidah, N.G., Gaspar, L., Mion, P., Marcinkiewicz, M., Mbikay, M., and Chretien, M. (1990). cDNA sequence of two distinct pituitary proteins homologous to Kex2 and furin gene products: tissue-specific mRNAs encoding candidates for pro-hormone processing proteinases. DNA Cell Biol *9*, 415-424.

Seidah, N.G., Hamelin, J., Mamarbachi, M., Dong, W., Tardos, H., Mbikay, M., Chretien, M., and Day, R. (1996). cDNA structure, tissue distribution, and chromosomal localization of rat PC7, a novel mammalian proprotein convertase closest to yeast kexin-like proteinases. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A *93*, 3388-3393.

Seidah, N.G., Hsi, K.L., De Serres, G., Rochemont, J., Hamelin, J., Antakly, T., Cantin, M., and Chretien, M. (1983). Isolation and NH2-terminal sequence of a highly conserved human and porcine pituitary protein belonging to a new superfamily. Immunocytochemical localization in pars distalis and pars nervosa of the pituitary and in the supraoptic nucleus of the hypothalamus. Arch Biochem Biophys *225*, 525-534.

Seidah, N.G., Marcinkiewicz, M., Benjannet, S., Gaspar, L., Beaubien, G., Mattei, M.G., Lazure, C., Mbikay, M., and Chretien, M. (1991). Cloning and primary sequence of a mouse candidate prohormone convertase PC1 homologous to PC2, Furin, and Kex2: distinct chromosomal localization and messenger RNA distribution in brain and pituitary compared to PC2. Mol Endocrinol *5*, 111-122.

Seidah, N.G., Mowla, S.J., Hamelin, J., Mamarbachi, A.M., Benjannet, S., Toure, B.B., Basak, A., Munzer, J.S., Marcinkiewicz, J., Zhong, M., *et al.* (1999). Mammalian subtilisin/kexin isozyme SKI-1: A widely expressed proprotein convertase with a unique cleavage specificity and cellular localization. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A *96*, 1321-1326.

Seidah, N.G., Poirier, S., Denis, M., Parker, R., Miao, B., Mapelli, C., Prat, A., Wassef, H., Davignon, J., Hajjar, K.A., *et al.* (2012). Annexin A2 is a natural extrahepatic inhibitor of the PCSK9-induced LDL receptor degradation. PLoS One *7*, e41865.

Seidah, N.G., and Prat, A. (2012). The biology and therapeutic targeting of the proprotein convertases. Nat Rev Drug Discov 11, 367-383.

Sekiya, M., Yahagi, N., Matsuzaka, T., Najima, Y., Nakakuki, M., Nagai, R., Ishibashi, S., Osuga, J., Yamada, N., and Shimano, H. (2003). Polyunsaturated fatty acids ameliorate hepatic steatosis in obese mice by SREBP-1 suppression. Hepatology *38*, 1529-1539.

Shan, L., Pang, L., Zhang, R., Murgolo, N.J., Lan, H., and Hedrick, J.A. (2008). PCSK9 binds to multiple receptors and can be functionally inhibited by an EGF-A peptide. Biochem Biophys Res Commun *375*, 69-73.

Shapiro, M.D., Minnier, J., Tavori, H., Kassahun, H., Flower, A., Somaratne, R., and Fazio, S. (2019). Relationship Between Low-Density Lipoprotein Cholesterol and Lipoprotein(a) Lowering in Response to PCSK9 Inhibition With Evolocumab. J Am Heart Assoc *8*, e010932.

Shende, V.R., Wu, M., Singh, A.B., Dong, B., Kan, C.F., and Liu, J. (2015). Reduction of circulating PCSK9 and LDL-C levels by liver-specific knockdown of HNF1alpha in normolipidemic mice. J Lipid Res *56*, 801-809.

Siezen, R.J. (1996). Subtilases: subtilisin-like serine proteases. Adv Exp Med Biol 379, 75-93.

Silverman, M.G., Ference, B.A., Im, K., Wiviott, S.D., Giugliano, R.P., Grundy, S.M., Braunwald, E., and Sabatine, M.S. (2016). Association Between Lowering LDL-C and Cardiovascular Risk Reduction Among Different Therapeutic Interventions: A Systematic Review and Meta-analysis. JAMA *316*, 1289-1297.

Silverstein, R.L., and Febbraio, M. (2009). CD36, a scavenger receptor involved in immunity, metabolism, angiogenesis, and behavior. Sci Signal 2, re3.

Smeekens, S.P., Avruch, A.S., LaMendola, J., Chan, S.J., and Steiner, D.F. (1991). Identification of a cDNA encoding a second putative prohormone convertase related to PC2 in AtT20 cells and islets of Langerhans. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A *88*, 340-344.

Smeekens, S.P., and Steiner, D.F. (1990). Identification of a human insulinoma cDNA encoding a novel mammalian protein structurally related to the yeast dibasic processing protease Kex2. J Biol Chem *265*, 2997-3000.

So, J.S., Hur, K.Y., Tarrio, M., Ruda, V., Frank-Kamenetsky, M., Fitzgerald, K., Koteliansky, V., Lichtman, A.H., Iwawaki, T., Glimcher, L.H., *et al.* (2012). Silencing of lipid metabolism genes through IRE1alpha-mediated mRNA decay lowers plasma lipids in mice. Cell Metab *16*, 487-499.

Soll, A.H., Kahn, C.R., and Neville, D.M., Jr. (1975). Insulin binding to liver plasm membranes in the obese hyperglycemic (ob/ob) mouse. Demonstration of a decreased number of functionally normal receptors. J Biol Chem *250*, 4702-4707.

Speliotes, E.K., Willer, C.J., Berndt, S.I., Monda, K.L., Thorleifsson, G., Jackson, A.U., Lango Allen, H., Lindgren, C.M., Luan, J., Magi, R., *et al.* (2010). Association analyses of 249,796 individuals reveal 18 new loci associated with body mass index. Nat Genet *42*, 937-948.

Steen, D.L., Khan, I., Ansell, D., Sanchez, R.J., and Ray, K.K. (2017). Retrospective examination of lipid-lowering treatment patterns in a real-world high-risk cohort in the UK in 2014: comparison with the National Institute for Health and Care Excellence (NICE) 2014 lipid modification guidelines. BMJ Open 7, e013255.

Stein, E.A., Honarpour, N., Wasserman, S.M., Xu, F., Scott, R., and Raal, F.J. (2013). Effect of the proprotein convertase subtilisin/kexin 9 monoclonal antibody, AMG 145, in homozygous familial hypercholesterolemia. Circulation *128*, 2113-2120.

Steiner, D.F., and Oyer, P.E. (1967). The biosynthesis of insulin and a probable precursor of insulin by a human islet cell adenoma. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A *57*, 473-480.

Stephenson, K., Kennedy, L., Hargrove, L., Demieville, J., Thomson, J., Alpini, G., and Francis, H. (2018). Updates on Dietary Models of Nonalcoholic Fatty Liver Disease: Current Studies and Insights. Gene Expr *18*, 5-17.

Stijnen, P., Tuand, K., Varga, T.V., Franks, P.W., Aertgeerts, B., and Creemers, J.W. (2014). The association of common variants in PCSK1 with obesity: a HuGE review and meta-analysis. Am J Epidemiol *180*, 1051-1065.

Stoekenbroek, R.M., Kallend, D., Wijngaard, P.L., and Kastelein, J.J. (2018). Inclisiran for the treatment of cardiovascular disease: the ORION clinical development program. Future Cardiol *14*, 433-442.

Strom, T.B., Holla, O.L., Tveten, K., Cameron, J., Berge, K.E., and Leren, T.P. (2010). Disrupted recycling of the low density lipoprotein receptor by PCSK9 is not mediated by residues of the cytoplasmic domain. Mol Genet Metab *101*, 76-80.

Sturm, A.C., Knowles, J.W., Gidding, S.S., Ahmad, Z.S., Ahmed, C.D., Ballantyne, C.M., Baum, S.J., Bourbon, M., Carrie, A., Cuchel, M., *et al.* (2018). Clinical Genetic Testing for Familial Hypercholesterolemia: JACC Scientific Expert Panel. J Am Coll Cardiol *72*, 662-680.

Sudhop, T., Lutjohann, D., Kodal, A., Igel, M., Tribble, D.L., Shah, S., Perevozskaya, I., and von Bergmann, K. (2002). Inhibition of intestinal cholesterol absorption by ezetimibe in humans. Circulation *106*, 1943-1948.

Sun, H., Krauss, R.M., Chang, J.T., and Teng, B.B. (2018). PCSK9 deficiency reduces atherosclerosis, apolipoprotein B secretion, and endothelial dysfunction. J Lipid Res *59*, 207-223.

Sun, H., Samarghandi, A., Zhang, N., Yao, Z., Xiong, M., and Teng, B.B. (2012). Proprotein convertase subtilisin/kexin type 9 interacts with apolipoprotein B and prevents its intracellular degradation, irrespective of the low-density lipoprotein receptor. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol *32*, 1585-1595.

Sun, M., Kotler, J.L.M., Liu, S., and Street, T.O. (2019). The endoplasmic reticulum (ER) chaperones BiP and Grp94 selectively associate when BiP is in the ADP conformation. J Biol Chem *294*, 6387-6396.

Sun, X.M., Eden, E.R., Tosi, I., Neuwirth, C.K., Wile, D., Naoumova, R.P., and Soutar, A.K. (2005). Evidence for effect of mutant PCSK9 on apolipoprotein B secretion as the cause of unusually severe dominant hypercholesterolaemia. Hum Mol Genet *14*, 1161-1169.

Susan-Resiga, D., Girard, E., Kiss, R.S., Essalmani, R., Hamelin, J., Asselin, M.C., Awan, Z., Butkinaree, C., Fleury, A., Soldera, A., *et al.* (2017). The Proprotein Convertase Subtilisin/Kexin

Type 9-resistant R410S Low Density Lipoprotein Receptor Mutation: A NOVEL MECHANISM CAUSING FAMILIAL HYPERCHOLESTEROLEMIA. J Biol Chem 292, 1573-1590.

Swerdlow, D.I., Preiss, D., Kuchenbaecker, K.B., Holmes, M.V., Engmann, J.E., Shah, T., Sofat, R., Stender, S., Johnson, P.C., Scott, R.A., *et al.* (2015). HMG-coenzyme A reductase inhibition, type 2 diabetes, and bodyweight: evidence from genetic analysis and randomised trials. Lancet *385*, 351-361.

Tangrea, M.A., Bryan, P.N., Sari, N., and Orban, J. (2002). Solution structure of the pro-hormone convertase 1 pro-domain from Mus musculus. J Mol Biol *320*, 801-812.

Tao, W.-Y., Cheng, Y.-C., Song, M.H., Weisblat, D.A., and Kuo, D.-H. (2019). Diversification of metazoan Kexin-like proprotein convertases: insights from the leech <em>Helobdella</em>. bioRxiv, 802215.

Tappy, L., and Le, K.A. (2010). Metabolic effects of fructose and the worldwide increase in obesity. Physiol Rev *90*, 23-46.

Tarugi, P., Averna, M., Di Leo, E., Cefalu, A.B., Noto, D., Magnolo, L., Cattin, L., Bertolini, S., and Calandra, S. (2007). Molecular diagnosis of hypobetalipoproteinemia: an ENID review. Atherosclerosis *195*, e19-27.

Tavori, H., Fan, D., Blakemore, J.L., Yancey, P.G., Ding, L., Linton, M.F., and Fazio, S. (2013). Serum proprotein convertase subtilisin/kexin type 9 and cell surface low-density lipoprotein receptor: evidence for a reciprocal regulation. Circulation *127*, 2403-2413.

Tavori, H., Giunzioni, I., Predazzi, I.M., Plubell, D., Shivinsky, A., Miles, J., Devay, R.M., Liang, H., Rashid, S., Linton, M.F., *et al.* (2016). Human PCSK9 promotes hepatic lipogenesis and atherosclerosis development via apoE- and LDLR-mediated mechanisms. Cardiovasc Res *110*, 268-278.

Taylor, S.I., Accili, D., Cama, A., Kadowaki, H., Kadowaki, T., Imano, E., and Sierra, M.L. (1991). Mutations in the insulin receptor gene in patients with genetic syndromes of insulin resistance. Adv Exp Med Biol *293*, 197-213.

Terng, H.J., Gessner, R., Fuchs, H., Stahl, U., and Lang, C. (1998). Human transferrin receptor is active and plasma membrane-targeted in yeast. FEMS Microbiol Lett *160*, 61-67.

Thomas, G. (2002). Furin at the cutting edge: from protein traffic to embryogenesis and disease. Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol *3*, 753-766.

Timms, K.M., Wagner, S., Samuels, M.E., Forbey, K., Goldfine, H., Jammulapati, S., Skolnick, M.H., Hopkins, P.N., Hunt, S.C., and Shattuck, D.M. (2004). A mutation in PCSK9 causing autosomal-dominant hypercholesterolemia in a Utah pedigree. Hum Genet *114*, 349-353.

Tobert, J.A. (2003). Lovastatin and beyond: the history of the HMG-CoA reductase inhibitors. Nat Rev Drug Discov 2, 517-526.

Tomas, M., Latorre, G., Senti, M., and Marrugat, J. (2004). [The antioxidant function of high density lipoproteins: a new paradigm in atherosclerosis]. Rev Esp Cardiol *57*, 557-569.

Tomkinson, B. (1994). Characterization of cDNA for murine tripeptidyl-peptidase II reveals alternative splicing. Biochem J 304 (Pt 2), 517-523.

Tozzo, E., and Desbuquois, B. (1992). Effects of STZ-induced diabetes and fasting on insulin receptor mRNA expression and insulin receptor gene transcription in rat liver. Diabetes *41*, 1609-1616.

Tremblay, A.J., Lamarche, B., Ruel, I.L., Hogue, J.C., Bergeron, J., Gagne, C., and Couture, P. (2004). Increased production of VLDL apoB-100 in subjects with familial hypercholesterolemia carrying the same null LDL receptor gene mutation. J Lipid Res *45*, 866-872.

Tsimikas, S., Gordts, P., Nora, C., Yeang, C., and Witztum, J.L. (2020). Statin therapy increases lipoprotein(a) levels. Eur Heart J *41*, 2275-2284.

Tveten, K., Holla, O.L., Cameron, J., Strom, T.B., Berge, K.E., Laerdahl, J.K., and Leren, T.P. (2012). Interaction between the ligand-binding domain of the LDL receptor and the C-terminal domain of PCSK9 is required for PCSK9 to remain bound to the LDL receptor during endosomal acidification. Hum Mol Genet *21*, 1402-1409.

Twisk, J., Gillian-Daniel, D.L., Tebon, A., Wang, L., Barrett, P.H., and Attie, A.D. (2000). The role of the LDL receptor in apolipoprotein B secretion. J Clin Invest *105*, 521-532.

Ullrich, A., Bell, J.R., Chen, E.Y., Herrera, R., Petruzzelli, L.M., Dull, T.J., Gray, A., Coussens, L., Liao, Y.C., Tsubokawa, M., *et al.* (1985). Human insulin receptor and its relationship to the tyrosine kinase family of oncogenes. Nature *313*, 756-761.

Ultsch, M., Li, W., Eigenbrot, C., Di Lello, P., Lipari, M.T., Gerhardy, S., AhYoung, A.P., Quinn, J., Franke, Y., Chen, Y., *et al.* (2019). Identification of a Helical Segment within the Intrinsically Disordered Region of the PCSK9 Prodomain. J Mol Biol *431*, 885-903.

van de Ven, W.J., Voorberg, J., Fontijn, R., Pannekoek, H., van den Ouweland, A.M., van Duijnhoven, H.L., Roebroek, A.J., and Siezen, R.J. (1990). Furin is a subtilisin-like proprotein processing enzyme in higher eukaryotes. Mol Biol Rep *14*, 265-275.

van der Westhuyzen, D.R., Stein, M.L., Henderson, H.E., Marais, A.D., Fourie, A.M., and Coetzee, G.A. (1991). Deletion of two growth-factor repeats from the low-density-lipoprotein receptor accelerates its degradation. Biochem J *277 (Pt 3)*, 677-682.

Van Obberghen, E., Rossi, B., Kowalski, A., Gazzano, H., and Ponzio, G. (1983). Receptormediated phosphorylation of the hepatic insulin receptor: evidence that the Mr 95,000 receptor subunit is its own kinase. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A *80*, 945-949.

van Vlijmen, B.J., van den Maagdenberg, A.M., Gijbels, M.J., van der Boom, H., HogenEsch, H., Frants, R.R., Hofker, M.H., and Havekes, L.M. (1994). Diet-induced hyperlipoproteinemia and atherosclerosis in apolipoprotein E3-Leiden transgenic mice. J Clin Invest *93*, 1403-1410.

Varret, M., Rabes, J.P., Saint-Jore, B., Cenarro, A., Marinoni, J.C., Civeira, F., Devillers, M., Krempf, M., Coulon, M., Thiart, R., *et al.* (1999). A third major locus for autosomal dominant hypercholesterolemia maps to 1p34.1-p32. Am J Hum Genet *64*, 1378-1387.

Veilleux, A., Grenier, E., Marceau, P., Carpentier, A.C., Richard, D., and Levy, E. (2014). Intestinal lipid handling: evidence and implication of insulin signaling abnormalities in human obese subjects. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol *34*, 644-653.

Vercalsteren, E., Vranckx, C., Frederix, L., Lox, M., Lijnen, H.R., Scroyen, I., and Hemmeryckx, B. (2019). Advanced-age C57BL/6JRj mice do not develop obesity upon western-type diet exposure. Adipocyte *8*, 105-113.

Villard, E.F., Thedrez, A., Blankenstein, J., Croyal, M., Tran, T.T., Poirier, B., Le Bail, J.C., Illiano, S., Nobecourt, E., Krempf, M., *et al.* (2016). PCSK9 Modulates the Secretion But Not the Cellular Uptake of Lipoprotein(a) Ex Vivo: An Effect Blunted by Alirocumab. JACC Basic Transl Sci *1*, 419-427.

Vohl, M.C., Gaudet, D., Moorjani, S., Tremblay, G., Perron, P., Gagne, C., Lesiege, D., Bergeron, J., Lupien, P.J., and Despres, J.P. (1997). Comparison of the effect of two low-density lipoprotein receptor class mutations on coronary heart disease among French-Canadian patients heterozygous for familial hypercholesterolaemia. Eur J Clin Invest *27*, 366-373.

von Eckardstein, A., Schulte, H., and Assmann, G. (2000). Risk for diabetes mellitus in middleaged Caucasian male participants of the PROCAM study: implications for the definition of impaired fasting glucose by the American Diabetes Association. Prospective Cardiovascular Munster. J Clin Endocrinol Metab *85*, 3101-3108.

Wang, L., Wang, Z., Shi, J., Jiang, Q., Wang, H., Li, X., and Hao, D. (2018). Inhibition of proprotein convertase subtilisin/kexin type 9 attenuates neuronal apoptosis following focal cerebral ischemia via apolipoprotein E receptor 2 downregulation in hyperlipidemic mice. Int J Mol Med *42*, 2098-2106.

Wang, M., and Kaufman, R.J. (2016). Protein misfolding in the endoplasmic reticulum as a conduit to human disease. Nature *529*, 326-335.

Wang, Y., Huang, Y., Hobbs, H.H., and Cohen, J.C. (2012). Molecular characterization of proprotein convertase subtilisin/kexin type 9-mediated degradation of the LDLR. J Lipid Res 53, 1932-1943.

Wang, Y., Zhou, H., Palyha, O., and Mu, J. (2019). Restoration of insulin receptor improves diabetic phenotype in T2DM mice. JCI Insight *4*.

Watts, G.F., Chan, D.C., Somaratne, R., Wasserman, S.M., Scott, R., Marcovina, S.M., and Barrett, P.H.R. (2018). Controlled study of the effect of proprotein convertase subtilisin-kexin type 9 inhibition with evolocumab on lipoprotein(a) particle kinetics. Eur Heart J *39*, 2577-2585.

Weider, E., Susan-Resiga, D., Essalmani, R., Hamelin, J., Asselin, M.C., Nimesh, S., Ashraf, Y., Wycoff, K.L., Zhang, J., Prat, A., *et al.* (2016). Proprotein convertase subtilisin/Kexin type 9 (PCSK9) single domain antibodies are potent inhibitors of low density lipoprotein receptor degradation. J Biol Chem *291*, 26586.

Werstuck, G.H., Lentz, S.R., Dayal, S., Hossain, G.S., Sood, S.K., Shi, Y.Y., Zhou, J., Maeda, N., Krisans, S.K., Malinow, M.R., *et al.* (2001). Homocysteine-induced endoplasmic reticulum stress causes dysregulation of the cholesterol and triglyceride biosynthetic pathways. J Clin Invest *107*, 1263-1273.

Westerterp, M., van der Hoogt, C.C., de Haan, W., Offerman, E.H., Dallinga-Thie, G.M., Jukema, J.W., Havekes, L.M., and Rensen, P.C. (2006). Cholesteryl ester transfer protein decreases highdensity lipoprotein and severely aggravates atherosclerosis in APOE\*3-Leiden mice. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol *26*, 2552-2559.

Wetsel, W.C., Rodriguiz, R.M., Guillemot, J., Rousselet, E., Essalmani, R., Kim, I.H., Bryant, J.C., Marcinkiewicz, J., Desjardins, R., Day, R., *et al.* (2013). Disruption of the expression of the proprotein convertase PC7 reduces BDNF production and affects learning and memory in mice. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A *110*, 17362-17367.

Wickner, R.B., and Leibowitz, M.J. (1976). Two chromosomal genes required for killing expression in killer strains of Saccharomyces cerevisiae. Genetics *82*, 429-442.

Willard, D.L., Stevenson, M., and Steenkamp, D. (2016). Type B insulin resistance syndrome. Curr Opin Endocrinol Diabetes Obes *23*, 318-323.

Williams, K.J., Brocia, R.W., and Fisher, E.A. (1990). The unstirred water layer as a site of control of apolipoprotein B secretion. J Biol Chem *265*, 16741-16744.

Williams, K.J., and Chen, K. (2010). Recent insights into factors affecting remnant lipoprotein uptake. Curr Opin Lipidol 21, 218-228.

Wilson, D.P., Jacobson, T.A., Jones, P.H., Koschinsky, M.L., McNeal, C.J., Nordestgaard, B.G., and Orringer, C.E. (2019). Use of Lipoprotein(a) in clinical practice: A biomarker whose time has come. A scientific statement from the National Lipid Association. J Clin Lipidol *13*, 374-392.

Wood, F.A., Howard, J.P., Finegold, J.A., Nowbar, A.N., Thompson, D.M., Arnold, A.D., Rajkumar, C.A., Connolly, S., Cegla, J., Stride, C., *et al.* (2020). N-of-1 Trial of a Statin, Placebo, or No Treatment to Assess Side Effects. N Engl J Med *383*, 2182-2184.

Wu, J., and Kaufman, R.J. (2006). From acute ER stress to physiological roles of the Unfolded Protein Response. Cell Death Differ *13*, 374-384.

Wu, J.J., and Guidotti, G. (2002). Construction and characterization of a monomeric insulin receptor. J Biol Chem 277, 27809-27817.

Xiao, C., Dash, S., Morgantini, C., and Lewis, G.F. (2014). New and emerging regulators of intestinal lipoprotein secretion. Atherosclerosis 233, 608-615.

Xiao, C., and Lewis, G.F. (2012). Regulation of chylomicron production in humans. Biochim Biophys Acta *1821*, 736-746.

Xu, L., Spinas, G.A., and Niessen, M. (2010). ER stress in adipocytes inhibits insulin signaling, represses lipolysis, and alters the secretion of adipokines without inhibiting glucose transport. Horm Metab Res *42*, 643-651.

Yamamoto, T., Lu, C., and Ryan, R.O. (2011). A two-step binding model of PCSK9 interaction with the low density lipoprotein receptor. J Biol Chem *286*, 5464-5470.

Yoshida, H., Matsui, T., Yamamoto, A., Okada, T., and Mori, K. (2001). XBP1 mRNA is induced by ATF6 and spliced by IRE1 in response to ER stress to produce a highly active transcription factor. Cell *107*, 881-891.

Yoshimasa, Y., Paul, J.I., Whittaker, J., and Steiner, D.F. (1990). Effects of amino acid replacements within the tetrabasic cleavage site on the processing of the human insulin receptor precursor expressed in Chinese hamster ovary cells. J Biol Chem *265*, 17230-17237.

Yoshimasa, Y., Seino, S., Whittaker, J., Kakehi, T., Kosaki, A., Kuzuya, H., Imura, H., Bell, G.I., and Steiner, D.F. (1988). Insulin-resistant diabetes due to a point mutation that prevents insulin proreceptor processing. Science *240*, 784-787.

Younossi, Z.M., Golabi, P., de Avila, L., Paik, J.M., Srishord, M., Fukui, N., Qiu, Y., Burns, L., Afendy, A., and Nader, F. (2019). The global epidemiology of NAFLD and NASH in patients with type 2 diabetes: A systematic review and meta-analysis. J Hepatol *71*, 793-801.

Zaid, A., Roubtsova, A., Essalmani, R., Marcinkiewicz, J., Chamberland, A., Hamelin, J., Tremblay, M., Jacques, H., Jin, W., Davignon, J., *et al.* (2008). Proprotein convertase subtilisin/kexin type 9 (PCSK9): hepatocyte-specific low-density lipoprotein receptor degradation and critical role in mouse liver regeneration. Hepatology *48*, 646-654.

Zdravkovic, S., Wienke, A., Pedersen, N.L., Marenberg, M.E., Yashin, A.I., and De Faire, U. (2002). Heritability of death from coronary heart disease: a 36-year follow-up of 20 966 Swedish twins. J Intern Med *252*, 247-254.

Zhang, D.W., Lagace, T.A., Garuti, R., Zhao, Z., McDonald, M., Horton, J.D., Cohen, J.C., and Hobbs, H.H. (2007). Binding of proprotein convertase subtilisin/kexin type 9 to epidermal growth factor-like repeat A of low density lipoprotein receptor decreases receptor recycling and increases degradation. J Biol Chem *282*, 18602-18612.

Zhang, P., McGrath, B.C., Reinert, J., Olsen, D.S., Lei, L., Gill, S., Wek, S.A., Vattem, K.M., Wek, R.C., Kimball, S.R., *et al.* (2002). The GCN2 eIF2alpha kinase is required for adaptation to amino acid deprivation in mice. Mol Cell Biol *22*, 6681-6688.

Zhou, A., Martin, S., Lipkind, G., LaMendola, J., and Steiner, D.F. (1998). Regulatory roles of the P domain of the subtilisin-like prohormone convertases. J Biol Chem 273, 11107-11114.

Zhu, X., Zhou, A., Dey, A., Norrbom, C., Carroll, R., Zhang, C., Laurent, V., Lindberg, I., Ugleholdt, R., Holst, J.J., *et al.* (2002). Disruption of PC1/3 expression in mice causes dwarfism and multiple neuroendocrine peptide processing defects. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A *99*, 10293-10298.

Zurita, E., Chagoyen, M., Cantero, M., Alonso, R., Gonzalez-Neira, A., Lopez-Jimenez, A., Lopez-Moreno, J.A., Landel, C.P., Benitez, J., Pazos, F., *et al.* (2011). Genetic polymorphisms among C57BL/6 mouse inbred strains. Transgenic Res *20*, 481-489.

## Appendices



## Figure II.5.S. 1 Exogenous PCSK9 decreases insulin signaling *in vitro* independently from the LDLR.

IHH cells were transfected with either control scrambled siRNA or three different siRNAs targeting the LDLR. They were then incubated O/N with serum-free conditioned media lacking or containing 1  $\mu$ g/mL of PCSK9-V5 and in the presence or absence of 1  $\mu$ M insulin. Cell lysates were analyzed for the activation of Akt (pS473) by WB. The data are representative of at least three independent experiments.



Figure II.5.S. 2 Retaining PCSK9 in the ER does not increase the downregulatory effect on InsR.

*A* and *B*, HEK293 cells transiently co-expressing InsR with the indicated plasmids were treated with BFA (2 µg/mL, O/N) and analyzed by WB. The data are representative of at least three independent experiments and are presented with mean  $\pm$  standard deviation. Statistical comparisons with controls were performed by an unpaired two-tailed Student's t-test. \*P < 0.05, \*\*P < 0.01, \*\*\*P < 0.001.



## Figure III.5.S. 1 PCSK9 WT and KO mice showed equivalent body weight, lean and fat mass.

*A*, Mice from both genetic groups were weighed. *B*, fat and lean mass were measured by magnetic resonance imaging; n = 9-10 mice/genotype. Data represented by mean  $\pm$  SEM.